

istanbul tip dergisi

VOLUME 24 • ISSUE 2 • May 2023

Original Articles

LLLT and Plantar Fasciitis Gökçe et al. İstanbul, Edirne, Turkey

COPD Exacerbation and Hematological Phenotypes

şancı et al. kocaell, Türkey

Chronic Hepatitis C Treated with DAA Binay et al. Erzincan, İstanbul, Turkey

Ruxolitinib in Polycythemia Vera Serin et al. İstanbul, Diyarbakır, Denizli, Ankara, Konya, Tekirdağ, Elazığ, Kayseri, Malatya, Mersin, Manisa, Turkey; Lefkoşa, Cyprus

YouTube Videos on Pediatric Cardiac Surgery Anesthesia Kanber et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Bilateral Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis

Dal and Ökmen. İstanbul, Turkey

Diabetes and Postoperative Pain Baltalı et al. İstanbul, Ağrı, Turkey

Hepatitis A in Patients with HIV/AIDS Zerdali et al. İstanbul, Turkey h-FABP and Myoglobin Levels in STEMI Şahingöz Erdal et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Cochlear Nerve Measurements in patients with IP Aksoy et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Postoperative Venous Thromboembolism in Gynecological Malignancies Turan et al. Mersin, İstanbul, Turkey; Bakü, Azerbaijan

3D Printer Modeling in Brain Tumor and Aneurysm Surgery Atar and Gürkan. İstanbul, İzmir, Turkey

Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy Çelikoğlu and Demir. İstanbul, Turkey

Hand-sewn vs. Stapled Anastomosis for Billroth-II Uprak et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Characteristics and Surgery in Infantile Esotropia Gündüz et al. Malatya, İstanbul, Turkey

Prevalence of Chronic Diseases in Children Kahraman and Kahraman et al. Şanlıurfa Turkey



Owned by on behalf of the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Mehmet TOPTAŞ

Executive Editor

Feray AKBAŞ

Editor in Chief

Feray AKBAŞ

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Associate Editors

Turgut KARABAĞ

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Serkan SARI

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Özgür DİKME

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ali ÇETİN

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey



Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derva Mor Erkan Mor **Publication Coordinator Burak Sever** Web Coordinators Turgay Akpinar Ethem Candan Fuat Hocalar **Graphics** Department Ayda Alaca Ceyda Beyazlar Çiğdem Birinci Gülşah Özgül **Finance Coordinator** Sevinç Çakmak Emre Kurtulmuş

Project Coordinators Avbüke Avvaz Aysel Balta Çilem Çağrı Çınar Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Pinar Akpinar Rabia Palazoğlu Sümeyye Karadağ Research&Development Firat Kahraman Aykara Gözde Nur Beyaz Digital Marketing Specialist Ümit Topluoğlu

Seda TURAL ÖNÜR

Department of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Owner

Mehmet TOPTAŞ

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Publishing Manager

Esra KARABAL ARDA

Specialist of Traditional and Complementary, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr

Publisher Certificate Number: 14521

Publication Date: May 2023 ISSN: 2619-9793 E-ISSN: 2148-094X International periodical journal published three times in a year.



Emergency Medicine

Özgür DİKME

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Özlem DİKME

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Family Medicine

Zuhal AYDAN SAĞLAM

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Yalçın HACIOĞLU

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Anesthesiology and Reanimation

Mehmet TOPTAŞ

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Kazım KARAASLAN

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Bezmialem Vakif University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Murat HALİLOĞLU

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Marmara University of Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ali Fuat ERDEM

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine, Sakarya, Turkey

Oktay DEMİRKIRAN

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Veysel ERDEN

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Antonio M. ESQUINAS

Intensive Care Unit and Non Invasive Ventilatory Unit, Hospital Morales Meseguer, Murcia, Spain

Fatma Yeşim Abut

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Neurosurgery

Nuriye Güzin ÖZDEMİR

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Okan TÜRK

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Pediatrics

Özben CEYLAN

Department of Pediatrics, Pediatric Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Murat ELEVLİ

Department of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Öner ÖZDEMİR

Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine, Sakarya, Turkey

Kenan BARUT

Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Rheumatology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Hande KIZILOCAK

Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital Los Angeles Research Scientist, Los Angeles, United States of America

Pediatric Surgery

Ali İhsan DOKUCU

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey



Yunus SÖYLET

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Division of Urology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Pediatric Cardiovascular Surgery

Ali Can HATEMİ

Department of Pediatric Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Dermatology

Ayşe Esra KOKU AKSU

Department of Dermatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Salih GÜREL

Department of Dermatology, İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology

Nagehan Didem SARI

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mustafa YILDIRIM

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Naim MAHROUM

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Tel Aviv University Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv, İsrail

Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation

Ebru AYTEKİN

Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Nalan ÇAPAN

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, İstanbul University, İstanbul Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

General Surgery

Serkan SARI

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mert Mahzuni SEVİNÇ

Department of General Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ufuk Oğuz İDİZ

Department of General Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hasan ÖKMEN

Department of General Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Gürhan ÇELİK

Department of General Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Chest Diseases

Erdoğan ÇETİNKAYA

Department of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Seda TURAL ÖNÜR

Department of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Sedat ALTIN

Department of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Alexandru CORLATEANU

Department of Chest Diseases, State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Moldova



Chest Surgery

Kemal KARAPINAR

Department of Chest Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Yedikule Pulmonary Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Levent CANSEVER

Department of Chest Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Eye Diseases

Özen AYRANCI

Department of Eye Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Yusuf YILDIRIM

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Beyoğlu Eye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Public Health

Elif ALTUNDAŞ HATMAN

Department of Public Health, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Sibel SAKARYA

Department of Public Health, Koç University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Aleksandar VISNJIC

Department of Public Health, Division of Health Management, University of Nis Faculty of Medicine, Nis, Serbia

Internal Medicine

Feray AKBAŞ

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hanife USTA ATMACA

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Emin PİŞKİNPAŞA

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Füsun ERDENEN

Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Immunology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Savaş ÖZTÜRK

Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Nephrology, İstanbul University, İstanbul Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Dragan MİCİC

Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

Obstetrics and Gynaecology

Ali ÇETİN

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Division of Perinatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Aşkın DOĞAN

Department of Gynecology, Gynecologic Oncology, Perinatal Medicine, Agaplesion Allgemeines Krankenhaus Hagen, Training and Research Hospital from Ruhr University Bochum, Germany

Emre Sinan GÜNGÖR

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Gülşah İLHAN

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Işık KABAN

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Cardiovascular Surgery

Oruç Alper ONK

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Erzincan Binali Yildirim University Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan, Turkey

Cardiology

Turgut KARABAĞ

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Mustafa CAN

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey



Matteo CAMELİ

Otorhinolaryngology

Özgür YİĞİT

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Reșit Murat AÇIKALIN

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Neurology

Ufuk Emre TOPRAK

Şenay AYDIN

Department of Neurology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Nuclear Medicine

Tevfik Fikret ÇERMİK

Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul,

Orthopedics and Traumatology

Yusuf ÖZTÜRKMEN

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Yunus ATICI

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Fatih KORKMAZ

Esra ÇİRCI ÖZYÜREK

Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery

Oğuz CETİNKALE

Department of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine,

Psychiatry

Mihriban DALKIRAN

Department of Psychiatry, Haydarpaşa Numune Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Radiation Oncology

Özlem MERMUT

Radiology

Abdullah Soydan MAHMUTOĞLU

Department of Radiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Özgür KILICKESMEZ

Medical Biochemistry

Berrin BELCİK İNAL

Medical Pathology

Halide Nur ÜRER

Department of Medical Pathology, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Urology

Ali İhsan TAŞÇI

Mahmut Gökhan TOKTAŞ

Department of Urology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, istanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hikmet KÖSEOĞLU



AIMS AND SCOPE

Istanbul Medical Journal is the scientific, peer reviewed, open access publication of Istanbul Training and Research Hospital. The journal is published four times in a year; on February, May, August and November. The publication language of the journal is English.

The istanbul Medical Journal is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, EBSCO, Gale, Index Copernicus, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, ProQuest, Türk Atif Dizini, Türk Medline, DOAJ, Ardi, Hinari, Goali, Oare, CAB International (CABI) and J-GATE.

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process.

All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org.

The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the İstanbul Training and Research Hospital. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office.

The journal does not publish advertisement.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the istanbul Training and Research Hospital, editors, editorial board, and/ or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

All published content is available online, free of charge at www. istanbulmedicaljournal.org.

İstanbul Training and Research Hospital holds the international copyright of all the content published in the journal.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peer-reviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 (CC BY-NC-ND) International License.

CC BY-NC-ND: This license allows reusers to copy and distribute the material in any medium or format in unadapted form only, for noncommercial purposes only, and only so long as attribution is given to the creator.

CC BY-NC-ND includes the following elements:

BY - Credit must be given to the creator

NC – Only noncommercial uses of the work are permitted

ND - No derivatives or adaptations of the work are permitted

Editor in Chief: Feray Akbaş

Address: Clinic of Internal Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

E-mail: atlibatur@yahoo.com

Publisher: Galenos Publishing House

Address: Molla Gürani Mahallesi Kaçamak Sokak No: 21/A 34093 Fındıkzade - İstanbul

Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25

Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr





The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice). Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most important criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization. Manuscripts submitted to istanbul Medical Journal will go through a doubleblind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 20, www.wma.net) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures followed were in accordance with animal rights as per the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals http://oacu.od.nih.gov/regs/guide/guide.pdf and they should obtain animal ethics committee approval. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the Materials and Methods section of the manuscript. It is the authors' responsibility to carefully protect the patients' anonymity. For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed releases of the patient or of their legal representative should be enclosed.

All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck).

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with COPE guidelines.

Each individual listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors

(ICMJE - www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship be based on the following 4 criteria:

1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND

2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND

3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND

4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. In addition, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged in the title page of the manuscript.

istanbul Medical Journal requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the authorship contribution form (available for download through www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org) during the initial submission process in order to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

istanbul Medical Journal requires and encourages the authors and the individuals involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors. Cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers are resolved by the journal's Editorial Board within the scope of COPE and ICMJE guidelines.

The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in



direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve cases that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

When submitting a manuscript to İstanbul Medical Journal, authors accept to assign the copyright of their manuscript to İstanbul Training and Research Hospital. If rejected for publication, the copyright of the manuscript will be assigned back to the authors. İstanbul Medical Journal requires each submission to be accompanied by a Copyright Transfer Form (available for download at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org). When using previously published content, including figures, tables, or any other material in both print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s).

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in İstanbul Medical Journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility in regard to the published content rests with the authors.

MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2016 - http://www. icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, ARRIVE guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at www.istanbulmedicaljournal. org. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

- Copyright Transfer Form,
- Author Contributions Form, and

• ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors) during the initial submission. These forms are available for download at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org.

Preparation of the Manuscript

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

• The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,

- Name(s), affiliations, and highest academic degree(s) of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number) and fax numbers, and email address of the corresponding author,
- Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: An abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor in English.

Keywords: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of six keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Manuscript Types

Original Articles: This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion subheadings. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Original Articles.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.

Invited Review Articles: Reviews prepared by the invited authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should guide future studies. The main text should contain Introduction, Clinical and Research Consequences, and Conclusion sections. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Review Articles.

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on



the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

Table 1. Limitations for each manuscript type					
Type of manuscript	Word limit	Abstract word limit	Reference limit	Table limit	Figure limit
Original Article	3500	250 (Structured)	30	6	7 or tatal of 15 images
Review Article	5000	250	50	6	10 or total of 20 images
Letter to the Editor	500	No abstract	5	No tables	No media

Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables. Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text). Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should be supporting the main text.

Figures and Figure Legends

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figures too should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions: 100×100 mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)" All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

References

While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/ MEDLINE/PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples. The references should be included to the main text.

Journal Article: Rankovic A, Rancic N, Jovanovic M, Ivanović M, Gajović O, Lazić Z, et al. Impact of imaging diagnostics on the budget – Are we spending too much? Vojnosanit Pregl 2013; 70: 709-11.

Book Section: Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308.

Books with a Single Author: Sweetman SC. Martindale the Complete Drug Reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki Öğrencilerin Beslenme Durumları, Fiziksel Aktiviteleri ve Beden Kitle İndeksleri Kan Lipidleri Arasındaki Ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974. Epub Ahead of Print Articles: Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].



Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

REVISIONS

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format.

Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.

Editor in Chief: Feray AKBAŞ

Address: Clinic of Internal Diseases, Health Science University, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

E-mail: atlibatur@yahoo.com

Publisher: Galenos Publishing House

Address: Molla Gürani Mahallesi Kaçamak Sokak No: 21/A 34093 Fındıkzade - İstanbul

Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 **Fax:** +90 (212) 621 99 27 **E-mail:** info@galenos.com.tr



CONTENTS

Original Articles

- 106 Effectiveness of Low-Level Laser Therapy in Chronic Plantar Fasciitis Conservative Treatment Bilge Gökçe, Ebru Aytekin, Yasemin Pekin Doğan, Didem İnceboy, Ertan Yüce, Fatma Ustabaşıoğlu; İstanbul, Edirne, Turkey
- 112 Comparison of Hematological Phenotypes of COPD Exacerbations in Hospitalized Patients after Emergency Department Admission Emre Şancı, Asım Enes Özbek, Furkan Alkan, Hikmet Kılınç, Hüseyin Cahit Halhallı; Kocaeli, Turkey
- **116** Real-Life Data of Chronic Hepatitis C Patients Treated with Direct-Acting Oral Antivirals: A Single-Center Study Umut Devrim Binay, Faruk Karakeçili, Orçun Barkay, Özlem Gül; Erzincan, İstanbul, Turkey
- 120 A Real-Life Turkish Experience of Ruxolitinib in Polycythemia Vera İstemi Serin, Mehmet Hilmi Doğu, Ömer Ekinci, Gülsüm Akgün Çağlıyan, Abdulkadir Baştürk, Merih Reis Aras, Sinan Demircioğlu, Burhan Turgut, Mustafa Merter, Sibel Kabukçu Hacıoğlu, Metin Bağcı, Murat Albayrak, Serdal Korkmaz, Mehmet Ali Erkurt, Mehmet Sinan Dal, Fadime Ersoy Dursun, Anıl Tombak, İsmet Aydoğdu, Turgay Ulaş, Fevzi Altuntaş; İstanbul, Diyarbakır, Denizli, Ankara, Konya, Tekirdağ, Elazığ, Kayseri, Malatya, Mersin, Manisa, Turkey; Lefkoşa, Cyprus
- **126** Evaluation of YouTube Videos Quality of Pediatric Cardiac Surgery Anesthesia Eyüp Murat Kanber, Mehmet Köseoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey
- **130** Bilateral Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis: Outcomes of a Tertiary Hospital Fatih Dal, Hasan Ökmen; İstanbul, Turkey
- 139 Does Pain Following Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Differ in Diabetics? Sevim Baltalı, Bünyamin Gürbulak, Seda Seven, Hasan Ökmen; İstanbul, Ağrı, Turkey
- 144 An Evaluation of Hepatitis A Seroprevalence and Vaccination Status in Patients with HIV/AIDS: Data from A 20-year Period Esra Zerdali, Hatice Kübra Karanalbant, Melike Nur Kültür, İnci Yılmaz Nakir, Filiz Pehlivanoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey
- 149 The role of h-FABP and Myoglobin in Determining Disease Severity and Prognosis in STEMI Gülçin Şahingöz Erdal, Dilay Karabulut, Cennet Yıldız, Fatma Nihan Turhan Çağlar, Mehmet Hulusi Satılmışoğlu, Murat Koser, Pınar Kasapoğlu, Nilgün Işıksaçan; İstanbul, Turkey
- **155** The Relationship Between Cochlear Nerve and Cochlear Nerve Canal Dimensions in Incomplete Partition Types Direnç Özlem Aksoy, Kemal Furkan Kaldırımoğlu, Yeşim Karagöz, Melis Baykara Ulusan, Abdullah Soydan Mahmutoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey
- 160 Incidence and Risk Factors of Venous Thromboembolism in Patients Undergoing Surgery for Gynecologic Malignancies Hasan Turan, İlker Kahramanoğlu, Ulviyya Alakbarova, Kübra Hamzaoğlu, Tugan Beşe, Macit Arvas, Fuat Demirkıran; Mersin, İstanbul, Turkey; Bakü, Azerbaijan



CONTENTS

- 166 The Role of Three-dimensional Printer Modeling in Preoperative Planning of Brain Tumor and Aneurysm Surgery Murat Atar, Gökhan Gürkan; İstanbul, İzmir, Turkey
- 172 Factors Affecting Surgical Outcomes in Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: A Retrospective Study Erhan Çelikoğlu, Hüseyin Demir; İstanbul, Turkey
- 181 Hand-sewn versus Stapled Anastomosis for Billroth II Gastrojejunostomy After Distal Gastrectomy: Comparison of Short-term Outcomes

Tevfik Kıvılcım Uprak, Doğuş Can Ekdal, Muhammer Ergenç, Wafi Attaallah; İstanbul, Turkey

- 186 Infantile Esotropia: Clinical Features and Results of Bilateral Medial Rectus Recession Abuzer Gündüz, Emrah Öztürk, Ercan Özsoy, Pelin Nazlı Güntürkün; Malatya, İstanbul, Turkey
- **191** Prevalence of Chronic Diseases Among Elementary School Students in Şanlıurfa, Turkey Mahmut Kahraman, Selma Kahraman; Şanlıurfa, Turkey
- **196** Comparison of the Effects of Pharyngeal Packing and Gastric Aspiration with an Orogastric Tube on Postoperative Nausea, Vomiting and Sore Throat in Septorhinoplasty

Yaşar Gökhan Gül, Ali Haspolat, Halil Can Canatan, Ali Şefik Köprülü, Emine Uzunoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey

- 204 Evaluation of Thromboembolism Risk in Patients with Cancer; Single Center Real-life Data Simge Erdem, Rıza Umar Gürsu, Mecdi Hikmet Ergüney, Muhlis Cem Ar; İstanbul, Turkey
- 210 Partial Atrophy of The Pancreas in Endoscopic Ultrasonography may be a Sign of Pancreatic Cancer Oğuz Kağan Bakkaloğlu, Tuğçe Eşkazan, İlkay Gültürk, Süleyman Yıldırım, Kadri Atay, Nuray Kepil, Yusuf Erzin, Ahmet Merih Dobrucalı; İstanbul, Mardin, Turkey
- 216 The Experience of Ibrutinib in Chronic Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Patients Undergoing Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Single Center Experience Ahmet Sarıcı, Mehmet Ali Erkurt, İrfan Kuku, Emin Kaya, İlhami Berber, Soykan Biçim, Emine Hidayet, Ahmet Kaya, Ömer Faruk Bahçecioğlu, Lokman Hekim Tanrıverdi, Sıdıka Gülkan Özkan; Malatya, Kırşehir, İstanbul, Turkey



Effectiveness of Low-Level Laser Therapy in Chronic Plantar **Fasciitis Conservative Treatment**

🕲 Bilge Gökce¹. 🕲 Ebru Avtekin¹. 🕲 Yasemin Pekin Doğan¹. 🕲 Didem İncebov¹. 🕲 Ertan Yüce¹. 🕲 Fatma Ustabasıoğlu²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey ²Sultan 1. Murat State Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Edirne, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of low-level laser treatment (LLLT) for treating chronic plantar fasciitis (PF).

Methods: The records of 60 patients with PF were retrospectively examined in this research. Thirty patients who have been applied LLLT and given exercise program constituted a treatment group. On the other side, 30 patients who have been given exercises but not applied LLLT was selected as a control group. Along with exercise, the treatment group underwent a 10-day continuous, 12-minute, 1.6 W, 808 nm wavelength diode laser treatment using galium-aluminum-arsenide. The American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society (AOFAS) ankle-hindfoot scale and the Foot Function Index (FFI) were used to assess the patients' foot discomfort and functional condition while they were at rest, taking their first steps, and during activities. These assessments were all documented before, after, and after two months of treatment.

Results: In the treatment group, all VAS, FFI, and AOFAS scores except alignment score has been significantly improved both in the first and the second months compared to the initial state (p<0.05). The improvement in these scores was higher in the treatment group than in the control group in the first and the second months both (p<0.05).

Conclusion: These findings confirm that LLLT is an effective and reliable therapy choice in the conservative management of PF.

Keywords: Exercise, low-level laser therapy, pain, plantar fasciitis

Introduction

Adults who experience heel pain most frequently have plantar fasciitis (PF) (1). The degenerative condition known as PF is brought on by repeated stress to the area where the plantar fascia connects to the calcaneus (2). The etiology of PF is multifactorial; advanced age, pes planus, increased pronation, obesity, improper preference of shoe model, and decreased ankle dorsiflexion are the most common causes and result in biomechanical overload (3).

Clinical diagnosis is made substantially by anamnesis and physical examination. The typical clinical symptom is deep pain at the heel that begins after inactivity, notably with the initial steps in the morning, eases with activity, gradually worsens in response with weight-bearing toward the end of the day. The painful point with palpation is usually next to the anteromedial protrusion of the calcaneal tuberosity (4).

PF is usually a self-limiting clinical condition. Most of the patients recover conservative treatments.

Rest, adjusting activity levels, stretching exercises, resting splints, insoles, oral and topical medications, local injections, and physical therapy modalities are some of the conservative treatment choices (4-7).

Nowadays, a treatment procedure called low-level laser therapy (LLLT) is employed extensively, and new evidence has begun to emerge with the standardization of dosage recommendations according to diseases. Nowadays, LLLT is used for reducing pain and inflammation, wound healing, and increasing the speed of healing in musculoskeletal injury (8-15).

There are very few researches in the literature that examine how well LLLT works to cure PF (16). Evidence for LLLT's effectiveness in improving functional capacities in PF is still controversial. The fact that the studies were conducted with different laser devices and different treatment protocols affect these results. In this context, we need new studies that investigate different treatment protocols and dosages for finding the optimum LLLT method for PF therapy (16,17).

This study aimed to assess the effectiveness of LLLT in the management of chronic PF. Our LLLT treatment protocol in this study was distinct from previous suggested protocols that were applied in the literature. Cause no study had proved the best method for PF. For this reason, we gained to observe different kinds of treatment protocols's effects. Moreover, in our study, we use different scales that evaluate functional abilities and gait functions.

Received: 25.11.2022

Accepted: 24.02.2023



Address for Correspondence: Ebru Aytekin MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 459 61 24 E-mail: ebruaytekin@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9619-3374

Cite this article as: Gökçe B, Aytekin E, Pekin Doğan Y, İnceboy D, Yüce E, Ustabaşıoğlu F. Effectiveness of Low-Level Laser Therapy in Chronic Plantar Fasciitis Conservative Treatment. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 106-11.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Methods

In this retrospective investigation, the records of 60 individuals who were clinically diagnosed with PF and have been treated between May 2016 and October 2016 were included in the study. The files were retrospectively reviewed. 30 patients who have been applied LLLT and given exercise program constituted a treatment group. On the other side, 30 patients who have been given just exercises without any other therapy were selected as a control group.

The presence of chronic plantar heel pain symptoms that had persisted for at least three months and were resistant to first-step conservative treatment was the requirement for inclusion. By detecting discomfort to palpation and local pressure at the plantar fascia's origin on the medial tubercle of the calcaneus during the physical examination, the diagnosis was clinically verified. The participants who ranged in age from 18 to 75, were admitted if they had not use any anti-inflammatory medications throughout their treatment. The exclusion criteria included a history of trauma, surgery, skin lesions, malignancy, steroid injections within the preceding three months, radiculopathy, arthropathy, and pregnancy.

The University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee gave its approval to the study (approval number: 2016/902). Each participant gave written consent. The research was based on a PhD thesis.

Interventions

Age, weight, height, body mass index (BMI), and daily standing time were among the demographic details of the patients that were recorded. The treatment group had 10 days continuous, once daily 12-minute LED galium-aluminium-arsenide (Ga-Al-As) 1.6 W, 808 nm wavelength diode laser treatment in addition to exercise treatment whereas control group had only exercise treatment. The plantar fascia's sensitive spots received LLLT treatment (four points), for a total dose of 4 J/cm² for 30 s each point periodically, with a total duration of 12 min. Figure 1 shows the locations of the LLLT applications.

The exercise regimen comprised achille tendon, gastrocnemius, plantar fascia stretching exercises, roll ball or roller exercise, toe-tap, and intrinsic muscle strengthening exercises (18,19). Achilles tendon stretching exercise is performed in a long sitting position by bringing the foot dorsiflexed and waiting for 10 seconds in this situation (20-22). Stretching the gastrocnemius muscle is done by leaning forward against the wall, keeping the legs straight, lowering the heels, and standing on the foot tip on the step (23,24). The affected side is positioned on the opposing leg in a sitting position while performing the plantar fascia stretching exercise. The foot is brought to dorsiflexion and toes to extension and held in this position for 10 seconds (25). For the rolling exercise, a cylindrical object is moved back and forth under the foot for 10 min (20). Towel curls, towel pickup, and toe-tap exercises were instructed to both groups to strengthen the intrinsic muscles of the foot. In the toe-tap exercise, all fingers are in the air while the heel is kept on the ground, and the big toe is repeatedly tapped on the ground and then the other four fingers are struck on the ground while the thumb is in the air (20,23,26). The participants were told that the exercises should be done ten times each, three times per day, for two weeks.

Outcome Measures

The patients' rest, the first step and activity pain levels were evaluated using a visual analogue scale (VAS), foot pain and functioning state was evaluated by the Foot Function Index (FFI) and American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society (AOFAS) ankle-hindfoot scale. These assessments were all documented before, after, and after two months of treatment.

The level of subjective pain perception was assessed using VAS. Morning VAS, resting, and activity VAS were recorded separately. The patient selects a number describing his or her suffering levels between 0-10 (0: no pain, 10: the most severe pain). This number represents the intensity of the pain.

Functional ability was measured by AOFAS and FFI. AOFAS is a standardized evaluation of the clinical status of the ankle-hindfoot. It incorporates both subjective and objective information. Patients report their pain, and physicians assess alignment. AOFAS includes 9 items, distributed over 3 categories: pain (40 points), functional aspects (50 points), and alignment (10 points), for a total of 100 points with healthy ankles receiving 100 points (27). The FFI is a standard questionnaire used to assess foot diseases. Pain, disability, and activity restriction are among the three subscales of the FFI. The FFI consisted of 23 items. Patients take into account their foot issues from the previous week when filling out the FFI, scoring each item with a VAS. To obtain the subscales and the overall score, the scores for each item are added up (28-31).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive information was shown using the following formats: number, percent, median, mean, ratio, frequency, and standard deviation. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine if the data were conformable to a normal distribution. The Independent Sample t-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to assess quantitative independent data. Wilcoxon test results were used to assess the dependent data. The Pearson chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables. The cut-off for statistical significance was p=0.05. The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences program for Windows, version 22.00, was used for statistical analysis (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

The trial involved 60 individuals in total. The baseline features and demographic data of the participants are listed in Table 1. The median age of the individuals was 45.4 ± 12.3 years. The majority of participants were female (85%). Most individuals were overweight or obese. BMI values vary in range 19-40; the mean BMI of the participants was 28 ± 5.7 . The two groups did not substantially vary in terms of age, BMI, or daily standing time (p>0.05). Rest, activity, and first-step VAS scores in the treatment and control groups all significantly improved both in the first and second months compared to baseline. The improvement in these scores was better in the treatment group than in the control group in the first and the second month both (p<0.05) (Table 2).

In the treatment group, significant reduction has been observed in all FFI scores in the first and second months both (p<0.05). There has been no significant change in FFI pain subscale score in the control group

Table 1. Demographic and Cir	lical characteristi	cs by group			
Characteristic		LLLT group (n=30)	Control group (n=30)	n	
		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	μ	
Age		45.8±11.3	45.0±13.4	0.796	m
BMI		28.0±6.5	28.0±4.9	0.625	m
Standing time		6.1±1.6	6.1±1.9	0.934	m
		Number (%)	Number (%)		
Condor	Female	26 (86.7)	25 (83.3)	0 719	X ²
Genuer	Male	4 (13.3)	5 (16.7)	0.710	
IIIT: Low-level laser treatment SD: Standard deviation, n: Number, BMI body mass index					

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics by group

Table 2. Visual analog scale

Tuble 2. Tisual analog scale				
	LLLT group (n=30)	Control group (n=30)	p	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD		
VAS score resting				
Baseline	6.0±1.4	6.0±1.7	0.757	m
The first month after treatment	5.7±1.4	3.8±2.6	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	5.7±1.4	2.8±3.1	0.001	m
VAS score the first step in the morning				
Baseline	8.3±1.3	7.9±1.7	0.482	m
The first month after treatment	7.8±1.5	4.8±2.7	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	7.6±1.6	3.5±3.1	0.001	m
VAS score exercise				
Baseline	8.6±1.3	8.3±1.7	0.685	m
The first month after treatment	8.0±1.4	5.0±2.8	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	7.9±1.5	3.8±3.2	0.001	m

^mMann-Whitney U test/Wilcoxon test, LLLT: Low-level laser treatment, SD: Standard deviation, VAS: Visual analog scale

(p>0.05). Except this score, all other measurements has been improved both in the first and second months in the control group (p<0.05). The improvement in these scores was higher in the treatment group than in the control group in the first and the second months both. Just there has been no significant difference in the reduction ratio in the FFI activity limitation subscale score in the first month between the groups (Table 3).

In the treatment group, all measurements of AOFAS scores except alignment score has been significantly improved both in the first and the second months compared with to the initial state (p<0.05). The improvement in these scores was higher in the treatment group than in the control group in the first and the second months both. There has been no significant change in AOFAS pain and alignment scores compared to the initial state in the control group (p>0.05). Only the function score on the AOFAS scale in the control group showed a significant improvement (Table 4).

Discussion

For adults, PF is the most typical source of heel discomfort. Although this condition can be self-limiting, there are many conservative treatment options (32). However, their effectiveness is still uncertain, and the optimal treatment has not been defined (33).

Literature contains a insignificant number of publications examining LLLT's efficacy in the management of PF. It has been reported that there are a number of disputed cases about the LLLT treatment for PF, which may be caused by variations in the treatment protocols and kinds of LLLT. Numerous factors, including frequency, dose, and locations, are taken into account in LLLT's therapeutic use. Consequently, future research should concentrate on identifying the best treatment parameters to enhance the clinical effectiveness of the treatment (34).

The purpose of this research was to asses the efficacy of LLLT in the management of persistent PF. Our LLLT treatment protocol in this study was distinct from the other protocols described in the literature. We observed different kinds of therapy protocols's effects. Moreover, in our study, we used different scales that evaluate functional abilities and gait function.

We retrospectively examined 60 patient files diagnosed with PF. Because of our study, VAS, FFI, and AOFAS values significantly improved in both the treatment and control groups, according to our findings, which were significantly better in the treatment group compared with the control group. These results demonstrate that LLLT can be a viable therapy option for PF.

LLLT in the treatment of PF was first investigated in 1998 by Basford et al. (35). They applied LLLT at a wavelength of 830 nm at a dose of

Table 3. Foot function index				
	LLLT group (n=30)	Control group (n=30)	n.	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	þ	
Pain subscale				
Baseline	7.7±1.2	7.6±1.9	0.882	m
The first month after treatment	7.6±1.3	4.8±2.7	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	7.4±1.3	3.5±3.0	0.001	m
Disability subscale				
Baseline	7.0±1.6	6.2±2.2	0.135	m
The first month after treatment	6.8±1.6	4.7±3.2	0.006	m
Second month after treatment	6.6±1.7	3.1±3.1	0.001	m
Activity limitation subscale				
Baseline	4.6±2.9	4.5±2.8	0.853	m
The first month after treatment	4.4±2.8	3.8±2.8	0.344	m
Second month after treatment	4.2±2.7	2.2±2.7	0.002	m
Total FFI score				
Baseline	6.6±1.0	6.5±1.9	0.589	m
The first month after treatment	6.4±0.9	4.8±2.9	0.021	m
Second month after treatment	6.3±1.0	3.3±3.0	0.001	m

^mMann-Whitney U test/Wilcoxon test, LLLT: Low-level laser treatment, SD: Standard deviation, FFI: Foot function index

Table 4. American orthopaedic foot and ankle society

	,			
	LLLT group (n=30)	Control group (n=30)	n	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	þ	
Pain subscale				
Baseline	21.7±25.2	23.3±25.4	0.797	m
The first month after treatment	21.7±25.2	61.7±28.4	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	21.7±25.2	67.5±30.2	0.001	m
Function subscale				
Baseline	43.5±17.4	58.7±20.3	0.001	m
The first month after treatment	46.1±17.4	68.5±24.2	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	48.2±17.8	77.5±25.3	0.001	m
Alignment subscale				
Baseline	75.0±31.5	78.3±31.3	0.632	m
The first month after treatment	75.0±31.5	78.3±31.3	0.632	m
Second month after treatment	75.0±31.5	78.3±31.3	0.632	m
Total AOFAS				
Baseline	37.9±14.7	46.5±19.8	0.052	m
The first month after treatment	39.2±15.1	66.8±24.9	0.001	m
Second month after treatment	40.3±14.7	73.6±26.5	0.001	m

^mMann-Whitney U test/Wilcoxon test, LLLT: Low-level laser treatment, SD: Standard deviation, AOFAS: American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society

1 J to the to the plantar fascia's starting point and a dose of 2 J along the medial fascial edge for 12 sessions and found no significant clinical difference with the placebo group in the first month after treatment. However, the reason for this result is likely to be due to the low dose of treatment administered. In our study, unlike this study, a higher dose of LLLT was applied to the patients. In contrast to this study, our treatment group showed a significant improvement in comparison to the control group on the VAS, FFI, and AOFAS scales for all criteria of pain, function, and activity limitation.

In their 2009 investigation, Kiritsi et al. (8) used a Ga-As laser with an infrared wavelength of 904 nm to perform LLLT. The active treatment dose was 8.4 J over the tendon insertion point, followed by 8.4 J along the medial fascial boundary. They evaluated the clinic of the patients with VAS pain scores and the plantar fascia thickness ultrasonographically.

After treatment, the LLLT group showed a substantial reduction in pain levels, although both groups also showed an increase in plantar fascia thickness. Fascia thicknesses, on the other hand, were unchanged in comparison to the placebo group.

Jastifer et al. (34) performed a total of 6 sessions of 635 nm, 17-mW dose, 10 min, 2 times a week, 3 weeks. They evaluated their patients with FFI and VAS scales before treatment, at 2 weeks, 6 months, and 12 months after treatment. They found that there was a significant difference in all evaluations compared to pretreatment values. However, in our study, we were unable to evaluate the long-term effects of treatment. Similar to this study, we also used the FFI scale and a significant change was found in the FFI scale scores in terms of both the amount of pain reduction and the improvement in functions at the 1st and 2nd months after the treatment.

Randomized placebo-controlled study in 2015, Macias et al. (36) applied LLLT at a dose of 17 mw with a wavelength of 635 nm for 10 min, twice a week, for 3 weeks. They showed that the LLLT group was significantly superior to the placebo group in both decreasing VAS pain scores and decreasing fascia thickness. They also achieved significant improvement in all FFI scores in both the LLLT and the placebo groups, but they didnot detect a difference between the groups. The limitation of our study, according to the study by Macias et al. (36) and Kiritsi et al. (8) is that the plantar fascia thickness was not evaluated by ultrasound (US) and the placebo group was excluded in our study.

In their investigation in 2017, Ulusoy et al. (16) used the AOFAS test to assess the efficacy of LLLT in PF. They applied a Ga-Al-As laser device at 830 nm, 50 mW output power, 8 j/cm² dose for a total of 3 weeks 5 times a week. They compared the efficacy of LLLT with extracorporeal shock wave therapy (ESWT) and therapeutic US therapy. AOFAS ratings in the LLLT group improved more than in the ESWT and US groups, according to the study.

In a randomized prospective study by Cinar et al. (37) both treatment and control groups were given insoles and a home exercise program, and LLLT was also applied to the treatment group. They used the AOFAS function scale for functional evaluation and the VAS scale for pain after the 12-minute walk test. They performed LLLT in the 5 most painful points at a dose of 5.6 j/cm² for 80 seconds. While both groups showed a substantial improvement in their AOFAS function scores in the third week following treatment, only the group that received LLLT in the third month showed a meaningful improvement. Although there was a significant improvement in the measurement of activity-related pain in both groups at the 3rd month, the amount of improvement was greater in the treatment group. In our study, in parallel with this study, a significant increase was observed in all groups of AOFAS scores compared with the pre-treatment scores, except the alignment score in the treatment group. This is a result consistent with previous studies. This supports that LLLT is an effective treatment. The different aspects of our study according to the study by Cinar et al. (37) is that the LLLT was applied at a lower dose and with a different application method.

The positive sides of our study; in accordance with previous studies, no adverse effects were seen in the patients throughout the study. This finding supports that LLLT is a safe treatment. The fact that the treatment

responses of the patients included in our study was evaluated using the FFI and AOFAS scales also enabled us to investigate the correlation of these two scales. And the results obtained from the two scales were correlated with each other.

Study Limitations

The limitations of our study are that the evaluation process was short, retrospective, and there was no placebo group.

Conclusion

According to this study, LLLT is useful in PF conventional treatment with regard to pain, functional activities, and quality of life. It has been concluded that LLLT is a reliable and effective application in the physical treatment of PF. To investigate the effects of LLLT on PF treatment, placebo-controlled studies with longer follow-ups are needed for more patients.

Ethics Committee Approval: The University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee gave its approval to the study (approval number: 2016/902).

Informed Consent: Each participant gave written consent.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - B.G., Y.P.D., E.Y.; Concept - B.G., E.A., D.İ., E.Y.; Design - B.G., Y.P.D., D.İ., E.Y.; Data Collection or Processing - B.G., E.A., Y.P.D., D.İ., E.Y., F.U.; Analysis or Interpretation - B.G., E.A., Y.P.D., D.İ., F.U.; Literature Search - B.G., E.A., Y.P.D., F.U.; Writing - B.G., E.A., F.U.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Rompe JD, Furia J, Weil L, Maffulli N. Shock wave therapy for chronic plantar fasciopathy. Br Med Bull 2007; 81-82: 183-208.
- 2. Cornwall MW, McPoil TG. Plantar fasciitis: etiology and treatment. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1999; 29: 756-60.
- Martinelli N, Bonifacini C, Romeo G. Current therapeutic approaches for plantar fasciitis. Clin Cosmet Investig Dent 2014; 6: 45-56.
- Buchbinder R. Clinical practice. Plantar fasciitis. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 2159-66.
- Pasquina PF, Foster LS. Plantar fasciitis. In: Musculoskeletal Disorders: Foot and Ankle, edited by WR Frontera, JK Silver, TD Rizzo Jr, WB Saunders, Philadelphia; 2008. p.469-73.
- 6. Goff JD, Crawford R. Diagnosis and treatment of plantar fasciitis. Am Fam Physician 2011; 84: 676-82.
- Chacko K. Heel pain: diagnosis and treatment. Primary Care Case Rev 2003; 6: 50-6.
- Kiritsi O, Tsitas K, Malliaropoulos N, Mikroulis G. Ultrasonographic evaluation of plantar fasciitis after low-level laser therapy: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Lasers Med Sci 2010; 25: 275-81.
- 9. Rola P, Doroszko A, Derkacz A. The Use of Low-Level Energy Laser Radiation in Basic and Clinical Research. Adv Clin Exp Med 2014; 23: 835-42.

- Chow RT, Barnsley L. Systematic review of the literature of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in the management of neck pain. Lasers Surg Med 2005; 37: 46-52.
- Djavid GE, Mortazavi SMJ, Basirnia A. Low level laser therapy in musculoskeletal pain syndromes: Pain relief and disability reduction. Lasers Surg Med 2003; 152: 43.
- 12. Gam AN, Thorsen H, Lønnberg F. The effect of low-level laser therapy on musculoskeletal pain: a meta-analysis. Pain 1993; 52: 63-6.
- Jacobsen FM, Couppé C, Hilden J. Comments on the use of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) in painful musculo-skeletal disorders. Pain 1997; 73: 110-1.
- Reddy GK, Stehno-Bittel L, Enwemeka CS. Laser photostimulation of collagen production in healing rabbit Achilles tendons. Lasers Surg Med 1998; 22: 281-7.
- 15. Walker J. Relief from chronic pain by low power laser irradiation. Neurosci Lett 1983; 43: 339-44.
- Ulusoy A, Cerrahoglu L, Orguc S. Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Clinical Outcomes of Laser Therapy, Ultrasound Therapy, and Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy for Treatment of Plantar Fasciitis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Foot Ankle Surg 2017; 56: 762-7.
- 17. Maskill JD, Bohay DR, Anderson JG. Gastrocnemius recession to treat isolated foot pain. Foot Ankle Int 2010; 31: 19-23.
- Celik D, Kuş G, Sırma SÖ. Joint Mobilization and Stretching Exercise vs Steroid Injection in the Treatment of Plantar Fasciitis: A Randomized Controlled Study. Foot Ankle Int 2016; 37: 150-6.
- Chew KT, Leong D, Lin CY, Lim KK, Tan B. Comparison of autologous conditioned plasma injection, extracorporeal shockwave therapy, and conventional treatment for plantar fasciitis: a randomized trial. PM R 2013; 5: 1035-43.
- 20. Young CC, Rutherford DS, Niedfeldt MW. Treatment of plantar fasciitis. Am Fam Physician 2001; 63: 467-74, 477-8. Erratum in: Am Fam Physician 2001; 64: 570.
- Bartold SJ. The plantar fascia as a source of pain—biomechanics, presentation and treatment. Journal of bodywork and movement therapies. J Bodyw Mov 2004; 8: 214-26.
- 22. Covey CJ, Mulder MD. Plantar fasciitis: How best to treat? J Fam Pract 2013; 62: 466-71.
- Dyck DD Jr, Boyajian-O'Neill LA. Plantar fasciitis. Clin J Sport Med 2004; 14: 305-9.
- 24. Tisdel CL, Donley BG, Sferra JJ. Diagnosing and treating plantar fasciitis: a conservative approach to plantar heel pain. Cleve Clin J Med 1999; 66: 231-5.

- Digiovanni BF, Nawoczenski DA, Malay DP, Graci PA, Williams TT, Wilding GE, et al. Plantar fascia-specific stretching exercise improves outcomes in patients with chronic plantar fasciitis. A prospective clinical trial with two-year followup. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006; 88: 1775-81.
- DiGiovanni BF, Nawoczenski DA, Lintal ME, Moore EA, Murray JC, Wilding GE, et al. Tissue-specific plantar fascia-stretching exercise enhances outcomes in patients with chronic heel pain. A prospective, randomized study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003; 85: 1270-7.
- Analay Akbaba Y, Celik D, Ogut RT. Translation, Cross-Cultural Adaptation, Reliability, and Validity of Turkish Version of the American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society Ankle-Hindfoot Scale. J Foot Ankle Surg 2016; 55: 1139-42.
- Yaliman A, Sen E, Eskiyurt N, Budiman-Mak E. Turkish translation and adaptation of foot function index in patients with plantar fasciitis. Turkish J Phys Med Rehab 2014; 60: 212-23.
- Kitaoka HB, Alexander IJ, Adelaar RS, Nunley JA, Myerson MS, Sanders M. Clinical rating systems for the ankle-hindfoot, midfoot, hallux, and lesser toes. Foot Ankle Int 1994; 15: 349-53.
- 30. Budiman-Mak E, Conrad KJ, Roach KE. The Foot Function Index: a measure of foot pain and disability. J Clin Epidemiol 1991; 44: 561-70.
- 31. Trevethan R. Evaluation of two self-referent foot health instruments. Foot (Edinb) 2010; 20: 101-8.
- Haake M, Buch M, Schoellner C, Goebel F, Vogel M, Mueller I, et al. Extracorporeal shock wave therapy for plantar fasciitis: randomised controlled multicentre trial. BMJ 2003; 327: 75.
- 33. Rome K, Howe T, Haslock I. Risk factors associated with the development of plantar heel pain in athletes. The Foot 2001; 11: 119-25.
- Jastifer JR, Catena F, Doty JF, Stevens F, Coughlin MJ. Low-Level Laser Therapy for the Treatment of Chronic Plantar Fasciitis: A Prospective Study. Foot Ankle Int 2014; 35: 566-71.
- 35. Basford JR, Malanga GA, Krause DA, Harmsen WS. A randomized controlled evaluation of low-intensity laser therapy: plantar fasciitis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1998; 79: 249-54.
- Macias DM, Coughlin MJ, Zang K, Stevens FR, Jastifer JR, Doty JF. Low-Level Laser Therapy at 635 nm for Treatment of Chronic Plantar Fasciitis: A Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Study. J Foot Ankle Surg 2015; 54: 768-72.
- Cinar E, Saxena S, Uygur F. Low-level laser therapy in the management of plantar fasciitis: a randomized controlled trial. Lasers Med Sci 2018; 33: 949-58.

Comparison of Hematological Phenotypes of COPD Exacerbations in Hospitalized Patients after Emergency Department Admission

Emre Şancı, Sasım Enes Özbek, Furkan Alkan, Hikmet Kılınç, Hüseyin Cahit Halhallı
University of Health Sciences Turkey, Derince Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine, Kocaeli, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The aging of the communities and higher pollution levels increases chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) burden and are projected to rise in the number of the patients with COPD and its exacerbations. There is little evidence for short-term outcomes of COPD exacerbations of the biomarkers that are easily available. Biomarker-based hematological phenotype classification is useful and effective for outcome predictions. This study evaluates the relationship between the phenotypes of patients with COPD exacerbation and admitted to the hospital have been evaluated.

Methods: All hospitalized patients older than 18 years old who presented to the emergency department due to the COPD exacerbation between July 2018 and July 2020 were included in the study. The patient data evaluated retrospectively for vital parameters, biomarker results, and mortality rates. The primary outcome measure of the study was determined as the thirty-day mortality rates of the groups. Secondary outcome measures were determined by comparing the differences between the trophilic and eosinophilic groups.

Results: One hundred forty-three patients were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 74.8±10.6. One hundred and two of the patients (71.3%) were male. The neutrophilic and eosinophilic groups had a statistically significant difference in body temperature and heart rate (p=0.018 and p=0.001, respectively). In contrast, no significant difference was observed for systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and sPO₂ (p=0.400, p=0.564, p=0.248, respectively). One month mortality of the neutrophilic and eosinophilic groups were 15.9% and 3.2%, respectively. Blood neutrophil count levels have been assigned in 3 different groups for mortality and compared which had no significant difference for 1,3 and 12-month mortality (p=0.142, 0.280, 0.351 respectively).

Conclusion: The patients admitted to the hospital via the emergency department had no mortality difference between different neutrophil levels or hematologic phenotypes. Further studies are required to assess cutoff values of blood neutrophil counts as an independent biomarker.

Keywords: COPD, COPD exacerbation, blood neutrophil count, and blood eosinophil count

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is the third leading cause of death worldwide and most of these deaths occur in low and middleincome countries (1). The aging of the communities and higher pollution levels increases the COPD burden and are projected to rise the number of COPD patients and its exacerbations (2). Mostly, COPD exacerbations result in presenting to emergency departments which resulted in 2 million emergency department visits annually in the USA in 2016 (3). Furthermore, in the same year, approximately 35% of these patients were hospitalized and the in-hospital mortality rate of the patients with COPD exacerbations was reported as 17% (4). Since the mortality rate is so high, it is important to be able to predict which patients would have unfavorable progress. Spirometry is an essential method for the prediction of patients with COPD (5). However, spirometry is underused in emergency departments (6). Additionally, in the ECLIPSE study, many biomarkers predicted the one-year mortality of the patients but, none of these biomarkers can be used for anticipating the short-time prognosis. Therefore, a test that is used easily for predicting the mortality of patients with COPD is needed.

Accordingly, many biomarkers have been studied for managing COPD exacerbations. It has been reported that blood eosinophil and neutrophil counts might be the predictor of mortality for COPD exacerbations (7,8). Additionally, according to the GOLD report, blood eosinophil count cutoff values might be used to identify the treatment benefits of inhaled



Address for Correspondence: Emre Şancı MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Derince Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine, Kocaeli, Turkey Received: 18.01.2023 Accepted: 28.02.2023

Phone: +90 555 834 13 13 E-mail: emresanci@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9707-3315

Cite this article as: Şancı E, Özbek AE, Alkan F, Kılınç H, Halhallı HC. Comparison of Hematological Phenotypes of COPD Exacerbations in Hospitalized Patients after Emergency Department Admission. istanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 112-5.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital/Istanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

corticosteroids (5). In contrast, there have been a few research on cut-off values of blood neutrophil counts. It is uncertain what the precise value of blood neutrophil counts for the increased mortality.

We hypothesized that the different phenotypes of COPD exacerbations might be correlated with different mortality rates, and exploring the hospitalized patients' mortality rates might benefit clinicians. This study measured and compared the mortality rates between hematological COPD groups. In this retrospective study, the relationship between the phenotypes of patients with COPD who presented in the emergency department due to COPD exacerbation and were admitted to the hospital have been evaluated.

Methods

Study Design and Settings

This was a single-center, retrospective study. The participants' demographic and clinical data were extracted from electronic medical records of the hospital. The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Derince Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020-164, date: 14.01.2021).

Selection of Participants

All hospitalized patients older than 18 years old who presented to the emergency department due to COPD exacerbation between July 2018 and July 2020 were included in the study. Pregnant women were excluded from the study.

Because of the retrospective chart review nature of the study, informed consent was exempted after acquiring appropriate institutional ethics and administrative approval.

Study Protocol

Eosinophilic COPD was defined as ≥200 cells/mL or ≥%2 of white blood cell. Neutrophilic COPD was defined as >7100 cells/mL according to our laboratory cut-off values. Blood neutrophil counts were divided into three categories between 2000-7000 cells/mL, between 7000-15000 cells/mL, and more than 15000 cells/mL. The initial blood eosinophil counts and blood neutrophil counts when the patients presented to the emergency department were recorded in predesigned data sheets. Patients' demographics, 1-month, 3-month, and 1-year mortality rates,

Table 1. Characteristics of the patients

and whether non-invasive mechanic ventilation (NIMV) or mechanic ventilation were implemented were attained from the hospital database and recorded. Patients with <7100 cells/mL defined as the neutrophilic group while patients with \geq 200 cells/mL defined as the eosinophilic group.

Outcome Measures

The primary outcome measure of the study was determined as the thirty-day mortality rates of the groups. Secondary outcome measures were determined by comparing the differences between the neutrophilic and eosinophilic groups.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 23.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, United States) Statistical Software Package was used for data analysis. Descriptive statistics are presented with numbers and percentages for categorical variables. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to evaluate the normality of distribution. Differences between the categorical variables in the independent groups were tested with chi-square analysis. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare variables between two independent groups. The statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.

Results

One hundred forty-three patients were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 74.8±10.6. One hundred and two of the patients (71.3%) were male. The most common comorbidity was diabetes mellitus (42%). The characteristics and comorbidities of the patient groups have been presented in Table 1.

The mean of the neutrophil count was 8.31 ± 0.35 ($10^3 \text{ x cells/mm}^3$), and the mean of the eosinophil count was 0.18 ± 0.02 ($10^3 \text{ x cells/mm}^3$). The mean of neutrophils and eosinophils of the NEU group was 11.97 ± 3.77 and 0.19 ± 0.18 ($10^3 \text{ x cells/mm}^3$), respectively, while the mean of neutrophils and eosinophils of the EOU group were 5.64 ± 1.22 and 0.35 ± 0.24 ($10^3 \text{ x cells/mm}^3$), respectively.

The NEU and the EOU groups had a statistically significant difference in body temperature and heart rate (p=0.018 and p=0.001, respectively). In contrast, no significant difference was observed for systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and sPO2 (p=0.400, p=0.564,

	All patients, (n=143)	Neutrophilic patients, (n=63)	Eosinophilic group, (n=31)
Age (mean \pm SD)	74.8±10.6	74±10.8	74.78±10.7
Gender (male)	102 (71%)	44 (69.8%)	5 (16.1%)
Coronary artery disease	21 (14.7%)	11 (17.5%)	10 (16.4%)
Congestive heart failure	27(18.9%)	11 (17.5%)	7 (22.6%)
Chronic renal failure	21 (14.7%)	7 (11.1%)	5 (16.1%)
Hypertension	60 (42%)	25 (39.7%)	11 (35.5%)
Diabetes mellitus	52 (36.4%)	26 (41.3%)	8 (25.8%)
Home-dwelling elderly	15 (10.5%)	7 (11.1%)	2 (6.5%)
Malignity	21 (14.7%)	12 (19%)	0 (0%)
SD: Standard deviation			

p=0.248, respectively). The comparison of the vital signs of the patients is summarized in Table 2.

Twenty-two (15.4%) of the patients required NIMV in the emergency department. 9 (14.3%) were in the NEU group, and 6 (19.4%) were in the EOU group. Comparison of the NEU and EOU groups, in terms of NIMV application, had no significant difference (p=0.528).

Two patients (1.4%) were intubated in the emergency department (1 patient for each group). There was no statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of intubation need (p=0.553). Patients' 1-month, 3-months, and 1-year mortality results have been summarized in Table 3.

One-month mortality rates for all patients, the NEU group and EOU groups have been determined as 16/143 (11.2%), 10/63 (15.9%), 1/31 (3.2%), respectively. Blood neutrophil count levels have been assigned in 3 different groups for mortality and compared which had no significant difference for 1,3- and 12-month mortality (p=0.142, 0.280, 0.351; respectively). Blood neutrophil count levels and mortality rates have been summarized in Table 4.

Discussion

The current study found that eosinophilic and neutrophilic exacerbations of patients with COPD had no significant difference in terms of mortality. In the study by Kandemir et al. (9), which was conducted in similar settings, the neutrophilic phenotype patients had higher mortality rates than the eosinophilic phenotypes. In their study, neutrophilic patients had 38.9% mortality rates in 3 months, whereas in

Table 2. Comparison of the patient's vital signs

our study, neutrophilic phenotype patients had 25.4% and 36.5% (3 and 12 months respectively). These mortality rates are higher than expected however both studies examine the patients presenting to the ED. This can be explained by the patient population was much more ill than outpatients, therefore had more unfavorable outcomes. In contrast, our study had higher mortality rates regarding eosinophilic exacerbations 16.1%, 25.8%, (3 and 12 months respectively). This difference might occur due to Kandemir et al. (9) have classified the exacerbations into three groups in their study. These results suggest that classifying hematologic phenotypes further might yield different mortality rates with overall deaths due to COPD remaining the same. Furthermore, their study included patients discharged and admitted to a hospital where we only included hospitalized patients, which might be the reasoning behind the difference in mortality rates for eosinophilic patients (9).

In addition, our study included important features of hematologic phenotypes. Previous studies have presented higher rates of older age, tachycardia, and higher body temperatures for neutrophilic exacerbations. In our study, we also found that tachycardia and increased body temperature and other vital signs were indifferent between the comparison of phenotypes, which was concurrent with the current literature. Furthermore, our study had similar age means in all groups.

Various studies have concluded that the eosinophilic type has lower short- and long-term mortality (10-12). We have found that mortality rates did not significantly change between hematologic phenotypes. This might be the result of our work patients being studied that are admitted to the hospital and excluded discharged patients. Furthermore, our study included patients who have been admitted to the hospital from

	All patients, (n=143)	Neutrophilic patients, (n=63)	Eosinophilic patients, (n=31)	p-values*
Systolic BP	123.01±24.55	124.44±24.02	121.29±25.92	0.400
Diastolic BP	71.82±12.65	72.06±11.52	71.29±14.08	0.564
Body-tempeture	37.08±0.7	37.05±0.64	36.78±0.55	0.018
Heart rate	103.16±18.1	107.16±18.06	94±13.76	0.001
Oxygen saturation	86.57±8.66	85.41±9,85	87.06±8.93	0.248

*P-values represent comparison between Neutrophilic and Eosinophilic groups, BP: Blood pressure

Table 3. Mortality rates for 1 month, 3 months, and 12 months between patient groups

Mortality	All patients (%), (n=143)	Neutrophilic patients (%), (n=63)	Eosinophilic patients (%), (n=31)	p-values*
1-month	16 (11.2%)	10 (15.9%)	1 (3.2%)	0.066
3-months	30 (%21%)	16 (25.4%)	5 (16.1%)	0.310
1-year	47 (%32.9%)	23 (36.5%)	8 (25.8%)	0.299
40 I I I I		1.12		

*P-values represent comparison between neutrophilic and eosinophilic groups.

Table 4. Neutrophil levels and mortality rates for each group

	1 month mortality, (n=16)	3 month mortality, (n=30)	12 month mortality, (n=47)
2000-7000 cell/mL	4/16	11/30	20/47
7000-15000 cell/mL	10/16	15/30	21/47
>15000 cell/mL	2/16	4/30	6/47
p-value	0.142	0.280	0.351

the emergency department. Therefore, note that patients admitted to the ED with exacerbations were more severely ill than outpatient COPDs. Similar to our findings, Bafadhel et al. (7) study also showed similar 1-year mortality between eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic exacerbations, which would suggest in-patient patients with COPD even with eosinophilic phenotypes might have similar outcomes when discharged and outpatients are excluded. Martínez-Gestoso et al. (13) study discussed blood eosinophil count is not useful in assessing outcomes after patient hospitalizations that was concurrent with our study. In contrast, ICU patient mortality rates were favorable for the eosinophilic phenotype (14).

Finally, neutrophil count levels and cut-offs have not been thoroughly studied in the literature. We have divided neutrophilic phenotypes into three groups (2000-7000, 7000-15000 and >15000 cells/mL) and found no difference between the groups. Further studies must assess blood neutrophil count cut-off values for inpatient and outpatient populations to further examine its use as an independent biomarker for mortality.

Study Limitations

Our study was a single-center study that conducted as a retrospective study; therefore, our results cannot be generalized. Furthermore, even though we included the patients hospitalized in the emergency department, which might be counted as a strength, excluding outpatients and discharged patients also provided a limited view of the population.

Conclusion

There was no mortality difference between different neutrophil levels or hematologic phenotypes for the patients admitted to the hospital via the emergency department. Further studies must assess the cutoff values of blood neutrophil counts as an independent biomarker.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Derince Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020-164, date: 14.01.2021).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was exempted.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - E.Ş., H.C.H.; Design - E.Ş., A.E.Ö.; Data Collection or Processing - F.A., H.K.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.Ş., A.E.Ö., H.C.H.; Literature Search - E.Ş., A.E.Ö., H.C.H.; Writing - E.Ş., A.E.Ö., F.A., H.K., H.C.H.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 2]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chronicobstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd)
- 2. Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. PLoS Med 2006; 3: e442.
- 3. COPD Burden [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 2]. Available from: https://www.lung. org/research/trends-in-lung-disease/copd-trends-brief/copd-burden
- Gadre SK, Duggal A, Mireles-Cabodevila E, Krishnan S, Wang XF, Zell K, et al. Acute respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e0487.
- Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: 2022 Report [Internet]. [cited 2022 Aug 4]. Available from: https://goldcopd.org/2022-gold-reports/
- Buffels J, Degryse J, Liistro G. Diagnostic certainty, co-morbidity and medication in a primary care population with presumed airway obstruction: the DIDASCO2 study. Prim Care Respir J 2009; 18: 34-40.
- Bafadhel M, Greening NJ, Harvey-Dunstan TC, Williams JE, Morgan MD, Brightling CE, et al. Blood Eosinophils and Outcomes in Severe Hospitalized Exacerbations of COPD. Chest 2016; 150: 320-8.
- 8. Karauda T, Kornicki K, Jarri A, Antczak A, Miłkowska-Dymanowska J, Piotrowski WJ, et al. Eosinopenia and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte count ratio as prognostic factors in exacerbation of COPD. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 4804.
- Kandemir Y, Doğan NÖ, Yaka E, Pekdemir M, Yılmaz S. Clinical characteristics of neutrophilic, eosinophilic and mixed-type exacerbation phenotypes of COPD. Am J Emerg Med 2021; 45: 237-41.
- Jabarkhil A, Moberg M, Janner J, Petersen MN, Jensen CB, Henrik Äangquist L, et al. Elevated blood eosinophils in acute COPD exacerbations: better shortand long-term prognosis. Eur Clin Respir J 2020; 7: 1757274.
- 11. Duman D, Aksoy E, Agca MC, Kocak ND, Ozmen I, Akturk UA, et al. The utility of inflammatory markers to predict readmissions and mortality in COPD cases with or without eosinophilia. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2015; 10: 2469-78. Erratum in: Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016; 11: 417.
- Lonergan M, Dicker AJ, Crichton ML, Keir HR, Van Dyke MK, Mullerova H, et al. Blood neutrophil counts are associated with exacerbation frequency and mortality in COPD. Respir Res 2020; 21: 166.
- Martínez-Gestoso S, García-Sanz MT, Calvo-Álvarez U, Doval-Oubiña L, Camba-Matos S, Salgado FJ, et al. Variability of blood eosinophil count and prognosis of COPD exacerbations. Ann Med 2021; 53: 1152-8.
- 14. Saltürk C, Karakurt Z, Adiguzel N, Kargin F, Sari R, Celik ME, et al. Does eosinophilic COPD exacerbation have a better patient outcome than noneosinophilic in the intensive care unit? Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2015; 10: 1837-46.

Real-Life Data of Chronic Hepatitis C Patients Treated with Direct-Acting Oral Antivirals: A Single-Center Study

Umut Devrim Binay¹, Faruk Karakeçili¹, Orçun Barkay¹, O'zlem Gül²

¹Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, Erzincan, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is one of the important causes of liver cancer and cirrhosis all over the worldwide.

Methods: The data of the patients diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C infection who applied to the Adult Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology Outpatient Clinic of Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Mengücek Gazi Training and Research Hospital were retrospectively analyzed. Accordingly, 51 patients treated with direct-acting oral antiviral drugs (DAAs) between January 2016 and May 2021 were included in the study. Patients whose treatment is still ongoing, whose treatment was completed but did not come to the 12th week after treatment, or whose control time has not yet come, were excluded from the study.

Results: It was observed that 58.8% of the cases participating in the study were male, 80.4% were infected with genotype 1b, and 74.5% were treatment-naive. When the treatment regimens used in the cases were examined, glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in 7.8%, sofosbuvir (SOF)/ledipasvir (LED), SOF/LED/ribavirin, and SOF/ribavirin in 15.7%, ombitasvir (OBV)/paritaprevir (P)/ritonavir (R)/dasabuvir and OBV/P/R/ribavirin in 76.5% (n=39) appears to be used. A statistically significant difference was found between the alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase measurements, and platelet counts of the subjects participating in the study at the beginning, at the 4^{th} week, at the end of the treatment, and at the 12th week (p=0.001). In these cases, a sustained virological response was achieved in 100%. In the follow-up of the cases, no serious side effects that required drug discontinuation were observed.

Conclusion: Our study showed that the treatment success of DAAs is 100% and their side-effect profiles are good.

Keywords: Chronic hepatitis C, DAA, SVR

Introduction

Chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is still one of the important causes of liver cancer and cirrhosis all over the worldwide. Approximately 71 million people have chronic HCV infection according to the World Health Organization's (WHO) latest data. According to the 2016 data of the WHO, approximately 399,000 people died from hepatitis C-related complications (1,2).

According to a study conducted recently, anti-HCV seropositivity was found to be around 1% in our country. Although the most common HCV genotype in the world is genotype 1, genotype 3, genotype 2, genotype 4, genotype 6, genotype 5, genotype 7, and genotype 8 infections are also seen, respectively. In our country, genotype 1 is the most common, and genotype 1b is the subtype (3-6).

Although the combination of pegylated interferon (PEG-IFN) + ribavirin was used in the treatment before, this combination has been replaced by direct-acting oral antiviral drugs (DAA) recently. A sustained virological response (SVR) of over 95% is achieved with the use of DAAs (7-11).

Our aim is to evaluate the chronic HCV patients who were treated with DAAs at our center in this study.

Methods

This study is a retrospective, cross-sectional study and was conducted with the approval of the Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 08/06, date: 21.06.2021).

The files of the patients diagnosed with chronic HCV infection who applied to the Adult Infectious Diseases Outpatient Clinic of Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Mengücek Gazi Training and Research Hospital were retrospectively analyzed. Accordingly, patients treated with DAAs between January 2016 and May 2021 were included in the study. Patients whose treatment is still ongoing, whose treatment was completed but did not come to the 12th week after treatment, or whose control time has not yet come, were excluded from the study.

Demographic, clinical, and laboratory data of the patients, whether they had received treatment before, whether they had relapsed or not were



This study was presented at the 22nd KLIMIK Congress on March 11, 2022 Address for Correspondence: Umut Devrim Binay MD, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, Erzincan, Turkey Phone: +90 507 960 32 96 E-mail: devrimbinay@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3841-9109

Received: 03.10.2022 Accepted: 24.03.2023

Cite this article as: Binay UD, Karakeçili F, Barkay O, Gül Ö. Real-Life Data of Chronic Hepatitis C Patients Treated with Direct-Acting Oral Antivirals: A Single-Center Study. Istanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 116-9.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

obtained from the outpatients clinic patient registry files. Complete blood count, biochemical tests, and HCV-RNA levels were evaluated before the treatment, at the 4th week of the treatment, at the 8th week of the treatment, and at the end of the treatment. Genotype results were obtained from the patient files. The HCV-RNA level at the 12th week after the treatment was used in the evaluation of SVR.

HCV-RNA was studied using the COBAS TaqMan real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) (Roche, Switzerland) assay. For HCV genotyping, RT-PCR and DNA sequencing were performed for the 5'UTR region of the HCV genome. Analysis of PCR products was performed using the ABI Prism 3130xl DNA Sequencer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) instrument and the HVC Databank (http://hcvdb.org). Complete blood count was measured on a Sysmex XN-1000 Hematology System (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan) automated blood count device. Biochemical tests were measured on an AU 5800 (Beckman Coulter, California, USA). Alpha fetoprotein was measured by an immunoassay (Centaur XPT, Siemens Healthcare, Germany). Coagulation tests were measured by the turbidimetric method in the Celeron* alpha (Diapharma Group, Ohio, USA) device.

Statistical Analysis

The NCSS 2007 (Kaysville, Utah, USA) program was used. Descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, percentage, minimum, maximum) were used in the evaluation of the research data. The Shapiro-Wilk test and graphical examinations were used to confirm the quantitative data to the normal distribution. A repeated measure of variance analysis was used for within-group

Table 1. Demographic and clinical information of the patients

comparisons of normally distributed quantitative variables. To evaluate pairwise comparisons Bonferroni-corrected pairwise assessments were used. The Friedman test was used for intragroup comparisons of quantitative variables that did not show a normal distribution, and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test with Bonferroni correction was used for evaluating pairwise comparisons. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

The study was performed between January 2016 and May 2021 at Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Mengücek Gazi Training and Research Hospital with 51 patients, 41.2% (n=21) female and 58.8% (n=30) male. The ages of the patients ranged from 23 to 86 years, with a mean age of 59.94 \pm 14.54 years. The HCV-RNA levels of the cases ranged from 5,104 IU/mL to 4,378,000 IU/mL, with a mean of 985,576.89 \pm 1,157,972.49.

When the genotype distribution of the cases is examined, it is seen that 80.4% of them are infected with genotype 1b, 5.9% with genotype 1a, 2% with genotype 2, 9.8% with genotype 3, 2% with genotype 4.

It was observed that the treatment status of 25.5% of the cases was treatment-experienced and 74.5% of them were treatment-naive. When the treatment regimens used in the cases were examined, glecaprevir/ pibrentasvir in 7.8%, sofosbuvir containing regimens in 15.7%, ombitasvir (OBV)/paritaprevir (P)/ritonavir (R)/dasabuvir in 76.5% (n=39) and OBV/ P/R/ribavirin appeared to be used. It was observed that 62% of the cases had co-morbidities such as diabetes mellitus, essential hypertension, and chronic renal failure. While co-infection was not observed in 94.1% of the cases, HBV co-infection was observed in 3.9% and HIV in 2% (Table 1).

Ago p (%)	Mean ± SD	59.94±14.54
Age, n (%)	Median (minmax.)	64 (23-86)
C and $m = n (0)$	Female	21 (41.2)
Gender, n (%)	Male	30 (58.8)
LICV DNA lovels (III /m1)	Mean \pm SD	985,576.89±1,157,972.49
ncv-kiva ieveis (iu/iiil)	Median (minmax.)	451,200 (5104-4,378,000)
	1a	3 (5.9)
	1b	41 (80.4)
Genotype distribution, n (%)	2	1 (2)
	3	5 (9.8)
	4	1 (2)
Transmont status n (0/)	Experienced	13 (25.5)
	Naive	38 (74.5)
	Glecaprevir/pibrentasvir	4 (7.8)
Treatment regimen, n (%)	SOF/LED, SOF/LED/ribavirin ve SOF/ribavirin	8 (15.7)
	OBV/P/R/D ve OBV/P/R/ribavirin	39 (76.5)
Comparison $n \langle 0/ \rangle$	No	19 (38)
Co-mordities, n (%)	Yes	31 (62)
	No	48 (94.1)
Co-infection, n (%)	HBV	2 (3.9)
	HIV	1 (2)

HCV: Hepatitis C virus, SOF: Sofosbuvir, LED: Ledipasvir, OBV: Ombitasvir, P: Pariteprevir, R: Ritonavir, PROD: Ombitasvir/pariteprevir/ritonavir/dasabuvir, HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus, SD: Standard deviation, min.: Minimum, max.: Maximum

Table 2. change in laboratory values of partents completing reatment						
		Beginning	Week 4	End of treatment	Follow-up week 12	р
	$Mean \pm SD$	64.65±67.64	16.25±13.41	15.09±6.83	15.22±5.72	^b 0.001**
ALI (IU/IIIL)	Median (MinMax.)	45 (10-401)	13 (5-79)	14 (4-36)	14 (5-32)	
ACT (111/m1)	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	51.26±37.56	18.82±6.09	20.53±10.21	19.37±6.62	^b 0.001**
AST (IU/IIIL)	Median (MinMax.)	37 (13-211)	18 (7-40)	19 (6-67)	18 (7-35)	
Homoglobin (g/dl)	$Mean\pmSD$	14.74±2	14.59±1.91	14.32±1.94	14.45±1.93	°0.062
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	Median (MinMax.)	15 (8.9-19.6)	15 (9.7-18.2)	14.5 (9.1-19)	14.8 (9.1-18.5)	
Absolute neutrophil	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	3875.29±1298.56	4280±1975.18	4112.98±1580.56	3988.24±1482.64	^b 0.518
count (/mm³)	Median (MinMax.)	3680 (1580-8350)	4130 (2210-11770)	3800 (1440-8900)	3550 (1500-8850)	
Platelet count*10 ³	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	211.47±85.38	235.18±90.92	229.98±74.04	225.19±84.04	^b 0.001**
(/mm³)	Median (MinMax.)	206 (179-564)	218 (102-683)	220 (97-578)	220 (200-583)	
	Negative		47 (92.2)	47 (100)	51 (100)	
HCV-KNA (IU/IIIL)	Positive		4 (7.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	

Table 2. Change in laboratory values of patients completing treatment

^bFriedman's test, 'Repeated Measures test, **p<0.01, SD: Standard deviation, Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, HCV: Hepatitis C virus

There was a statistically significant difference between the alanine aminotransferase (ALT) measurements at the beginning, at the 4th week, at the end of the treatment, and at the 12th week of the subjects participating in the study (p=0.001). Decreases in the baseline ALT measurement at week 4, at the end of treatment, and at week 12 were significant (p=0.001; p=0.001; p=0.001).

There was a statistically significant difference between the aspartate aminotransferas (AST) measurements of the subjects at the beginning, at the 4th week, at the end of the treatment and at the 12th week of follow-up (p=0.001). Decreases at the 4th week, at the end of the treatment, and at the 12th week were significant compared with the initial AST measurement (p=0.001; p=0.001; p=0.001).

There was a statistically significant difference between the platelet count measurements at the beginning, at the 4th week, at the end of the treatment, and at the 12th week of follow-up (p=0.001). The increases in the measurement of the initial platelet count at the 4th week, at the end of the treatment, and at the 12th week were significant (p=0.001; p=0.001; p=0.001) (Table 2).

No side effects required discontinuation of treatment in patients. Itching was observed in two patient; weakness, nausea, and swelling in the legs were observed in one patient each.

Discussion

Chronic HCV infection is still one of the major causes of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. While the combination of PEG-IFN and ribavirin was used in the treatment before, DAAs are now used today (11). When the real-life data of patients treated with DAAs are examined, different rates are reported in studies conducted in our country and in the world. In the study by Aygen et al. (8), which they analyzed the data of 55 patients infected with genotype 4, 100% SVR was found in patients without cirrhosis, while this rate was found to be 88.9% in patients with compensated cirrhosis. In another study of Aygen et al. (9), which they analyzed the data of 862 patients infected with genotype 1 or 4, SVR was

found to be 99.1%. Today, pangenotypic drugs are used and Su et al. (12) evaluated the real-life data of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in a 90-patient study and found 97.7% SVR rate. In our study, 100% SVR was detected and this rate shows that DAAs are effective.

Studies have shown that liver functions begin to improve immediately in patients with SVR. In the study of Cheng et al. (13), it was shown that ALT and AST levels returned to normal with the detection of post-treatment response and SVR. Simultaneously, histopathological improvement has been shown in patients who underwent liver biopsy before and after treatment. Similarly, in the Taiwan cohort, it was emphasized that cirrhosis and cirrhosis-related complications decreased in patients with SVR (14). Again, similar studies have shown improvement in noninvasive serum biomarkers in patients with SVR (15-18). In our study, a statistically significant decrease in ALT and AST levels at the end of the treatment; a statistically significant increase was observed in platelet counts (p < 0.01). It was observed that the improvement in ALT, AST, and thrombocyte levels of the patients continued after SVR was provided. This result shows that fibrosis improves with treatment. Simultaneously, it demonstrates the importance of ensuring that patients diagnosed with chronic HCV are identified as soon as possible and access to treatment. Because if the liver reserve is good before treatment, the risk of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma will be lower after treatment. Additionally, extrahepatic findings related to HCV will be prevented (11).

Real-life data show that DAAs have a good side-effect profile compared to PEG-INF + ribavirin. Generally, it has been reported that the side effects that require discontinuation of treatment are few (8,9,12). In our study, no side effects requiring discontinuation of treatment were observed in any patient, indicating that the side-effect profile of DAAs is good.

Study Limitations

The small number of patients in our study is a limitation of the study.

Conclusion

Our study showed that the treatment success of DAAs is 100% and their side-effect profiles are good. However, the small number of patients is a limitation of our study. Multicenter studies with large numbers of patients are needed.

Ethics Committee Approval: This study is a retrospective, crosssectional study and was conducted with the approval of the Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 08/06, date: 21.06.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - U.D.B., F.K., O.B., Ö.G.; Design - U.D.B., F.K., O.B., Ö.G.; Data Collection or Processing - U.D.B., F.K., O.B., Ö.G.; Analysis or Interpretation - U.D.B., F.K.; Literature Search - U.D.B., F.K., O.B., Ö.G.; Writing - U.D.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. World Health Organization (WHO) (2017) Global hepatitis report. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/255016/9789241565455-eng.pdf?sequence=1
- Polaris Observatory HCV Collaborators. Global prevalence and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in 2015: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 161-76.
- Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2014; 61: S45-57.
- Kırdar S, Yaşa MH, Aydın N, Korkmazgil Gültekin B, Öztürk ŞB, Kurt Ömürlü İ. The Distribution of Hepatitis C Virus Genotypes in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C Infection. Meandros Medical Journal 2015; 16: 108-13.
- Altuğlu I, Sertöz R, Aksoy A, Gürsel D, Tüzüner U, Günşar F. Possible transmission risks and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in Western Turkey. Turk J Gastroenterol 2013; 24: 349-55.
- Tozun N, Ozdogan O, Cakaloglu Y, Idilman R, Karasu Z, Akarca U, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B and C virus infections and risk factors in Turkey: a fieldwork TURHEP study. Clin Microbiol Infect 2015; 21: 1020-6.

- European Union HCV Collaborators. Hepatitis C virus prevalence and level of intervention required to achieve the WHO targets for elimination in the European Union by 2030: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 325-36.
- Aygen B, Demirtürk N, Yıldız O, Çelik İ, Güzel DK, Ersöz G, et al. Ombitasvir/ Paritaprevir/ Ritonavir + Ribavirin Combination Therapy in Hepatitis C Virus Infected Patients with Genotype 4 in Real-life Practice: A Multicentre Experience. Infect Dis Clin Microbiol 2019; 1: 97-107.
- Aygen B, Demirtürk N, Yıldız O, Çelen MK, Çelik İ, Barut Ş, et al. Real-world efficacy, safety, and clinical outcomes of ombitasvir/paritaprevir/ritonavir ± dasabuvir ± ribavirin combination therapy in patients with hepatitis C virus genotype 1 or 4 infection: The Turkey experience experience. Turk J Gastroenterol 2020; 31: 305-17.
- Gürbüz Y, Tülek NE, Tütüncü EE, Koruk ST, Aygen B, Demirtürk N, et al. Evaluation of Dual Therapy in Real Life Setting in Treatment-Naïve Turkish Patients with HCV Infection: A Multicenter, Retrospective Study. Balkan Med J 2016; 33: 18-26.
- 11. Dai CY, Chuang WL, Yu ML. EASL recommendations on treatment of hepatitis C: Final update of the series Some issues. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 473-4.
- Su PY, Chen YY, Lai JH, Chen HM, Yao CT, Liu IL, et al. Real-World Experience of Chronic Hepatitis C-Related Compensated Liver Cirrhosis Treated with Glecaprevir/Pibrentasvir: A Multicenter Retrospective Study. J Clin Med 2021; 10: 5236.
- Cheng CH, Chu CY, Chen HL, Lin IT, Wu CH, Lee YK, et al. Direct-acting antiviral therapy of chronic hepatitis C improves liver fibrosis, assessed by histological examination and laboratory markers. J Formos Med Assoc 2021; 120: 1259-68.
- 14. Hsu WF, Tsai PC, Chen CY, Tseng KC, Lai HC, Kuo HT, et al. Hepatitis C virus eradication decreases the risks of liver cirrhosis and cirrhosis-related complications (Taiwanese chronic hepatitis C cohort). J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 2884-92.
- 15. Sahakyan Y, Lee-Kim V, Bremner KE, Bielecki JM, Krahn MD. Impact of directacting antiviral regimens on mortality and morbidity outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis c: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Viral Hepat 2021; 28: 739-54.
- Johnson PJ, Berhane S, Walker AJ, Gordon FH, Ryder SD, McPherson S, et al. Impact of direct-acting antiviral agents on liver function in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Viral Hepat 2021; 28: 168-76.
- Öztürk-Çerik H, Esen Ş, Altıntaş-Öner B, Çelik M, Özdemir T, Tanyel E. Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Direct-Acting Antiviral Agents in Patients With Hepatitis C. Klimik Dergisi 2020; 33: 297-306.
- Akar M, Solakoğlu T. Real life data of second generation direct acting oral antivirals in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C:A single center and heterogeneous patient group. The Turkish Journal of Academic Gastroenterology 2020; 19: 123-8.

A Real-Life Turkish Experience of Ruxolitinib in Polycythemia Vera

🕲 İstemi Serin¹, 🕲 Mehmet Hilmi Doğu², 🕲 Ömer Ekinci³, 🕲 Gülsüm Akgün Çağlıyan⁴, 🕲 Abdulkadir Baştürk⁵,

🕲 Merih Reis Aras⁶, 🕲 Sinan Demircioğlu⁷, 🕲 Burhan Turgut⁸, 🕲 Mustafa Merter⁹, 🕲 Sibel Kabukçu Hacıoğlu⁴,

● Metin Bağcı¹⁰, ● Murat Albayrak⁶, ● Serdal Korkmaz¹¹, ● Mehmet Ali Erkurt¹², ● Mehmet Sinan Dal¹³,

● Fadime Ersoy Dursun¹⁴, ● Anıl Tombak¹⁵, ● İsmet Aydoğdu¹⁶, ● Turgay Ulaş¹⁷, ● Fevzi Altuntaş^{13,18}

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

²İstinye University, Liv Hospital Ulus, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, Diyarbakır, Turkey

⁴Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Denizli, Turkey

⁵Medicana International İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

⁶University of Health Sciences Turkey, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, Ankara, Turkey ⁷Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Konya, Turkey

⁸Namik Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Tekirdağ, Turkey

⁹Firat University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Flazig, Turkey

¹⁰Selçuk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Elazig, Turkey

¹¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Kayseri City Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology and Apheresis Unit, Kayseri, Turkey

¹²inönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Malatya, Turkey

¹³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Ankara Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology and Apheresis Unit, Ankara, Turkey ¹⁴Istanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, Istanbul, Turkey

¹⁵Mersin University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Mersin, Turkey

¹⁶Manisa Celal Bayar University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Manisa, Turkey

¹⁷Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Lefkosa, Cyprus

¹⁸Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Ruxolitinib is a small -molecule inhibitor of the JAK1/2 pathway. This study aimed to reveal the results and side-effect profile of the use of ruxolitinib as a treatment option in polycythemia vera (PV).

Methods: A total of 34 patients with PV from 18 different centers were included in the study. The evaluation of the response under treatment with ruxolitinib was determined as a reduction in spleen volume (splenomegaly size: \geq 35%) by imaging and control of hematocrit levels (\leq 45%) compared to baseline.

Results: While the number of patients in which a reduction in spleen volume and hematocrit control was achieved was 19 (55.9%) at 3 months of treatment, it was 21 (61.8%) at 6 months. Additionally, while the number of side effects was negatively correlated with the reduction in spleen volume (Spearman's rho: -0.365, p=0.034), a decrease in the hematocrit level was positively correlated (Spearman's rho: 0.75, p=0.029). Those without a reduction in spleen volume experienced more constipation (chi-square: 5.988, Fisher's exact test: p=0.033).

Conclusion: This study shed light on the use of ruxolitinib in PV and the importance of splenomegaly on studies planned with larger patient groups.

Keywords: Polycythemia vera, ruxolitinib, real-life data, response, side effect



Address for Correspondence: istemi Serin MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, istanbul, Turkey

Received: 24.10.2022 Accepted: 24.03.2023

Phone: +90 212 459 60 62 E-mail: serinistemi@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1855-774X

Cite this article as: Serin İ, Doğu MH, Ekinci Ö, Akgün Çağlıyan G, Baştürk A, Aras MR, Demircioğlu S, Turgut B, Merter M, Kabukçu Hacıoğlu S, Bağcı M, Albayrak M, Korkmaz S, Erkurt MA, Dal MS, Ersoy Dursun F, Tombak A, Aydoğdu İ, Ulaş T, Altuntaş F. A Real-Life Turkish Experience of Ruxolitinib in Polycythemia Vera. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 120-5.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Polycythemia vera (PV) is a myeloproliferative disorder that is characterized by the expansion of erythroid progenitor cells, which carries the risk of developing into myelofibrosis and acute leukemia (1). It is usually diagnosed in the 6th decade or later with a high risk of thromboembolism. Ninety-five percent of patients carry the *Janus kinase 2 (JAK2)* gene V617F mutation (1).

Treatment of PV consists of intermittent phlebotomy and low-dose acetylsalicylic acid to keep the hematocrit level below 45%. In patients defined as high risk (those over 60 years of age and the presence of any thrombohemorrhagic event), cytoreductive treatment is indicated. Hydroxyurea (HU) is the first agent recommended for cytoreduction, with the most experience available for HU (1-5).

The European Leukemia Net and the International Working Group-Myeloproliferative Neoplasms Research and Treatment have defined both resistance and intolerance to HU (6). HU resistance can be defined as the presence of one of the following criteria: 1) The need for phlebotomy to maintain a hematocrit levels of <45% during treatment. 2) Uncontrolled myeloproliferation (platelet count of 400×109/L and white blood cell count of $>10\times10^{9}$ /L). 3) The inability to reduce massive splenomegaly by >50%, as measured by palpation, or complete relieved symptoms related to splenomegaly. HU intolerance is defined as one of the following criteria: 1) Having an absolute neutrophil count of <1.0×10⁹/L or platelet count of <100×10⁹/L, or hemoglobin level of <10 g/dL under the lowest dose of HU was used to achieve a complete or partial hematological response. 2) The presence of mucocutaneous manifestations, gastrointestinal symptoms, pneumonitis, fever, leg ulcers, or other non-hematological toxicities related to HU at any dose of HU (7). Thus, it can be seen that different treatment options are on the agenda in these two patient groups.

Ruxolitinib is a small-molecule inhibitor of JAK1/2 that targets the Janus Kinase and signal transducer and activator of transcription pathway (8-10). Its efficacy has been proven in the Randomized study of Efficacy and Safety in PV with the JAK inhibitor ruxolitinib versus best available care (RESPONSE) 1 and RESPONSE 2 trials in the HU-intolerant or -unresponsive patient group (11,12). For post-HU patients, it appears to be a highly effective treatment option for hematocrit control, regression of the spleen size, and the elimination of PV-related symptoms. Another study, known as RELIEF (13), evaluated the efficacy and safety of ruxolitinib compared with HU in PV patients with controlled hematocrit levels, but whose symptoms did not regress. After 16 weeks, a 50% reduction in the cytokine total symptom score was reported in 43% of the ruxolitinib-treated patients and 29.6% of the HU-treated patients. Regarding pruritus and fatigue, the proportion of patients with greater than 50% reduction was 40% versus 26% in patients treated with ruxolitinib and HU, respectively (13).

This study aimed to reveal the results and side-effect profile of the use of ruxolitinib as a treatment option in PV.

Methods

A total of 34 patients with PV from 18 different centers were included in the study. In addition to the initial demographic data (age, and gender)

of the patients, initial spleen and liver size, laboratory values (leukocyte, hemoglobin, platelet), starting dose of ruxolitinib, follow-up duration, and side effect profile and responses were recorded.

All the patients had received treatment with HU before being administered ruxolitinib. Ruxolitinib was discontinued due to HU intolerance, massive splenomegaly, severe and treatment-refractory constitutional symptoms, uncontrolled polycythemia, or severe pruritus. The evaluation of the response under treatment with ruxolitinib was determined as a reduction in spleen volume (splenomegaly size: \geq 35%) by imaging and control of hematocrit levels (\leq 45%) compared to baseline. Patients with any side effects (grade 0-5) were recorded. Patients whose initial dose was increased or decreased were also recorded, and there were no patients who discontinued the treatment for any reason.

The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 2904, date: 13.8.2021).

Statistical Analysis

The IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) analysis program was used for statistical analysis. Descriptive and inferential statistics were calculated, and appropriate hypothesis tests were used. The one-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk normality tests were used for the conformity of the variables to the normal distribution. Quantitative variables were expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation, minimum-maximum, median. Qualitative variables are expressed as number and percentages. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for numerical data that did not show a normal distribution, and the chi square test was used for nominal data for comparison of the groups. The Independent sample test was used for those with normal distribution. The equality of variances was tested using the Levene test for the equality of variances. The Spearman Rank correlation coefficient and logistic regression analyzes were used to correlate the data. The McNemar test was used to compare the categorical variables in the dependent groups. Statistical significance level in hypothesis tests was accepted as p<0.05.

Results

Of the 34 patients included in the study, 21 were female (61.8%) and 13 were male (38.2%). Initial laboratory values and liver-spleen sizes are summarized in Table 1. The median line of treatment before ruxolitinib was 1.5 (range: 1-3). The median starting dose was 30 mg (range: 20-40). The most common indication for ruxolitinib was HU intolerance (15 patients, 44.1%). The median follow-up duration was 13.5 months (range: 7-61) (Table 1).

The ruxolitinib treatment process is shown in Table 2. While the number of patients in which a reduction in spleen volume and hematocrit control was achieved was 19 (55.9%) at 3 months of treatment, it was 21 (61.8%) at 6 months. The number of patients whose initial dose was reduced for any reason was 4 (11.7%), and of these patients, 2 had anemia, 1 had thrombocytopenia, and 1 had both of them. The most common side effects were thrombocytopenia and constipation, seen in 8 patients (23.5%) (Table 2).

In the statistical analysis, which was performed for the responses and initial parameters, it was found that the group with a reduction in spleen volume at 3 months had a significantly lower number of previous treatment lines (p=0.017). No significant correlation was found between the other baseline parameters and the response criteria (Table 3).

Additionally, while the number of side effects was negatively correlated with the reduction in spleen volume (Spearman's rho -0.365, p=0.034), a decrease in the hematocrit level was positively correlated (Spearman's rho: 0.75, p=0.029) (Figure 1).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics.	initial findings, and	indications for ruxolitinib
radio in Dennegraphile enaracteristics,		

		Minmax.	Median	Mean \pm SD/(n, %)
Age		47-83	65.5	65.828±9.37
Gender	Female	-	-	21 (61.8%)
	Male	-	-	13 (38.2%)
Spleen (mm)		110-400	180	196.25±61.03
Liver (mm)		120-220	165	166.91±25.45
WBC (/mm³)		2300-28900	10000	11740.59±5884.46
Hb (gr/dL)		7.8-18.7	14.5	14.41±2.58
Platelets (/mm ³)		106000-914000	317000	374000±225421.49
Line of treatment		1-3	1.5	1.71±0.8
Ruxolitinib dosage (mg/day)		20-40	30	29.41±7.76
Indication for ruxolitinib	Massive splenomegaly	-	-	12 (35.3%)
	Uncontrolled polycythemia	-	-	5 (14.7%)
	Pruritus	-	-	1 (2.9%)
	Constitutional symptoms	-	-	1 (2.9%)
	HU intolerance	-	-	15 (44.1%)
Follow-up duration (months)		7-61	13.5	16.39±13.75

**Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, SD: Standard deviation WBC: White blood cell, Hb: Hemoglobin, HU: Hydroxyurea

Table 2. Ruxolitinib results, side -effect profile

		n	%		
At 3 months					
	Regression of splenomegaly	4	11.7		
	Regression of polycythemia	11	32.4		
	Both	19	55.9		
At 6 months	Regression of splenomegaly	3	8.8		
	Regression of polycythemia	10	29.4		
	Both	21	61.8		
Reason for dose reduction					
	Anemia	2	5.8		
	Thrombocytopenia	1	2.9		
	Both	1	2.9		
Side effects (any of grade 0-5)					
	Weight gain	5	14.7		
	Arthralgia	5	14.7		
	Constipation	8	23.5		
	Diarrhea	2	5.8		
	Hypertension	3	8.8		
	Pneumonia	6	17.6		
	Anemia	7	20.6		
	Thrombocytopenia	8	23.5		
	Herpes zoster	1	2.9		

			Spleen size	Liver size	Hb (gr/dL)	Leukocytes (/mm³)	Platelets (/mm³)	Follow-up duration	Age	Line of treatment
Reduction in spleen volume at 3 months	(-)	Mean	187.35	158.54	13.87	11419	389769	19	65	2.15
	(+)	Mean	201.76	172.1	14.73	11940	364238	14	66	1.43
	Mann-Whitney U	р	0.958	0.131	0.215	0.929	0.446	0.887	0.817	0.017
Decrease in hematocrit at 3 months	(-)	Mean	241.25	145	13.3	11150	258500	13	63	1.25
	(+)	Mean	190.25	169.83	14.55	11819	389400	16	66	1.77
	Mann-Whitney U	р	0.708	0.077	0.487	0.556	0.438	0.321	0.377	0.232
Reduction in spleen volume at 6 months	(-)	Mean	179.92	167.21	15.04	10814	334263	12	65	1.74
	(+)	Mean	216.93	166.53	13.61	12914	424333	21	67	1.67
	Mann-Whitney U	р	0.068	0.715	0.103	0.435	0.150	0.149	0.305	0.925
Decrease in hematocrit at 6 months	(-)	Mean	237	156	13.44	13084	304200	17	61	1.4
	(+)	Mean	189.22	168.79	14.57	11509	386034	16	67	1.76
	Mann-Whitney U	р	0.48	0.342	0.422	0.865	0.697	0.807	0.137	0.411

Table 3. Statistical analysis of ruxolitinib results

Hb: Hemoglobin



Figure 1. Responses to ruxolitinib and side -effect profile

A positive correlation was found between the reduction in spleen volume at 3 months and constipation. In patients with a reduction in spleen volume at 3 months, the rate of constipation was also decreased. Those without a reduction in spleen volume experienced more constipation (chi-square: 5.988, Fisher' exact test: p=0.033) (Figure 2).

Discussion

This study had a multicenter patient group in which the efficacy and side -effect profile of the PV patients were demonstrated, and significant results were demonstrated. Of the patients included in the study, 44.1% switched to ruxolitinib due to HU intolerance. In the RESPONSE 1 trial, this rate was found to be 46.4% (11). In the RESPONSE 2 trial, this rate was 59% (12). The results here were similar in terms of intolerance to HU. While the median age was 65.5 years in this study, it was seen to be 62 and 63 years, respectively, in the RESPONSE 1 and 2 trials. Considering the reasons for switching to ruxolitinib, the most common reason was HU intolerance in this study, and the major reason was the same in the RESPONSE 1 and 2 trials.





Considering the responses observed, the number of patients in which hematocrit control was achieved at 3 months was 30 (88.3%). At 6 months, this number was 31 patients (91.2%). In the RESPONSE 1 trial (11), hematocrit control was achieved in 60% of patients at week 32, while in the RESPONSE 2 trial (12), the rate of patients in which hematocrit control was achieved at week 28 was 62%. In the RESPONSE 1 trial, the proportion of patients with a 35% spleen the volume reduction at week 32 was 38.2%. In this study, the number of patients with a reduction in spleen volume was 23 (67.6%) at 3 months and it was 24 (70.6%) at 6 months. In a retrospective analysis from 2020 (14), the initial rate of palpable splenomegaly in the patients treated with ruxolitinib was 48% compared to 20% at week 32. In this study, the group with a reduction in spleen volume at 3 months had significantly fewer previous lines of treatment (p=0.017). This was a first in terms of demonstrating the relationship between pre-ruxolitinib treatment burden and response. It can be considered that ruxolitinib is highly effective in treatment - naive patients, or patients with a low treatment burden. Here, especially with new risk scoring systems, the early use of ruxolitinib could be planned.

In this study, the most common side effect was constipation (seen in 8 patients, 23.5%). In the RESPONSE 1 trial (11), the most frequent nonhematologic adverse event was headache (16.4%, all grades). It was observed in 7 patients (9%) in the RESPONSE 2 trial and was the most common non-hematological side effect. Another common side effect in this study was thrombocytopenia (seen in 8 patients, 23.5%). This rate was 24.5% in the RESPONSE 2 trial (12). The most common hematological side effect was anemia, at 43.6%, in this study. Moreover, anemia that caused a dose reduction was seen in only 2 patients (5.8%). Cytopenia that caused ruxolitinib discontinuation was not observed.

Ruxolitinib-associated infections constitute an important side-effect profile. In the RESPONSE 1 trial (11), 7 patients experienced herpes zoster infections, the overall rate of infections observed was 41.8%, and the rate of grade-3 and -4 infections was 3.6% in the ruxolitinib arm. In the RESPONSE 2 trial (12), infections (influenza and bronchitis) were observed in 3% of ruxolitinib-treated patients. Only 1 patient experienced a herpes zoster infection in the ruxolitinib arm. In the patient group here, 6 patients had pneumonia (17.6%) and 1 patient had herpes zoster (2.9%).

In the statistical analysis, while the number of side effects was negatively correlated with the reduction in spleen volume (Spearman's rho: -0.365, p=0.034), a decrease in the hematocrit level was positively correlated (Spearman's rho: 0.375, p=0.029). The increase in the number of side effects may have been associated with the defect in the reduction in spleen volume. A positive correlation was found between the reduction in spleen volume and constipation at 3 months. These 2 results are quite significant in terms of revealing the role of PV treatment in the relationship between response and splenomegaly. In a study from 2019 (15), the effect of splenomegaly on overall survival and thrombosis in patients with PV patients was studied. A significant correlation was found with both the thrombosis and the poor overall survival rates. Considering the study results and literature data, splenomegaly in PV may be considered an important risk factor that is central to terms of ruxolitinib response and the side -effect profile.

Study Limitations

There were important limitations to this study. The limited number of patients was the most important limitation point. The fact that the statistically significant results obtained at 3 months could not be obtained at 6 months can be attributed to this reason. In terms of examining the reduction in spleen volume, a single center and uniform evaluation would provide more appropriate results, but the number of patients did not enable subcenter analysis.

Conclusion

The results of ruxolitinib in PV were revealed in this study with real-life data. The most common hematological side effect was thrombocytopenia, and the most common non-hematological side effect was constipation. The number of side effects was negatively correlated with the reduction in spleen volume, whereas it was positively correlated with hematocrit control. In patients with a reduction in spleen volume at 3 months,

the rate of constipation was also decreased. This shed light on the use of ruxolitinib in PV and the importance of splenomegaly on studies planned with larger patient groups.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 2904, date: 13.8.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - İ.S., M.H.D.; Design - İ.S., M.H.D.; Data Collection or Processing - İ.S., M.H.D., Ö.E., G.A.Ç., A.B., M.R.A., S.D., B.T., M.M., S.K.H., M.B., M.A., S.K., M.A.E., M.S.D., F.E.D., A.T., İ.A., T.U., F.A.; Analysis or Interpretation - İ.S.; Literature Search - İ.S.; Writing - İ.S.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Tefferi A, Thiele J, Vardiman JW. The 2008 World Health Organization classification system for myeloproliferative neoplasms: order out of chaos. Cancer 2009; 115: 3842-7.
- Levine RL, Wadleigh M, Cools J, Ebert BL, Wernig G, Huntly BJ, et al. Activating mutation in the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. Cancer Cell 2005; 7: 387-97.
- Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, East C, Fourouclas N, Swanton S, et al. Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. Lancet 2005; 365: 1054-61.
- Marchioli R, Finazzi G, Specchia G, Cacciola R, Cavazzina R, Cilloni D, et al. Cardiovascular events and intensity of treatment in polycythemia vera. N Engl J Med 2013; 368: 22-33.
- Landolfi R, Marchioli R, Kutti J, Gisslinger H, Tognoni G, Patrono C, et al. Efficacy and safety of low-dose aspirin in polycythemia vera. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 114-24.
- 6. Colafigli G, Scalzulli E, Pepe S, Di Prima A, Efficace F, Martelli M, et al. The advantages and risks of ruxolitinib for the treatment of polycythemia vera. Expert Rev Hematol 2020; 13: 1067-72.
- Nazha A, Khoury JD, Verstovsek S, Daver N. Second line therapies in polycythemia vera: What is the optimal strategy after hydroxyurea failure? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2016; 105: 112-7.
- Alvarez-Larrán A, Pereira A, Cervantes F, Arellano-Rodrigo E, Hernández-Boluda JC, Ferrer-Marín F, et al. Assessment and prognostic value of the European LeukemiaNet criteria for clinicohematologic response, resistance, and intolerance to hydroxyurea in polycythemia vera. Blood 2012; 119: 1363-9.
- Barbui T, Barosi G, Birgegard G, Cervantes F, Finazzi G, Griesshammer M, et al. Philadelphia-negative classical myeloproliferative neoplasms: critical concepts and management recommendations from European LeukemiaNet. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 761-70.
- 10. Mascarenhas J, Hoffman R. Ruxolitinib: the first FDA approved therapy for the treatment of myelofibrosis. Clin Cancer Res 2012; 18: 3008-14.
- Vannucchi AM, Kiladjian JJ, Griesshammer M, Masszi T, Durrant S, Passamonti F, et al. Ruxolitinib versus standard therapy for the treatment of polycythemia vera. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 426-35.

- 12. Passamonti F, Griesshammer M, Palandri F, Egyed M, Benevolo G, Devos T, et al. Ruxolitinib for the treatment of inadequately controlled polycythaemia vera without splenomegaly (RESPONSE-2): a randomised, open-label, phase 3b study. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18: 88-99.
- 13. Mesa R, Vannucchi AM, Yacoub A, Zachee P, Garg M, Lyons R, et al. The efficacy and safety of continued hydroxycarbamide therapy versus switching to ruxolitinib in patients with polycythaemia vera: a randomized, double-blind, double-dummy, symptom study (RELIEF). Br J Haematol 2017; 176: 76-85.
- 14. Coltoff A, Mesa R, Gotlib J, Shulman J, Rampal RK, Siwoski O, et al. Real-World Outcomes of Ruxolitinib Treatment for Polycythemia Vera. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2020; 20: 697-703.
- Accurso V, Santoro M, Raso S, Contrino AD, Casimiro P, Piazza FD, et al. Splenomegaly impacts prognosis in essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia vera: A single center study. Hematol Rep 2019; 11: 8281.

Evaluation of YouTube Videos Quality of Pediatric Cardiac Surgery Anesthesia

Evüp Murat Kanber¹. Mehmet Köseoğlu²

¹Private Practices of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ²Mehmet Akif Ersoy Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesia and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: To evaluate the quality of YouTube videos on pediatric cardiac surgery anesthesia (PCSA).

Methods: The keywords including, "PCSA", "pediatric cardiac surgery", and "pediatric anesthesia" were browsed on YouTube between January 1st, 2023 and January 10th, 2023. Video characteristics were recorded. The modified DISCERN instrument, the Global Quality Score (GQS), and the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) were used to evaluate the quality of the videos. The videos were divided into two groups as professionals (doctor, nurse, hospital, etc.) and non-professional (patient, non-health institutions, etc.) according to the upload source.

Results: A total 82 of the videos were included in the study. Fifty-six (68.3%) videos were uploaded by professional sources and 26 (31.7%) were by non-professional sources. Statistically, the average like of the videos uploaded by professional sources were significantly higher (64.0 and 29.0, p=0.005). The average number of comments on professionally sourced videos was 46.0, and it was 30.0 for non-professional videos (p=0.015). The GQS was 3.7±1.0 for professional videos and 2.2±0.8 for non-professional videos (p=0.001). The Modified DISCERN score was found to be significantly higher in the professional videos (p=0.001). The PEMAT score was above 70% in 50 (89.3%) videos in the professional video group and 12 (46.1%) videos in the non-professional video group (p=0.001).

Conclusion: Our findings revealed that professional videos about PCSA had significantly higher "likes" number and comments rate and YouTube videos about PCSA, which were shared by professional healthcare providers had significantly higher modified DISCERN score, GOS, and PEMAT score.

Keywords: Cardiac surgery anesthesia, DISCERN, Global Quality Score, pediatric, YouTube

Introduction

Pediatric cardiac surgery anesthesia (PCSA) is performed with increasing frequency due to improvement in pediatric patients' survival with cardiovascular diseases (1). On the other side, PCSA is mostly considered a high-risk morbidity and mortality procedure, and previous studies have emphasized that pediatric patients with cardiovascular disease have a higher risk of possible anesthesia complications, including larvngospasm. bradycardia, brain ischemia, and even death (2). The presence of a chronic and serious cardiovascular pathology of the child, and complications of anesthesia and surgery can cause anxiety in parents. Thus, many parents try to obtain secondary opinions about PCSA from other doctors, other patients' experience, written sources, and social media.

Social media became an important tool for patients and patients' families to obtain knowledge about diseases due to being easily accessible, its free nature, and the presence of multiple resources (3). In addition, Freeman and Chapman (4) analyzed the effect of the source type (being written, verbal or visual) on the researcher, and the authors found that sources with visual content were significantly more preferred by the researchers (4). When it comes to obtaining this kind of information, YouTube is the most used social media application because as it is widely known, the platform has numerous videos that include many kinds of contents. Previous research stated that YouTube become an important source to obtain knowledge about disease symptoms, treatment options, and treatment outcomes. Ergul (5) analyzed the quality of YouTube videos on the surgical treatment of uterine leiomyomas, and the author stated that despite their high ratings, YouTube videos tend to have low quality. In another study, Kumar et al. (6) emphasized that YouTube videos, which consist information about hypertension had misleading data.

Although previous studies have analyzed the reliability of YouTube videos in many medical conditions and treatments, no research investigated YouTube video quality for PCSA. In this study, we evaluated the quality of YouTube videos on PCSA.



Address for Correspondence: Eyüp Murat Kanber MD, Private Practices of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 532 282 24 96 E-mail: em.kanber.cvs@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0123-0409 Cite this article as: Kanber EM, Köseoğlu M, Evaluation of YouTube Videos Quality of Pediatric Cardiac Surgery Anesthesia. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 126-9.

Received: 11.02.2023 Accepted: 26.03.2023

Methods

The keywords including, "PCSA", "pediatric cardiac surgery", and "pediatric anesthesia" were browsed on YouTube between January 1st, 2023, and January 10th, 2023. The videos were sorted by relevance, and were watched by one anesthesiologist and one cardiovascular surgeon. Videos between 1 min and 30 min in length were included in the study. Only videos in the English language were evaluated, and videos in different languages were excluded. Repetitive videos, silent videos, videos in which the video title and the content did not match, and commercial videos were excluded from the study. The videos were divided into two groups as professionals (doctor, nurse, hospital, etc.) and non-professional (patient, non-health institutions, etc.) according to the upload source. URLs of videos, durations, the number of views, likes, dislikes, and comments of the videos were recorded. The target audiences of the videos were recorded as healthcare professionals or patients.

The study was planned after obtaining ethics committee approval from the Bezmialem University Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2022/462; date: 08.12.2022) and patient consent form was not required because patient data were not used. The modified DISCERN instrument, the Global Quality Score (GQS), and the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) were used to evaluate the quality of the videos. Scoring was done separately by the two doctors aforementioned above. If the physicians gave different scores to the videos, the average of the two values was recorded.

The modified DISCERN scale was a simplified version of the 16-question DISCERN tool that developed by Charnock and Shepperd (7), and this inquiry form consists of five questions that can be answered as 1 or 0 (yes or no). Five points indicate the highest score and quality. The GQS is a 5-question tool that evaluates video quality, video streaming, and usability. The tool gives results between 1-5 points, and a high score indicates high video quality (8). The PEMAT is a questionnaire that evaluates the understandability and applicability of the videos. It consists of a total of 17 items, 13 of which are related to intelligibility and 4 are related to applicability. Each item was scored as 1 and 0. If the total score is over 70%, it indicates high quality (9).

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 26 (SPSS IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) program was used. The distribution of variables was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Comparison of continuous variables between groups was done with the Independent Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables were grouped and compared using the χ^2 test. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 119 videos were evaluated and 82 of the videos were included in the study. Thirty-seven videos were excluded due to being in other languages than English, having durations less than 1 min and more than 30 min, and consisting of inappropriate content (Figure 1).

Data on video features are summarized in Table 1. Fifty-six (68.3%) videos were uploaded by professional sources. The number of views, video lengths, and dislike rates were statistically similar between the groups (p=0.164, p=0.735, p=0.280, and p=0.272, respectively). Statistically, the average like of the videos uploaded by professional healthcare



. Flow	chart
	. Flow

Table 1. Analysis of video features about pediatric cardiac surgery anesthesia by category					
Category	Professional	Non-professional	p-value		
Number of videos	56 (68.3%)	26 (31.7%)			
Audience interaction parameters*					
Number of views	4328.5 (2518.8-7020.0)	3725.0 (1214.5-5899.3)	0.164		
Video length (min)	4.7 (2.5-9.0)	4.2 (2.9-7.5)	0.735		
Duration on YouTube (days)	150.0 (120.0-360.0)	120.0 (90.0-240.0)	0.280		
Likes	64.0 (15.0-106.8)	29.0 (9.8-59.5)	0.005		
Dislikes	11.0 (2.3-21.0)	12.0 (1.0-13.8)	0.272		
Comments	46.0 (22.3-234.0)	30.0 (12.0-58.0)	0.015		
Target audience			0.162		
For healthcare providers	14 (25.0%)	4 (11.5%)	-		
For patients	42 (75.0%)	36 (88.5%)	-		
*: Median (interquartile range)					

Table 2. Analysis of video quality about pediatric cardiac surgery anestnesia by category						
Category	Professional	Non-professional	p-value			
Number of videos	56 (68.3%)	26 (31.7%)	-			
Global Quality Score**	3.7±1.0	2.2±0.8	0.001			
Modified DISCERN score**	3.3±0.9	1.8±1.0	0.001			
PEMAT (>70%)	50 (89.3%)	12 (46.1%)	0.001			
**: Mean \pm standard deviation, PEMAT: Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool						

Table 2. Analysis of video quality about pediatric cardiac surgery anesthesia by category

providers were significantly higher than the videos uploaded by nonprofessional sources (64.0 and 29.0, p=0.005). The average number of comments on professionally sourced videos was 46.0, and it was 30.0

for non-professional videos (p=0.015). The target audience of the videos

were patients, rather than healthcare workers in both groups (p=0.162).

A comparison of the mean scores of the video quality scales between the groups is shown in Table 2. The GQS was 3.7 ± 1.0 for professional videos and 2.2 ± 0.8 for non-professional videos (p=0.001). Similarly, the Modified DISCERN score was found to be significantly higher in the professional videos than in the non-professional videos (3.3 ± 0.9 and 1.8 ± 1.0 , p=0.001). The PEMAT score was above 70% in 50 (89.3%) videos in the professional video group and 12 (46.1%) videos in the nonprofessional video group (p=0.001).

Discussion

Easy and free access to social media sources has dramatically modified the patients' way of obtaining information. Today, almost 19 of 20 internet users log in YouTube to watch videos. Thus, we clarified the quality and reliability of YouTube videos on PCSA. In this study, videos about PCSA, which were uploaded by professional sources had a significantly higher "likes" number and comments rate. Moreover, our findings revealed that professional videos about PCSA had significantly higher modified DISCERN core, GQS, and PEMAT score.

The DISCERN score and GQS were defined to evaluate the quality and reliability of videos as an informational tool. Yuksel and Ozgor (10) used the DISCERN score to analyze YouTube videos about pregnancy and COVID-19, and the authors stated that despite the low quality of YouTube videos about pregnancy and COVID-19, videos that were shared by professional healthcare providers had a significantly higher DISCERN score. Another study by Ferhatoglu et al. (11), which analyzed videos about bariatric surgery, found that the DISCERN score of professional videos was significantly higher than videos that were uploaded by nonprofessional individuals. Moreover, GQS was used by Kılınç and Sayar (12) to analyze the YouTube videos about orthodontics, and the authors found that the YouTube videos about orthodontics that were shared by professional sources had significantly better GSQ. In this research, we found significantly better DISCERN score and GSQ in professional videos, and our results emphasized that professional healthcare workers sharing more videos will lead society to obtain a more accurate information about PCSA.

The PEMAT is defined as an assessment of the applicability and understandability of education tools that are used in patient information. Ji et al. (13) used the PEMAT score to analyze the videos about overactive bladder syndrome, and the authors emphasized that videos that were shared by professional healthcare providers had a significantly higher PEMAT score. In contrast, Wong et al. (14) tried identifying the PEMAT score of YouTube videos about laryngectomy, and the authors found that the PEMAT scores were unsatisfactory for YouTube videos about laryngectomy. Moreover, Wong et al. (14) claimed that most YouTube videos included information that is too complex to be understood by the average viewer, and the authors suggested a revision of YouTube videos about laryngectomy to reach a wider spectrum of audiences. In our study, the PEMAT scores of professional videos were significantly higher.

Comment numbers and "like" numbers are critical for YouTube videos to achieve more interaction. Sevgili and Baytaroglu (15) analyzed that the "like" numbers for YouTube videos about cardiac disease, and the authors found similar "like" number between professional and non-professional videos. Accordingly, the Yuksel and Ozgor (10) study, which investigated YouTube videos about pregnancy and COVID-19, did not find a significant difference in regards of comment number and "like" number between professional and non-professional videos. However, Ergul (5) found a significantly higher comments number of non-professional videos in YouTube videos about uterine leiomyomas. In contrast, we found significantly higher comments number and "-like" number in professional videos about PCSA. This result may have been caused by the relatives of the patients wanting to ask questions to the healthcare professionals while watching the video.

Study Limitations

Our study has some limitation; we only analyzed YouTube videos in the English language. On the other side, researching in more than one language can be confusing and the results could be difficult to explain and understand. Additionally, more than half of the YouTube videos were uploaded in English. Second, we selected three words to search in YouTube, but some users may have uploaded their videos about PCSA without including these three words. Finally, the research included a certain time, but YouTube videos about PCSA are being continuously shared.

Conclusion

Our study demonstrated that the YouTube videos about PCSA are popular and easily accessible sources of information. Moreover, our findings revealed that professional videos about PCSA had significantly higher "likes" number and comments rate and YouTube videos about PCSA, which were shared by professional healthcare providers had significantly higher modified DISCERN score, GQS, and PEMAT score.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was planned after obtaining ethics committee approval from the Bezmialem Vakif University Faculty
of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2022/462; date: 08.12.2022).

Informed consent: Patient consent form was not required because patient data were not used.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.M.K.; Concept - M.K.; Design - E.M.K.; Data Collection or Processing - E.M.K.; Analysis or Interpretation - M.K.; Literature Search - E.M.K.; Writing -E.M.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflicts of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

References

- 1. Diaz LK. Anesthesia and postoperative analgesia in pediatric patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Paediatr Drugs 2006; 8: 223-33.
- 2. Doherty C, Holtby H. Pediatric cardiac anesthesia in the developing world. Paediatr Anaesth 2011; 21: 609-14.
- Cetin HK, El Kilic H, Koramaz I, Demir T. The Evaluation of Cardiovascular Surgery-Associated Google Search Trends During COVID-19 Waves. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul 2022; 56: 323-7.
- Freeman B, Chapman S. Is "YouTube" telling or selling you something? Tobacco content on the YouTube video-sharing website. Tob Control 2007; 16: 207-10.
- Ergul A. Quality and Reliability of YouTube Videos on Surgical Treatment of Uterine Leiomyomas. Cureus 2021; 13: e20044.

- Kumar N, Pandey A, Venkatraman A, Garg N. Are video sharing web sites a useful source of information on hypertension? J Am Soc Hypertens 2014; 8: 481-90.
- Charnock D, Shepperd S. Learning to DISCERN online: applying an appraisal tool to health websites in a workshop setting. Health Educ Res 2004; 19: 440-6.
- 8. Etzel CM, Bokshan SL, Forster TA, Owens BD. A quality assessment of YouTube content on shoulder instability. Phys Sportsmed 2022; 50: 289-94.
- 9. Heng H, Jazayeri D, Shaw L, Kiegaldie D, Hill AM, Morris ME. Hospital falls prevention with patient education: a scoping review. BMC Geriatr 2020; 20: 140.
- Yuksel B, Ozgor F. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on female sexual behavior. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2020; 150: 98-102.
- Ferhatoglu MF, Kartal A, Ekici U, Gurkan A. Evaluation of the Reliability, Utility, and Quality of the Information in Sleeve Gastrectomy Videos Shared on Open Access Video Sharing Platform YouTube. Obes Surg 2019; 29: 1477-84.
- 12. Kılınç DD, Sayar G. Assessment of Reliability of YouTube Videos on Orthodontics. Turk J Orthod 2019; 32: 145-50.
- Ji L, Sebesta EM, Stumbar SE, Rutman MP, Chung DE. Evaluating the Quality of Overactive Bladder Patient Education Material on YouTube: A Pilot Study Using the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool. Urology 2020; 145: 90-3.
- Wong K, Gilad A, Cohen MB, Kirke DN, Jalisi SM. Patient education materials assessment tool for laryngectomy health information. Head Neck 2017; 39: 2256-63.
- Sevgili E, Baytaroglu C. The role of Youtube as an information source about coronary artery disease during COVID-19 pandemic. Med Bull Haseki 2021; 59: 45-9.

Bilateral Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis: Outcomes of a **Tertiary Hospital**

Fatih Dal. Hasan Ökmen

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Bilateral granulomatous mastitis (BIGM) is a rare bilateral inflammatory pseudotumor of the breast. This study presented the clinical characteristics of BIGM and our treatment results.

Methods: Thirteen patients who met the diagnostic criteria for BIGM were included in the study. The anamnesis and the results of the physical examination, clinical radiology, histopathology, microbiology, and treatment were recorded and analyzed.

Results: The mean age of the patients was 36.23±8.98 years (range: 25 to 53 years). In the first session of the treatment, recurrence was observed in all (100%) patients. Until remission, the distribution of treatment methods in patients with BIGM (n=13) was as follows: 61.5% bilateral combined medical (BCM) treatment, 15.4% bilateral combined medical treatment plus surgery (BCMS), 23.1% unilateral combined medical treatment/unilateral combined medical treatment plus surgery (UCM/UCMS). The distribution of treatment methods in patients (n=26) in the unilateral subgroup was as follows: 73.1% UCM treatment and 26.9% UCMS. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) between the distributions of the patients' combined treatments. However, durations of remission (p=0.018) and follow-up (p=0.037) were significantly longer in young (p=0.037) patients.

Conclusion: Although there is no significant (p>0.05) difference between patients' combined (BCM, BCMS, UCM/UCMS, UCM, UCMS) treatment methods, the first choice for treating patients with BIGM is medical treatment methods. Surgery can be performed for patients who are resistant to medical treatment.

Keywords: Granulomatous mastiti, idiopathic, breast cancer, tuberculosis, disease treatment

Introduction

Non-specific or idiopathic granulomatous mastitis (IGM), which was first introduced by Kessler and Wolloch (1), is a benign chronic inflammatory disease of the breast, characterized by non-caseating granulomas. There is no epidemiological evidence in the literature; however, there are large case series reported from all over the worldwide, mostly from Eurasian countries (1,2). In the differential diagnosis, breast cancers are confused with pyogenic and granulomatous infectious or non-infectious inflammatory diseases of the breast (1,3-6). The underlying etiology is not yet known (2). Definitive diagnosis is made by histopathological evaluation and exclusion of a descriptive etiology (2-6).

IGM without a definitive etiology is theoretically considered sterile. However, empirical antibiotics and/or abscess drainage (percutaneous/ incisional) are applied to patients with mastitis and/or the signs of abscess on physical examination. There are options such as conservative colchicine. treatment. glucocorticoids, methotrexate, imuran (azathioprine), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID), and surgery (local excision, mastectomy) for treating patients diagnosed with IGM histopathologically (3,4,6-10). Although there are different opinions on the management of the disease, treatment with glucocorticoids (local or systemic) and/or their combination (glucocorticoids plus methotrexate) is still the dominant treatment modality due to the autoimmune and inflammatory origin of IGM (8,9). However, despite different treatment methods available, recurrence rates range, 5% to 50% have been reported in unilateral idiopathic granulomatous mastitis (UIGM). This rate is much higher in patients with bilateral idiopathic granulomatous mastitis (BIGM) (10,11).

As far as we know, the incidence of BIGM is quite rare, except for a few case reports in the literature. This study presents the outcomes of the patients who were treated and followed up with the diagnosis of BIGM between 2010 and 2022.

Methods

This study was conducted in line with the ethical standards defined by the Institutional Research Committee and the Helsinki Declaration dated 1964. Before the study, ethics committee approval was obtained



Address for Correspondence: Fatih Dal MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 507 816 90 65 E-mail: fatihdal07@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9768-8125

Received: 24.02.2023 Accepted: 26.03.2023

Cite this article as: Dal F, Ökmen H. Bilateral Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis: Outcomes of a Tertiary

Hospital. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 130-8.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 06, date: 13.01.2023).

Patient selection: The medical data of the patients who were approved with the preliminary diagnosis of BIGM were scanned retrospectively from the archives. Patients (n=13) with a confirmed diagnosis of BIGM were included in the study. Patients with a diagnosis of breast cancer, unilateral IGM, and specific GM were excluded from the study (Figure 1).

Diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up: Medical archives were retrospectively scanned for patients with the preliminary diagnosis of BIGM and patient data including complaints, anamnesis, and the results of the physical examination, hemogram, basic biochemistry test, serology tests, tissue biopsy (tru-cut and/or excisional and/or abscess wall), and cultures; radiological data including breast ultrasonography (USG) and/ or magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) to evaluate involvement, and mammography (MMG) results for the patients aged over 40 years.

To confirm the BIGM diagnosis, we checked tissue biopsies (tru-cut and/ or excisional and/or abscess wall) collected separately from each breast, lymphocytes with non-caseating granulomas, plasma cells, epithelioid histiocytes rarely accompanied by eosinophils in or around lobules, Langhans giant cells, microorganisms [Gram staining for bacteria, Periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) staining for fungi, Erlich-Ziehl-Neelsen (EZN)/ polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for mycobacterium tuberculosis (TBC)] and purified protein derivative (PPD) negativity (<10 mm). Moreover, the negativity of a descriptive etiology (parasitic, fungal, bacterial) was confirmed with the culture inoculation and microscopic examinations of the biopsy samples. The results of the preoperative hemogram, basic biochemistry tests, chest X-ray to exclude sarcoidosis, and serology tests to exclude brucellosis and hepatitis were checked. The final status of the patients who had missing data in the medical archives and/or who could not come for a follow-up visit due to address change was updated by making phone calls.

Until the clinicopathological results of the patients with mastitis symptoms in the breast were obtained, these patients received empirical antibiotherapy, NSAID treatment, and drainage in the presence of an abscess (percutaneous or incisional) for 10 to 20 days. The empirical antibiotherapies of the patients were arranged by a specialist physician at the polyclinic, considering the side effects. Treatment options approved by patients with the clinicopathological diagnosis of IGM were oral systemic glucocorticoids, methotrexate, conservative treatment [antibiotherapy and drainage (incisional/percutaneous) in the presence of abscess], and surgery, respectively. Oral systemic glucocorticoids (0.5 to 1 mg/kg/day) were started in moderate/high doses (7.5 to 100 mg/day) and gradually decreased after treatment, which lasted for a minimum of 3 weeks and a maximum of 8 weeks. One patient was treated with methotrexate at a dose of 15 mg/week administered in 2 divided doses for 6 months. Due to the toxic side effects of methotrexate (hematotoxic/ hepatotoxic), hemogram and biochemistry tests were performed every two months to check patients' well-being. During treatment, patients were started on calcium, vitamin D, proton pump inhibitor, and folic acid to eliminate the influence of the side effects of glucocorticoids sand methotrexate. Conservative treatment was followed by empirical antibiotherapy and drainage (percutaneous or incisional) in case of mastitis and/or breast abscess. Conservative treatment was followed by empirical antibiotherapy and drainage (percutaneous or incisional) in case of mastitis and/or breast abscess.

After the treatment, clinical regression of inflammation in the breast, closure of fistulas, regression of existing skin lesions, and/or USG findings, and no recurrence of the disease during the follow-up period were accepted as remission. Resistance to therapy during treatment and/or relapse of the disease after the treatment was considered a recurrence. The subjects whose disease recurred were informed about the treatment options and the treatment they approved was started to be administered till remission was achieved. For patients who achieved remission and who attended regular follow-up visits, follow-up visits were scheduled once every three months for 1 year and then once a year. Follow-up visits include a physical examination and USG examination of the patients. The patients who did not attend their follow-up visits due to a change in their address or restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic were called to obtain information about their treatment, follow-up, and final health status.

Study design: Demographic data, physical examination results, and data regarding any diagnosed diseases or concomitant chronic disorders were recorded from the medical archives of the patients. The radiologically measured size/dimensions of the masses were recorded. The treatment options approved by the patients before and after histopathological diagnosis (empirical antibiotherapy plus NSAID) were conservative therapy, glucocorticoids, glucocorticoids plus methotrexate therapy, and resection or mastectomy with intact margins. Treatment, follow-up, and remission durations of the patients were calculated based on the day the first treatment was started. All combined (1st session, 2nd session, 3 sessions, 4th session, etc.) therapies administered to patients before and after clinicopathological diagnosis (empirical antibiotherapy plus NSAID) were analyzed under the groups of bilateral combined medical (BCM), bilateral combined medical plus surgery (BCMS), unilateral combined medical/unilateral combined medical plus surgery (UCM/UCMS), UCM, and UCMS.

Statistical Analysis

We used the descriptive statistics of mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and ratio. Quantitative parametric independent data were analyzed using the Independent samples t-test and ANOVA. Quantitative non-parametric independent data were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis and the Mann-Whitney U tests. Quantitative independent data were analyzed using the chi-square test, but when the conditions for the chi-square test were not met, we used the Fisher's exact test. The SPSS 26.0 program was used for the analysis.

Results

The prevalence of BIGM was 3.03% (13/428) in all granulomatous mastitis cases and 3.59% (13/362) in IGM, and the mean age of the patients was 36.23 ± 8.98 (range: 25.0 to 53.0) years. In the bilateral and unilateral evaluations, the mean age of patients who had IGM in the right breast was 36.69 ± 8.97 years (range: 25 to 53 years), of those who had IGM in the left breast was 36.77 ± 9.24 -year (range: 25 to 53

years) and 36.77±8.89 years (range: 25 to 53 years). All patients (100%) had a history of giving birth and breastfeeding at least once, and 84.6% of them were premenopausal. Of all patients, 15.4% had a history of tobacco use, 7.7% of trauma, 15.4% of oral contraceptive (OC) use, and 38.5% of them had a history of systemic disease. As a history of systemic disease, two patients had type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM), one patient had hypertension (HT), one patient had DM plus HT, and one patient had Hashimoto thyroiditis (HsT). The patients had no history of exposure to galactorrhea, galactocele, hyperprolactinemia, rheumatology, or tuberculous. The most common symptoms and signs (100%) were breast mass and inflammation. At the time of diagnosis, the mean size of the masses in the right breast was 4.98±2.65 cm and the mean size of the masses in the left breast was 3.38±1.25 cm. The presentation of the disease was bilateral in 46.2% of the patients, in the right breast in 23.1%, in the left breast in 30.8%, and the disorder was synchronous in 53.8% and metachronous in 46.2% (Figure 1, Table 1).

The distribution of the patients according to the radiological examinations applied was as follows: 23.1% bilateral USG, 30.8% bilateral USG and MRI, 15.5% bilateral USG plus MRI plus MMG, and the radiological distribution was different between the sides in 30.8% of the patients. The method used in the histopathological diagnosis of the patients was 30.8% bilateral abscess wall, 53.8% bilateral tru-cut





		- 8	Min -may	Median	$Mean + SD_{2}(n)$
Age (uppy)	D		WIIIIIIdX.		
Age (year)	В		25.00-53.00	34.00	30.23±8.98
	ĸ		25.00-53.00	35.00	36.69±8.9/
	L		25.00-53.00	34.00	36.//±9.24
	U		25.00-53.00	35.00	36.77±8.89
Menopausal status	B/R/L/U	Premenopause			84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.6% (22)
	B/R/L/U	Menopause			15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (4)
Pregnancy	B/R/L/U	+			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Breastfeeding	B/R/L/U	+			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Smoking	B/R/L/U	+			15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (4)
	B/R/L/U	-			84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.6% (22)
Trauma	B/R/L/U	+			7.7% (1)/7.7% (1)/7.7% (2)
	B/R/L/U	-			92.3% (12)/92.3% (12)/92.3% (12)/92.3% (24)
OC	B/R/L/U	+			15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (2)/15.4% (4)
	B/R/L/U	-			84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.6% (11)/84.5% (22)
TBC exposure	B/R/L/U	-			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Systemic disease	В	+			38.5% (5)
	В	-			61.5% (8)
Size of mass (cm)	R		2.20-12.00	4.50	4.98±2.65
	L		1.90-6.00	3.00	3.38±1.25
	U		1.90-12.00	3.00	4.18±2.19
Mass	B/R/L/U	+			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Inflammation	B/R/L/U	+			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Fistula	B/R/L/U	+			23.1% (3)/38.5% (5)/53.8% (7)/46.2% (12)
	B/R/L/U	-			38.5% (5)/61.5% (8)/46.2% (6)/53.8% (14)
	В	(+/-)			38.5% (5)
Nipple retraction	B/R/L	+			7.7% (1)/15.4% (2)/23.1% (3)/19.2% (5)

biopsy, 30.8% unilateral abscess wall, or tru-cut biopsy. There was no reproduction in the cultures (aerobic, anaerobic, and fungal cultures). The methods used to confirm the TBC negativity of the patients were as follows: 30.8% bilateral TBC PCR, 46.2% bilateral EZN, 7.7% bilateral PPD, and 15.4% unilateral TBC PCR or EZN (Table 1).

Because to the synchronous/metachronous onset of the disease, there are differences between patients in terms of mean age, total treatment time, total remission time, and total follow-up time. In patients with BIGM, the mean total treatment duration was 32.04 ± 22.00 months (range: 3.37 to 69.90 months), the mean total remission duration was

Table 1. continued

			Minmax.	Median	Mean ± SD-% (n)
	B/R/L/U	-			69.2% (9)/84.6% (11)/76.9% (10)/80.8% (21)
	В	+/-			23.1 (3)
Erythema nodosum	B/R/L/U	+			7.7% (1)/7.7% (1)/7.7% (2)
	B/R/L/U	-			92.3% (12)/92.3% (12)/92.3% (12)/92.3% (24)
Abscess drainage	B/R/L/U	+			53.8% (7)/84.6% (11)/61.5% (8)/73.1% (19)
	B/R/L	-			7.7% (1)/15.4% (2)/38.5% (5)/26.9% (7)
	В	(+/-)			38.5% (5)
Diagnosis of tissues	B/R/L	Abscess wall			30.8% (4)/30.8% (4)/38.5% (5)
	B/R/L	Tru-cut			53.8% (7)/69.2% (9)/61.5% (8)
	В	Abscess wall/ tru-cut			15.4% (2)
TBC test	B/R/L	TBC PCR (-)			30.8% (4)/38.5% (5)/38.5% (5)
	B/R/L	EZN (-)			46.2% (6)/53.8% (7)/53.8% (7)
	B/R/L	Anergic PPD			7.7% (1)/7.7% (1)/7.7% (1)
	В	TBC PCR (-)/EZN (-)			15.4% (2)
Culture	B/R/L/U	(-)			100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (13)/100% (26)
Radiology	B/R/L/U	USG			23.1% (3)/30.8% (4)/38.5% (5)/34.6% (9)
	B/R/L/U	USG + MMG			0.0% (0)/7.7% (0)/0.0% (0)/3.8% (1)
	B/R/L/U	USG + MRI			30.8% (4)/53.8% (7)/46.2% (6)/50.0% (13)
	B/R/L/U	USG + MMG + MRI			15.4% (2)/7.7% (1)/15.4% (2)/11.5% (3)
	В	Other			30.8% (4)
The first side affected	B/R/L				46.2% (6)/23.1% (3)/30.8% (4)
Synchronous/metachronous					53.8%/46.2%
Differences between the sides in terms of duration			0.00-67.73	5.00	10.86±19.36
Total treatment duration (months)	В		3.37-69.90	29.50	32.04±22.00
	R		0.73-66.37	10.06	15.52±17.98
	L		1.00-69.90	29.50	25.87±24.21
	U		0.73-69.90	10.62	20.70±21.55
Total remission duration (months)	В		3.30-88.93	37.87	40.40±27.61
	R		3.30-170.90	50.57	58.84±47.05
	L		6.00-88.93	51.40	46.80±26.96
	U		3.30-170.90	50.98	52.82±38.07
Total follow-up duration (months)	В		9.37-115.97	76.80	76.44±34.83
	R		9.37-177.80	69.40	74.36±45.10
	L		9.37-109.07	80.90	72.67±33.73
	U		9.37-177.80	79.02	73.52±39.59

Min.-max.: Minimum-maximum, SD: Standard deviation, n: Number of patients, OC: Oral contraceptive, TBC: Mycobacterium tuberculosis, B: Bilateral, R: Right, L: Left, U: Unilateral, Positive: -, Negative: -, Unilateral positive (+/-), TBC PCR: Mycobacterium tuberculosis polymerase chain reaction, Tru-cut: Core needle biopsy, EZN: Erlich-Ziehl-Neelsen, PPD: Purified protein derivative, USG: Ultrasonography, MMG: Mammography, MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

40.40 \pm 27.61 months (range: 3.30 to 88.93 months), and the mean total follow-up duration was 76.44 \pm 34.83 months (range: 9.37 to 177.77 months). In the unilateral evaluation, the mean total treatment duration was 20.70 \pm 21.55 months (range: 0.73 to 69.90 months), the mean total remission duration was 52.82 \pm 38.07 months (range: 3.30 to 170.90), and the mean total follow-up duration was 73.52 \pm 39.59 months (range: 9.37 to 177.80 months). For patients with IGM in the right breast, the mean total treatment duration was 15.52 \pm 17.98 months (range: 0.73 to 69.90 months), the mean total remission duration was 58.84 \pm 47.05 months (range: 3.30 to 88.93 months), and the mean total follow-up duration was 58.84 \pm 47.05 months (range: 3.30 to 88.93 months). In patients with IGM in the left breast, the mean total treatment duration was 25.87 \pm 24.21 months (range: 1.0 to 69.90 months), the mean total remission duration was 46.80 \pm 26.96 months (range: 6.0 to 88.93

months), and the mean total follow-up duration was 72.67 ± 33.73 months (range: 9.37 to 177.77 months). In the bilateral evaluation of combined treatments administered to patients before and after clinicopathological diagnosis, recurrence rates in at least one breast were 100%, 92.3%, 30.3%, and 0%, respectively. The unilateral recurrence rate were 96.2%, 69.2%, and 19.2%, respectively. All patients achieved remission after receiving combined therapies. The incidence rate of side effects in patients receiving combined therapy was 69.2% (n=9), and all of them received glucocorticoid therapy (Table 1, 2).

After combined therapies, all patients achieved remission. The distribution of patients receiving bilateral combined therapies was as follows: 61.5% (8/13) BCM, 15.4% (2/13) BCMS, and 23.1% (3/13) BCM/ BCMS. The distribution of patients receiving unilateral combined therapies was as follows: 73.1% (19/26) UCM and 26.9% (7/26) UCMS. No

			Right	Left	Unilateral	Bilateral
			% (n)	% (n)	% (n)	% (n)
Before clinicopathological diagnosis	Treatment 1	Antibiotherapy + NSAID	100% (13)	100% (13)	-	-
	Remission		7.7% (1)	0 (0)	3.8 (1)	0 (0)
	Recurrence		92.3% (12)	100% (13)	96.2% (25)	100% (13)
After clinicopathological diagnosis	Treatment 2	Glucocorticoids	30.8% (4)	23.1% (3)	-	-
		Glucocorticoids + methotrexate	7.7% (1)	7.7% (1)	-	-
		Conservative treatment	53.8% (7)	69.2% (9)	-	-
		Surgery	7.7% (1)	0% (0)	-	-
	Remission		30.8% (4)	30.8% (4)	30.8% (8)	7.7% (1)
	Recurrence		69.2% (9)	69.2% (9)	69.2% (18)	92.3% (12)
	Treatment 3	Glucocorticoids	23.1% (3)	46.2% (6)	-	-
		Glucocorticoids + methotrexate	0% (0)	0% (0)	-	-
		Conservative treatment	30.8% (4)	15.4% (2)	-	-
		Surgery	15.4% (2)	7.7% (1)	-	-
	Remission		84% (11)	76.9% (10)	80.8% (21)	69.2% (9)
	Recurrence		15.4% (2)	23.1% (3)	19.2% (5)	30.8% (4)
	Treatment 4	Glucocorticoids	0% (0)	0% (0)	-	-
		Glucocorticoids + methotrexate	0% (0)	0% (0)	-	-
		Conservative treatment	7.7% (1)	15.4% (2)	-	-
		Surgery	7.7% (1)	7.7% (1)	-	-
	Remission		100% (13)	100% (13)	100% (26)	100% (13)
	Recurrence		0% (0)	0% (0)	0% (0)	0% (0)
Side effects	+		-	-	-	69.2% (9)
	-		-	-	-	30.8% (4)
Distribution of combined treatments		Medical treatment	69.2% (9)	76.9% (10)	73.1% (19)	61.5% (8)
		Medical treatment + surgery	30.8% (4)	23.1% (3)	26.9% (7)	15.4% (2)
		Medical/medical + surgery	-	-	-	23.1% (3)

Table 2. Treatment distribution, recurrence and remission

NSAIDs: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

significant difference was observed between the total durations of the combined treatments (BCM, BCMS, UCM/UCMS, UCM, UCMS). However, in the analysis of unilateral subgroups, patients who received UCMS had significantly longer total remission time (p=0.018) and total follow-up time (p=0.037), and the patients were young (p=0.037) (Table 2-4).

Discussion

Granulomatous mastitis is divided into two main groups depending on the etiological factor: specific or non-specific (idiopathic). The term "idiopathic" is used for cases where a local or systemic etiology affecting the breast is not defined (2). IGM is a rare benign chronic disease of the breast that clinically and radiologically simulates breast carcinoma (1,2). The disease can occur in any quadrant or different quadrants of the unilateral (right or left) breast or it can develop bilaterally. The incidence of BIGM is very rare and has been reported in the literature to vary from 3% (4/152) to 7% (49/720) (6,12). In our study, the prevalence of IGM was

Table 3 Comparison of hilateral combined treatment methods

3.03% (13/428) in all granulomatous mastitis and 3.59% (13/362) in IGM; these results are similar to those in the literature.

Skin thickening, distortion, calcification, lymphadenomegaly, irregular focal mass, or diffuse asymmetry can be seen in MMG. However, MMG may not indicate any signs when the breasts are dense. In cases of diffuse disorder or where MMG/USG is insufficient, MRI can be preferred. IGM is frequently seen in premenopausal young patients presenting with signs of breast mass and mastitis. Therefore, the first is examined with USG rather than MMG and MRI. Radiologically, USG can detect inflammation, abscess, tunnel, sinus, and mass size. Also, USG is beneficial for guiding biopsy and during follow-up after treatment. However, none of the radiological methods can clearly distinguish the malignancy (6,13,14). Similar to the literature, USG was the first radiological method preferred in all patients (100%). The additional radiological techniques applied were MMG for patients aged 40 years and over and MRI when USG is insufficient to make a definitive diagnosis.

		Bilateral medical treatment		Bilateral medical treatment plus surgery		Medical treatment/surgery plus Medical		
		Minmax.	Mean ± SD/% (n)	Minmax.	Mean \pm SD/% (n)	Minmax.	Mean ± SD/% (n)	р
Age		27.0-53.0	38.75±10.14	25.0-29.0	27.00±2.83	33.0-39.0	35.67±3.06	0.272 ^A
The first side affected	B/R/L		62.5% (5)/12.5% (1)/25% (2)		50% (1)/50% (1)/0% (0)		0% (0)/33.3% (1)/66.7% (2)	0.291X ²
Synchronous/ metachronous			75% (6)/25% (2)		50% (1)/50% (1)		0% (0)/100% (3)	$0.084\chi^2$
Premenopause/ menopause	+		75% (6)/25% (2)		100% (2)/0% (0)		100% (3)/0% (0)	0.478X ²
Pregnancy	+		100% (8)		100% (2)		100% (3)	1.00X ²
Breastfeeding	+		100% (8)		100% (2)		100% (3)	$1.00\chi^{2}$
Smoking	+/-		25% (2)/75% (6)		0% (0)/100% (2)		0% (0)/100% (3)	0,478x ²
Trauma	+/-		0% (0)/100% (8)		0% (0)/100% (2)		33.3% (1)/66.7% (2)	0.164x ²
OC	+/-		12.5% (1)/87.5% (7)		0% (0)/100% (2)		33.3% (1)/66.7% (2)	0.561X ²
TBC exposure	-		100% (8)		100% (2)		100% (3)	1.00X ²
Mass	+		100% (8)		100% (2)		100% (3)	1.00X ²
Inflammation	+		100% (8)		100% (2)		100% (3)	1.00X ²
Fistula	+/-/(+/-)		25% (2)/25% (2)/50% (4)		50% (1)/50% (1)/0% (0)		0% (0)/66.7% (2)/33.3% (1)	0.483x ²
Nipple retraction	+/-/(+/-)		12.5% (1)/75% (6)/12.5% (1)		0% (0)/50% (1)/50% (1)		0% (0)/66.7% (2)/33.3% (1)	0.749X ²
Erythema nodosum	+/-		12.5% (1)/100% (7)		0% (0)/100% (2)		0% (0)/100% (3)	$0.713\chi^2$
Abscess drainage	+/-/(+/-)		62.5% (5)/12.5% (1)/25% (2)		0% (0)/0% (0)/100% (2)		66.7% (2)/0% (0)/33.3% (1)	0.371X ²
Total treatment duration (months)		3.37-69.90	32.12±26.66	17.50-29.50	23.50±8.49	20.93-53.33	37.51±16.21	0.813 ^A
Total remission duration (months)		3.30-63.47	26.46±23.83	51.40-88.93	70.17±26.54	23.47-77.70	49.73±27.16	0.138 ^A
Total follow-up duration(months)		9.37- 107.77	61.58±38.66	80.90-106.43	93.67±18.06	68.97- 115.97	87.24±25.18	0.390 ^A

 χ^2 : Pearson chi-square/Fisher's exact test, \uparrow : One-Way ANOVA, SD: Standard deviation, n: Number of patients, OC: Oral contraceptive, B: Bilateral, R: Right, L: Left, U: Unilateral, Positive: +, Negative: -, Unilateral positive (+/-)

Table 4. Comparison of unilateral co	ombined treatment methods
--------------------------------------	---------------------------

Minmax.		Unilateral medical treatment		Unilateral medical treatment plus surgery		
		Mean ± SD-% (n)	Minmax.	Mean ± SD-% (n)		þ
Age (year)		27.0-53.0	38.95±9.06	25.0-39.0	30.86±5.18	0.037 ^t
Premenopause/menopause	+		78.9% (15)/21.1% (4)		100% (7)/0% (0)	0.546 ^{x2}
Breastfeeding	+		100% (19)		100% (9)	1.000 ^{x2}
Lactation	+		100% (19)		100% (9)	1.000 ^{x2}
Smoking	+/-		21.1% (4)/78.9% (15)		0% (0)/100% (7)	0.546 ^{x2}
Trauma	+/-		5.3% (1)/94.7% (18)		14.3% (1)/85.6% (6)	0.474 ^{x2}
OC	+/-		15.8% (3)/84.2% (16)		14.3% (1)/85.7% (6)	1.000 ^{x2}
TBC exposure	-		100% (19)		100% (19)	1.000 ^{x2}
Right/Left			47.4% (9)/52.6% (10)		57.1% (4)/42.9% (3)	1.000 ^{x2}
Size of mass (cm)		1.9-12.0	4.27±2.43	2.6-7.0	3.94±1.49	0.735™
Mass	+		100% (19)		100% (7)	1.000 ^{x2}
Inflammation	+		100% (19)		100% (7)	1.000 ^{x2}
Fistula	+/-		42.1% (8)/57.9% (11)		57.1% (4)/42.9% (3)	0.665 ^{x2}
Nipple discharge	+/-		15.8% (3)/84.2% (16)		28.6% (2)/71.4% (5)	0.588 ^{x2}
Erythema nodosum	+/-		10.5% (2)/89.5% (17)		0% (0)/100% (7)	1.000 ^{x2}
Abscess drainage	+/-		73.7% (14)/26.3% (5)		71.4% (5)/28.6% (2)	1.000 ^{x2}
Total treatment duration (months)		0.73-69.9	22.76±24.25	6.33-31.93	15.10±10.99	0.866 ^M
Total remission duration (months)		3.3-108.0	41.09±29.54	48.03-170.9	84.66±42.45	0.018 [™]
Total Follow-up Duration (months)		9.37-109.07	63.85±36.60	61.13-177.80	99.76±37.59	0.037 ^t

X²: Pearson chi-square/Fisher's exact test, ¹: Independent samples t-test, M: Mann-Whitney U test, SD: Standard deviation, n: Number of patients, OC: Oral contraceptive, B: Bilateral, R: Right, L: Left, U: Unilateral, Positive: -, Unilateral positive (+/-)

Due to the similarity of signs and symptoms, breast cancers, sarcoidosis, Wegener's granulomatosis, foreign body granulomas, breast infections (bacterial, fungal, parasitic), and breast tuberculosis should be considered in the differential diagnosis (1,2,6,15-17). The diagnosis of BIGM is confirmed by the presence of non-caseating sterile granulomas containing epithelioid histiocytes, giant cells, plasma cells, and eosinophils within the breast lobules on the biopsy (excisional/ abscess wall/tru-cut) sample collected from the breast tissue. Tissue biopsies were evaluated with gram staining for bacteria, PAS for fungi, and hematoxylin-eosin for malignancy in the differential diagnosis. Furthermore, foreign bodies may be detected in the histopathological investigation. To exclude TBC, the presence of caseating necrosis in granulomas was tested using EZN staining, PCR, and PPD. For microbiological data, the culture tests of the additional biopsies were performed to confirm the sterility (1,5,6,14-16).

In the literature, there are many hypotheses on the pathophysiology of the disease. The first of these hypotheses is the secretion theory, which includes increased ductal permeability caused by intraductal accumulated secretions or inflammation following ductal epithelial damage. The second is the ethnic hypothesis, based on geography and ethnicity, as the disease occurs in the Mediterranean region and developing Asian countries. The third one is the autoimmune hypothesis, which is accepted due to the high T-lymphocyte count in immunohistochemical studies, its positive response to glucocorticoids or immunosuppressive treatments, and its similarity to diseases such as granulomatous thyroiditis and prostatitis. It is therefore believed that hormonal imbalance, autoimmunity, alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency, breast trauma, smoking, ductal ectasia, hyperprolactinemia, and the use of OC play a role in the etiology of IGM. However, a definite association has not been demonstrated (2,6,7,12,17-19).

To the best of our knowledge, the incidence of BIGM is quite rare, and the last study we can make a comparison to is from 2016. In this study, patients had a history of parity (100%), lactation (100%), smoking (60%), OC use (10%), exposure to TBC (30%) (EZN negative), and systemic disease (20%), but no patient (0%) had a history of trauma. Of the patients who had a history of systemic disease, one patient had HsT and the other patient had DM. The authors state that there was an association between BIGM and giving birth, breastfeeding, and smoking. However, they did not find an association between BIGM and local trauma or OC use (11). Another study conducted by the same authors in 2021 indicated that the disease is seen in women of childbearing potential who have a history of pregnancy and breastfeeding and that it is not associated with nicotine addiction (6). In our study, the patients had a history of giving birth (100%), breastfeeding (100%), smoking (15.4%), OC use (15.4%), trauma (7.7%), and systemic disease (38.5%). The patients with a history of systemic disease had DM (n=2), HT (n=1), DM plus HT (n=1), and HsT (n=1). None of the patients had a history of hyperprolactinemia, galactorrhea, rheumatologic disease, or exposure to TBC. In this study, we also observed that the incidence of BIGM was higher in patients with a history of pregnancy and breastfeeding.

Although UIGM has been reported in a wide age range (11 to 83 years), it is most commonly seen in the third and fourth decades (2,6,14). The most common symptoms that patients had at presentation to the hospital are local or widespread inflammation accompanied by a mass and redness in the breast. In the literature, the distribution of these symptoms in UIGMs is as follows: 83% mass, 42% abscess, 6.6% erythema nodosum, and 30% fistula (12,18-20). The distribution of these symptoms in the BIGM (n=0) is as follows: 100% mass, 70% inflammation, 90% abscess, and 70% fistula. Eighty percent of the patients (n=10) were premenopausal and the mean age was 38 ± 8.3 years (range: 29 to 52 years) (11). As can

be seen, BIGMs were complicated mastitis cases with a higher rate of abscesses and fistulas (8,18). In our study, 84.6% of the patients with BIGM (n=13) were premenopausal and their mean age was 36.23 ± 8.89 years (range: 25 to 53 years). The most common signs in all patients (100%) were breast mass (the mean size of the masses in the right breasts was 4.98 ± 2.65 cm, in the left breasts was 3.38 ± 1.25 cm and the mean unilateral mass size was 4.18 ± 2.19 cm) and inflammation. Patients had in at least one breast 61.6% (bilateral: 23.1%/unilateral: 38.5%) fistula, 92.3% (bilateral: 53.8%/unilateral: 38.5) abscess, 30.8% (bilateral: 7.7%/unilateral: 23.1%) nipple retraction, 7.7% erythema nodosum. In the unilateral evaluation, these rates were lower, with 46.2% fistula, 73.1% abscess, 19.2% nipple retraction, and 7.7% erythema nodosum. However, the incidence of complicated mastitis was high in subjects with BIGM in both bilateral and unilateral analyses.

From the day it was introduced until 1980, aggressive surgical treatment methods were used for treating IGM. After 1980, aggressive surgical treatment methods were replaced by glucocorticoids, methotrexate, colchicine, Imuran(azathioprine), NSAIDs, and conservative treatment methods (2-4,6,7-10,21). Today, the first choice for treating UIGM and BIGM is medical treatment, and surgery is performed in selected resistant cases (12,22,23). Although the disease is considered sterile, drainage (incisional or percutaneous) and empirical antibiotic therapy are recommended in patients with the signs of mastitis and/or abscess, since the disease cannot be differentiated from pyogenic mastitis at the beginning (6,12). In the study, in which 93% of the patients (n=720) had UGM, the distribution of treatment methods preferred was 36% medical. 8% surgery, and 56% combination of medical and surgery. Seventeen patients had disease recurrence (12). In a study conducted in 2016, 100% of patients with BIGM (n=10) received empirical antibiotic therapy and 90% of them underwent abscess drainage. However, all of these patients had disease recurrence. After BCM therapies were administered following recurrence, 90% of the patients achieved remission for 21 months (range, 11 to 26 months). In our study, the distribution of treatment options applied for the patients (n=13) was 61.5% BCM, 15.4% BCMS, and 23.1% BCMS/BCM treatment. The distribution of patients receiving unilateral therapies was 73.1% (19/26) UCM and 26.9% (7/26.9) UCMS. While recurrence (100%) was observed in at least one breast of the patients (n=13) after the first session of treatment, the recurrence rate was 92.3% in the unilateral subgroup (n=26) analysis. After combined therapies, all patients achieved remission. There was no significant difference (p>0.05) between the groups regarding total treatment duration (BCM, BCMS, UCM/UCMS, UCM, UCMS). Since the patients who received UCMS treatment were younger patients that fallen in the baseline section (12-year cross-section) of the study, the total durations of remission (p=0.018) and follow-up (p=0.037) were significantly longer (p=0.037) in the analysis of unilateral subgroups. However, a limitation of the study was that young patients who were resistant to medical treatments preferred surgery.

Our study has some other limitations. 1) Although our study could not provide strong evidence due to the rarity of BIG patients, limited sample size, and retrospective design, it is one of the most comprehensive studies to date revealing the clinical features of BIGM in the literature. 2) Etiological reasons for preferring surgical treatment in young patients who were resistant to medical treatment was the gray zone of the study.

Conclusion

The clinicoradiological diagnosis of BIGM consisting of complicated mastitis with a high recurrence rate is made as in UIGM. However, a descriptive etiology is excluded with the collection of tissue biopsies from each breast separately for histopathological and microbiological diagnosis. Although there is no significant (p>0.05) difference between the total combined (BCM, BCMS, UCM/UCMS, UCM, UCMS) treatment durations of the patients, the first choice for treating patients with BIGM is medical treatment methods. Surgery can be performed for patients who are resistant to medical treatment.

Acknowledgments

As authors, we thank the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Research Projects Unit.

Ethics Committee Approval: Before the study, ethics committee approval was obtained from the University of Health Sciences Turkey, istanbul Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 06, date: 13.01.2023).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - F.D., H.Ö.; Concept - F.D., H.Ö.; Design - F.D.; Data Collection or Processing - F.D., H.Ö.; Analysis or Interpretation - F.D., H.Ö.; Literature Search - F.D.; Writing - F.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflicts of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

References

- 1. Kessler E, Wolloch Y. Granulomatous mastitis: a lesion clinically simulating carcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol 1972; 58: 642-6.
- Altintoprak F, Kivilcim T, Ozkan OV. Aetiology of idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. World J Clin Cases 2014; 2: 852-8.
- 3. Kok KY, Telisinghe PU. Granulomatous mastitis: presentation, treatment and outcome in 43 patients. Surgeon 2010; 8: 197-201.
- Chirappapha P, Thaweepworadej P, Supsamutchai C, Biadul N, Lertsithichai P. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: A retrospective cohort study between

44 patients with different treatment modalities. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2018; 36: 162-7.

- 5. Cohen C. Granulomatous mastitis. A review of 5 cases. S Afr Med J 1977; 52: 14-6.
- Velidedeoglu M, Umman V, Kilic F, Celik V, Gazioglu E, Hatipoglu E, et al. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: introducing a diagnostic algorithm based on 5 years of follow-up of 152 cases from Turkey and a review of the literature. Surg Today 2022; 52: 668-80.
- Akbulut S, Yilmaz D, Bakir S. Methotrexate in the management of idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: review of 108 published cases and report of four cases. Breast J 2011; 17: 661-8.
- Toktas O, Konca C, Trabulus DC, Soyder A, Koksal H, Karanlik H, et al. A Novel First-Line Treatment Alternative for Noncomplicated Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis: Combined Intralesional Steroid Injection with Topical Steroid Administration. Breast Care (Basel) 2021; 16: 181-7.
- 9. Kehribar DY, Duran TI, Polat AK, Ozgen M. Effectiveness of Methotrexate in Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis Treatment. Am J Med Sci 2020; 360: 560-5.
- 10. Çetinkaya G, Kozan R, Emral AC, Tezel E. Granulomatous mastitis, watch and wait is a good option. Ir J Med Sci 2021; 190: 1117-22.
- 11. Velidedeoglu M, Kilic F, Mete B, Yemisen M, Celik V, Gazioglu E, et al. Bilateral idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Asian J Surg 2016; 39: 12-20.
- 12. Uysal E, Soran A, Sezgin E; Granulomatous Mastitis Study Group. Factors related to recurrence of idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: what do we learn from a multicentre study? ANZ J Surg 2018; 88: 635-9.
- 13. Durur-Subasi I. Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology in Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis. Eurasian J Med 2019; 51: 293-7.
- Yuan QQ, Xiao SY, Farouk O, Du YT, Sheybani F, Tan QT, et al. Management of granulomatous lobular mastitis: an international multidisciplinary consensus (2021 edition). Mil Med Res 2022; 9: 20. Erratum in: Mil Med Res 2022; 9: 47.

- Taner Z, Velidedeoglu M, Mete B, Demirci M, Dal F, Vehid S. The Distribution of Aerobic and Anaerobic Bacteria in the Etiology of Granulomatous Mastitis and Their Resistance to Antimicrobial Agents. Klimik Journal 2021; 34: 211-9.
- Lahiani A, Klaiman E, Grimm O. Enabling Histopathological Annotations on Immunofluorescent Images through Virtualization of Hematoxylin and Eosin. J Pathol Inform 2018; 9: 1.
- 17. Bani-Hani KE, Yaghan RJ, Matalka II, Shatnawi NJ. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: time to avoid unnecessary mastectomies. Breast J 2004; 10: 318-22.
- Ertürk TF, Çakır Ö, Yaprak Bayrak B, Güneş A, Aydemir S, Utkan NZ. Local Steroid Treatment: An Effective Procedure for Idiopathic Granulomatous Mastitis, Including Complicated Cases. J Invest Surg 2022; 35: 745-51.
- Altintoprak F, Karakece E, Kivilcim T, Dikicier E, Cakmak G, Celebi F, et al. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis: an autoimmune disease? ScientificWorldJournal 2013; 2013: 148727.
- Çetin K, Sıkar HE, Güllüoğlu BM. Idiopathic granulomatous mastitis with erythema nodosum: Is it a variant of clinical presentation indicating treatment resistance? A retrospective cohort study. Breast J 2020; 26: 1645-51.
- 21. DeHertogh DA, Rossof AH, Harris AA, Economou SG. Prednisone management of granulomatous mastitis. N Engl J Med 1980; 303: 799-800.
- 22. Ahmed YS, Abd El Maksoud W. Evaluation of therapeutic mammoplasty techniques in the surgical management of female patients with idiopathic granulomatous mastitis with mild to moderate inflammatory symptoms in terms of recurrence and patients' satisfaction. Breast Dis 2016; 36: 37-45.
- 23. Çiftci F, Abdurrahman İ, Tatar Z. The effect of corticosteroid treatment on bilateral idiopathic granulomatous mastitis. Turk J Surg 2015; 33: 113-5.

Does Pain Following Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy Differ in **Diabetics**?

Sevim Baltalı¹. Bünvamin Gürbulak². Seda Seven³. Hasan Ökmen²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Ağrı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Ağrı, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Individuals with diabetes differently respond to painful stimuli in the postoperative period than non-diabetic patients. This variation causes a scorching, tingling, numbness, or even hyperalgesic sensation due to a change in sensory perception. During routines sometimes we donot remember how patients' pain differ in some situations. Diabetes mellitus is an important disease that we must remember when we plan our postoperative pain relief plan. This study aimed to assess the pain levels and analgesic requirements of individuals with diabetes following laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC).

Methods: Patients with symptomatic gallstones and cholecystitis underwent elective LC between April 2019 and April 2020. Patients' records were prospectively registered and retrospectively received from the patients' record system on the postoperative course. A total of 70 cases were evaluated within the scope of the study, 35 (50%) of whom were diagnosed with diabetes and 35 (50%) were control subjects.

Results: When the results were examined, it was determined that there was a difference between the two groups that were statistically significant at the 5th and 10th minutes of the bispectral index (p<0.05). When the two groups were compared, patients in the control group had more pain on the postoperative course and mean score of 8 (p=0.049), 7 (p=0.016), 5 (p=0.02), 4 (p=0.032), 2 (p=0.014) respectively 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 24 hours on the numeric rating scale, p<0.001). In the multivariable analysis, the group with diabetes was shown to be strongly related with a significantly lower dosage of tramadol consumption compared to the control group.

Conclusion: According to our findings, the patient with diabetes who underwent LC experienced less postoperative discomfort than those without diabetes. In contrast to the previous studies, our findings show that patients with diabetes have less post-operative pain and require fewer analgesics.

Keywords: Diabetes mellitus, cholecystectomy, postoperative pain

Introduction

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is the gold standard method for symptomatic patients; it has several benefits over the open approach, including reduced pain and quicker recovery (particularly in the first 24 hours), as well as a shorter length of hospital stay (1,2).

Although one of the most common surgical procedures, research on postoperative pain management for cholecystectomy is still underway (3).

When adequate postoperative pain management is not achieved, it poses a serious risk for patients (4). Inadequate pain management delays oral intake and mobilization and increases the likelihood of persistent postoperative pain (5,6).

A higher [American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) classification] score, younger age, preoperative discomfort, female gender, and the anatomic site of surgery are some published risk variables that indicate a higher likelihood of postoperative pain (7,8).

Individuals with diabetes differently respond to painful stimuli in the postoperative period than non-diabetic patients. This variation causes a scorching, tingling, numbness, or even hyperalgesic sensation due to a change in sensory perception. An altered perception of pain results in a longer recovery time, which typically requires multimodal and long-term pain management (9-11).

We used a numeric rating scale (NRS) to evaluate the degree of postoperative pain. NRS is a system that scores pain from 0 to 10. A tolerable pain threshold is assessed to be NRS=3, while individuals score



Address for Correspondence: Sevim Baltalı MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Received: 29.12.2022 Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Istanbul, Turkey Accepted: 26.03.2023 Phone: +90 212 459 60 00 E-mail: s_baltali@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9503-5692 Cite this article as: Baltalı S, Gürbulak B, Seven S, Ökmen H. Does Pain Following Laparoscopic

Cholecystectomy Differ in Diabetics?. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 139-43.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, istanbul Training and Research Hospital/Istanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

NRS >4 are considered to be in moderate to severe pain and hence in need of further analgesics (12.13).

Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) colorectal surgery guidelines recommend opioid-sparing multimodal analgesia, including paracetamol in conjunction with epidural analgesia, after open surgery (14, 15).

After undergoing LC in patients with diabetes, this study aimed to assess their levels of pain and assess their need for analgesic medication.

Methods

Study Design

Patients with symptomatic gallstones and cholecystitis underwent elective LC at University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, between April 2019 and April 2020. Patients' records were prospectively registered and retrospectively received from the patient records system in the postoperative course.

The study enrolled patients scheduled for elective LC between the ages of 23 and 69, with an ASA class of I-II. The study included 70 patients, including 35 with controlled diabetes and 35 without diabetes. The patients were excluded from the study with liver cirrhosis, concurrent common bile duct stones, acute pancreatitis, past medical history of analgesic allergy, and conversion to open cholecystectomy. Before beginning the operation, all the participants were given information on the procedure, and their written consent was obtained. Ethical committee approval was obtained from the Local Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 188, date: 17.06.2022). All patients were discharged from the hospital the day following the operation as part of the standard procedure, and they were followed up at an outpatient clinic one week and two months after surgery.

An intravenous patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) device (CADD-Legacy Patient Control Analgesia Device Model 6300; Ambulatory Infusion Pump Smith Medical ASD, Dublin, OH, USA) was used in all patients for postoperative pain management. All patients were informed about how to use the device and how to control the pump before and after the operation. Each pump contained 300 mg tramadol diluted in 100 mL of 0.9% saline solution. The PCA device was set to deliver a continuous infusion rate of 10 mg per hour, with a bolus dose of 10 mg and a lockout interval of 15 minutes.

The primary outcome of the study was the cumulative dosage of tramadol, whereas the secondary outcome was the mean pain intensity 24 h after surgery. Pain intensity was assessed with the NRS by participants 0, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 16, and 24 h after surgery. On a scale from 0 to 10, with 0 signifying no pain at all and 10 reflecting the greatest suffering possible, patients were asked to assess their pain severity. The postoperative pain scores were assessed and recorded by the researchers. The target for postoperative analgesia management was an NRS score of 3 or less. On the day of surgery, the pain management protocol called for administrating opioids intravenously through a PCA device. During treatment with the PCA device, rescue analgesia in the form of 1 gram of paracetamol was administered when analgesia was insufficient.

Age, sex, body mass index (BMI), a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus (DM), and ASA class were the clinical factors that were considered to be baseline variables. The postoperative course, the preoperative treatment plan, the length of hospital stay, and any complications that arose were all recorded.

Statistical Analysis

The patient data gathered for the study were analyzed using the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS 23.0-IBM, NY, USA) for Windows 23.0 software. For categorical data, frequency and percentage were provided; for continuous data, median, minimum, and maximum descriptive values were provided. Using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, the compatibility of the data with the Gaussian distribution was determined. The "Mann-Whitney U test" was employed to compare groups, while the "chi-square or Fisher's exact test" was used to compare categorical variables. When the p-value was less than 0.05, the results were considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 70 cases were evaluated within the scope of the study, 35 (50%) of whom were diagnosed with diabetes and 35 (50%) were control subjects. Table 1 shows the distribution of the demographic characteristics of the cases included in the evaluation. As shown in Table 1, there was a statistically significant difference between the age of the two groups (p < 0.05). Patients in the diabetes group were older than the control group. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of gender, BMI, and operation time (p>0.05).

Table 2 shows the distribution of the participants' bispectral index and oxygen saturation values at the start of the operation and every five minutes. When the table was examined, a statistically significant difference between the two groups was observed at the 5th and 10th minutes of the bispectral index (p<0.05). The bispectral index of the

Table 1. Demographic variables of patients						
	Total	Diabetes group, (n=35)	Control group, (n=35)	p-value		
	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	Median (minmax.) or n (%)			
Age, year	52 (23-69)	55 (35-68)	47 (23-69)	0.016		
Gender				0.332		
Woman	41 (58.6)	23 (65.7)	18 (51.4)			
Man	29 (41.4)	12 (34.3)	17 (48.6)			
BMI, kg/m ²	29.3 (22.3-39.4)	29.3 (23-39.4)	29.2 (22.3-37.7)	0.888		
min - Minimum max - Maximum RMI- Body mass index						

control group was higher than that of the diabetes group. In terms of oxygen saturation, there was a difference between the two groups at the start and the 20-minute, with the control group having higher values than the diabetes group. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in the measurements of all other parameters (End-tidal CO₂, heart rate, blood pressure) every five minutes (p>0.05).

Table 3 shows the participants' post-operative medication dosages and pain severity distribution. The table revealed no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of pain or vomiting (p>0.05). When the two groups were compared, the control group's patients experienced more pain during the postoperative period, scoring a mean of 8 (p=0.049), 7 (p=0.016), 5 (p=0.02), 4 (p=0.032), and 2 (p=0.014) on the NRS, respectively, at 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h. This difference was significant (p<0.001) (Table 3).

Table 2. Perioperative BIS and SpO, parameters

While there was a statistically significant difference in pain intensity over time and additional analgesic dosage between the two groups, the control group's pain severity was higher than the diabetes group in NRS scores (p>0.05).

The intensity of pain was the highest immediately following surgery and gradually decreased. In multivariable analysis, the group with diabetes was found to be strongly related to a much lower tramadol dose than the control group. In terms of additional analgesic dosage, while the control group used more than the diabetes group, the difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05).

In this study, the control group's age was statistically significantly lower and the NRS score was higher than the group with diabetes's. Covariance analysis was used to see if there was any difference in pain severity between the groups in terms of the effect of age and diabetes on pain severity. It was discovered that diabetics had lower NRS scores and

	- 2 -					
Characteristics (n=70)	Total	Diabetes group, (n=35)	Control group, (n=35)	n value		
characteristics (n=70)	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	p-value		
BIS (0. minute)	98 (90-99)	98 (90-98)	98 (92-99)	0.322		
BIS (5. minute)	47.5 (38-70)	44 (38-62)	48 (39-70)	0.021		
BIS (10. minute)	46 (39-58)	45 (39-55)	48 (40-58)	0.044		
BIS (15. minute)	47 (39-60)	46 (40-60)	48 (39-58)	0.258		
BIS (20. minute)	46 (40-61)	45 (40-61)	48 (40-60)	0.364		
BIS (25. minute)	48 (40-60)	48 (40-59)	50 (40-60)	0.676		
BIS (30. minute)	48 (40-60)	46 (40-59)	48 (40-60)	0.279		
BIS (35. minute)	50 (40-60)	48 (40-60)	50.5 (40-56)	0.186		
BIS (40. minute)	48 (40-70)	47 (41-70)	50 (40-58)	0.266		
BIS (45. minute)	47 (40-67)	46 (40-67)	47.5 (40-59)	0.308		
BIS (50. minute)	47 (39-55)	46 (40-55)	48 (39-55)	0.341		
BIS (55. minute)	47 (40-54)	46 (41-50)	49 (40-54)	0.060		
BIS (60. minute)	47.5 (40-55)	46 (41-55)	49 (40-52)	0.737		
SpO ₂ (0. minute)	99 (95-100)	98 (95-100)	99 (96-100)	0.020		
SpO ₂ (20. minute)	99 (96-100)	99 (96-100)	99 (98-100)	0.021		
nie - Mielen mer - Merimum - DIC Dimestral inder						

min.: Minimum, max.: Maximum, BIS: Bispectral index

Table 3. Postoperative pain scores and analgesic consumption amounts

Characteristics (n=70)	Total	Diabetes group (n=35)	Control group, (n=35)	p-value			
· · ·	Median (minmax.) or n (%)	Medyan (minmax.) or n (%)	Medyan (minmax.) or n (%)				
Total tramadol dose (mg)	241 (135-300)	225 (160-300)	260 (135-300)	0.002			
Rescue analgesic consumption (n, %)							
1. hour	24 (34,3)	8 (22,9)	16 (45,7)	0.078			
2. hour	10 (14,3)	2 (5,7)	8 (22,9)	0.084			
8. hour	1 (1,4)	1 (2,9)	0 (0,0)	1,000			
NRS 1. hour	8 (0-10)	8 (0-10)	8 (4-10)	0.049			
NRS 2. hour	6 (0-10)	5 (0-10)	7 (4-10)	0.016			
NRS 4. hour	4 (0-10)	4 (0-9)	5 (0-10)	0.002			
NRS 8. hour	2 (0-9)	2 (0-9)	4 (0-8)	0.032			
NRS 12. hour	0 (0-7)	0 (0-7)	2 (0-6)	0.014			
min - Minimum max - Maximum NPS- Numeric rating scale							

analgesic requirements regardless of age. Univariate analysis found no link between gender, BMI, or ASA class and postoperative pain.

Discussion

According to the findings, the patient with diabetes who underwent LC experienced less postoperative discomfort than those without diabetes. It was discovered that in both groups, the analgesic required was significant in the first 12 hours and that there was no further analgesic requirement after 12 hours.

Multimodal analgesia, particularly in the first 12 h, and then further analgesic medication as needed can be used to address post-operative pain in these patients when the ERAS protocol is used. Thus, the best balance in terms of cost-effectiveness is reached with the use of fewer analgesics, further decreasing postoperative problems and facilitating early recovery.

Despite the administration of the same analgesic regimen, there was considerable inter-individual heterogeneity in pain severity following each surgical method. Patients with diabetes' responses to painful stimuli differed from normal patients in the postoperative period. There are various findings regarding the level of postoperative pain after various surgical procedures performed in patients with diabetes. Berglund et al. (9) found that patients with diabetes had more pain (as measured by the visual analog scale for pain) and poorer functional outcomes 6 months and 1 year after arthroscopic rotator cuff surgery. Rajamäki et al. (16) identified DM as an independent predictor of persistent pain following hip or knee replacement. Another study by Reinstatler et al. (11) on patients with diabetes who had received inflatable penile prosthesis surgery due to erectile dysfunction has revealed that significant postoperative penile pain was more common in patients with hemoglobin A1c levels greater than 8% and resulted in more unplanned visits after discharge period.

Some medical conditions, such as diabetes, have been linked to increased narcotic dosage due to changes in pain perception compared to patients without such conditions.

Furthermore, up to one-fourth of patients with diabetes have cooccurring health problems such as cardiovascular disease, major depression, rheumatoid arthritis, and peripheral neuropathy (17). Neuropathy alters sensory perception and can cause sensations such as burning, tingling, numbness, and even hyperalgesia (18).

In contrast to the previous studies, our findings show that patients with diabetes have less post-operative pain and require fewer analgesics. This finding supports the hypothesis that postoperative pain levels may differ depending on the anatomical location, as stated in the literature (8). High ASA score, preoperative discomfort, young age, female gender, and anatomic site of surgery are all characteristics linked to higher postoperative pain and have been the subject of published research (7,8).

There are reports with findings consistent with our research. Lindberg et al. (19) observed, for example, that DM was related to decreased postoperative pain. Patients with diabetes experienced less postoperative

pain than those without diabetes, which was linked to reduced sensation brought on by diabetic peripheral neuropathy, according to previous studies of patients undergoing heart surgery (20). Several factors, such as organ-specific surgery, may explain the variations in results. Approximately 30% of diabetics suffer from neuropathic pain (21). Nevertheless, diabetic neuropathy is associated with diminished sensory input, which may explain why our patients with diabetes experienced less postoperative pain (22).

After surgery, younger patients reported increased pain. According to a systematic review, there is a negative relationship between age and pain intensity, and postoperative analgesic use (7). Tighe et al. (8) observed that younger age was related to higher postoperative pain, on average by a half NRS unit every 10 years, when they retrospectively analyzed postoperative pain in various surgeries within the first 24 h following surgery. Lautenbacher et al. (23) discovered in a meta-analysis of the relationship between age, pain perception, and pain tolerance that mental pain perception does not change with age, but that older adults lose pain sensitivity due to an increase in pain thresholds. Opioid renal clearance reduced with age, which may lead to decreased pain in elderly people (24).

According to the current findings, there is already a need for greater analgesics to be administered to young patients on the day of surgery. Recent research indicated that older patients require a lower dosage of tramadol for postoperative pain management than younger patients do. These findings are in line with the findings of a study that showed postoperative pain ratings reduced with increasing age (25).

According to our findings, the mean age of those in the control group was significantly younger than those in the diabetes group, and mean-NRS-scores were also significantly higher, as reported in previous studies. When a statistical analysis was performed, it sufficiently said that the group with diabetes's NRS scores and analgesic requirements were lower, regardless of age.

The latest ERAS guidelines for postoperative analgesia following colorectal surgery state that the aim is to avoid opioids and use multimodal analgesia in conjunction with epidural analgesia (in open surgery) where needed (15). We would like to add to the ERAS recommendations that young patients require greater analgesia, and analgesia should be tailored because it is difficult to predict the intensity of postoperative pain..

Female sex and a high ASA class have been highlighted in various articles as reasons for postoperative pain (8,26,27).

Study Limitations

Our study had some limitations. It is single-center, and a relatively small number of patients are included in each cohort. Another limitation is that the patient's emotional states such as depression and anxiety, which may affect their pain thresholds, were not evaluated (26,27).

Conclusion

In this study, neither the presence of the ASA class nor the presence of female gender was connected with pain. As a consequence of this, the notion that gender and ASA class affect post-LC pain levels is not supported by our data.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical committee approval was obtained from the Local Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 188, date: 17.06.2022).

Informed Consent: Their written consent was obtained.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Concept - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Design - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Data Collection or Processing - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Analysis or Interpretation - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Literature Search - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.; Writing - S.B., B.G., S.S., H.Ö.

Conflict of Interest: No conflicts of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

References

- Ure BM, Troidl H, Spangenberger W, Neugebauer E, Lefering R, Ullmann K, et al. Preincisional local anesthesia with bupivacaine and pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. A double-blind randomized clinical trial. Surg Endosc 1993; 7: 482-8.
- Bisgaard T, Klarskov B, Kristiansen VB, Callesen T, Schulze S, Kehlet H, et al. Multi-regional local anesthetic infiltration during laparoscopic cholecystectomy in patients receiving prophylactic multi-modal analgesia: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study. Anesth Analg 1999; 89: 1017-24.
- Zacks SL, Sandler RS, Rutledge R, Brown RS Jr. A population-based cohort study comparing laparoscopic cholecystectomy and open cholecystectomy. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97: 334-40.
- Apfelbaum JL, Chen C, Mehta SS, Gan TJ. Postoperative pain experience: results from a national survey suggest postoperative pain continues to be undermanaged. Anesth Analg 2003; 97: 534-40.
- Kehlet H, Jensen TS, Woolf CJ. Persistent postsurgical pain: risk factors and prevention. Lancet 2006; 367: 1618-25.
- Nimmo SM, Foo ITH, Paterson HM. Enhanced recovery after surgery: Pain management. J Surg Oncol 2017; 116: 583-91.
- Ip HY, Abrishami A, Peng PW, Wong J, Chung F. Predictors of postoperative pain and analgesic consumption: a qualitative systematic review. Anesthesiology 2009; 111: 657-77.
- Tighe PJ, Riley JL 3rd, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in the incidence of severe pain events following surgery: a review of 333,000 pain scores. Pain Med 2014; 15: 1390-404.
- Berglund DD, Kurowicki J, Giveans MR, Horn B, Levy JC. Comorbidity effect on speed of recovery after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. JSES Open Access 2018; 2: 60-8.
- Barbera L, Sutradhar R, Howell D, Corn E, O'Brien MA, Seow H, et al. Factors Associated With Opioid Use in Long-term Cancer Survivors. J Pain Symptom Manage 2019; 58: 100-7.

- Reinstatler L, Rodríguez D, Goddard B, Apoj M, Rezaee M, Gross M, et al. Postoperative penile prosthesis pain: is it worse in diabetic patients? Int J Impot Res 2021; 33: 286-90.
- 12. Gerbershagen HJ, Rothaug J, Kalkman CJ, Meissner W. Determination of moderate-to-severe postoperative pain on the numeric rating scale: a cutoff point analysis applying four different methods. Br J Anaesth 2011; 107: 619-26.
- 13. Zalon ML. Mild, moderate, and severe pain in patients recovering from major abdominal surgery. Pain Manag Nurs 2014; 15: e1-12.
- 14. Ljungqvist O, Scott M, Fearon KC. Enhanced Recovery After Surgery: A Review. JAMA Surg 2017; 152: 292-8.
- Gustafsson UO, Scott MJ, Hubner M, Nygren J, Demartines N, Francis N, et al. Guidelines for Perioperative Care in Elective Colorectal Surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS[®]) Society Recommendations: 2018. World J Surg 2019; 43: 659-95.
- Rajamäki TJ, Jämsen E, Puolakka PA, Nevalainen PI, Moilanen T. Diabetes is associated with persistent pain after hip and knee replacement. Acta Orthop 2015; 86: 586-93.
- Kirk JK, Hunter JC, Mihalko SL, Danhauer SC, Shumaker SA. Perspectives of pain in patients with type 2 diabetes. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab 2019; 14: 215-9.
- Gwathmey KG, Pearson KT. Diagnosis and management of sensory polyneuropathy. BMJ 2019; 365: 11108.
- 19. Lindberg M, Franklin O, Svensson J, Franklin KA. Postoperative pain after colorectal surgery. Int J Colorectal Dis 2020; 35: 1265-72.
- 20. El Shora HA, El Beleehy AA, Abdelwahab AA, Ali GA, Omran TE, Hassan EA, et al. Bilateral Paravertebral Block versus Thoracic Epidural Analgesia for Pain Control Post-Cardiac Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2020; 68: 410-6.
- 21. Wang D, Couture R, Hong Y. Activated microglia in the spinal cord underlies diabetic neuropathic pain. Eur J Pharmacol 2014; 728: 59-66.
- 22. Themistocleous AC, Ramirez JD, Shillo PR, Lees JG, Selvarajah D, Orengo C, et al. The Pain in Neuropathy Study (PiNS): a cross-sectional observational study determining the somatosensory phenotype of painful and painless diabetic neuropathy. Pain 2016; 157: 1132-45.
- 23. Lautenbacher S, Peters JH, Heesen M, Scheel J, Kunz M. Age changes in pain perception: A systematic-review and meta-analysis of age effects on pain and tolerance thresholds. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2017; 75: 104-13.
- 24. Smith HS. Opioid metabolism. Mayo Clin Proc 2009; 84: 613-24.
- Gustafsson S, Strömqvist M, Ekelund J, Engström Å. Factors Influencing Early Postoperative Recovery After Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. J Perianesth Nurs 2020; 35: 80-4.
- 26. Caumo W, Schmidt AP, Schneider CN, Bergmann J, Iwamoto CW, Adamatti LC, et al. Preoperative predictors of moderate to intense acute postoperative pain in patients undergoing abdominal surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2002; 46: 1265-71.
- 27. Kinjo S, Sands LP, Lim E, Paul S, Leung JM. Prediction of postoperative pain using path analysis in older patients. J Anesth 2012; 26: 1-8.

An Evaluation of Hepatitis A Seroprevalence and Vaccination Status in Patients with HIV/AIDS: Data from A 20-year Period

🗅 Esra Zerdali, 🕲 Hatice Kübra Karanalbant, 🕲 Melike Nur Kültür, 🕲 İnci Yılmaz Nakir, 🕲 Filiz Pehlivanoğlu

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Hepatitis A infection, caused by the hepatitis A virus (HAV), is a non-chronic disease that can be prevented with vaccination. It is a significant cause of morbidity in adults. Homosexually active males, drug users, the homeless, and prisoners are at a greater risk of HAV infection. This study aimed to determine the hepatitis A seroprevalence and vaccination rates of people living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) followed up in our clinic.

Methods: A retrospective examination was made of the polyclinic files and laboratory test results in the hospital information system of 1,326 patients aged >18 years, who were diagnosed with HIV/AIDS and followed up in the Infectious Diseases Polyclinic of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital between September 30, 2002 and September 30, 2022.

Results: Anti-HAV immunoglobulin G (IgG) positivity was present in 1090 (82.2%) patients. As age increased, anti-HAV IgG positivity also increased, females were significantly more affected, no difference was determined between nationalities, and there was seen to be a significant decrease in the positivity rate over the time period of the study. The positivity rate was determined to be significantly high in heterosexual patients. The hepatitis A vaccination rate was determined to be 16.9%, and serology was examined in 60% of the patients after vaccination. The response to vaccination was determined to be 91.6% in the patients with serology examination.

Conclusion: Although improvements in sanitation and vaccination in childhood have provided a decrease in HAV seropositivity, the key populations must be informed about vaccination and vaccination adherence is ensured to prevent small outbreaks.

Keywords: Hepatitis A infection, HIV/AIDS, vaccination

Introduction

Hepatitis A infection, caused by the hepatitis A virus (HAV), is a nonchronic disease that can be prevented with vaccination (1-3). Although the main route of infection is fecal-oral, it can also be spread through the consumption of contaminated food, direct contact with an infected person, and occasionally through blood transfusion (2). The disease has been closely associated with unsafe drinking water and food, inadequate sanitation, poor personal hygiene, and oral-anal sex (1). Homosexually active males, drug users, the homeless, and prisoners are at greater risk of HAV infection (2,4).

Although HAV infection does not lead to chronic hepatitis, it is a significant cause of morbidity in adults, who experience a more severe disease course than children (3). HAV infection shows the same clinical course in patients with or without human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, but higher levels of viral load and a longer period of viremia can be seen in those with HIV infection (4).

Although Turkey is accepted as an endemic region with respect to HAV infection, the frequency is decreasing. The age at which the virus is encountered has shifted from childhood to adolescence and in young adults (2,5). In 2012, the hepatitis A vaccination was included in the vaccination program in Turkey, and the vaccine started to be administered to children and individuals in high-risk groups (2).

According to the Ministry of Health data for November 2022, there are 36,630 patients with HIV/AIDS in Turkey. Despite the increase in reported cases over the years, Turkey is still among the countries with low prevalence. The cases in 2022 were reported to be 81.4% males, 16.2% of foreign nationality, and 13.8% homosexually active males (6).

This study aimed to determine the hepatitis A seroprevalence and vaccination rates of people living with HIV (PLWH) followed up in our clinic.

Methods

A retrospective examination was made of the polyclinic files and laboratory test results in the hospital information system of 1,585 patients aged >18 years, who were diagnosed with HIV/AIDS and followed up in the Infectious Diseases Polyclinic of University of Health Sciences Turkey,



Address for Correspondence: Esra Zerdali MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 23.01.2023 Accepted: 30.03.2023

Phone: +90 535 670 96 81 E-mail: esrayerlikaya@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7023-6639

Cite this article as: Zerdali E, Karanalbant HK, Kültür MN, Yılmaz Nakir İ, Pehlivanoğlu F. An Evaluation of Hepatitis A Seroprevalence and Vaccination Status in Patients with HIV/AIDS: Data from A 20-year Period. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 144-8.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Haseki Training and Research Hospital between September 30, 2002 and September 30, 2022. The study included 1,326 patients with complete HAV serology.

The patients were evaluated with respect to demographic data, and HAV, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus (HCV) serology. Hepatitis B surface antigen (HbsAg) and anti-hepatitis B core antigen immunoglobulin G (IgG) positivity were accepted as chronic hepatitis B infection.

Approval for the study was granted by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 145-2022, date: 27.07.2022).

Statistical Analysis

Data obtained in the study were analyzed statistically using SPSS vn. 15.0 for Windows. Descriptive statistics were stated as median, minimum, and maximum values for continuous variables, and as number (n) and percentage (%) for categorical variables. Rates between the groups were compared with the chi-square test. As the numerical variables did not conform to the normal distribution, comparisons between two independent groups were made with the Mann-Whitney U test. The level of statistical alpha significane was accepted as p<0.05.

Results

The evaluation was made of 1,326 patients followed up in our polyclinic, comprising 1187 (89.5%) males with a mean age of 37.8 years (range: 18-84 years). Of the 1,326 patients, 44 (3.3%) were foreign nationals,

285 (21.4%) were sexually active homosexual males, and the sexual orientation was unknown in 631 (47.5%).

Anti-HAV IgG positivity was present in 1090 (82.2%) patients. As age increased, anti-HAV IgG positivity also increased, females were significantly more affected, no difference was determined between nationalities, and there was seen to be a significant decrease in the positivity rate over the time period of the study.

Sexual orientation was determined to create a significant difference with a significantly higher anti-HAV IgG positivity rate determined in heterosexual patients.

In anti-HAV IgG-negative patients, lower CD4 (+) T-lymphocyte counts were determined, and no difference was observed in respect to HIV-RNA values, hepatitis B infection, and anti-HCV positivity. The results are shown in Table 1.

Of the 236 patients determined with anti-HAV IgG negativity, 40 (16.9%) were seen to have been vaccinated. Serology was not examined after vaccination in 16 (40%) of the vaccinated patients, and of the 24 patients with serology examined, anti-HAV IgG positivity was determined in 22. Of the 2 patients who remained anti-HAV IgG negative after vaccination, one was 23 years old and the other was 26 years old, both were male, of Turkish nationality, and both were diagnosed after 2013. One of these two patients was a sexually active homosexual, and the sexual orientation of the other was not known. CD4 (+) T-lymphocyte counts were 422 and 424, respectively, and there was no hepatitis B co-infection or anti-HCV positivity in either case.

Table 1. Prevalence of HAV immunity by baseline characteristics						
	Anti-HAV IgG (+), (n=1090)	Anti-HAV IgG (-), (n=236)	p-value			
Age at diagnosis						
<30 years	243 (22.3)	161 (68.5)				
30-50 years	665 (61.1)	72 (30.6)	<0.001			
>50 years	181 (16.6)	2 (0.9)				
Gender						
Male	964 (88.4)	223 (94.5)	0.006			
Female	126 (11.6)	13 (5.5)	0.000			
Nationality						
Turkish	sh 1053 (96.6) 229 (97.0)		0 730			
Not Turkish	37 (3.4)	7 (3.0)	0.755			
Year of diagnosis						
2003-2012	212 (19.5)	16 (6.8)	<0.001			
2013-2022	877 (80.5)	220 (93.2)	<0.001			
Sexual orientation						
Homosexual	209 (19.2)	76(32.2)				
Heterosexual	372 (34.1)	38 (16.1)	<0.001			
Unknown	509 (46.7)	122 (51.7)				
HIV-RNA* (IU/mL)	297420 (38-1028842249)	253789 (152-46189016)	0.196			
CD4 (+) T-lymphocyte count* cells/mm ³	416 (1-9494)	351 (1-1714)	0.002			
HBV infection	63/1088 (5.79)	11/235 (4.68)	0.502			
Anti-HCV positivity	10/1077 (0.93)	3/234 (1.28)	0.713			

*mean (minimum-maximum). HAV: Hepatitis A virus, HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus, HBV: Hepatitis B virus, HCV: Hepatitis C virus, IgG: Immunoglobulin G

No acute hepatitis A infection developed during the follow-up of any patient in the study who were anti-HAV IgG negative, and not vaccinated or who did respond to the vaccination.

Discussion

Although the main route of spread of HAV infection is the fecal-oral route, it can also be spread through blood transfusion or oral-anal sex. In regions where inadequate sanitation, a high prevalence is reached during childhood (1). The frequency is reduced with improvements in hygiene conditions and socioeconomic status. Vaccination is important for protection against disease (2). The USA Centre for Disease Control (CDC) has reported that since vaccination started in 1995, there has been a 95% decrease in the incidence of hepatitis A (3). In Turkey, the HAV vaccination was included in the national immunity program in 2012, but the effect on seroprevalence is not known as yet (2).

According to the Ministry of Health data for November 2022, cases were reported to be 81.4% males, 16.2% of foreign nationality, 13.8% homosexually active males, and most were in the 25-34 years age group (6). In a study by Senoğlu and Yesilbağ (7), 90.2% of the cases were male, 49.9% were homosexually active males, and the mean age was 35.75±11.22 years. Yemisen et al. (8) conducted a study of 829 patients and reported that 84.4% of the cases were male, 30.9% were homosexually active males, and the mean age was 37 years. In a study by Altuntas Aydin et al. (9) of 242 patients, 83% of the cases were male, 30.1% were homosexually active males, and the mean age was 38 years. In the current study, the patients were 89.5% male, 3.3% were of foreign nationality, 21.4% were homosexually active males, and the mean age was 37.8 years (range: 18-84 years). The low rate of foreign patients compared with the Ministry of Health data was thought to be due to the exclusion of cases with incomplete data. As in other studies and the Ministry of Health data, the majority of patients in the current study were male. The difference in the rate of homosexually active males was attributed to the fact that almost 50% of the current study patients did not provide information about sexual orientation.

Previous studies in Turkey have reported seroprevalence varying between 50% and 100% in the adult age group, and have reported that seroprevalence increased with increasing age, a decrease has been seen in seropositivity at younger ages recently, and there are regional differences (5). In the study by Şenoğlu and Yeşilbağ (7), the rate of anti-HAV IgG positivity was found to be 74.8%, and positive patients were determined to be significantly older than negative patients. Altuntas Aydin et al. (9) reported the positivity rate to be 91%. In the current study, the rate of anti-HAV IgG positivity was determined to be 82.2% and the positivity rate was seen to increase together with increasing age. This finding was consistent with previous data in Turkey.

In a study from Brazil, which included 581 PLWH, the anti-HAV IgG positivity rate was found to be 79.8% (10). A study in Korea of 756 PLWH reported an anti-HAV IgG positivity rate of 79.8% (11). This rate was reported to be 60.8% in a cohort of 1580 PLWH between 2004 and 2007 (12), and 21.2% in a cohort of 2860 PLWH in the period 2012-2016 (13). A study of 897 homosexually active males living with HIV reported anti-HAV IgG positivity of 35.7% (14). In the current study, the positivity

rate was found to be 82.2%. When evaluated according to the World Bank data of the income levels of countries (15), it can be seen that the anti-HAV IgG positivity rate is high in low-income and low-mid-income countries (e.g., Brazil, Turkey), and the rate is low in high-income and mid-high-income countries (e.g., Taiwan, Korea, Greece). The income level of a country has an effect on sanitation.

According to the CDC data, the infection has been seen at the same rate in males and females in the general population since 2003, and after 2016, a significant increase was seen in males compared to females, which was attributed to the more widespread use of drugs by males (3). In a study of the general population by Alıcı et al. (16), no difference was determined between the sexes with respect to the distribution of HAV seropositivity. In another study that examined HAV seropositivity in PLWH according to age and years, seropositivity was found to be higher in males, which was attributed to 65% of the study population being male (10). Altuntas Aydin et al. (9) determined no difference between the sexes, whereas a study in Korea reported higher seroprevalence in females, but the reason for this was not explained (11). In the current study, HAV seropositivity in females was statistically significantly higher than the rate in males, and there can be considered as a need for a more detailed evaluation to be able to explain the reason for this.

The CDC reported that hepatitis A is seen at the same rate in all race and ethnic groups in the general population (3). In a study by Kourkounti et al. (14), 7.5% of PLWH were reported to be immigrants, the seropositivity rate of immigrants was 67.7%, and ethnicity was found to be statistically significant. In the current study, no statistically significant difference was determined with respect to ethnicity. This absence of difference was thought to be due to the high rates of seropositivity both in Turkey and in the countries from which the immigrants had come.

According to the CDC data, since the start of hepatitis A vaccination in children in 1996, the frequency of HAV infection in the general population has decreased, and small increases have been seen because of contaminated foodstuffs or intravenous drug use (3). Lee et al. (13) determined a decrease in HAV seropositivity over the years and it was reported that improvements in sanitation had contributed to this, and although the vaccination rate was very low, mathematical modeling showed that 70% of potential outbreaks had been prevented. In the current study, the patients were examined in 2 periods of 10 years, and a significant decrease was determined in the positivity rate in the second 10-year period. When it is considered that vaccinations started in 2012 in Turkey, this can be considered to be not an effect of the vaccination but of improvements in sanitation.

In a study by Şenoğlu and Yeşilbağ (7), which evaluated 788 PLWH between 2015 and 2019, HAV seronegativity was found to be statistically significantly high in homosexually active males. Altuntas Aydin et al. (9) evaluated 242 PLWH between 2006 and 2011 and found HAV seronegativity was statistically significantly high in homosexually active males. The results of the current study were similar. In a study that evaluated 581 PLWH between 1988 and 2004, Aloise et al. (10) found no significance of sexual orientation in respect to seropositivity. Similarly, Lee et al. (11) found no significance of sexual orientation in respect to seropositivity in a study of 756 PLWH between 2012 and 2021, but also

reported that there was a significant increase in seroprevalence in the group of young homosexually active males, although the reason for this was not explained. These differences can be considered as due to the years and places where the studies were conducted.

Vaccination is recommended for all PLWH with negative HAV serology, independently of the CD4 (+) T-lymphocyte count (3,4). Since 2012, the vaccine has been provided free of charge to PLWH in Turkey (2). The CDC has reported that seroconversion could sometimes occur at 6 months after HAV vaccination in PLWH, and there could be a poor response to the vaccine in those with low CD4 (+) T-lymphocyte count. If HAV serology examination is necessary after examination, it is recommended that the patient is vaccinated again (3). In a review by Lin et al. (17), it was reported that in countries with low HAV endemicity low adherence to the recommended HAV vaccination for PLWH, sensitivity to HAV infection continued because of high-risk sexual behavior and intravenous drug use, acute HAV infections were seen in children despite hepatitis A vaccinations, and it was emphasized that hepatitis A vaccination is necessary for both populations at risk and healthcare providers.

In a multicentre study by Hoover et al. (18), HAV serology was examined in 47% of 1,329 patients, with seronegativity determined in 526 (84%) of the 627 patients examined in respect to serology, and 150 (29%) were found to have been vaccinated, but no information was provided about the results of the vaccinations. In a retrospective study of 18095 PLWH by DeGroote et al. (19), of 3640 homosexually active males and/ or intravenous drug addicts with HAV seronegativity, 360 (9.8%) were found to have been vaccinated, but no information was given about the response to vaccination. Kourkounti et al. (14) reported a vaccination rate of 66.3% and a response to a vaccine of 76%. In the current study, the vaccination rate was 16.9%, and the vaccine response was examined in 60% of these patients. Seropositivity developed at a rate of 91.6% after vaccination. There is a need for further more detailed studies to determine the reasons why the vaccination rates remain low despite the recommendations.

In a study by Aloise et al. (10), it was reported that of the PLWH with HAV seronegativity, acute hepatitis A infection developed in 5 (4.2%). DeGroote et al. (19) reported that anti-HAV IgG positivity developed in 27 (0.7%) unvaccinated PLWH throughout a one-year follow-up period, but no information was provided about the symptoms of the patients. In the current study, no acute HAV infection developed in the 196 PLWH who were not vaccinated and were determined with anti-HAV IgG negativity.

Study Limitations

Due to single-center design with relatively small sample size potential lack of generalizability is an important limitation of the current study.

Conclusion

Although improvements in sanitation and vaccination in childhood have provided a decrease in HAV seropositivity, the key populations must be informed about vaccination, and vaccination adherence is ensured to prevent small outbreaks. **Ethics Committee Approval:** Approval for the study was granted by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 145-2022, date: 27.07.2022).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - E.Z., F.P.; Design - E.Z., İ.Y.N.; Data Collection or Processing - E.Z., H.K.K., M.N.K., İ.Y.N.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.Z., İ.Y.N.; Literature Search - E.Z., H.K.K., M.N.K.; Writing - E.Z., F.P.

Conflict of Interest: No conflicts of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

References

- World Health Organization. Fact Sheets: Hepatitis A (İnternet). Geneva: WHO (erişim 9 Aralık 2022) https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ hepatitis-a
- Bulaşıcı Hastalıklar Dairesi Başkanlığı ve Aşı İle Önlenebilir Hastalıklar Dairesi Başkanlığı. Turkiye Viral Hepatit Onleme ve Kontrol Programı 2018-2023 (İnternet). Ankara: Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü (erişim 9 Aralık 2022). https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/Bulasici-hastaliklar-db/ duyurular/Turkiye_Viral_Hepatit_Onleme_ve_Kontrol_Programi/Turkiye_ Viral_Hepatit_Onleme_ve_Kontrol_Programi_TR.pdf.
- Nelson NP, Weng MK, Hofmeister MG, Moore KL, Doshani M, Kamili S, et al. Prevention of Hepatitis A Virus Infection in the United States: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2020. MMWR Recomm Rep 2020; 69: 1-38. Erratum in: MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021; 70: 294.
- McGowan JP, Fine SM, Vail R, Merrick ST, Radix A, Hoffmann CJ, Gonzalez CJ. New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute Guideline: Prevention and Management Of HAV In Adults With HIV. Reviewed and updated: Hector I. Ojeda-Martinez; May 2021 (erişim 9 Aralık 2022). https://www.hivguidelines. org/hiv-care/hav-hiv-coinfection/
- Mıstık R. Türkiye'de hepatit A virüs enfeksiyonunun epidemiyolojisi. In: Tabak F, Güner R, eds. Viral Hepatit 2018. Istanbul: Istanbul Tıp Kitabevleri; 2018.s.1-12.
- Bulaşıcı Hastalıklar ve Erken Uyarı Dairesi Başkanlığı. HIV-AIDS İstatistik (İnternet). Ankara: Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü (erişim 18 Aralık 2022) https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/bulasici-hastaliklar/hiv-aids/hivaids-liste/hiv-aids-istatislik.html
- Şenoğlu S, Yeşilbağ Z. Hepatitis A seroprevalance and related risk factors in HIV/AIDS patients. Klımık Journal 2020; 33: 128-31.
- Yemisen M, Aydın OA, Gunduz A, Ozgunes N, Mete B, Ceylan B, et al. Epidemiological profile of naive HIV-1/AIDS patients in Istanbul: the largest case series from Turkey. Curr HIV Res 2014; 12: 60-4.
- Altuntas Aydin O, Kumbasar Karaosmanoglu H, Ince ER, Ataoglu HE. Hepatitis A virus exposure among HIV/AIDS patients in Istanbul, Turkey. HealthMED 2014; 8: 524-6.
- Aloise R, de Almeida AJ, Sion FS, Morais-de-Sá CA, Gaspar AM, de Paula VS. Changes in hepatitis A virus seroepidemiology in HIV-infected Brazilian patients. Int J STD AIDS 2008; 19: 321-6.
- Lee S, Lee JE, Lee SO, Sim YK, Lee SH. Ten-Year Trends of Hepatitis A Seroprevalence in People Living with HIV in Korea. Infect Chemother 2022; 54: 529-33.

- Sun HY, Kung HC, Ho YC, Chien YF, Chen MY, Sheng WH, et al. Seroprevalence of hepatitis A virus infection in persons with HIV infection in Taiwan: implications for hepatitis A vaccination. Int J Infect Dis 2009; 13: e199-205.
- Lee YL, Lin KY, Cheng CY, Li CW, Yang CJ, Tsai MS, et al. Evolution of hepatitis A virus seroprevalence among HIV-positive adults in Taiwan. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0186338.
- 14. Kourkounti S, Paparizos V, Leuow K, Kyriakis K, Antoniou C. Prevalence and titre of antibodies against Hepatitis A virus in HIV-infected men having sex with men in Greece. Infez Med 2014; 22: 206-12.
- 15. World Bank Open Data from The World Bank: Data. (Access date: 30.12.2022). https://data.worldbank.org/country

- Alıcı Ö, Ağalar C, Yazıcılar HA. Hepatitis A Seroprevalence in Patients who Admitted to Training and Research Hospital in Istanbul. Viral Hepatitis Journal 2013; 19: 110-4.
- 17. Lin KY, Chen GJ, Lee YL, Huang YC, Cheng A, Sun HY, et al. Hepatitis A virus infection and hepatitis A vaccination in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients: A review. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 3589-606.
- Hoover KW, Butler M, Workowski KA, Follansbee S, Gratzer B, Hare CB, et al. Low rates of hepatitis screening and vaccination of HIV-infected MSM in HIV clinics. Sex Transm Dis 2012; 39: 349-53.
- 19. DeGroote NP, Mattson CL, Tie Y, Brooks JT, Garg S, Weiser J. Hepatitis A virus immunity and vaccination among at-risk persons receiving HIV medical care. Prev Med Rep 2018; 11: 139-44.

The role of h-FABP and Myoglobin in Determining Disease Severity and Prognosis in STEMI

♥ Gülçin Şahingöz Erdal¹, ♥ Dilay Karabulut², ♥ Cennet Yıldız², ♥ Fatma Nihan Turhan Çağlar²,
 ♥ Mehmet Hulusi Satılmışoğlu³, ♥ Murat Koser⁴, ♥ Pınar Kasapoğlu⁵, ♥ Nilgün Işıksaçan⁵

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Mehmet Akif Ersoy Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Turkey

⁴Göztepe Prof. Dr. Süleyman Yalçın City Hospital, Clinic of Biochemistry, İstanbul, Turkey

⁵University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Biochemistry, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) remains as a single biggest cause of death worldwide. Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein (h-FABP) and myoglobin are small proteins present in the myocyte cytosol. In cases of myocardial damage, they can freely pass into the bloodstream. Thus, they might be useful in the diagnosis of ACS. The aim of this prospective study was to search the relationship between h-FABP and myoglobin levels and disease severity and mortality.

Methods: One hundred-fourty-nine male patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction consitututed our study population. Two groups occurred according to low (<23) and high (\geq 23) SYNTAX score as group 1 and group 2. Blood specimens were taken for h-FABP and myoglobin analysis at hospital admission and at 12 h. Patients underwent coronary angiography for diagnosis and treatment, and the SYNTAX score was calculated. Participants were followed up for 72 months, and cardiovascular mortality rates were recorded.

Results: H-FABP at admission and h-FABP level at 12^{th} h were lower in group 1 than in group 2 (p<0.001). We did not find significant differences between the myoglobin levels measured at the time of hospital entrance and at the 12^{th} h in both groups. During 72-month follow-up, 123 patients survived and the survivors had a lower SYNTAX score, and a lower h-FABP level at admission. In the univariate analysi, h-FABP levels at admission and at 12 h were found to be independent predictors of coronary artery disease (CAD) severity. However, h-FABP levels did not predict mortality.

Conclusion: In patients with ACS, measuring h-FABP levels at admission and in the late period (12th hour) are helpful, not only in the diagnosis but also severity and seriousness of CAD.

Keywords: Myoglobin, heart-type fatty acid binding protein, myoglobin, myocardial infarction, SYNTAX score, heart-type fatty acid binding protein

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is an important health problem worldwide, which is a chief source of death in industrialized countries and its incidence is increasing in developing countries (1). Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is diagnosed by electrocardiogram (ECG) and biomarkers, particularly cardiac troponin (cTn). The main way to prevent major complications and deaths from ACS is early diagnosis (2).

Many biomarkers have been used and developed for early diagnosis, but nowadays it is also important to have an idea about the prognosis in the short and long term. High sensitivity markers and ECG have achieved 100% sensitivity in diagnosis and exclusion, but there is still an ongoing search for new biomarkers for prognosis. Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein (h-FABP) has been suggested as an important predictor of early diagnosis of myocardial damage and is a potential prognostic indicator for long-term fatality (3). H-FABP presents in the cytosol and carries long -chain fatty acids (4). Myoglobin is also presents in cytosol with a molecular weight of 17.8 kd and is one of the preliminary cardiac markers delivered into the plasma when myocardial necrosis occurs. Since it is also present in the skeletal muscle, the increase in myoglobin measured in circulation is not limited to cardiac muscle damage (5). Myoglobin measurement is especially helpful at an early stage of ACS, but since it is specific for myocardium, it is not easy to decide whether elevations in myoglobin concentration is the result of myocardial or skeletal muscle damage (6). The myoglobin test may be



Address for Correspondence: Cennet Yıldız MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 09.01.2023 Accepted: 01.04.2023

Phone: +90 533 746 99 96 E-mail: cennet_yildiz@live.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2456-3206

Cite this article as: Şahingöz Erdal G, Karabulut D, Yıldız C, Turhan Çağlar FN, Satılmışoğlu MH, Koser M, Kasapoğlu P, Işıksaçan N. The role of h-FABP and Myoglobin in Determining Disease Severity and Prognosis in STEMI. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 149-54.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

useful only if it is to be used alone. It is proposed that myoglobin could be integrated with other tests to diagnose ACS (7).

The risk classification in patients with ACS is critical to determining the appropriate treatment and follow-up method (8). The most commonly used risk stratification systems are the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events and Thrombolysis In myocardial infarction (MI) scoring systems incorporate additional points for positive cardiac markers (9). Studies have shown that the inclusion of new non-necrosis biomarkers in classical risk stratification systems may increase the sensitivity/specificity of risk estimation (10-12).

Here, we sought to question the relationship between h-FABP and myoglobin levels and ACS disease severity and long -term mortality in ST-segment elevation MI (STEMI) patients.

Methods

The study was started after the approval of the ethics committee. One hundred forty nine male patients who applied to our emergency department with chest pain and other symptoms suggestive of ACS and with STEMI findings on 12-lead ECG were included in the study. Those under 18 years of age, with active infection, malignancy, chronic diseases including musculoskeletal system, contraindications for coronary angiography, chronic renal failure, previous pulmonary thromboembolism, MI, cerebrovascular event, trauma, surgery , and cardiopulmonary resuscitation within 72 h, unconscious patients were excluded from the study.

After obtaining informed consent from the patients, in addition to routine examinations, 2 mL venous blood was taken to the EDTA tube for h-FABP and myoglobin. To measure and evaluation of h-FABP (TOYO-Turkey) and myoglobin (TOYO-Turkey), the gold absorption immunofluorescence assay method and Turklab ICA-Rapid Test Reader (Toyo, Info Rapidan Tester-Turkey) instrument were used. The patients' current diseases, cardiovascular risk factors [diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension (HT), hyperlipidemia (HL)] were questioned and recorded. Blood was drawn again for h-FABP and myoglobin 12 h after the start of the symptoms. The diagnosis of STEMI based on cardiac symptoms, 12lead ECG findings, and elevated cardiac enzymes underwent coronary angiography for diagnosis and treatment by a specialist cardiologist.

Coronary angiography was performed using a Judkins catheter from the femoral artery. SYNTAX score of each patient was calculated according to anatomical lesion characteristics including bifurcations, chronic total occlusions, thrombus, calcification and small diffuse disease. All of the calculations were carried out using the website program: https:// syntaxscore.org. Patients were splitted into two groups according to the severity of ACS. The first group consisted of patients with a SYNTAX score of less than 23, and the second group consisted of patients with a score 23 or higher.

The follow-up period of the patients was 72 months. Patients who lost to follow-up were investigated from the state's death notification system available only to doctors and those who died were identified. Noncardiac deaths were excluded from the 5-year mortality assessment.

Statistical Analysis

The normality assessment of the data was made by evaluating the skewnessand kurtosis of the data, and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

Normally, and non-normally distributed data were expressed as means \pm standard deviations medians (interquartile ranges), respectively. Categorical data were expressed as percentages. Comparisons of the groups were made using of Independent sample-t test or Mann-Whitney U test for normally and non-normally distributed data, respectively. Univariate logistic regression analysis was conducted to find the predictors of coronary artery disease (CAD) severity and mortality. Variables that had significance in univariate analysis were put into multivariate analysis. The discriminatory ability of FAB and FAB12 in determining the CAD severity was analyzed using the receiving operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. Statistical significance was considered significant if p<0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 24.0 software.

Results

The median age of the 149 male patients with STEMI was 54.65 years. DM was diagnosed in 25.5% (n=38), HT in 49.7% (n=74), and HL in 47% (n=70) of the patients. Mean age, presence of DM and HT, mortality rate, h-FABP at admission, and h-FABP level at 12th h were lower in group 1 than in group 2. The left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was significantly higher in group 1 (p<0.001). We did not find significant differences between the myoglobin levels measured at the time of admission to the hospital and at the 12th h in both groups (Table 1).

During the 72-month follow-up, 123 patients survived and the survivors had a lower mean age, a lower prevalence of DM, a higher LVEF, a lower SYNTAX score, and a lower h-FABP level at admission. Myoglobin values were not different between the survivor and non-survivor groups (Table 2).

In the univariate analysis: in addition to age, presence of DM, presence of HT and left ventricular EF level, and h-FABP levels at admission and at 12 h were found to be independent predictors of CAD severity (Table 3). However, h-FABP level was not found to be a predictor of mortality (Table 4).

In determining the severity of CAD, in the evaluation of h-FABP level at the time of application and at the 12^{th} h by ROC analysis, it had a discriminatory power of >16.95 at the time of admission and >21 ng/ mL at the 12^{th} h (Figure 1).

Discussion

cTns are regarded as the best laboratory test for the diagnosis of acute MI (AMI) (13). In AMI, troponins rise to a measurable level in the circulation 3 h after the onset of chest discomfort. This limits the earlier diagnosis of MI (14).

When myocyte injury occurs, h-FABP quickly passes through the interstitial spaces into the blood. Since it is much smaller than troponin, it passes into the blood faster than troponin (15). It is measurable in the blood as early as 1-3 hours after the onset of chest pain, reaches its maximum values in 6-8 h, and returns to normal concentrations within 24-30 h (16). As expected, in our study, the h-FABP level of the patients was elevated during the first admission.

Reddy et al. (17) emphasized the significance of using a pair of biomarkers (h-FABP and hs-TnT) together in the initial diagnosis of ACS. It was recommended that troponin T- and h-FABP be used together to

improve the diagnosis of ACS in the emergency room after the onset of chest pain. Furthermore, when these two biomarkers are used together, they have 100% negative predictive value (17). In this study, h-FABP was also added to routine cardiac biomarkers (cTnT, CK-MB) in patients

presenting with chest pain and ST elevation on ECG, and this multiple biomarker analysis was helpful for early diagnosis. Increased h-FABP is a helpful early diagnosis of MI via facilitating early release of patients with chest pain but not MI from the hospital. The addition of h-FABP

Table 1. Demographic, clinical, and laboratory parameters of patients with low and intermediate-high anatomical SYNIAX score I						
	All population, (n=149)	SxS <23, (n=105)	SxS ≥23, (n=44)	р		
Age, year (median \pm SD)	54.6±12.4	53.3±12	58.9±12.8	0.036		
Hypertension, n (%)	74 (49.7)	46 (43.8)	28 (63.6)	0.027		
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	38 (25.5)	19 (18.1)	19 (43.2)	0.001		
LVEF (%) (median \pm SD)	46.7±8.7	48±7.9	43.8±9.9	0.007		
SYNTAX score, median (IQR)	13 (8.5-26)	10 (7.5-13.5)	29 (27-33.5)	0.023		
Mortality, n (%)	26 (17.4)	10 (9.5)	16 (36.4)	< 0.001		
h-FABP (ng/mL) median (IQR)	8.5 (5-43)	5 (5-25)	36 (10-71)	< 0.001		
h-FABP 12 th h (ng/mL) median (IQR)	11 (5-69)	5 (5-50.5)	51 (16.8-122.6)	< 0.001		
Myoglobin (ng/mL) median (IQR)	136 (51-285)	126 (50-240)	196 (71-323)	0.062		
Myoglobin 12 th h (ng/mL) median (IQR)	121 (75-253)	120 (73-206)	145 (82-298)	0.143		

SxS I: Syntax score I, SD: Standard deviation, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, IQR: Interquartile range, h-FABP: Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein, PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention

Table 2. Demographic, clinical, and laboratory parameters of survivors and non-survivors patients

	Survivor, (n=123)	Non-survivor, (n=26)	р
Age, year (median \pm SD)	52.1±11.1	66.3±11.5	< 0.001
Hypertension, n (%)	58 (47.2)	16 (61.5)	0.183
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	27 (22)	11 (42.3)	0.030
LVEF (%) (median ± SD)	47.9±7.9	43.8±9.7	0.010
SYNTAX score, median (IQR)	11 (8-17)	30.8 (19-35.5)	< 0.001
h-FABP (ng/mL) median (IQR)	5 (5-39)	17.9 (5-61.7)	0.057
h-FABP 12 th h (ng/mL) median (IQR)	10 (5-64)	47 (5-77)	0.381
Myoglobin (ng/mL) median (IQR)	139 (58-289)	85 (50-256)	0.650
Myoglobin 12 th h (ng/mL) median (IQR)	121 (75-256)	121 (66-238)	0.975
Myoglobin 12 th h (ng/mL) median (IQR)	121 (75-256)	121 (66-238)	0.975

SD: Standard deviations LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, IQR: Interquartile range, h-FABP: Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein, PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention

Table 3. Factors that were independently associated with the CAD severity

	Univariate analysis	р	Model 1 multivarite analysis	р	Model 2 multivarite analysis	р
Age	1.036 (1.010-1.063)	0.006	1.037 (1.012-1.062)	0.003	1.031 (1.006-1.056)	0.016
Hypertension	1.914 (1.036-3.537)	0.038	1.309 (0.679-2.526)	0.422	1.364 (0.715-2.603)	0.346
Diabetes	2.563 (1.411-4.655)	0.002	1.694 (0.877-3.274)	0.117	1.960 (1.045-3.675)	0.036
LVEF	0.953 (0.923-0.984)	0.003	0.960 (0.928-0.994)	0.023	0.963 (0.929-999)	0.044
h-FABP	1.009 (1.004-1.013)	< 0.001	1.008 (1.003-1.013)	0.008	-	-
h-FABP 12 th	1.008 (1.003-1.012)	0.001	-	-	1.005 (1.001-1.010)	0.029

CAD: Coronary artery disease, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, h-FABP: Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein

Tuble 1. Fuctors that were macpenaently associated with the mortant

Variables	Univariate analysis	р	Multivarite analysis	р
Age	1.083 (1.047-1.120)	<0.001	1.066 (1.028-1.106)	0.001
Diabetes	2.318 (1.064-5.049)	0.034	1.595 (0.680-3.740)	0.283
LVEF	0.943 (0.904-0.984)	0.006	0.968 (0.926-1.013)	0.164
SxS I	1.132 (1.087-1.179)	<0.001	1.109 (1.062-1.159)	< 0.001
h-FABP	1.006 (1.000-1.013)	0.048	0.999 (0.992-1.006)	0.750

LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction, SxS I: SYNTAX score I, h-FABP: Heart-type fatty acid -binding protein



Figure 1. Discriminatory performances and diagnostic accuracies of FAB ve FAB $12^{\rm th}$ in determinig the CAD severity

AUC for FAB: 0.733, 95% CI: 0.654-0.802, p<0.001; cut-off >16.95, 70% sensitivity, 69% specificity. AUC for FAB12: 0.739, 95% CI: 0.661-0.808; cut-off >21, 73% sensitivity, 69% specificity

to Hs-cTn in patients admitted to the emergency room with chest pain without ischemic ECG findings makes easier to define it as a low risk (up to 40%) (18). Since our study included patients with STEMI, h-FABP levels in patients who had chest pain but who did not have any ECG findings were not evaluated.

Studies have shown that in patients were accepted to hospital with chest discomfort and diagnosed with ACS, the evaluation of plasma h-FABP on admission might provide added information on risk stratification. The importance of biomarkers in both the diagnosis and prognosis of ACS has been demonstrated by these studies. Prognostic guidance of biomarkers is superior to electrocardiographic guidance only (19,20).

Increased serum FABP4 levels were related to worse 30-day outcomes in patients with ACS, regardless of age, gender, renal function, and body mass index (21). The results of that study were partly alike to our study. In our study, higher SYNTAX scores were observed in patients with higher h-FABP levels and 5-year mortality of those patients was also higher. Especially h-FABP levels measured at the 12th h were remarkably higher in the group 2. In the same study, circulated FABP4 levels were found to be notably higher in females and subjects with body mass index (BMI) >25 kg/m² compared with men and normal weight (21). In our study, to minimize this effect, we only included male patients with BMI <25 kg/m².

In the early 2000s, Goto et al. (22) showed that h-FABP had positive interaction with brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) concentration in acute decompensated heart failure patients. Subsequently, Setsuta et al. (23) showed that h-FABP has a role in myocyte necrosis or apoptosis and causes worsening in heart failure status. Additionally, Hoffmann et al. (24) showed that additional h-FABP measurements in decompensated heart failure enhanced the diagnostic specificity and predictive value of NT-proBNP tests (25). In the patients with cardiac surgery, Jo et al. (26) showed that h-FABP was a more practical marker for detecting myocyte

damage than CK-MB and cTnT. Another study showed that; permanently elevated h-FABP levels could have prognostic value because they can indicate progressive myocardial damage despite effective therapy and clinical progress (27). In our study, the h-FABP level at admission was found to be higher in non-survivor patients, and h-FABP levels at both admission and at the 12th h were found to be independent predictors of CAD severity. However, we cannot say that h-FABP is a predictor of mortality.

In addition to the role of myoglobin in the diagnosis of MI, it has been investigated whether it is useful for risk stratification in patients with ACS.

In patients with MI with poor prognosis and high mortality risk, skeletal muscle damage may be the cause of myoglobin elevation rather than heart muscle damage. Both hypotension and decreased renal perfusion lead to the release of myoglobin from the skeletal muscle, which may contribute to mortality after ACS (28).

There are some studies have suggesting that myoglobin adds a small amount of prognostic information to CK-MB and troponins, these studies are small sample -sized studies. There is a need for further studies on this subject (28-32).

In our study, although myoglobin levels tended to be higher in patients with a high SYNTAX score at admission to the hospital and at the 12^{th} h, this elevation was not statistically significant (p=0.062, p=0.143).

We investigated the relationship between 5-year cardiac mortality and myoglobin. In patients who died of cardiac causes within 5 years, myoglobin levels at admission and at 12 h were not different between survivor and non-survivor patients. Our results do not support the results by Spangenthal et al. (28).

As mentioned above, many studies have been conducted on the specificity and sensitivity of h-FABP in the diagnosis of ACS. In our study, in addition to these studies, the relationship between the levels of h-FABP and myoglobulin in the first 3 h and 12 h in the diagnosis of STEMI was evaluated. SYNTAX scores were used for this evaluation. In addition to these scores, a 72-month follow-up of patients was performed, and real-life death data were included in the evaluation.

In our study, h-FABP and myoglobin values measured at admission and at the 12th h were higher in patients with higher SYNTAX scores, but only h-FABP values were found to be predictive of CAD severity. H-FABP and myoglobin are not biomarkers routinely analyzed in patients presenting to the emergency department with chest pain. After newly developed Hstroponins, it cannot be expected to replace them in diagnosis. However, looking at the h-FABP values measured at the time of admission to the hospital or at the 12th h in selected patients, with the help of the determined cut-off values (in our study, we determined the cut-off for h-FABP as 16.95 at the time of admission and 21 ng/mL at the 12th hour) can help predict disease severity and determine the treatment strategy.

Conclusion

In patients with ACS, measuring h-FABP levels at admission and in the late period (12th hour) are helpful, not only in the diagnosis but also severity and prognosis of CAD. However, it is necessary to develop a

precise test that allows quick and economical measurements of h-FABP. Additionally, an internationally consistent standardization should be made, and a consensus on the h-FABP threshold should be reached. To achieve this, further prospective randomized clinical trials are needed.

Ethics Committee Approval: University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinical Research Ethics Committee (date: 05.08.2019/decision no: 2019-15).

Informed Consent: After obtaining informed consent from the patients, in addition to routine examinations.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - G.Ş.E., D.K., F.N.T.Ç., M.K.; Design - G.Ş.E., D.K., F.N.T.Ç., M.K., N.I.; Data Collection or Processing - G.Ş.E., D.K., F.N.T.Ç., M.H.S., N.I.; Analysis or Interpretation - G.Ş.E., D.K., C.Y., F.N.T.Ç., M.H.S., N.I.; Literature Search - G.Ş.E., D.K., C.Y., F.N.T.Ç., M.H.S., M.K., P.K., N.I.; Writing - G.S.E., D.K., P.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Cho CM, Lee YM. The relationship between cardiovascular disease risk factors and gender. Health 2012; 4: 309-15.
- Thygesen K, Mair J, Giannitsis E, Mueller C, Lindahl B, Blankenberg S, et al. How to use high-sensitivity cardiac troponins in acute cardiac care. Eur Heart J 2012; 33: 2252-7.
- Ye XD, He Y, Wang S, Wong GT, Irwin MG, Xia Z. Heart-type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) as a biomarker for acute myocardial injury and long-term post-ischemic prognosis. Acta Pharmacol Sin 2018; 39: 1155-63.
- 4. Storch J, Thumser AE. The fatty acid transport function of fatty acid-binding proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000; 1486: 28-44.
- Mair J, Wagner I, Jakob G, Lechleitner P, Dienstl F, Puschendorf B, et al. Different time courses of cardiac contractile proteins after acute myocardial infarction. Clin Chim Acta 1994; 231: 47-60.
- Wang S, Qin L, Wu T, Deng B, Sun Y, Hu D, et al. Elevated cardiac markers in chronic kidney disease as a consequence of hyperphosphatemia-induced cardiac myocyte injury. Med Sci Monit 2014; 20: 2043-53.
- Beuerle JR, Azzazy HM, Styba G, Duh SH, Christenson RH. Characteristics of myoglobin, carbonic anhydrase III and the myoglobin/carbonic anhydrase III ratio in trauma, exercise, and myocardial infarction patients. Clin Chim Acta 2000; 294: 115-28.
- Roffi M, Patrono C, Collet JP, Mueller C, Valgimigli M, Andreotti F, et al. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: Task Force for the Management of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 267-315.
- D'Ascenzo F, Biondi-Zoccai G, Moretti C, Bollati M, Omedè P, Sciuto F, et al. TIMI, GRACE and alternative risk scores in Acute Coronary Syndromes: a metaanalysis of 40 derivation studies on 216,552 patients and of 42 validation studies on 31,625 patients. Contemp Clin Trials 2012; 33: 507-14.
- Widera C, Pencina MJ, Meisner A, Kempf T, Bethmann K, Marquardt I, et al. Adjustment of the GRACE score by growth differentiation factor 15 enables a more accurate appreciation of risk in non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome. Eur Heart J 2012; 33: 1095-104.

- Eggers KM, Kempf T, Venge P, Wallentin L, Wollert KC, Lindahl B. Improving long-term risk prediction in patients with acute chest pain: the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events (GRACE) risk score is enhanced by selected nonnecrosis biomarkers. Am Heart J 2010; 160: 88-94.
- 12. Body R, McDowell G, Carley S, Wibberley C, Ferguson J, Mackway-Jones K. A FABP-ulous 'rule out' strategy? Heart fatty acid binding protein and troponin for rapid exclusion of acute myocardial infarction. Resuscitation 2011; 82: 1041-6.
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Simoons ML, Chaitman BR, White HD, et al. Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. Circulation 2012; 126: 2020-35.
- 14. Chacko S, Haseeb S, Glover BM, Wallbridge D, Harper A. The role of biomarkers in the diagnosis and risk stratification of acute coronary syndrome. Future Sci OA 2017; 4: FSO251.
- Colli A, Josa M, Pomar JL, Mestres CA, Gherli T. Heart fatty acid binding protein in the diagnosis of myocardial infarction: where do we stand today? Cardiology 2007; 108: 4-10.
- Gururajan P, Gurumurthy P, Nayar P, Srinivasa Nageswara Rao G, Babu S, Cherian KM. Heart fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) as a diagnostic biomarker in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Heart Lung Circ 2010; 19: 660-4.
- 17. Reddy LL, Shah SA, Dherai AJ, Ponde CK, Ashavaid TF. Troponin T and Heart Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein (h-Fabp) as Biomarkers in Patients Presenting with Chest Pain. Indian J Clin Biochem 2016; 31: 87-92.
- Young JM, Pickering JW, George PM, Aldous SJ, Wallace J, Frampton CM, et al. Heart Fatty Acid Binding Protein and cardiac troponin: development of an optimal rule-out strategy for acute myocardial infarction. BMC Emerg Med 2016; 16: 34.
- 19. Nagesh CM, Roy A. Role of biomarkers in risk stratification of acute coronary syndrome. Indian J Med Res 2010; 132: 627-33.
- Ishii J, Ozaki Y, Lu J, Kitagawa F, Kuno T, Nakano T, et al. Prognostic value of serum concentration of heart-type fatty acid-binding protein relative to cardiac troponin T on admission in the early hours of acute coronary syndrome. Clin Chem 2005; 51: 1397-404.
- 21. Reiser H, Klingenberg R, Hof D, Cooksley-Decasper S, Fuchs N, Akhmedov A, et al. Circulating FABP4 is a prognostic biomarker in patients with acute coronary syndrome but not in asymptomatic individuals. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2015; 35: 1872-9.
- 22. Goto T, Takase H, Toriyama T, Sugiura T, Sato K, Ueda R, et al. Circulating concentrations of cardiac proteins indicate the severity of congestive heart failure. Heart 2003; 89: 1303-7.
- Setsuta K, Seino Y, Ogawa T, Ohtsuka T, Seimiya K, Takano T. Ongoing myocardial damage in chronic heart failure is related to activated tumor necrosis factor and Fas/Fas ligand system. Circ J 2004; 68: 747-50.
- 24. Hoffmann U, Espeter F, Weiß C, Ahmad-Nejad P, Lang S, Brueckmann M, et al. Ischemic biomarker heart-type fatty acid binding protein (hFABP) in acute heart failure diagnostic and prognostic insights compared to NT-proBNP and troponin I. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2015; 15: 50.
- 25. Ho SK, Wu YW, Tseng WK, Leu HB, Yin WH, Lin TH, et al. Author Correction: The prognostic significance of heart-type fatty acid binding protein in patients with stable coronary heart disease. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 4838. Erratum for: Sci Rep 2018; 8: 14410.
- 26. Jo MS, Lee J, Kim SY, Kwon HJ, Lee HK, Park DJ, et al. Comparison between creatine kinase MB, heart-type fatty acid-binding protein, and cardiac troponin T for detecting myocardial ischemic injury after cardiac surgery. Clin Chim Acta 2019; 488: 174-8.
- 27. Kazimierczyk E, Kazimierczyk R, Harasim-Symbor E, Kaminski K, Sobkowicz B, Chabowski A, et al. Persistently elevated plasma heart-type fatty acid binding

protein concentration is related with poor outcome in acute decompensated heart failure patients. Clin Chim Acta 2018; 487: 48-53.

- 28. Spangenthal EJ, Ellis AK. Cardiac and skeletal muscle myoglobin release after reperfusion of injured myocardium in dogs with systemic hypotension. Circulation 1995; 91: 2635-41.
- 29. Jurlander B, Clemmensen P, Wagner GS, Grande P. Very early diagnosis and risk stratification of patients admitted with suspected acute myocardial infarction by the combined evaluation of a single serum value of cardiac troponin-T, myoglobin, and creatine kinase MB(mass). Eur Heart J 2000; 21: 382-9.
- Störk TV, Wu AH, Müller-Bardorff M, Gareis R, Müller R, Hombach V, et al. Diagnostic and prognostic role of myoglobin in patients with suspected acute

coronary syndrome. North-Württemberg Infarction Study (NOWIS) Group. Am J Cardiol 2000; 86: 1371-4, A5.

- Holmvang L, Lüscher MS, Clemmensen P, Thygesen K, Grande P. Very early risk stratification using combined ECG and biochemical assessment in patients with unstable coronary artery disease (A thrombin inhibition in myocardial ischemia [TRIM] substudy). The TRIM Study Group. Circulation 1998; 98: 2004-9.
- 32. Sonel A, Sasseen BM, Fineberg N, Bang N, Wilensky RL. Prospective study correlating fibrinopeptide A, troponin I, myoglobin, and myosin light chain levels with early and late ischemic events in consecutive patients presenting to the emergency department with chest pain. Circulation 2000; 102: 1107-13.

The Relationship Between Cochlear Nerve and Cochlear Nerve Canal Dimensions in Incomplete Partition Types

Direnç Özlem Aksoy,
 Kemal Furkan Kaldırımoğlu,
 Yeşim Karagöz,
 Melis Baykara Ulusan,
 Abdullah Soydan Mahmutoğlu

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Incomplete partition (IP) type and accompanying cochlear nerve (CN) anomalies affect the patient's management. We revealed the cochlear nerve area (CNA), cochlear nerve canal width (CNCW), and inner auditory canal width (IACW) of IP types.

Methods: We retrospectively scanned patients with IP. There were 88 IP ears (26 IP type 1, 54 IP type 2, 8 IP type 3) and 54 controls. The CNCW and IACW were measured in axial temporal computed tomography sections. The CNA and facial nerve area (FNA) were measured in the distal IAC on the sagittal-oblique plane of 3D constructive interference steady-state T2-weighted magnetic resonance images.

Results: CNA and CNA/FNA values for each IP type differed significantly compared with the control group. However, the CNCW and IACW values did not differ significantly. The CNA was the least in IP 1 cases. Five CN aplasia were detected, and all were associated with IP type 1 anomaly (3.5% of all, 5.6% of IP types, and 19.2% of IP type 1 cases). CN hypoplasia was observed in 10 IP type 1 (38.5% of IP 1), 6 IP type 2 (6.8% of IP type 2), and 1 IP type 3 (12.5% of IP type 3) ears. None of the CN hypoplasia had a CNC hypoplasia.

Conclusion: CN aplasia and hypoplasia most frequently accompanied with IP type 1 in our study. Therefore, they need an extra interest in CN evaluation. CNCW and IACW are not very useful in predicting CN dysplasia in IP cases.

Keywords: Incomplete partition, cochlear nerve, cochlear nerve canal width, inner auditory canal width

Introduction

One-fourth of sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) cases have an anomaly that computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can detect, and the detection rate with CT (25%) was higher than with MR (18%) (p=0.0001) (1,2). While the most common anomalies detected by CT were cochlear or semicircular canal anomalies, the most common anomalies detected by MRI were cochlear nerve (CN) abnormalities and semicircular canal anomalies (2). Incomplete partition (IP) disorders describe the cochlea anomalies that comprise approximately 40% of the inner ear anomalies and are divided into three groups. Types of IP are distinguished by the presence or absence of the cochlea's partition to varying degrees (3). Some patients with IP may not have a chance for a cochlear implant (CI) due to the possibility of CN aplasia (1). Patients with normal CNs had better post-CI outcomes rather than patients with CN dysplasia. Patients with a narrower bony cochlear nerve canal (CNC) showed less favorable results, even if the CN was intact (4).

The CNC, also called the cochlear aperture, is the central bony passage at the base of the modiolus that allows the course of the CN from the Cochlea to the internal acoustic canal (IAC). When the CNC is not visible, it is considered aplasia; when the cochlear nerve canal width (CNCW) is narrow, it is regarded as hypoplasia (5). In a study in SNHL cases with normal cochlea and CN abnormalities, the CNC diameter was smaller than 1.5 mm in 90.6% of patients with CN aplasia and 31.7% of patients with CN hypoplasia (6). Narrowing of the IAC maybe seen with CNC abnormalities. Different cut-off values have been used for the inner auditory canal's width (IACW) in different studies (7-9). The CN should be evaluated in narrow IAC, CNC hypoplasia, or CNC aplasia. While CN hypoplasia or aplasia might be expected to attend CNC hypoplasia, both can also be seen with a normal CNC.

However, CNC aplasia accompanies CN aplasia (10,11). It is considered hypoplastic if the diameter of the CN is smaller than the normal CN on the contralateral side or the normal facial nerve (FN) on the same side (12). Evaluation of the CNC and IACW is possible with high-resolution CT of the temporal bone. However, thin-section T2-weighted MR sequences should be used for CN evaluation (13).

In the literature, numerous studies have evaluated the relationship between CNCW and CN hypoplasia-aplasia. However, these studies assessed independently of the normal-abnormal configuration of the



Cite this article as: Aksoy DO, Kaldirimoğlu KF, Karagöz Y, Baykara Ulusan M, Mahmutoğlu AS. The Relationship Between Cochlear Nerve and Cochlear Nerve Canal Dimensions in Incomplete Partition Types. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 155-9.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

cochlea (5,10,12). It is essential to reveal the form of the CN (aplasia, hypoplasia, or normal) for planning the management approach. The relationship between cochlear nerve area (CNA) and CNCW in IP types have not yet been studied yet. This study revealed the CNA, CNCW, and IACW and their relationship with CN dysplasia in IP patients.

Methods

This study was conducted at our hospital in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki Ethics Committee Approval was taken from University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 326, date: 27.10.2022).

Subjects

For this study, we retrospectively scanned our hospital's Picture Archive Communication System for patients diagnosed with IP based on the classification of Sennaroğlu and Bajin (1) from January 2017 to October 2022 from January 2017 to January 2022. We reached 97 ears diagnosed with IP who underwent temporal CT and MRI. Seven ears were excluded because they had CT or MR images unsuitable for measurement, previous skull base or temporal surgery, skull base or facial trauma with fracture, history of head and neck malignancy, and calvaria abnormalities or deformities. Of the remaining 88 ears, 26 had IP type 1, 54 had IP type 2, and 8 had IP type 3. In the same period, 54 patients under 18 with CT and MRI scans for mastoiditis and cholesteatoma, who had no inner ear anomalies, were randomly selected for the control group.

Imaging and Analysis

All CT and MRIs of the SNHL and control patients were performed in our radiology department for routine medical treatment. The CT images were performed with a 64-slice CT (MSCT; Brilliance 64, Philips Medical System, Best, the Netherlands). All the scans were obtained as routine HRCT of temporal bone imaging in the supine position with the scanning baseline parallel to the orbitomeatal line (kVp=120, mAs=100, FOV=240 mm, slice thickness=0.5 mm). The MR images were performed with a 1.5-T scanner (Siemens Healthcare, Aera Magnetom, Erlangen, Germany) equipped with an 8-channel head coil. The imaging protocol included axial 3D constructive interference steady-state (CISS) T2 (TR/TE: 5.39/2.40 ms, matrix: 384x211, NSA: 1, slice thickness: 0.72 mm) images as a part of the standard protocol for temporal MRI at our institution.

Each cochlea's CT and MRI scan were transferred to the Syngo Via* workstation (Siemens Medical Solutions) for precise measurements. All images were examined separately by a radiologist experienced in temporal bone imaging. The CNCW was measured on axial CT images at the mid-modiolar plan (Figure 1A). The IACW was measured at the mid-point in axial CT sections (Figure 1B). Sagittal-oblique images of 3D CISS T2-weighted MRI were performed perpendicular to the nerve's long axis by multiplanar reconstructions. The cochlear and FN cross-sectional areas were measured separately in the distal IAC on the sagittal-oblique plane of the CISS images (Figure 2). The CN was defined as aplasia if the CN could not be seen in any reconstructed image, and the area was recorded as 0 mm² (Figure 3A). The ratio was calculated by dividing the ipsilateral CN by the facial nerve areas (CNA/FNA) (14). CN is considered

hypoplastic if the area of the CN is smaller than the normal CN on the contralateral side or the normal FN on the same side (Figure 3B) (12). In cases where the CNC measurement was not made because the canal opening was not chosen, the CNC was noted as atretic and recorded as 0 mm. It was defined as stenotic when the CNCW was <1.5 mm (6). We evaluated the incidence of CN aplasia and hypoplasia in each case group when we separated the CNC width as aplasia, stenotic, and normal (6). If the IACW was below 4 mm, it was considered abnormal, and its relationship with CN hypoplasia and aplasia was evaluated (15).

Statistical Analysis

In the descriptive statistics of the data, mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and ratio values were used.



Figure 1. (A) CNCW measurement at the mid-modiolar plan on axial CT images. (B) IACW measurement at the mid-point in axial CT sections CNCW: Cochlear nerve canal width, CT: Computed tomography, IACW: Inner auditory canal width



Figure 2. Cochlear and facial nerve cross-sectional area measurement F: Facial nerve, C: Cochlear nerve



Figure 3. 3D CISS T2-weighted MRI images of (A) cochlear aplasia and (B) cochlear hypoplasia

CISS: Constructive interference steady-state, MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging, F: Facial nerve; C: Cochlear nerve; inf: Inferior colliculus Sup: Superior colliculus

The distribution of variables was measured using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Kruskal-Wallis, Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyse independent quantitative data. The Wilcoxon test was used in the analysis of dependent quantitative data. SPSS 28.0 program was used in the analysis.

Results

The mean age of the cases included in the study was 61.4±46.6 months in control, 46.2±55.4 months in IP type 1, 67.5±53.2 months in IP type 2, and 163.3±57.6 months in IP type 3. The mean values of CNA, FNA, and CNA/FNA for each group are summarized in Table 1.

Both CNA and CNA/FNA values for each IP type differed significantly compared with the Control group (Table 1, Figure 4).

Additionally, no significant difference was found between all groups for FNA. CNCW and IACW values are also summarized in Table 1 for each group. Both did not differ significantly between the control and IP types.

CN dysplasia was not detected in any case in the control group. In our case group, five CN aplasia was detected, and all were associated with IP type 1 anomaly (3.5% of all, 5.6% of IP type, and 19.2% of IP type 1 cases). CNC stenosis was found in 4 patients with CN aplasia, and CNC hypoplasia was found in 1 patient. CN hypoplasia was seen in 10 IP type 1 (38.5% of IP 1), 6 IP type 2 (6.8% of IP type 2), and 1 IP type 3 (12.5%





Table 1. Statistical analysis of MRI and CT measurements

of IP type 3) ears. None of these ears with CN hypoplasia had a CNC hypoplasia.

The CNC was hypoplastic in 2 ears of the control group and one ear of the IP type 1, and the CN diameter was within the normal limits in these cases.

There is no significant difference in IACW between the control and the IP types. IACW was measured below 4 mm in 4 cases in the control group, 4 cases in the IP type 1 group, and 6 cases in the IP type 2 group. CN diameter in all these control and IP type 2 cases was within normal limits. In 4 cases with IP type 1 and IACW were measured below 4 mm; two have CN aplasia, one has CN hypoplasia, and the other has normal CN diameter. The IAC diameter was greater than 4 mm in all IP type 3 cases.

Discussion

The CN condition affects the CI results in IP and other SNHL cases (1). Therefore, in this study, we revealed whether the CN dimensions of IP cases differ from those of normal subjects and which IP types are more accompanied by CN dysplasia. We also investigated whether CNC and IAC widths may be associated with CN dysplasia and whether they differ from normal cases. The mean CNA value was 5±1.2 mm in the control group compared to the IP types, and there was a statistically significant difference. The lowest CNA was found in IP type 1 cases than in the other IP types and the control in our results. We did not find a significant difference in FNA between the IP types and the control. Naguib et al. (14) also found no significant difference in the FNA between patients with SNHL patients and control. They stated that the FN could be used as a reference in evaluating CN dimensions (14). Therefore, FNs can be used as a reference in IP cases too. CNA/FNA values differ between control and IP types, similar to CNA values in our results.

Carner et al. (16), in their study on 36 patients with CN aplasia, found that IP type 1 anomaly was accompanied in 5 cases and IP type 2 anomaly in 4 cases. In the study of Sorge et al. (17) found middle and inner ear anomalies in 10 of 32 cases with CN defects. Among these, IP type 2 was accompanied in 3 ears, and IP type 1 was in two ears (17). Tahir et al. (18) found 3 IP type 1 cases in 41 patients with CN aplasia.

		Control	IP-1	IP-2	IP-3
CNIA	$Mean \pm SD$	5.0+1.2	2.3±1.3	3.9±0.8	4.0±0.4
CNA	р	5.0±1.2	0.001	IP-2 3.9±0.8 0.001 3.1±0.6 0.963 1.3±0.3 0.001 2.1±0.3 0.691 5.3±1.1 0.866	0.029
ENIA	Mean \pm SD	2 2+0 0	3.1±0.7	3.1±0.6	3.3±0.5
FINA	р	5.2±0.9	0.750	 IP-2 3.9±0.8 0.001 3.1±0.6 0.963 1.3±0.3 0.001 2.1±0.3 0.691 5.3±1.1 0.866 	0.388
	$Mean \pm SD$	16+03	0.8±0.5	1.3±0.3	1.3±0.2
CNA/ FNA	р	1.0±0.5	0.001	IP-2 3.9 ± 0.8 0.001 3.1 ± 0.6 0.963 1.3 ± 0.3 0.001 2.1 ± 0.3 0.691 5.3 ± 1.1 0.866	0.002
CNCW	Mean \pm SD	2.3±1.3 5.0±1.2 0.001 3.2±0.9 3.1±0.7 0.750 0.750 1.6±0.3 0.8±0.5 2.2±0.4 0.001 2.2±0.4 0.930 5.2±1.0 0.058	2.0±1.0	2.1±0.3	2.2±0.4
CINCW	р	2.2±0.4	0.930	IP-2 3.9±0.8 0.001 3.1±0.6 0.963 1.3±0.3 0.001 2.1±0.3 0.691 5.3±1.1 0.866	0.817
	Mean \pm SD	5 2+1 0	4.8±0.9	5.3±1.1	5.4±1.1
	р	J.2±1.0	0.058	0.866	0.674

Statistically significant data with p<0.05 are bolded. MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging, CT: Computed tomography, CNA: Cochlear nerve area, FNA: Facial nerve area, CNCW: Cochlear nerve canal width, IACW: Inner auditory canal width, SD: Standard deviation

CN aplasia was detected in only five cases among our entire patient and control group, and all of them were associated with IP type 1 anomaly. Suk et al. (19), in their study evaluating the surgical results in IP type 1 cases, found hypoplasia in 9 (53%) of 17 cases in which the CN was assessed. In an MRI examination of the IP type 1 cases, hypoplasia of the CN was found in 16.2% and aplasia of the CN in 6.3% (20). In our study, we examined 26 IP type 1 cases, and 38.5% (n=10) of them had CN hypoplasia, and 19.2% (n=5) had CN aplasia. CN hypoplasia was also seen in 6 IP type 2 (6.8% of IP type 2) and 1 IP type 3 (12.5% of IP type 3) ears. None of these ears with CN hypoplasia had a CNC stenosis.

It is an expected finding that the CNC is narrower in patients with SNHL than in patients with normal hearing (5,11). However, our results found no significant difference between the CNCW in the normal cases and IP types (Table 1). The addition of CNC stenosis to the inner ear abnormalities may accompany more severe SNHL (5). Zainol Abidin et al. (21) reported in their research that the most common cochlear anomaly accompanying CNC stenosis was IP type 2 (23%). However, 37 of the 48 cochlear anomalies in their study were IP type 2 cases. Of 38 patients with a stenotic CNC in a study, 6 had IP type 1, and 1 had IP type 2 (18). The CNCW was measured below 1.5 mm in just three ears in our study. Two of these CNC stenoses were in the control group, and one was in the IP type 1. There were no significant Accompaniment of CNC stenosis to IP cases. Stenosis of the CNC often accompanies CN hypoplasia or aplasia, and the severity of hearing loss and canal narrowing has been associated with each other (5; 11). However, concomitant CN dysplasia was not found in all three of our cases with CNC stenosis.

Because of the high incidence of CN abnormalities, IAC stenosis has been considered a Contraindication for CI application in previous studies (22). Although CN evaluation with MRI is routinely performed today, narrow IAC retains its ability to predict low CI success because it indicates CN abnormalities. In addition, in cases where CNC dimensions are within normal limits, CN dysplasia may not be predicted without MRI (10). In a study conducted in cases with normal cochlear configuration, IAC diameter was less than 3 mm in 50% of cases with CN aplasia and 40% with CN hypoplasia (6). Giesemann et al. (23) found that 92% of 25 cases with IAC malformation were present with VCN aplasia in their study on a case group with different inner ear anomalies. Glastonbury CM accepted 4 mm as the limit for IAC abnormality evaluated on 3D T2W MR images and showed that IAC abnormality was accompanied in 16 of 18 ears with CN abnormality (15). Monsanto et al. (24) evaluated 38 temporal bone specimens inner ear anomalies in their study. The vestibulocochlear nerve, CNC, and IAC were markedly hypoplastic in a single IP type 1 case. IAC and CNC were normal in the two IP type 2 cases, but nerve fibers were significantly lost (24). In a study evaluating the IAC width (at the level of porus acusticus internus), there were 8 cases of IP type 1, 16 cases of IP type 2, and 8 cases of IP type 3. The IAC width was approximately 5.5 mm in the control group, and there was no significant difference between the IP types and the control group (25). We found a mean IACW of 5.2±1.0 mm in the control group and did not find a significant difference with IP types. IACW was measured below 4 mm in 4 cases in the control group, 4 cases in the IP type 1 group, and 6 cases in the IP type 2 group. IAC diameter was greater than 4 mm in all IP type 3 cases. CN diameter in all these control and IP type 2 cases was within normal limits. In 4 cases with IP type 1 and IACMW were measured below 4 m; two have CN aplasia, one has CN hypoplasia, and the other has a normal CN diameter.

Study Limitations

The limitations arising from the study's retrospective nature, with the fact that the patient population excludes other inner ear anomalies, causes us to be unable to make a comprehensive comparison. A single author made measurements, and inter-observer variability was not checked. All measurements were made manually. Difficulties and differences may arise from the complex anatomical structure. Especially, in anatomical variations and advanced abnormalities, measuring and standardizing measurements becomes difficult. MRI may not provide sufficient resolution to detect nerve thickness in cases with extremely thin nerve fibers.

Conclusion

Because IP type and accompanying CN anomalies may affect postimplantation performance, their preoperative determination will affect the patient's management. CNA was the highest in the control group and least in IP type 1 cases. There was a significant difference between control and IP types in CNA and CNA/FNA. Therefore, the CN status of IP cases should be carefully evaluated. CN dysplasia was the most frequently accompanying the IP type 1 cases (CN hypoplasia 38.5%, CN aplasia 19.2%) among the IP types, so they need an extra interest in CN evaluation. There was no significant difference in CNCW and IACW between the control and IP cases. It could not be said that CNC and IAC widths are very useful in predicting CN dysplasia in IP cases.

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was conducted at our hospital in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki Ethics Committee Approval was taken from University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 326, date: 27.10.2022).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - D.Ö.A.; Concept - D.Ö.A., Y.K., A.S.M.; Design - D.Ö.A., K.F.K., M.B.U.; Data Collection or Processing - D.Ö.A., K.F.K.; Analysis or Interpretation -D.Ö.A., Y.K.; Literature Search - D.Ö.A., M.B.U.; Writing - D.Ö.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Sennaroğlu L, Bajin MD. Classification and Current Management of Inner Ear Malformations. Balkan Med J 2017; 34: 397-411.
- Zhang J, Sawaf T, Anne S, Pham GN, Pakanati K, Raol N, et al. Imaging in pediatric bilateral sensorineural hearing loss: Diagnostic yield with computed tomography versus magnetic resonance imaging. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2021; 147: 110778.

- Kontorinis G, Goetz F, Giourgas A, Lenarz T, Lanfermann H, Giesemann AM. Radiological diagnosis of incomplete partition type I versus type II: significance for cochlear implantation. Eur Radiol 2012; 22: 525-32.
- Chung J, Jang JH, Chang SO, Song JJ, Cho SW, Kim SY, et al. Does the Width of the Bony Cochlear Nerve Canal Predict the Outcomes of Cochlear Implantation? Biomed Res Int 2018; 2018: 5675848.
- Wilkins A, Prabhu SP, Huang L, Ogando PB, Kenna MA. Frequent association of cochlear nerve canal stenosis with pediatric sensorineural hearing loss. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012; 138: 383-8.
- Yan F, Li J, Xian J, Wang Z, Mo L. The cochlear nerve canal and internal auditory canal in children with normal cochlea but cochlear nerve deficiency. Acta Radiol 2013; 54: 292-8.
- El Sadik AO, Shaaban MH. The relationship between the dimensions of the internal auditory canal and the anomalies of the vestibulocochlear nerve. Folia Morphol (Warsz) 2017; 76: 178-85.
- McClay JE, Tandy R, Grundfast K, Choi S, Vezina G, Zalzal G, et al. Major and minor temporal bone abnormalities in children with and without congenital sensorineural hearing loss. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002; 128: 664-71.
- 9. Chetcuti K, Kumbla S. The internal acoustic canal--another review area in paediatric sensorineural hearing loss. Pediatr Radiol 2016; 46: 562-9.
- Adunka OF, Jewells V, Buchman CA. Value of computed tomography in the evaluation of children with cochlear nerve deficiency. Otol Neurotol 2007; 28: 597-604.
- 11. Miyasaka M, Nosaka S, Morimoto N, Taiji H, Masaki H. CT and MR imaging for pediatric cochlear implantation: emphasis on the relationship between the cochlear nerve canal and the cochlear nerve. Pediatr Radiol 2010; 40: 1509-16.
- Casselman JW, Offeciers FE, Govaerts PJ, Kuhweide R, Geldof H, Somers T, et al. Aplasia and hypoplasia of the vestibulocochlear nerve: diagnosis with MR imaging. Radiology 1997; 202: 773-81.
- Young JY, Ryan ME, Young NM. Preoperative imaging of sensorineural hearing loss in pediatric candidates for cochlear implantation. Radiographics 2014; 34: E133-49.
- Naguib NNN, Hey C, Shaaban MS, Elabd AM, Hassan HHM, Gruber-Rouh T, et al. Assessment of the cochlear nerve to facial nerve size ratio using MR multiplanar reconstruction of the internal auditory canal in patients

presenting with acquired long-standing hearing loss. Br J Radiol 2017; 90: 20160870.

- Glastonbury CM, Davidson HC, Harnsberger HR, Butler J, Kertesz TR, Shelton C. Imaging findings of cochlear nerve deficiency. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2002; 23: 635-43.
- Carner M, Colletti L, Shannon R, Cerini R, Barillari M, Mucelli RP, et al. Imaging in 28 children with cochlear nerve aplasia. Acta Otolaryngol 2009; 129: 458-61.
- 17. Sorge M, Sorge I, Pirlich M, Fuchs M, Meuret S, Hirsch FW, et al. Diameter of the Cochlear Nerve Canal predicts Cochlear Nerve Deficiency in Children with Sensorineural Hearing Loss. Rofo 2022; 194: 1132-9.
- Tahir E, Bajin MD, Atay G, Mocan BÖ, Sennaroğlu L. Bony cochlear nerve canal and internal auditory canal measures predict cochlear nerve status. J Laryngol Otol 2017; 131: 676-83.
- 19. Suk Y, Lee JH, Lee KS. Surgical outcomes after cochlear implantation in children with incomplete partition type I: comparison with deaf children with a normal inner ear structure. Otol Neurotol 2015; 36: e11-7.
- 20. Parlak S, Akgoz Karaosmanoglu A, Arslan S, Sennaroglu L. Incomplete Partition type I: Radiological Evaluation of the Temporal Bone. Acta Medica 2021; 52: 332-40.
- 21. Zainol Abidin Z, Mohd Zaki F, Kew TY, Goh BS, Abdullah A. Cochlear nerve canal stenosis and associated semicircular canal abnormalities in paediatric sensorineural hearing loss: a single centre study. J Laryngol Otol 2020; 134: 603-9.
- Shelton C, Luxford WM, Tonokawa LL, Lo WW, House WF. The narrow internal auditory canal in children: a contraindication to cochlear implants. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1989; 100: 227-31.
- 23. Giesemann AM, Kontorinis G, Jan Z, Lenarz T, Lanfermann H, Goetz F. The vestibulocochlear nerve: aplasia and hypoplasia in combination with inner ear malformations. Eur Radiol 2012; 22: 519-24.
- Monsanto RDC, Sennaroglu L, Uchiyama M, Sancak IG, Paparella MM, Cureoglu S. Histopathology of Inner Ear Malformations: Potential Pitfalls for Cochlear Implantation. Otol Neurotol 2019; 40: e839-46.
- Bächinger D, Breitsprecher TM, Pscheidl A, Dhanasingh A, Mlynski R, Dazert S, et al. Internal auditory canal volume in normal and malformed inner ears. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2023; 280: 2149-54.

Incidence and Risk Factors of Venous Thromboembolism in Patients Undergoing Surgery for Gynecologic Malignancies

● Hasan Turan¹, ● İlker Kahramanoğlu², ● Ulviyya Alakbarova³, ● Kübra Hamzaoğlu⁴, ● Tugan Beşe⁵,
 ● Macit Arvas⁶, ● Fuat Demirkıran⁵

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Mersin City Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, Mersin, Turkey

²Private Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

³Bakü Medical Plaza, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bakü, Azerbaijan

⁴University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁵İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

⁶American Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: A potentially fatal complication of gynecological cancer surgery is venous thromboembolism (VTE). Low-molecularweight heparin prophylaxis does not reduce the risk of VTE. This research determined the incidence of VTE and to identify the risk factors in patients having surgery for gynecological malignancy with extended dual prophylaxis.

Methods: In this retrospective cohort study, all patients with gynecological cancer undergone surgery at the Division of Gynecologic Oncology of İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine were identified between January 2008 and April 2018. Age, body mass index (BMI), menopausal status, comorbidities, the primary site of the neoplasm in gynecology, surgical details, and operative time, the need for intensive care unit admission, perioperative complications, the patient's smoking habits, the diagnosis of VTE, and follow-up assessments up to one month after surgery were among the data collected.

Results: With a 2.4% incidence rate, 29 of 1,201 analyzed patients experienced postoperative VTE events. BMI >30, operation duration >180 min, paraaortic and/or pelvic lymphadenectomy, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, smoking, and chronic renal failure were revealed to be significant variables [odds ratio (OR): 5.357; 95% confidence interval (Cl): 1.833-15.654; p=0.002; OR: 5.698; 95% Cl: 1.971-16.474; p=0.001; OR: 0.252; 95% Cl: 0.068-0.933; p=0.039; OR: 0.002; 95% Cl: 0.001-0.025; p=0.001; OR: 0.217; 95% Cl: 0.082-0.577; p=0.002; OR: 0.033; 95% Cl: 0.003-0.379; p=0.006, respectively].

Conclusion: We suggest that every patient undergoing gynecological oncology surgery should have preoperative pharmacological and postoperative extended dual prophylaxis to achieve the lowest incidence of VTE in this group.

Keywords: Pulmonary embolism, venous thromboembolism, gynecological cancer, postoperative care, deep vein thrombosis

Introduction

The incidence of malignant tumors has risen dramatically recently. Gynecological cancers are common and frequently necessitate radical surgery; in 2020, it is estimated to be 604,127 new cases of cervical cancer, 417,359 new cases of endometrial cancer, and 313,959 new cases of ovarian cancer (1).

Gynecological cancer operations can result in a deadly complication called venous thromboembolism (VTE), which includes deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE) (2). In patients with gynecologic malignancy, the incidence of postoperative DVT was as high as 37.9% without VTE prophylaxis (2-5). Within 30 days of diagnosis, approximately 12% of VTE patients die (6). Consequently, perioperative VTE prophylaxis is of utmost importance.

There was no universal standard for VTE thromboprophylaxis. There are various therapies and procedures for reducing the risk of postoperative VTE: Mechanical prophylaxis, preoperative or postoperative pharmacologic prophylaxis, and dual pharmacologic and mechanical prophylaxis for an extended duration (7,8). After gynecological cancer surgery, there is an exceptionally high risk of VT, this is true even when low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) prophylaxis is used (9,10). Guidelines recommend dual prophylaxis for patients with a high risk of getting postoperative VTE (7, 8). There was a need for further studies regarding



Address for Correspondence: Hasan Turan, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Mersin City Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Gynecologic Oncology, Mersin, Turkey Phone: +90 324 225 10 00 E-mail: hasanturan@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1902-8014

Received: 31.03.2023 Accepted: 19.04.2023

Cite this article as: Turan H, Kahramanoğlu İ, Alakbarova U, Hamzaoğlu K, Beşe T, Arvas M, Demirkıran F. Incidence and Risk Factors of Venous Thromboembolism in Patients Undergoing Surgery for Gynecologic Malignancies. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 160-5.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

the selection of cancer patients for thromboprophylaxis. Several studies comparing prophylaxis techniques for VTE incidence have concluded that extended dual prophylaxis is effective (2-4,6,9,11-12). To the best of our knowledge, no research on VTE in gynecological cancer patients getting extended dual prophylaxis has yet been conducted in Turkey.

This current research estimated the incidence of VT and identify risk factors for VTE in patients undergoing surgery for gynecological cancer and receiving extended dual prophylaxis.

Methods

This retrospective cohort analysis included all consecutive patients who had undergone gynecological cancer surgery at Division of Gynecologic Oncology of İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine between January 2008 and April 2018. The clinical Research Ethics Committee of İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine approved the study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (approval number: A-51, date: 08.05.2018). The collected data consisted of age, body mass index (BMI), menopausal status, comorbidities, the primary gynecologic site of the tumor, surgical details (open/laparoscopy, upper abdominal surgery, pelvic and paraaortic lymphadenectomy, inguinal lymphadenectomy), the need for intensive care unit, and postoperative complications (surgical site infection, wound dehiscence, fistula formation, sepsis, acute renal failure, cardiac arrest, DVT and PE, smoking, and follow-up evaluations until one month after surgery. Since 2008, our division has been used extended dual prophylaxis. All patients received combined thromboprophylaxis with compression anti-embolic stock, initiated at the induction of anesthesia, and LMWH (1 mg/kg/day, maximum: 100 mg), which began 12 h before surgery and 8 h after surgery and continued until hospital discharge. All surgical patients received 28 days of extended prophylaxis consisting of stocks and LMWH. All patients provided their written informed consent.

The inclusion criteria included patients who had gynecologic cancer surgery. Patients lacking data and those who did not receive extended double thromboprophylaxis were excluded, as were pregnant patients and those receiving preoperative prophylaxis and anticoagulation therapies.

The primary objective of the study was the occurrence of VTE, defined as DVT or PE or both, confirmed by imaging [a positive duplex ultrasound, venogram, or computed tomography (CT) scan for DVT, and a positive CT examination, pulmonary arteriogram, or CT angiogram for PE] within 30 days of surgery.

The paper was created under the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) standard (10).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 18.0 for Windows was used to make a statistical study (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The descriptive statistics of the data used mean, standard deviation (SD), median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and ratio values. Using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, the distribution of the factors was assessed. The chi-square test was used for categorical variables, and regularly distributed continuous variables, and the Student's t-test was applied. The link between VTE and variables was analyzed using the Sperman correlation method. Additionally, logistic regression analyses were carried out to find the potential predictors of VTE onset. We evaluated the model's structure with and without each factor to avoid multi-collinearity. To control for any confounding effects, we used correlation tests with regression variables. The results were presented as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). The p-value of all tests was calculated as two-tailed with a 95% CI and significance at <0.05.



Figure 1. Flowchart diagram of the study

VTE: Venous thromboembolism, DVT: Deep venous thromboembolism, PE: Pulmonary embolism

Table 1. Patient demographic	reatures			
Variable	VTE group, (n=29) (DVT: 20.69.0%, PTE: 413.8%)	Non-VTE group, (n=1172)	Total, (n=1201)	р
Age, years	56.76±12.29	54.20±13.92	54.26±13.88 (13-92)	0.327
BMI, kg/m ²	38.02±20.12	28.85±7.62	29.04±8.25 (15.22-132.33)	0.021*
>25	25 (86.2%)	744 (63.5%)	769 (64.0%)	0.011*
>30	19 (65.5%)	424 (36.2%)	443(36.9%)	0.001*
Smoking	16 (55.2%)	224 (19.1 %)	240 (20.0%)	0.001*
Prior VTE history	2 (6.9%)	3 (0.3%)	5 (0.4%)	0.001*
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	7 (20.1%)	1 (0.1%)	7	0.001*
The type of gynecological cancer	1 (3.4%)	28 (2.4%)	29 (2.4%)	
Vulvar	3 (10.3%)	191 (16.3%)	194 (16.2 %)	
Cervix/vagina uterine	11 (37.9%)	479 (40.9%)	490 (40.8%)	0.848
The ovary gestational	14 (48.3%)	470 (40.1%)	484 (40.3 %)	
Trophoblastic neoplasm	0	4 (0.3%)	4 (0.3%)	
Type of surgery laparoscopic open	6 (20.7%) 23 (79.3%)	179 (15.3%) 993(84.7%)	185 (15.4%) 1016 (84.6 %)	0.425
Duration of surgery, min	171.38±68.63	116.48±48.77	117.81±50.02 (30-420)	0.001*
Hospitalization duration, days	10.93±5.33	9.29±6.74	9.33±6.72 (1-95)	0.194
VTE Versen threads and allow DVT D		and a start of the		

Table 4 Dations down and to facture

VTE: Venous thromboembolism, DVT: Deep venous thromboembolism, PE: Pulmonary embolism

Results

Postoperatively, 29 (DVT=20, PE=4, DVT + PE=5) of the 1,201 patients analyzed experienced VTE (DVT: 20, PTE: 4, DVT + PE: 5), for an incidence rate of 2.4%. Figure 1 shows a flowchart for the study. We divided the patients who underwent analysis into two groups: Group 1 is the VTE group, and Group 2 does not have VTE. The patients were evaluated in Tables 1, 2. The population characteristics are outlined in Table 1. The mean age was 54.26 (SD:13.8), and the mean BMI was 29.04 (SD: 15.22). We found no significant differences between the groups concerning age and type of gynecological cancer (vulvar: 2.4%, cervixvagina: 16.2%, uterine=40.8%, ovary: 40.3%, gestational trophoblastic neoplasm: 0.3%), type of surgery (open: 84.6%, laparoscopic: 15.4%); but BMI (38.02+20.12, P= 0.021), smoking (55.2%, p=0.001), prior VTE (6.9%, p=0.001), neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) (20.1%, p=0.001), and operation duration (171.38+68.63, p=0.001) differed in the VTE group statistically significant.

In Table 2, the characteristics of patients with VTE are summarized. 27 of 29 patients had VTE in the first week and 2 in the third week. In Table 3, comorbidities and surgery modalities between the groups were analyzed. Atrial fibrillation (17.2%, p=0.001), congestive heart failure (13.8%, p=0.003), prior VTE history (6.9%, p=0.001), and chronic renal failure (10.3%, p=0.001) were higher in the VTE group. Operation duration >180 min (44.8%, p=0.001), paraaortic lymphadenectomy (44.8%, p=0.042), and total lymphadenectomy (79.3%, p=0.019), postoperative intensive care unit monitorization (27.6%, p=0.001), sepsis (20.7%, p=0.001), postoperative wound infection (20.7%, p=0.001), and postoperative renal failure (13.8%, p=0.001) were found high in the VTE group.

We conducted a logistic regression analysis to determine the variables that might be potential risk factors for VTE (Table 4). The variables found to be significant included BMI >30 (OR: 5,357; 95% CI: 1,833 to 15,654; p=0.002), operation period >180-minute (OR: 5,698; 95% CI: 1,971 to 16,474; p=0.001), Paraaortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy (OR: 0.252; 95% CI: 0.068 to 0.933; p=0.039), NACT (OR: 0.002; 95% CI:0.001 to 0.025; p=0.001), smoking (OR: 0.217; 95% CI: 0.082 to 0.577; p=0.002), and chronic renal failure (OR: 0.033; 95% CI: 0.003 to 0.379; p=0.006).

Discussion

VTE is the second major factor for mortality in women with gynecologic cancer who received surgery. DVT risk and PE prevalence were calculated to be 17-40% and 1-26%, respectively, in this population of women. International guidelines, including those from the ACCP5 and ASCO, recommend combined mechanical and pharmacological thromboprophylaxis for most cancer patients undergoing abdominal and pelvic surgery (7,8). In a study, Corr et al. (9) used the Caprini Risk Assessment Model to give each patient a Caprini score to clarify the operation's complexity. Seventy-six percent of benign and 96.3% of malignant patients were categorized as high risk and were administered extended dual prophylaxis. Their investigation showed that extended dual prophylaxis significantly decreased the VTE rate from 6.7% to 2.7% (9). Additionally, a meta-analysis of 16 trials demonstrated that preoperative pharmacologic thromboprophylaxis reduces the risk of VTE in the perioperative phase for major gynecologic oncology surgery by about 40% when combined with mechanical prophylaxis (intra-operative and postoperative sequential compression devices) (11). In this study, independently of the Caprini Risk Assessment Model, all cancer patients

No. No. <th>e 2. Pat</th> <th>tient with VT</th> <th>E characteristic</th> <th>S Primary malionancy</th> <th>Open/</th> <th>Operation</th> <th>l vmhadenertomv</th> <th>Neoadjuvant</th> <th>Other</th> <th>Smoking</th> <th>Chronic</th> <th>Hospitalization</th> <th>Postoperative diagnosis time</th>	e 2. Pat	tient with VT	E characteristic	S Primary malionancy	Open/	Operation	l vmhadenertomv	Neoadjuvant	Other	Smoking	Chronic	Hospitalization	Postoperative diagnosis time
61 138 52 Theorary 0pm 20 No	4	vge weign	t BMI (kg/m²)	malignancy site	laparoscopic	duration (minute)	Lympnadenectomy	chemotherapy	primary malignancy	Smoking	renal failure	(day)	of the VTE event (day)
11 29 Uters Open 10 Kes No <	Q	138 138	52	The ovary	Open	210	No	No	No	No	No	12	1 st day
38 120 41 Uterus Jagaoscopy 155 Nep No No No No 15 39 100 40 Uterus Jagaoscopy 120 Nes No	4	19 74	29	Uterus	Open	110	Yes	No	No	No	No	6	2 nd day
(10) (10) <th< td=""><td>m</td><td>120</td><td>41</td><td>Uterus</td><td>Laparoscopy</td><td>155</td><td>Yes</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>15</td><td>1st day</td></th<>	m	120	41	Uterus	Laparoscopy	155	Yes	No	No	No	No	15	1 st day
(6) (3) Uterias Letterias <thletterias< td="" th<=""><td>ഹ</td><td>100</td><td>40</td><td>Uterus</td><td>Laparoscopy</td><td>120</td><td>Yes</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>No</td><td>7</td><td>2nd day</td></thletterias<>	ഹ	100	40	Uterus	Laparoscopy	120	Yes	No	No	No	No	7	2 nd day
49 33 Theoary Open 20 Vis No No No 3 71 102 35 Cerxix Open 300 No No No No No No 15 73 13 26 Theoary Open 300 No No No No No 15 74 73 24 140 100 7 No No No No 15 74 74 140 140 140 140 140 140 140 16	9	94	39	Uterus	Laparoscopy	120	Yes	No	No	No	No	8	2 nd day
10 35 Cervix Open 80 No No 15 13 16 The oray Open 80 No No No 16 16 16 16 16 14 14 Uteusy Open 80 No No No No 16 <td>4</td> <td>19 93</td> <td>33</td> <td>The ovary</td> <td>Open</td> <td>120</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>£</td> <td>5th day</td>	4	19 93	33	The ovary	Open	120	Yes	No	No	No	No	£	5 th day
31 61 26 14 mony 0pm 80 <	ഗ	1 102	35	Cervix	Open	300	No	No	No	No	No	15	2 nd day
(4) (3) (1eus) (0eu) (5) (4) (10)	ഹ	3 63	26	The ovary	Open	180	No	Yes	No	No	No	18	3 rd day
91 35 Cervix Open 120 Yes No Yes 5 16 170 80 Uterus Laparoscopy 170 Yes No No No 13 16 170 80 Uterus Laparoscopy 190 Yes No No No 13 16 65 27 The oary Open 180 Yes No No No 10 10 16 65 27 The oary Open 180 Yes No No 10	4	19 78	34	Uterus	Open	55	Yes	No	No	No	No	10	2 nd day
i i	4	06 61	35	Cervix	Open	120	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	5	1 st day
(3) (3) (1) <td>ഹ</td> <td>170</td> <td>80</td> <td>Uterus</td> <td>Laparoscopy</td> <td>170</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>13</td> <td>1st day</td>	ഹ	170	80	Uterus	Laparoscopy	170	Yes	No	No	No	No	13	1 st day
(1) (2) (1) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) <td>9</td> <td>3 85</td> <td>30</td> <td>The ovary</td> <td>Open</td> <td>180</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>20</td> <td>3rd day</td>	9	3 85	30	The ovary	Open	180	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	20	3 rd day
75 60 23 The ovary Japaroscopy 70 75 80 75 80 7 70 17 20 The ovary Open 130 No 75 No 7 71 10 39 Utensy Open 130 No 7 7 71 107 44 Utensy Open 120 Yes No 7 7 72 107 44 Utensy Open 120 Yes No 7 7 73 107 47 107 Yes No 7 7 74 28 The ovary Open 100 Yes No 7 7 74 28 140 200 Yes No 7 7 75 21 The ovary Open 200 Yes No 7 7 76 20 106 7 Yes No	9	65	27	The ovary	Open	280	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	12	2 nd day
8 51 20 The orary 0pen 130 No 7 70 104 39 Uterus 0pen 130 No 7 8 No 7 71 107 44 Uterus 0pen 130 Yes No 7 8 8 7 20 14 Uterus 0pen 120 Yes No 7 8 8 9<	~	5 60	23	The ovary	Laparoscopy	170	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	7	1 st day
70 104 39 Utenus 0pen 100 Ves No 8 71 107 44 Utenus Open 120 Ves No Yes No 6 28 80 30 Theoary Open 240 Yes No Yes No 6 38 45 Cervix Open 240 Yes No Yes No 6 38 55 21 Theovary Open 160 Yes No Yes No 6 38 74 28 Utenus Open 160 Yes No Yes No 7 310 52 21 Utenus Open 160 Yes No Yes No 7 32 149 22 Theovary Open 20 Yes No 7 33 89 35 Utenus Open Yes Yes	30	5 51	20	The ovary	Open	180	No	No	No	Yes	No	7	1 st day
11 107 44 Uteus Open 120 Ves No Ves No 6 28 80 30 Theoxay Open 240 Ves No Ves No 6 41 10 Theoxay Open 240 Ves No Ves No 6 6 55 21 Theoxay Open 160 Ves No No 7 8 7 56 20 Uteus Open 160 Ves No No 7 8 7 51 19 52 Theoxay Open 160 Ves No 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 8 7 8 8 8 <	~	70 104	39	Uterus	Open	180	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	8	1 st day
28 80 30 The wary 0pen 240 4s No 4s No 6 12 98 45 Cervix 0pen 200 Yes No Yes No 6 13 55 21 The ovary 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 12 14 28 56 20 Uterus 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 13 19 52 The ovary 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 13 119 52 The ovary 0pen 240 Yes No Yes No 7 13 64 25 The ovary 0pen 240 Yes No 7 7 14 26 10 Yes No Yes No 7 7 15 89 35 Uterus 0pen 120	ഹ	107	44	Uterus	Open	120	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	9	2 nd day
42 98 45 Cervix Open 200 Yes No Yes No 8 63 55 21 The ovary Open 160 Yes No Yes No 12 58 56 20 Uteus Open 160 Yes No Yes No 12 38 74 28 The ovary Open 160 Yes No Yes No 13 53 119 52 The ovary Open 120 No Yes No 7 7 53 64 26 The ovary Open 120 No Yes No 7 53 89 35 Uteus Open 120 No Yes No 7 54 89 35 Uteus Open 120 No Yes No 7 55 89 31 Uteus Yes	7	80 80	30	The ovary	Open	240	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	9	14 th day
63 55 21 The ovary 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 12 38 56 20 Uterus 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 6 38 74 28 Uterus 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 6 31 119 52 The ovary 0pen 240 Yes No Yes No 7 73 64 26 The ovary 0pen 240 Yes No Yes No 7 73 89 35 Uterus 0pen 20 Yes No 7 8 74 89 35 Uterus 0pen 20 Yes No 7 8 75 85 31 The vary 0pen 20 Yes No 7 7 75 160 65 17 No Ye	4	12 98	45	Cervix	Open	200	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	8	3 rd day
58 56 20 Uterus 70 72 72 20 Uterus 700 72 700 72 700 700 700 700 700 71 73 64 25 The ovary Open 240 Yes No Yes No 7 73 64 26 The ovary Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 74 89 31 The ovary Open 250 Yes No Yes Yes 7 75 85 31 The ovary Open 20	9	3 55	21	The ovary	Open	160	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	12	2 nd day
38 74 28 The ovary 0pen 160 Yes No Yes No 13 63 119 52 The ovary Open 240 Yes Yes No Yes No 7 73 64 26 The ovary Open 240 Yes Yes No 7 7 73 64 26 The ovary Open 120 No Yes No 7 8 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 75 85 31 The ovary Open 360 No No Yes No 7 75 160 62 31 No Yes No 7 7 74 160 62	ഹ	8 56	20	Uterus	Open	160	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	9	1 st day
(3) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) <td>ŝ</td> <td>8 74</td> <td>28</td> <td>The ovary</td> <td>Open</td> <td>160</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>No</td> <td>No</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>No</td> <td>13</td> <td>2nd day</td>	ŝ	8 74	28	The ovary	Open	160	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	13	2 nd day
73 64 26 The ovary 0pen 120 No Yes Yes Yes 8 73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes Yes 8 7 66 65 25 The vulva Open 360 No No Yes Yes 7 52 85 31 The ovary Open 180 Yes No Yes No 7 57 160 62 17 No Yes No Yes No 7 52 98 39 Uterus Den 120 Yes No Yes No 7	9	119	52	The ovary	Open	240	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	7	1 st day
73 89 35 Uterus Open 250 Yes No Yes No 7 66 65 25 The vulva Open 360 No No Yes Yes 7 52 85 31 The ovary Open 180 Yes No Yes Yes 7 57 160 62 The ovary Open 120 Yes No Yes No 17 52 98 39 Uterus Laparoscopy 90 Yes No Yes No 22	~	3 64	26	The ovary	Open	120	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	8	1 st day
66 52 25 The vulva 0pen 360 No Ves Ves Ves 21 52 85 31 The ovary 0pen 180 Yes No Yes No 17 57 160 62 The ovary 0pen 120 Yes No Yes No 17 52 98 39 Uterus Laparoscopy 90 Yes No Yes No 18	~	3 89	35	Uterus	Open	250	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	7	18 th day
52 85 31 The ovary Open 180 Yes No Yes No 70 17 57 160 62 The ovary Open 120 Yes Yes No Yes No 72 52 98 39 Uterus Laparoscopy 90 Yes No Yes No 18	9	65 65	25	The vulva	Open	360	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	21	2 nd day
57 160 62 The ovary Open 120 Yes No Yes No 22 52 98 39 Uterus Laparoscopy 90 Yes No Yes No 18	ഹ	32 85	31	The ovary	Open	180	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	17	3 rd day
52 98 39 Uterus Laparoscopy 90 Yes No Yes Yes No 18	5	7 160	62	The ovary	Open	120	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	22	5 th day
	5	2 98	39	Uterus	Laparoscopy	90	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	18	1 st day

Table 3. Comorbidities and surgery modal	ties			
Variable	VTE group, (n=29)	Non-VTE group, (n=1172)	Total	р
Comorbidities				
None	15 (51.7%)	649 (55.4%)	664 (55.3%)	
1	9 (31.0%)	328 (28.0%)	337 (28.1%)	0 919
≥2	5 (17.2%)	195 (16.6%)	200 (16.7%)	0.515
Hypertension	10 (34.5%)	367 (31.3%)	377 (31.4%)	0.690
Diabetes	4 (13.8%)	129 (11.0%)	133 (11.1%)	0.553
Coronary artery disease	8 (27.6%)	92 (7.8%)	100 (8.3%)	0.002*
Atrial fibrillation	5 (17.2%)	16 (1.4%)	21 (1.7%)	0.001*
Congestive heart failure	4 (13.8%)	23 (2.0%)	27 (2.2%)	0.003*
Hipothroidism	2 (6.9 %)	64 (5.5%)	66 (5.5%)	0.481
Prior VTE history	2 (6.9%)	3 (0.3%)	5 (0.4%)	0.001*
Chronic renal failure	3 (10.3%)	3 (0.3%)	6 (0.5%)	0.001*
Operation duration, >180 minutes	13 (44.8%)	156 (13.3%)	169 (14.1%)	0.001*
Pelvic lymphadenectomy	15 (51.7%)	668 (57.0%)	683 (56.9%)	0.571
Paraaortic lymphadenectomy	13 (44.8%)	329 (28.1%)	339 (28.2%)	0.042*
Pelvic + paraaortic lymphadenectomy	23(79.3%)	674 (57.5%)	697 (58.0%)	0.019*
Type of surgery				
Laparoscopic	6 (20.7%)	179 (15.3%)	185 (15.45%)	0.425
Open	23 (79.3%)	993 (84.7%)	1,016 (84.6%)	0.425
Intensive care unit yes	8 (27.6%)	58 (4.9%)	66 (5.5 %)	0.001*
Sepsis yes	6 (20.7%)	9 (0.8%)	15 (1.2%)	0.001*
Postoperative wound infection	6 (20.7%)	14 (1.2%)	20 (1.7 %)	0.001*
Postoperative renal failure	4 (13.8 %)	6 (0.5 %)	10 (0.8 %)	0.001*
VTE: Venous thromboembolism				

Table 4. Logistic regression analysis of predictive factors of VTE

Pick factors for VTE	Sporman's correlations (r:n)	Logistic regression analysis	
	sperman's correlations (r,p)	OR (95% CI)	p-value
BMI >30	0.001; 0.093	5,357 (1,833-15,654)	0.002*
Operation duration, >180 minutes	0.001; 0.139	5,698 (1,971-16,474)	0.001*
Lymphadenectomy	0.019; 0.068	0.252 (0.068-0.933)	0.039*
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	0.001; 0.415	0.002 (0.001-0.025)	0.001*
Intensive care unit	0.001; 0.152	0.851 (0.851-0.168)	0.845
Smoking	0.001; 0.138	0.217 (0.082- 0.577)	0.002*
Chronic renal failure	0.001; 0.220	0.033 (0.003-0.379)	0.006*
Prior VTE	0.001; 0.158	0.086 (0.002-3.261)	0.186
Coronary artery disease	0.001; 0.110	0.479 (0.118-1.947)	0.304
Atrial fibrillation	0.001; 0.186	0.119 (0.011-1.258)	0.077
Chronic heart failure	0.001; 0.123	0.873 (0.058-13.230)	0.922

VTE: Venous thromboembolism, BMI: Body mass index

received preoperative LMWH and extended dual thromboprophylaxis, and the incidence of VTE was 2.4%.

Race, age, BMI, ascites, comorbidities, major complications, operating hours, upper abdominal surgery, NACT, ovarian cancer, and lymphadenectomy were all recently found to be risk factors for VTE in patients undergoing laparotomy for gynecological cancers with extended

prophylaxis (4). The duration of an operation, disseminated disease, and ovarian cancer were found to be independent risk factors (4). Similarly, we found that chronic renal failure, smoking, lymphadenectomy, NACT, a BMI greater than 30, and operations lasting more than 180 min are all predictors of VTE. Smoking and other primary cancers were among the different risk variables we identified.
The incidence of VTE in gynecologic cancer patients undergoing laparoscopy ranges from 0.5% to 1.2% on average (13). According to Bouchard-Fortier et al. study, only two of 352 individuals receiving laparoscopy for gynecologic cancer without VTE prophylaxis (anticoagulation or compression devices) experienced VTE (14). However, a recent retrospective study found that 11.55% of 355 patients who received gynecological laparoscopic surgery experienced postoperative DVT. This research identified age, hypertension, D-dimer level, surgery duration, intraoperative pneumoperitoneum, and length of hospital stay as significant risk variables (15). We were unable to establish a link between the form of surgery (open versus laparoscopic) and VTE. In this study, 185 patients received dual extended prophylaxis and underwent laparoscopic surgery at a rate of 15.4%. Six (3.2%) were diagnosed with VTE. Five of the six individuals had a BMI greater than 39. Each patient should be evaluated individually because, despite having undergone a laparoscopy, they may still be at risk for VTE for other reasons.

Study Limitations

The study's strengths include its big sample size from a single center where the same gynecologic oncology surgeons worked throughout the research and surgical procedures were standardized. A hospital-based retrospective cohort from a prominent referral hospital in the most populous city is a limitation of this study.

Conclusion

Morbid obesity, prolonged surgery duration, lymphadenectomy, neoadjuvant chemotherapy, smoking, and chronic renal failure were independently associated with the risk of postoperative VTE in patients getting extended dual thromboprophylaxis for gynecological cancer surgery. To obtain the lowest possible incidence of VTE in this population, we propose that all patients undergoing gynecological oncology surgery receive preoperative pharmacologic and postoperative extended dual prophylaxis.

Ethics Committee Approval: The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine approved the study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (approval number: A-51, date: 08.05.2018).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all the subjects.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - H.T., İ.K., U.A., K.H.C., T.B., M.A., F.D.; Concept - H.T., İ.K., F.D.; Design - H.T., İ.K., T.B., M.A., F.D.; Data Collection or Processing - U.A., K.H.C.; Analysis or Interpretation - H.T., U.A., K.H.C., F.D.; Literature Search - H.T., U.A., K.H.C.; Writing - H.T., İ.K., T.B., M.A., F.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-49.
- 2. Ailawadi M, Del Priore G. A comparison of thromboembolic prophylaxis in gynecologic oncology patients. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2001; 11: 354-8.
- Peedicayil A, Weaver A, Li X, Carey E, Cliby W, Mariani A. Incidence and timing of venous thromboembolism after surgery for gynecological cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2011; 121: 64-9.
- Graul A, Latif N, Zhang X, Dean LT, Morgan M, Giuntoli R, et al. Incidence of Venous Thromboembolism by Type of Gynecologic Malignancy and Surgical Modality in the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2017; 27: 581-7.
- Maynard G. Preventing hospital-associated venous thromboembolism: a guide for effective quality improvement, 2nd ed. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; August 2016. AHRQ Publication No. 16-0001-EF.
- 6. Barber EL, Clarke-Pearson DL. Prevention of venous thromboembolism in gynecologic oncology surgery. Gynecol Oncol 2017; 144: 420-7.
- 7. Gould MK, Garcia DA, Wren SM, Karanicolas PJ, Arcelus JI, Heit JA, et al. Prevention of VTE in nonorthopedic surgical patients: Antithrombotic Therapy and Prevention of Thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest 2012; 141: e227S. Erratum in: Chest 2012; 141: 1369.
- 8. Key NS, Khorana AA, Kuderer NM, Bohlke K, Lee AYY, Arcelus JI, et al. Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis and Treatment in Patients With Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 496-520.
- 9. Corr BR, Winter AM, Sammel MD, Chu CS, Gage BF, Hagemann AR. Effectiveness and safety of expanded perioperative thromboprophylaxis in complex gynecologic surgery. Gynecol Oncol 2015; 138: 501-6.
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. BMJ 2007; 335: 806-8.
- 11. Bisch S, Findley R, Ince C, Nardell M, Nelson G. Efficacy of preoperative pharmacologic thromboprophylaxis on incidence of venous thromboembolism following major gynecologic and gynecologic oncology surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2021; 31: 257-64.
- Nguyen JMV, Gien LT, Covens A, Kupets R, Osborne RJ, Sadeghi M, et al. Dual mechanical and pharmacological thromboprophylaxis decreases risk of pulmonary embolus after laparotomy for gynecologic malignancies. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2022; 32: 55-61.
- 13. Nick AM, Schmeler KM, Frumovitz MM, Soliman PT, Spannuth WA, Burzawa JK, et al. Risk of thromboembolic disease in patients undergoing laparoscopic gynecologic surgery. Obstet Gynecol 2010; 116: 956-61.
- 14. Bouchard-Fortier G, Geerts WH, Covens A, Vicus D, Kupets R, Gien LT. Is venous thromboprophylaxis necessary in patients undergoing minimally invasive surgery for a gynecologic malignancy? Gynecol Oncol 2014; 134: 228-32.
- 15. Tian Q, Li M. Risk factors of deep vein thrombosis of lower extremity in patients undergone gynecological laparoscopic surgery: what should we care. BMC Womens Health 2021; 21: 130.

The Role of Three-dimensional Printer Modeling in Preoperative Planning of Brain Tumor and Aneurysm Surgery

🕑 Murat Atar¹, 🕩 Gökhan Gürkan²

¹Sultan 2. Abdülhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey ²İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The three-dimensional (3D) modeling technique, which is one of the latest technologies, has been applied in neurosurgical practice. The surgeon's knowledge and experience are crucial for the success of the surgical treatment of brain tumors and brain aneurysms. This study emphasizes that the contribution to successful surgery is by ensuring that the surgeon is fully oriented before and during the operation.

Methods: The study included five patients with brain tumors and five patients with hemorrhagic aneurysm, which were diagnosed between May 2021 and November 2022. Both patient groups were evaluated retrospectively, and all operations were performed by the same experienced surgeon. 3D models of the patients were prepared using a computer program. These models were examined by the operating surgeon during the preoperative period and were sterilized and used as a guide during the operation.

Results: The patients were divided into two groups, one composed of five patients undergoing surgery with the diagnosis of a tumor and the other composed of five patients undergoing surgery due to a ruptured aneurysm. All operations were performed by the same experienced surgeon. Successful clipping was performed in all patients with ruptured aneurysms.

Conclusion: Surgeons have been analyzing complex neuroanatomy data using the 3D modeling technique before surgery. The preoperative simulation improved the surgeon's command of the field and orientation to the surgery. These findings suggest that 3D modeling will positively affect a successful surgical operation and the management of complications that may occur. More prospective randomized studies are needed to confirm these findings.

Keywords: Three-dimensional printing, aneurysm, intracranial tumor

Introduction

Since its introduction in the 1980s, three-dimensional (3D) printing has birthed a new era of rapid prototyping (1). Realistic 3D modeling has been used in preoperative planning, resident education, and the testing and development of new technologies for endovascular and open surgery for cerebrovascular diseases (2,3).

The use of 3D printing in neurosurgery has led to significant developments. Since the importance of complex surgical anatomy affects surgical success, 3D printing has been applied in clinical practice as an advanced neuroimaging method. This technology has enabled a noninvasive visualization of the patient's pathology and complex neuroanatomical structures for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes (4).

Owing to this technology, complex anatomical structures can be reconstructed from 3D volumes. The physical models created as a simulator can be used for surgical planning by the attending surgeon and for the assistance in education (5).

It is critical to have the necessary anatomical knowledge in surgical planning and to develop a strategy for a successful surgery. Until today, these strategies were made on the basis of cadaver studies and information in neuroanatomy textbooks. The development of 3D modeling technology has created an identical simulation and provided the opportunity to present the surgical anatomy knowledge to the neurosurgeon perfectly. We think that the 3D modeling technique will increase the success of the surgery in the near future and will be used as an important tool in the training of neurosurgeons.

In our clinic, we used 3D printing modeling technique in our patients who underwent surgical procedures for cranial tumors or aneurysms. This study explains in detail the 3D models we used in the preoperative planning phase and our intraoperative experiences for treating these patients.



Address for Correspondence: Gökhan Gürkan, İzmir Katip Çelebi University Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, İzmir, Turkey Received: 04.01.2023 Accepted: 23.04.2023

Phone: +90 232 243 43 43 E-mail: gokhangurkan88@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1839-1014 Cite this article as: Atar M, Gürkan G. The Role of Three-dimensional Printer Modeling in Preoperative Planning of Brain Tumor and Aneurysm Surgery. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 166-71.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Methods

Ten patients who underwent surgery in our clinic with the diagnosis of brain tumor and intracranial aneurysm between May 2021 and November 2022 were included in this study. The contribution of the use of preoperative 3D models during surgery was analyzed retrospectively.

In the neuroanatomy laboratory of our clinic, 3D modeling studies started before May 2021. Developing the modeling technique, optimizing the printing time and low cost targets have emerged because of many years of work and this technology has been put into the service of our patients. Today, this method has been further developed in our clinic and it has started to be applied in complex spine stabilization and spine tumors surgeries. It is aimed to contribute to the literature by sharing our experience in this technology, which we have been working on and developed for many years. This technique continues to be routinely used and developed by the same surgeon who performed these surgeries.

All patients reviewed and signed the informed consent forms in detail. Approval from the İzmir Katip Çelebi University Ethical Committee was granted (approval number: 0598, date: 22.12.2022). Data regarding the demographics of the patients, location of the tumor, symptoms upon admission, pathology results, the duration of the operation, duration of stay, presence of complications, and Karnofsky performance score (KPS) were evaluated.

3D Model Creation

The computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) data were obtained in Digital Images and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) format, enabling the formation of an interface between devices in favor of creating a solid model. The RadiAnt DICOM Viewer (Medixant, Poznan) application was used to differentiate between the tumoral tissue, skull base, and vascular neuroanatomy. The data of the tumoral tissue, skull base, and vascular structures were converted into a 3D model and exported as ".stl" files. 3D STL models were obtained from the Radiant DICOM Viewer and meshed again using the Meshmixer[™] (Autodesk, San Rafael, U.S.A.) software. The models prepared for 3D printing were exported and sliced using the Cura (Ultimaker, Geldermalsen, The Netherlands) software and then the Gcodes were created (Figure 1) (6).

The PLA filament of 2.85 millimeters was used during the printing process in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations. The process settings were standardized as follows: extruder temperature at 215 °C, room temperature at 24 °C, primary layer height of 0.1 mm, and filling rate of 20%. The 3D models were printed on a 1:1 scale (7).

The skull base model and 3D tumor model were created separately in different sessions. Thin section (0.3 mm) brain tomography data were used for modeling the skull base, whereas the thin section (0.5 mm) cranial MRI data were used to print the tumor tissue. The 3D tumor model was adhered to the skull base model using a special model glue and the tumor model was colored with special model paints.

Brain aneurysm 3D models were prepared in a single session using thin section (0.3 mm) cranial CT angiography data, and then the vascular structures were colored using special model paints.

A professional photography studio was created to obtain high-quality 3D images of each 3D model by combining multiple focus images using Canon EOS 2000D (Tokyo, Japan).

Thin section tomography data are used in the printing of bone tissue and vascular structures while creating the 3D model. Thin section t2 flair MRI sequence data are used for printing tissues such as tumors. The required print quality could not be achieved in non-thin section tomography and t2 flair MRI sequence data. It is technically possible to model every patient whose necessary data can be obtained. The main difficulty is that the entire modeling cannot be done in a single print. The necessary data must be printed separately and then joined with suitable adhesives. The aim of all this 3D modeling technique is to increase the surgical neuroanatomical orientation of the neurosurgeon and to reduce the complications that may develop.

Preoperative planning was performed based on the patient's history and imaging, individualized 3D printed tumor, skull base, and vascular neuroanatomy models. The models were sterilized and taken to the operation theater for intraoperative navigational purposes. After the operations were performed, the material quality, potential benefits on the preoperative planning, impact on the prediction of complications, and usefulness for the educational purposes of the 3D printed models were evaluated.

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences Version 22.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) software was used for statistical analysis. The mean, median, and standard deviation values were also obtained.



Figure 1. Screen images from computer programs used for 3D aneurysm modeling of a patient with acom aneurysm

Results

Five patients with a diagnosis of brain tumor and five patients with a bleeding aneurysm were included in our study. 3D models of all patients were prepared in the preoperative period, and the surgeon had the opportunity to work on 3D models in the neuroanatomy laboratory before surgery (Figures 2-4). Both patient groups were evaluated within themselves.



Figure 2. Aneurysm 3D model and training under a surgical microscope in a neuroanatomy laboratory



Figure 3. Presentation of the created 3D model of the patient with a retroorbital tumor with intraoperative image

Tumor Group (Table 1)

The mean age of five patients was 57.2±24.47 (range 22-84), in which 40 % (n=2) of the patients were female and 60% (n=3) male. The mean duration of hospital stay was 7.8±0.83 days. The presenting symptoms were headache (40%), dizziness (20%), hearing loss (20%), and vomiting (20%). Three patients had tumors in the posterior fossa. The other patients' tumors were located on the anterior skull base. Three patients (60%) underwent total resection, one patient gross total resection (20%), and one patient (20%) subtotal resection. The mean duration of operation was 202±35.63 minutes. The pathology results were as follows: two (40%) meningiomas, one (20%) hemangioblastoma, one (20%) neuroendocrine metastasis, and one (20%) schwannoma. One patient experienced temporary oculomotor paralysis and was treated with I.V. steroids for 7 days. The patient also received additional oral steroid treatment after discharge. The mean postoperative KPS was 88±16.43. The KPS of the patients at the time of discharge was as follows: 100 (40%, n=2), 90 (40%, n=2), and 60 (20%, n=1).

Ruptured Aneurysm Group (Table 2)

The mean age of five patients was 46 ± 15.08 . 40% (n=2) of the patients were female and 60% (n=3) male. All patients had high bleeding stages and were in a severe coma, and their Glasgow Coma scale (GCS) were below 8. The mean GCS was 6.2 ± 1.48 . Four patients (80%) had Fisher grade 4/Yasargil grade 4, whereas one patient (20%) had Fisher grade 3/ Yasargil grade 5. While the aneurysm localization of three patients (60%) was in the middle cerebral artery, two patients (40%) were in the anterior communicating artery. The mean size of the aneurysm was 11.9 ± 5.89 mm, and 4 patients (80%) had intraparenchymal hematomas opening into the ventricle. The mean hematoma volumes were 28.59 ± 18.4 cc. The mean midline shift in the patient' brain tomography was 7.66 ±4.49



Figure 4. Preoperative 3D model of a patient with vestibular Schwannoma who underwent cerebellopontine angle tumor surgery

mm. Decompressive craniotomy, external ventricular drainage, and clipping were successfully performed in all patients. The mean duration of operation was 188 ± 19.23 minutes. One patient was discharged with a KPS of 90. Severe vasospasm developed in four patients postoperatively. While three patients died, one patient was discharged with a KPS of 20 in a vegetative state. In the high-stage ruptured aneurysm group, the mean hospital stay was 20.6 ± 14.94 days.

segment aneurysms. They performed anterior clinoid drilling on the model preoperatively and considered it beneficial for surgical training (8). We also performed drilling studies on the models we created in our study and observed the benefits of these drills for resident training. Particularly in the 3D model of our patient with a retro-orbital mass lesion, the relationship of the tumor with the superior orbital fissure positively affected the planning of our surgical strategy.

Discussion

Okonogi et al. (8) created 3D-printed anterior clinoidectomy models in patients with sphenoid wing meningiomas and giant ophthalmic Oishi et al. (9) simulated deep intracranial tumors (meningioma, schwannoma, epidermoid tumor, etc.) in 12 patients in a 3D virtual environment. They then decided on surgical strategies by creating 3D

Table 1. Demographic data, as w	ell as location and	pathology of	the tumors and co	mplications are s	hown on the table
radie in Dennegraphie data, as in		pa	the tantors and co		

No	1	2	3	4	5
Age	84	22	48	76	56
Gender	Male	Female	Female	Male	Male
Radiology	Cerebellum	Cerebellopontine	Retro-orbital	Cerebellum	Olfactory groove
Size (mm)	55*56*44	40*35*30	20*12*15	40*41*35	25*30*19
Symptom	Dizziness	Hearing loss	Headache	Vomitting	Headache
Sign	Neurological deficit	Neurological deficit	Exophthalmus	Neurological deficit	None
Surgery	Total resection	Subtotal resection	Total resection	Gross total resection	Total resection
Surgery time (min)	230	210	170	240	160
Pathology	Meningioma	Schwannoma	Hemangioblastoma	Neuroendocrine metastasis	Meningioma
Complication	None	None	Temporary oculomotor paralysis	None	None
Hospital stay (day)	7	9	8	8	7
Preoperative KPS	100	90	100	70	100
KPS on discharge	100	90	90	60	100

KPS: Karnofsky performance score; min: Minimum

Table 2. Demographic and morphological data, as well as complications of the aneurysm surgery are shown on the table

No	1	2	3	4	5
Age	54	51	23	62	40
Gender	Male	Male	Female	Female	Male
Aneurysm	MCA	Acom	Acom	MCA	MCA
Size (mm)	15	12	6,5	6	20
Parenchymal hemorrhage size (mm)	20*20*25	40*45*29	none	42*60*39	49*41*34
Shift (mm)	3,5	8,6	2,5	12,5	11,2
Intraventricular hemorrhage	+	+	-	+	+
SAH	Fischer grade 4 Yaşargil grade 4	Fischer grade 4 Yaşargil grade 4	Fischer grade 3 Yaşargil grade 5	Fischer grade 4 Yaşargil grade 4	Fischer grade 4 Yaşargil grade 4
GCS	6	7	4	8	6
Surgery	Decompressive craniotomy + succesfully clipping	Decompressive craniotomy + succesfully clipping	Decompressive craniotomy + succesfully clipping	Decompressive craniotomy + succesfully clipping	Decompressive craniotomy + succesfully clipping
Surgery time (min)	200	180	190	210	160
Complication	Vasospasm	None	Vasospasm	Vasospasm	Vasospasm
Hospital stay (day)	16	15	10	15	47
Outcome	Exitus	Dischargered	Exitus	Exitus	Dischargered
KPS on discharge	-	90	-	-	20

MCA: Middle cerebral artery; KPS: Karnofsky performance score; GCS: Glasgow Coma scale; SAH: Subarachnoid haemorrhage

anatomical models. In our study, we created surgical strategies based on such models.

Lan et al. (10) created preoperative 3D models for aneurysms and highly vascular tumors. They discussed the optimal preoperative surgical approach and the relationship of the aneurysm or tumor with the calvarium. They emphasized that young neurosurgeons would benefit from models, especially in cases with complex anatomy (10). In our study, 3D models of the aneurysms positively affected the surgical strategy. Aneurysm clipping was successful in all our aneurysm patients. It was observed that working on the 3D model contributed to the success of the surgery.

Van de Belt et al. (11) used 3D-printed models of glial tumors to provide sufficient information to the patients. They stated that the patients had a better understanding of their diseases with the help of 3D printed models. It was also noted that the patients were more confident in deciding on the treatment options offered to them (11). In our study, the 3D printed models were presented to patients and their relatives and were used to guide them while explaining the treatment of the disease.

Lin et al. (12) created a 3D model of two patients with a sellar tumor and one patient with acoustic neurinoma and compared the shape of the tumors intraoperatively. The relationship of the tumor with the sphenoid sinus, hypophyseal fossa, cerebellopontine angle, and main arteries is presented in 3D printed models. They emphasized the potential benefits of 3D modeling in neurosurgery education, while stating that cranial nerves would not be suitable for modeling (12). In our study, the nerve modeling of a patient with a corner tumor could not be performed clearly in 3D modeling, but the complex anatomy of the tumor in brainstem localization was clearly demonstrated. The 3D model has clearly made a positive contribution to the surgical treatment of the patient's surgery and resident education.

Damon explained in detail the 3D modeling of tumors and the printing technique (13). We successfully applied this technique in our study.

Thawani et al. (14) showed a relationship between low-grade glial tumors and white matter fibers on a 3D model. However, we did not perform white matter modeling in this study.

In another study, Thawani et al. (3) modeled arteriovenous malformations (AVM), feeding arteries, and drainage veins by printing them separately preoperatively. However, only aneurysm models were created in our study.

Weinstock et al. (15) produced monochrome models for patient and resident education. Uzunoglu et al. (7) emphasized the positive contribution of preoperative 3D models for successful surgery in 15 patients operated for an AVM.

Anderson et al. (16) created 3D models of ten aneurysms and compared the aneurysm diameter measurements with those measured by digital subtraction angiography (DSA), indicating no significant difference. Kondo et al. (17) analyzed the length, thickness, and diameter of the aneurysm on 22 aneurysm models and found no significant difference. Mashiko et al. (18) evaluated DSA and intraoperative appearance on 3D models of 20 aneurysms. They reported that the modeling was realistic and consistent. Namba et al. (19) compared 3D models of ten aneurysms with DSA and reported no inconsistencies. Furthermore, Wurm et al. (20) compared 13 aneurysm models intraoperatively and reported no inconsistencies.

It will take time for new technologies and developed techniques to be accepted in the medical field. New materials and different techniques continue to be introduced about the 3D modeling technique. As limits continue to be exceeded, 3D modeling may become routine in clinical use. To now, experience needs to be accumulated and developed to meet the high expectations in the field of neurosurgery (21).

All these studies suggest that 3D modeling is a safe technique and is anatomically consistent with reality. When we evaluated the radiologic measurements and intraoperative observations of our patients in our study, we observed that the 3D models we created were exactly compatible with actual pathology and showed no inconsistencies.

Study Limitations

Desired quality could not be achieved in the modeling of patients with CT and MRI sections over 1 cm. Therefore, these patients were excluded from the study.

Conclusion

Surgeons have been analyzing complex neuroanatomy data in detail with the use of 3D modeling before surgery. The preoperative simulation improved the surgeon's command of the field and their orientation to the surgery. Particularly in brain stem localization and during operations, in which the surgeon encounters technical challenges, such as clipping of a bleeding aneurysm, the benefit of 3D models has been confirmed. The difficulty in clipping a ruptured aneurysm accompanied by increased intracranial pressure, hematoma, and extensive subarachnoid hemorrhage, termed as angry brain, was overcome with improved orientation to the surgical field conferred by 3D models. Successful clipping was achieved in all patients. All these findings suggest that the use of preoperatively designed 3D models can result in a successful surgical operation and facilitate the management of complications that may occur.

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval from the İzmir Katip Çelebi University Ethical Committee was granted (approval number: 0598, date: 22.12.2022).

Informed Consent: All patients reviewed and signed the informed consent forms in detail.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.A., G.G.; Concept: M.A.; Design: G.G.; Data Collection or Processing: M.A., G.G.; Analysis or Interpretation: M.A.; Literature Search: G.G.; Writing: G.G.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Liew Y, Beveridge E, Demetriades AK, Hughes MA. 3D printing of patientspecific anatomy: A tool to improve patient consent and enhance imaging interpretation by trainees. Br J Neurosurg 2015; 29: 712-4.
- Dong M, Chen G, Li J, Qin K, Ding X, Peng C, et al. Three-dimensional brain arteriovenous malformation models for clinical use and resident training. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e9516.
- Thawani JP, Pisapia JM, Singh N, Petrov D, Schuster JM, Hurst RW, et al. Three-Dimensional Printed Modeling of an Arteriovenous Malformation Including Blood Flow. World Neurosurg 2016; 90: 675-83.
- Klein GT, Lu Y, Wang MY. 3D printing and neurosurgery--ready for prime time? World Neurosurg 2013; 80: 233-5.
- Tai BL, Rooney D, Stephenson F, Liao PS, Sagher O, Shih AJ, et al. Development of a 3D-printed external ventricular drain placement simulator: technical note. J Neurosurg 2015; 123: 1070-6.
- Kalemci O, Kizmazoglu C, Coskun E, Husemoglu RB, Atar M, Istan GK, et al. Individualized intracranial tumor models created 3D printer, an early clinical experience. Journal Med Inv Tech 2020; 2: 97-102.
- Uzunoglu I, Kızmazoglu C, Husemoglu RB, Gurkan G, Uzunoglu C, Atar M, et al. Three-Dimensional Printing Assisted Preoperative Surgical Planning for Cerebral Arteriovenous Malformation. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 2021; 64: 882-90.
- Okonogi S, Kondo K, Harada N, Masuda H, Nemoto M, Sugo N. Operative simulation of anterior clinoidectomy using a rapid prototyping model molded by a three-dimensional printer. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2017; 159: 1619-26.
- Oishi M, Fukuda M, Yajima N, Yoshida K, Takahashi M, Hiraishi T, et al. Interactive presurgical simulation applying advanced 3D imaging and modeling techniques for skull base and deep tumors. J Neurosurg 2013; 119: 94-105.
- Lan Q, Chen A, Zhang T, Li G, Zhu Q, Fan X, et al. Development of Three-Dimensional Printed Craniocerebral Models for Simulated Neurosurgery. World Neurosurg 2016; 91: 434-42.
- 11. Van de Belt TH, Nijmeijer H, Grim D, Engelen LJLPG, Vreeken R, van Gelder MMHJ, et al. Patient-Specific Actual-Size Three-Dimensional Printed Models

for Patient Education in Glioma Treatment: First Experiences. World Neurosurg 2018; 117: e99-105.

- Lin J, Zhou Z, Guan J, Zhu Y, Liu Y, Yang Z, et al. Using Three-Dimensional Printing to Create Individualized Cranial Nerve Models for Skull Base Tumor Surgery. World Neurosurg 2018; 120: e142-52.
- Damon A, Clifton W, Valero-Moreno F, Quinones-Hinojosa A. Cost-Effective Method for 3-Dimensional Printing Dynamic Multiobject and Patient-Specific Brain Tumor Models: Technical Note. World Neurosurg 2020; 140: 173-9.
- Thawani JP, Singh N, Pisapia JM, Abdullah KG, Parker D, Pukenas BA, et al. Three-Dimensional Printed Modeling of Diffuse Low-Grade Gliomas and Associated White Matter Tract Anatomy. Neurosurgery 2017; 80: 635-45.
- Weinstock P, Prabhu SP, Flynn K, Orbach DB, Smith E. Optimizing cerebrovascular surgical and endovascular procedures in children via personalized 3D printing. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2015; 16: 584-9.
- Anderson JR, Thompson WL, Alkattan AK, Diaz O, Klucznik R, Zhang YJ, et al. Three-dimensional printing of anatomically accurate, patient specific intracranial aneurysm models. J Neurointerv Surg 2016; 8: 517-20.
- Kondo K, Nemoto M, Masuda H, Okonogi S, Nomoto J, Harada N, et al. Anatomical Reproducibility of a Head Model Molded by a Three-dimensional Printer. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 2015; 55: 592-8.
- Mashiko T, Otani K, Kawano R, Konno T, Kaneko N, Ito Y, et al. Development of three-dimensional hollow elastic model for cerebral aneurysm clipping simulation enabling rapid and low cost prototyping. World Neurosurg 2015; 83: 351-61.
- Namba K, Higaki A, Kaneko N, Mashiko T, Nemoto S, Watanabe E. Microcatheter Shaping for Intracranial Aneurysm Coiling Using the 3-Dimensional Printing Rapid Prototyping Technology: Preliminary Result in the First 10 Consecutive Cases. World Neurosurg 2015; 84: 178-86.
- Wurm G, Tomancok B, Pogady P, Holl K, Trenkler J. Cerebrovascular stereolithographic biomodeling for aneurysm surgery. Technical note. J Neurosurg 2004; 100: 139-45.
- Pucci JU, Christophe BR, Sisti JA, Connolly ES Jr. Three-dimensional printing: technologies, applications, and limitations in neurosurgery. Biotechnol Adv 2017; 35: 521-9.

Factors Affecting Surgical Outcomes in Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: A Retrospective Study

Erhan Çelikoğlu¹, Hüseyin Demir²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: To determine the factors that may affect surgical outcomes in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM) by evaluating consecutive patients at our institution.

Methods: Medical charts of the patients were reviewed retrospectively between 2012 and 2019. The modified Japanese Orthopedic Association scale and the postoperative functional recovery (PFR) rate were used to assess the clinical outcomes and benefits of surgical intervention. Demographics, clinical presentations, radiological variables, and surgical techniques were evaluated.

Results: A total of 98 patients with CSM with a mean age of 55.4 ± 10.7 years were included. Fifty (51.0%) patients were male. A good preoperative functional status (p=0.001, R₂=0.22), female sex (p=0.008, R₂=0.07), short preoperative period (p=0.007, R₂=0.074), and dynamic compression on more than one dynamic magnetic resonance imaging phase (p=0.001, R₂=0.115) were associated with good surgical outcomes and a higher PFR rate. No significant differences were found in the PFR rate and the complications among all surgical approaches (p>0.05).

Conclusion: Demographic, clinical, and radiological factors, such as sex, preoperative functional status, preoperative clinical course, and number of dynamic compression phases, can impact surgical outcomes in CSM. Early diagnosis is very critical and extremely important in reducing persistent neurological deficits associated with CSM. We recommend early surgical intervention for patients with CSM to obtain good surgical outcomes.

Keywords: Cervical spine, myelopathy, spondylosis, corpectomy, stabilization

Introduction

Cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM) is the most common cause of spinal cord injury in the advanced age population that leads to spinal cord dysfunction (1). Joint-related spinal cord compression develops later, as ligament hypertrophy often happens gradually. Patients who present with severe myelopathy are indicated for surgical intervention to prevent clinical worsening (2). Spinal cord deformations caused by CSM are treated either anteriorly or posteriorly or by two-stage combined surgery. The anterior approach includes discectomy and/or corpectomy with fusion, which can be performed more easily to relieve compression on the spinal cord caused by herniations, osteophytes, and hypertrophic ligaments. The posterior approach typically includes foraminotomy, laminectomy, fusion with laminectomy, and laminoplasty.

Although some evidence indicates that most patients with CSM recover after surgery, the basic clinical and imaging factors that predict surgical outcome have not been established (3). Pre-surgical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may predict postoperative functional recovery levels in CSM. Age, duration of symptoms, and baseline score for the modified Japanese Orthopedic Association (mJOA) scale appear to correlate with postoperative functional scores. A recent systematic analysis identified important limitations in the current medical literature that prevent formal recommendations regarding the use of prognostic factors in treatment algorithms (4). The main limitations were that the mJOA scale is not used and the disregard of factors that confuse the functional status when evaluating patients prospectively.

In this retrospective study, we determined the factors that may affect the surgical outcomes of patients with CSM by evaluating 98 patients consecutively operated at our institution.

Methods

The medical charts of patients with CSM operated consecutively at our institution between 2012 and 2019 were reviewed retrospectively. Demographics, clinical presentations, radiological variables, and surgical techniques were evaluated. Our study was approved by the Clinical

Received: 03.04.2022

Accepted: 24.04.2023



Address for Correspondence: Hüseyin Demir MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 507 820 02 37 E-mail: hdemirrr@outlook.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5263-2793

Cite this article as: Celikoğlu E, Demir H. Factors Affecting Surgical Outcomes in Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: A Retrospective Study. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 172-80.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Research Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital under a decision number (approval number: 2020/3).

Verbal and written consent were obtained from all patients who agreed to participate in this study.

Study Population and Criteria

The inclusion criteria of the study were age 18 years or older, symptomatic CSM with at least one clinical sign of myelopathy, imaging compatible with cervical cord compression, and no previous cervical spine surgery. The exclusion criteria were being asymptomatic, having an active infection, neoplastic disease, rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, and concomitant symptomatic lumbar stenosis. In addition, patients lost to follow-up were excluded from the study. The surgical criteria were persistent or recurrent radiculopathy, progressive neurological deficit, and static neurological deficit with severe radicular pain (5).

Out of 107 patients screened, 9 were excluded. Of these 9 patients, 2 were asymptomatic, 2 had symptomatic lumbar spinal stenosis, and 5 were lost to follow-up. The final analysis evaluated the data of 98 patients.

Clinical Evaluation

Clinical evaluation was conducted for patients suffering various symptoms, such as gait disturbance, bilateral upper extremity paresthesia, Lhermitte phenomenon, pyramidal motor deficits, hand muscle atrophy, positive Hoffman's sign, stable basal skin reflex plantar responses, lower extremity spasticity, and broad-based unsteady gait that were supported by radiological evidence of compression on the spinal cord in the cervical region.

Clinical variables that were investigated for prognosis included age, sex, symptom duration (preoperative clinical course), and initial functional status (preop mJOA). The mJOA scale and postoperative functional recovery (PFR) rate were used to evaluate the clinical outcomes and the benefits of surgical intervention (6).

Imaging Analysis

Imaging analysis was performed by two neuroradiologists with standard 300% magnification Sante DICOM Viewer Pro v. made using 11.7.3 64-bit software. After a reasonable interval, the two neuroradiologists repeated the measurements, following the same protocol and using the same computer unit and software.

MRIs were analyzed based on three parameters: 1) the cross-sectional area at the maximum compression level of the spinal cord; 2) the spinal cord signal intensity on the T1- and T2-weighted MRI sequences; and 3) the number of compression levels.

Sagittal plane alignment was calculated using the Harisson posterior tangent method on standing scoliosis (whole spine) radiographs that were taken from 3 feet (~90 cm) distance. The alignment was measured by finding the angulation created by intersecting the tangents drawn between the posterior edges of both C2 and C7 bodies (7) (Figure 1). The patients were divided into two groups according to the spinal cord cross-

sectional area on the axial sequences based on cut-off values reported previously (0.76 cm²) (8-10). The surface measurement at the narrowest level of the spinal cord at the maximum compression level (in cm²) was obtained on axial T2-weighted sequences (Figure 2).

Functional Evaluation

The preoperative and 12th postoperative month evaluations were performed using the mJOA functional disability scale. The PFR rate was calculated using the pre- and postoperative mJOA scores via the formula by Hirabayashi et al. (11):

PFR rate = [postoperative mJOA - preoperative mJOA/Normal value (18) - preoperative mJOA] ×100.

The postoperative functional evaluation was conducted at 12-month intervals, to allow the optimum time for recovery after CSM therapy (12,13).

Surgery

Surgical decompression of the cervical spine was performed in all patients. The suitable approach, number of cervical levels to be treated,



Figure 1. Diagram of Harrison's posterior tangent method



Figure 2. Axial section area measurement using 64-bit Sante DICOM Viewer Pro v. 11.7.3 software

and fixation option were decided according to the CSM treatment algorithms. Three approaches were applied, namely, anterior, posterior, or combined approaches.

The anterior approach included discectomy and/or corpectomy with fusion. In the anterior cervical approach, anterior discectomy is performed up to three levels to remove the disks or osteophytes pressing on the spinal cord to relieve compression on the spinal cord. Then, a graft for interbody fusion is placed in the disk space (2,14). This technique has become a preferred method since it limits the defect by removing less bony structures (14,15).

The posterior approach included laminectomy, fusion with laminectomy, and laminoplasty. To reduce post-laminectomy kyphosis, laminectomy alone is no longer performed in treating CSM. Fusion with laminectomy includes posterior decompression and stabilization, which prevents kyphosis and instability in the late postoperative period. In stabilization, fusion to the facet joint space should be planned with instrumentation. Laminoplasty is performed to prevent the development of postoperative kyphosis and to maintain neck movement.

Postoperative Course

The patients that postoperatively showed no recovery or improvement were reassessed to rule out the non-spondylotic causes of myelopathy (16). Straight and dynamic cervical radiographs, computed tomography (CT) images, and MRI with axial, coronal, and sagittal sequences were thus obtained.

Statistical Analysis

All variables with normal distributions were analyzed using descriptive statistics. The relationships among continuous variables were evaluated using Spearman's correlation and univariate linear regression analysis. The t-test was used when a variable was continuous, while the other was categorical. For categorical data, the chi-square test was used.

The Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyze the relationship between categorized variables and changes in postoperative score and recovery rate since these scores did not follow the Gaussian distribution. Values were reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean.

A multiple linear regression model was calculated using forward stepwise regression. Univariate analysis was performed to identify statistically and clinically significant variables for evaluation in exploratory data analysis. SPSS version 21 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis, and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

For statistical comparisons, the patients were divided into two age groups (\geq 65 years and <65 years), and the preoperative clinical course was accepted as short if the duration of symptoms \leq 12 months and long (chronic) if it >12 months (17). The study analyzed a relatively small sample size, and were data obtained from a single center. All cut-off values were obtained from larger data sets reported in the literature.

Results

The demographic, clinical, and radiological characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table 1. Seventy patients underwent an

Table 1. Patient demographics and clinical varian investigated patients	ables of the
Demographics and clinical variables	Patients (%)
Preoperative clinical course (months)	16.4±12.9
Age (years)	55.4±10.7
<65	79 (80.6%)
≥65	19 (19.4%)
Sex	
Male	50 (51.0%)
Female	48 (49.0%)
Severity of CSM (mJOA scores)	
Mild (mJOA >15)	48% (47)
Moderate (mJOA 12-14)	39.8% (39)
Severe (mJOA <12)	12.2% (12)
Cross-sectional area of the spinal cord (mean \pm SD)	0.76±0.022
<0.76 cm ²	49% (48)
≥0.76 cm ²	51% (50)
Anatomical level of stenosis	
(2-(3)	5% (5)
C3-C4	32% (32)
C4-C5	66% (65)
C5-C6	87% (86)
C6-C7	53% (52)
Number of segments with spinal compression	
1	5% (5)
2	49% (48)
≥3	46% (45)
Myelopathic etiologies	
OPLL	31% (30)
Spondylosis	75% (73)
Calcified disk herniation	33% (33)
Hypertrophic ligamentum flavum	25% (25)
Subluxation	5% (5)
The number of myelopathy etiology number	224/ (22)
	33% (33)
2	59% (57)
>3	8% (8)
	2(0/ (25)
LOTGOSIS	30% (35) 51% (50)
Kunhasis	51% (50)
	15% (15)
	62% (61)
	38% (37)
Surgical annroach	50/0 (57)
Anterior	72% (70)
Posterior	21% (21)
Combined	7% (7)
mIOA: modified Japanese Orthopedic Association	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,

anterior decompressive approach (discectomy, corpectomy, and fusion instrumentation), 21 underwent a posterior decompressive approach (laminectomy and fusion with posterior instrumentation), and 7 underwent a combined approach. In all cases, the spinal cord was confirmed to be sufficiently decompressed on CTs conducted in the early postoperative period and assessed by two experienced neuroradiologists. No patients were reoperated due to insufficient decompression.

Postoperative Complications

Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) fistula was reported in 4 patients (3 posterior approach, 1 anterior approach), which was treated with primary suture fibrin sealants (17). No patient was reoperated for the CSF fistula. Unilateral C5 paralysis occurred in two patients. One patient underwent a posterior approach, and the paralysis manifested late, on the 15th postoperative day. The symptoms completely resolved with conservative treatment. The second patient underwent an anterior approach, and the paralysis was identified early. Unfortunately, the patient did not improve. Anterior displacement of the graft and plate-screw system was observed in the early control radiographs of three patients who underwent an anterior approach. Both cases were followed closely, and,

eventually, fusion occurred without any malalignment. Salivary fistula related to esophageal perforation occurred in one patient. Oral feeding was stopped, and the symptoms resolved after 20 days.

Factors Affecting the Preoperative mJOA Score

The results of the univariate analysis of the relationship between the aforementioned demographic, clinical, and radiological characteristics of the patients and their preoperative mJOA scores are presented in Table 2.

Age: The preoperative mean mJOA score of patients >65 years old was 14.32 ± 0.19 , whereas those >65 years old was 12.68 ± 0.50 . The younger patient group showed better functional status, and the relationship between the preoperative mJOA score and age group was significant (p=0.001).

Symptom duration: The mean preoperative mJOA score of patients with a short preoperative clinical course (symptom duration <12 months) was 14.39 \pm 0.23, whereas that of patients with chronic symptoms (symptom duration >12 months) was 13.3 \pm 0.31. As the symptom duration increased, the mJOA score worsened (p=0.007).

Table 2. Factors affecting the preoperative modified Japanese Orthopedic Association score						
	Mean preoperative mJOA score	95% CI	р	R ²		
Age group			0,0011*	0,118		
<65	14,32	13.9-14.7				
>65	12.68	11.6-13.7				
Sex			0.0242*	0.052		
Male	14.44	14.0-14.88				
Female	13.58	12.98-14.18				
Duration of symptoms			0.007*	0.073		
<12 months	14.39	13.93-14.84				
>12 months	13.33	12.70-13.97				
MRI signal properties			0.0261	0.005		
Normal T1/normal T2	14.75	13.64-15.86				
Normal T1/hyperintense T2	13.78	10.89-15.91				
Hypointense T1/hyperintense T2	13.40	11.78-15.78				
Cross-sectional area of the spinal cord (cm ²)			0.117	0.025		
<0.76 cm ²	13.75	13.14-14.36				
>0.76 cm ²	14.24	13.36-14.75				
Number of segments with spinal compression			0.007*	0.072		
1	13.00	10.68-15.32				
2	14.81	14.43-15.20				
>3	13.24	11.19-15.29				
Cervical alignment			0.881	0.00		
Lordosis	13.71					
Neutral	14.12					
Kyphosis	14.31					
Dynamic pressure			0.827	0.001		
Present	13.97	13.51-14.42				
Absent	14.05	13.36-14.75				
	6 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1					

mJOA: modified Japanese Orthopedic Association, CI: Confidence interval, MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging, PFR: Postoperative functional recovery

Sex: The average preoperative mJOA value for women in the study group was 14.4 \pm 0.22, whereas for men it was 13.6 \pm 0.3. Although no difference was found between the sexes in terms of symptom duration (p=0.567) and age grouping (p=0.504), a significant difference was found in preoperative mJOA scores (p=0.029). The preoperative functional neurological status of the male sex was significantly better.

MRI signal properties: The preoperative mJOA scores of patients with MRI signal changes were significantly lower than those with normal T1 and T2 signal intensity (p=0.026).

Several compression segments: The mJOA score was found to be significantly lower in the group with compression in 3 or more segments (p=0.007). No significant difference was found compared to 1 or 2 compression groups in terms of mJOA scores.

Other variables: Significant relationships of the cross-sectional surface measurements of the spinal cord (p=0.117), presence of dynamic pressure (p=0.827), and cervical sagittal alignment characteristics (p=0.881) with preoperative mJOA score were not observed.

Factors Affecting the Postoperative Functional Outcomes (PFR rates)

Preoperative functional status: A highly significant relationship was observed between the preoperative mJOA score groups and the degree of postoperative functional improvement (p=0.000, $R^2=0.22$). Patients with a higher mJOA (i.e., good preoperative functional status) had better surgical outcomes.

Age: No significant relationship was found between age and the PFR rate (p=0.153, $R^2=0.021$). The PFR rate was higher (69.3% vs. 59.9%) in the younger group (<65 years) than in the older group (\geq 65 years). However, the difference was not significant.

Sex: A significant difference was found between the sexes in terms of functional improvement. The postoperative recovery rate of the female sex was better (p=0.008 and $R^2=0.07$).

The duration of symptoms: Patients presenting with signs and symptoms for a shorter period (<12 months) had higher PFR values (p=0.007, $R^2=0.074$).

Dynamic compression: According to the classification system defined previously using cervical dynamic MRI, the PFR rates of the cases with one or more phase changes in the compression phase were significantly higher (p=0.001, R²=0.115).

Other variables: No significant statistical relationship was found between the spinal cord cross-sectional area, MRI signal characteristics, the number of segments with compression, cervical alignment, or surgical approach with the degree of functional improvement. No significant correlation was found between cervical sagittal alignment and functional status before (p=0.881, R²=0.00) or after surgery (p=0.185, R²=0.021) (Table 3).

Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to predict the PFR rate according to the preoperative mJOA score and the presence of dynamic compression. A high preoperative mJOA score (>15), with the presence of dynamic compression, was identified as a significant predictor of the PFR rate. The two variables accounted for 28% of the variance in the PFR

rate. Both variables can thus separately predict the PFR rate (p<0.05). The predictive values of a high mJOA score and the presence of dynamic compression were β =0.42 and β =0.32, respectively.

Factors Affecting the Change in mJOA Scores

Preoperative functional status: A significant statistical relationship was observed between the preoperative mJOA score and change in mJOA (Δ mJOA) score or PFR (p=0.000, R²=0.217). The Δ mJOA is higher in patients with a lower preoperative mJOA score (Table 4).

Age: The Δ mJOA was higher in the older (\geq 65 years) group, and the difference between the age groups was statistically significant (p=0.042, R²=0.042).

Several compression segments: The Δ mJOA in the group with three or more compression segments was significantly higher (p=0.000, R²=0.078).

Dynamic compression: In the presence of dynamic compression, the difference in the mJOA score between the pre- and postoperative periods were significantly higher in the group with dynamic compression than in the group without (p=0.000, R²=0.163).

The type of surgical approach: According to the type of surgical approach, the improvement in mJOA score was significantly higher in those who underwent a posterior or combined approach than in those who underwent an anterior approach alone (p=0.000, $R^2=0.167$).

Other variables: The effect of sex, symptom duration, MRI signal characteristics, spinal cord cross-sectional area, and cervical sagittal alignment on Δ mJOA could not be demonstrated (Table 4).

Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to predict postoperative Δ mJOA according to preoperative mJOA score and the presence of dynamic compression. A moderate preoperative mJOA score (12-14) and dynamic compression are significant predictors of postoperative Δ mJOA. The two variables together explain 28% of the Δ mJOA variance. Both variables can independently predict mJOA (p<0.05). A medium mJOA score (β =0.37) and the presence of dynamic compression (β =0.34) could predict Δ mJOA. No significant differences were found in the PFR rate and the complications among all approaches (p=0.196 and p=0.21, respectively).

Discussion

The prognosis of CSM is most significantly affected by age at diagnosis, symptom duration (preoperative clinical course), and the severity of myelopathy. Age was reported in most previously published studies as a prognostic factor for patients with CSM (18). Some authors have shown that the prognosis and surgical outcomes were better in younger patients (<60 years) (8,19-21). This may be related to the length of the preoperative clinical course. An international consensus study showed that age >65 years is an unfavorable prognostic factor for CSM (22). We found no significant relationship between age and postoperative functional outcomes (PFR rate). However, female sex was a good prognostic factor in our study.

Several previous studies have shown that patients with CSM who had a longer preoperative clinical course (i.e., longer symptom durations) have

Table 3. Factors affecting the postoperative functional	outcomes (PFR rates)			
	Mean PFR	95% CI	р	R ²
The preoperative mJOA score			0.001*	0.22
Mild (mJOA >15)	76.59	69.77-83.41		
Moderate (12> mJOA >14)	65.29	59.10-71.49		
Severe (mJOA <12)	38.74	19.19-58.28		
Age group			0.153	0.021
<65	69.27	63.67-74.87		
>65	59.93	46.95-72.91		
Sex			0.008*	0.070
Male	60.88	52.51-69.25		
Female	74.31	68.92-79.70		
Duration of symptoms			0.007*	0.074
<12 months	72.72	66.87-78.57		
>12 months	58.40	49.17-67.63		
MRI signal properties			0.120	0.025
Normal T1/normal T2	70.62	61.37-79.87		
Normal T1/hyperintense T2	67.55	61.45-73.65		
Hypointense T1/hyperintense T2	51.00	0.48-101.5		
Cross-sectional area of the spinal cord (cm ²)			0.711	0.001
<0.76 cm ²	69.42	61.57-77.26.		
>0.76 cm ²	65.58	58.74-72.42		
Number of segments with spinal compression			0.392	0.021
1	54.83	24.46-85.19		
2	68.95	63.19-77.50		
>3	65.79	57.84-73.74		
Cervical alignment			0.185	0.021
Lordosis	60.68	53.87-71.29		
Neutral	70.09	62.54-77.63		
Kyphosis	70.49	57.66-83.32		
Dynamic pressure			0.001*	0.115
Present	74.16	69.26-79.06		
Absent	54.61	46.18-66.65		
Surgical approach			0.196	0.021
Anterior	69.80	63.50-76.11		
Posterior	61.54	51.57-71.50		
Combined	61.78	38.21-85.35		

mJOA: modified Japanese Orthopedic Association, CI: Confidence interval, MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging, PFR: Postoperative functional recovery

a poorer prognosis (22-24), with that of Yamazaki et al. (25) and Chagas et al. (19) defining a long clinical course as longer than 1 and 2 years, respectively. Karpova et al. (8) suggest that the duration of symptoms was related to the preoperative functional status, but it did not affect the postoperative outcome. We found that a short preoperative period was an independent factor associated with good surgical outcomes and a higher PFR rate in our patients.

Some studies have reported that myelopathic findings have also been associated with changes in the cross-sectional area on axial and signal intensity on T1 and T2 sequences (8,26). Some authors suggest that, although the cross-sectional area of the spinal cord does not indicate CSM severity, it can determine the surgical prognosis (8-10). Fukishima et al. (27) reported a critical value of 0.45 cm² for the spinal cord cross-sectional area on the axial sequences and suggested that irreversible functional impairment would begin below this value. In this study, the number of cases with a critical value \leq 0.45 cm² was quite low. Therefore, the 0.76 cm² value, which is the arithmetic mean of the whole group, was taken as the critical value of the cross-sectional area for statistical comparisons. The different values obtained may be related to the software used for area measurement.

Table 4. Factors affecting the change in modified Jap	oanese Orthopedic Associat	ion score scores (ΔmJOA))	
	ΔmJOA	95% CI	р	R ²
Preoperative mJOA score			0.001*	0.217
Mild (>15)	1.85	2.68-3.31		
Moderate (12-14)	3.00	1.47-4.36		
Severe (<12)	2.91	1.65-2.04		
Age group			0.042	0.042
<65	2.31	2.07-2.55		
>65	2.94	2.15-3.74		
Sex			0.327	0.01
Male	2.32	1.93-2.70		
Female	2.56	2.25-2.87		
Duration of symptoms			0.83	0.00
<12 months	2.42	2.12-2.71		
>12 months	2.47	2.01-2.92		
MRI signal properties			0.274	0.038
Normal T1/normal T2	2.25	1.87-2.62		
Normal T1/hyperintense T2	2.56	2.25-2.87		
Hypointense T1/hyperintense T2	1.60	(-0.06)-3.26		
Cross-sectional area of the spinal cord (cm ²)			0.115	0.016
<0.76 cm ²	2.60	2.21-2.99		
>0.76 cm ²	2.28	1.97-2.58		
Number of segments with spinal compression			0.006*	0.078
1	2.4	1.28-3.51		
2	2.10	1.81-2.39		
>3	2.80	2.38-3.21		
Cervical alignment			0.731	0.002
Lordosis	2.48	2.04-2.92		
Neutral	2.44	2.09-2.79		
Kyphosis	2.30	1.63-2.97		
Dynamic pressure			0.001*	0.163
Present	2.81	2.51-3.12		
Absent	1.8	1.46-2.15		
Surgical approach			0.001*	0.167
Anterior	2.12	1.88-3.26		
Posterior	3.28	2.60-3.96		
Combined	3.00	2.07-3.92		

mJOA: modified Japanese Orthopedic Association, CI: Confidence interval, MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

The severity of symptoms in CSM is evaluated using disability indexes, mJOA score, and Nurick's score. Most articles suggest that poor baseline functional status scores are associated with a worse prognosis (18,22). In contrast, no index has been established to provide a reliable preoperative assessment of the functional status (18). The JOA score and its modifications are most frequently used to assess functional status during the presentation. Tetreault et al.'s (22) review found that an mJOA score \geq 12 indicated a good prognosis. Su et al. (20) concluded that preoperative mJOA scores increased preoperative signal intensities on MRI, and age are independent factors that significantly affect the disease prognosis and surgical outcomes. In our study, we found a

highly significant relationship between the preoperative mJOA score and PFR rate.

A few studies have investigated the relationship between cervical sagittal balance (C2-C7 SVA) and the severity of myelopathy. Although the cervical translational sequence is associated with the mJOA score, the cervical C2-C7 Cobb angle (lordosis/kyphosis) did not correlated with the mJOA score (28). Tang et al. (29) found that the surgical outcomes of patients who underwent posterior cervical fusion were correlated with C2-C7 SVA. However, the study only included postoperative patients and represents a mixed set of indications, including primary cervical

deformity. In our study, cervical sagittal posture measurements were made using the posterior tangent method (7). Our findings showed no significant correlation between cervical sagittal alignment and functional status either pre- or postoperatively.

Eck et al. (30) showed that accelerated degenerative changes and increased stress load may lead to adjacent segment disease after anterior cervical fusion surgery. As the degeneration progresses, the disk space becomes narrower, and hyperplasia begins in the facet and Luschka joints. The formation of osteophytes and further bone bridges occurs on the anterior and/or posterior edges of the vertebral body. The intervertebral disk activity decreases or even disappears. This situation is equivalent to "auto fusion." Due to this "auto fusion" at the CSM level, adjacent segments undergo accelerated degeneration and a compensatory increase in mobility, resulting in cervical segmental instability. CSM and subaxial cervical instability may be different stages of cervical degenerative disease, and subaxial cervical instability occurs after CSM (31). In our study, the compression on the spinal cord is mostly dynamic (62%); thus, we assumed that limited segmental movement persists, the duration of compression is not full-time, the CSM process is not long enough to result in auto fusion, and rigid formations that will limit segmental movement (bridge osteophytes, facets, and ligament hypertrophy) have not yet occurred. Consequently, the signs and symptoms of CSM may be reversible. Our findings indicate no correlation between the presence of dynamic compression and preoperative mJOA; however, the PRF rate was significantly higher in the group with dynamic compression.

Patients who have benefited in the early period after surgery or whose condition has at least been stabilized by surgery may undergo lateterm regression of neurological functions. Slightly more than half of the patients who underwent anterior surgery and up to a third of the patients who underwent laminectomy in the late-term controls showed improvement according to their preoperative status. Reasons for delayed recovery or postoperative worsening include inadequate decompression of the spinal cord, progression of spondylosis in untreated areas, soft disk herniation, kyphotic deformity, and post-laminectomy membrane formation, misdiagnosis of the cause of myelopathy, and advanced age. Severe and long-term loss of neurological function were listed among irreversible pathologies that include high-level involvement and atrophy in the spinal cord (32). Hirabayashi and Satomi (32) studied 35 patients who had undergone laminoplasty for multiple-level spondylosis and found that 54% showed improved symptoms and preserved long-term canal width. In our study, fusion laminectomy was performed in patients who underwent a posterior approach. No differences were found in the PFR rate and the complications among all approaches in our patients.

Study Limitations

This study had some limitations. First, the sample size studied was relatively small (n=98), which included patients treated surgically at our hospital and met our study criteria. Thus, the patients evaluated are unrepresentative of the population of the Asian part of Istanbul. Furthermore, the nature of the study is retrospective, the follow-up period is relatively short, and the findings only represent the experience

of a single center. Further randomized prospective studies involving larger samples from multiple centers that sufficiently represent a geographical area with a sufficiently long follow-up period must improve the generalizability of our findings.

Conclusion

Demographic, clinical, and radiological factors, such as sex, preoperative functional status, preoperative clinical course, and the number of dynamic compression phases can impact the surgical outcomes in CSM. Early diagnosis is extremely important in reducing persistent neurological deficits associated with CSM. Early surgical intervention often has good results. The data of this study should be used to discuss the possible consequences of surgery and properly manage patient expectations in CSM. These expectations need to be met, given the increasing importance of patient satisfaction in the performance-based health system.

Ethics Committee Approval: Our study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Turkey, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital under a decision number (approval number: 2020/3).

Informed Consent: Verbal and written consent were obtained from all patients who agreed to participate in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - H.D.; Concept - E.Ç.; Design - H.D.; Data Collection or Processing - E.Ç.; Analysis or Interpretation - H.D.; Literature Search - E.Ç.; Writing - E.Ç., H.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Montgomery DM, Brower RS. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Clinical syndrome and natural history. Orthop Clin North Am 1992; 23: 487-93.
- Smith GW, Robinson RA. The treatment of certain cervical-spine disorders by anterior removal of the intervertebral disc and interbody fusion. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1958; 40-A: 607-24.
- Tavares S, Costa GG, Galego O, Pereira R. Can Morphometric Analysis of Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy Be a Tool for Surgical Outcome Prediction? Int J Spine Surg, 2021; 15: 718-23.
- Holly LT, Matz PG, Anderson PA, Groff MW, Heary RF, Kaiser MG, et al. Clinical prognostic indicators of surgical outcome in cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine 2009; 11: 112-8.
- Zileli M. Recommendations of WFNS Spine Committee. Neurospine 2019; 16: 383-5.
- Mastronardi L, Elsawaf A, Roperto R, Bozzao A, Caroli M, Ferrante M, et al. Prognostic relevance of the postoperative evolution of intramedullary spinal cord changes in signal intensity on magnetic resonance imaging after anterior decompression for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. J Neurosurg Spine 2007; 7: 615-22.
- 7. Harrison DE, Harrison DD, Cailliet R, Troyanovich SJ, Janik TJ, Holland B. Cobb method or Harrison posterior tangent method: which to choose for lateral cervical radiographic analysis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000; 25: 2072-8.

- Karpova A, Arun R, Davis AM, Kulkarni AV, Massicotte EM, Mikulis DJ, et al. Predictors of surgical outcome in cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2013; 38: 392-400.
- 9. Chikuda H, Seichi A, Takeshita K, Matsunaga S, Watanabe M, Nakagawa Y, et al. Acute cervical spinal cord injury complicated by preexisting ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament: a multicenter study. Spine 2011; 36: 1453-8.
- Nouri A, Tetreault L, Zamorano JJ, Dalzell K, Davis AM, Mikulis D, et al. Role of magnetic resonance imaging in predicting surgical outcome in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Spine 2015; 40: 171-8.
- Hirabayashi K, Miyakawa J, Satomi K, Maruyama T, Wakano K. Operative results and postoperative progression of ossification among patients with ossification of cervical posterior longitudinal ligament. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1981; 6: 354-64.
- Cheung WY, Arvinte D, Wong YW, Luk KD, Cheung KM. Neurological recovery after surgical decompression in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy - a prospective study. Int Orthop 2008; 32: 273-8.
- Furlan JC, Kalsi-Ryan S, Kailaya-Vasan A, Massicotte EM, Fehlings MG. Functional and clinical outcomes following surgical treatment in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a prospective study of 81 cases. J Neurosurg Spine 2011; 14: 348-55.
- 14. Cloward RB. The anterior approach for removal of ruptured cervical disks. J Neurosurg 1958; 15: 602-17.
- Kanna RM, Perambuduri AS, Shetty AP, Rajasekaran S. A Randomized Control Trial Comparing Local Autografts and Allografts in Single Level Anterior Cervical Discectomy and Fusion Using a Stand-Alone Cage. Asian Spine J 2021; 15: 817-24.
- Ghogawala Z, Terrin N, Dunbar MR, Breeze JL, Freund KM, Kanter AS, et al. Effect of Ventral vs Dorsal Spinal Surgery on Patient-Reported Physical Functioning in Patients With Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2021; 325: 942-51.
- Fehlings MG, Ibrahim A, Tetreault L, Albanese V, Alvarado M, Arnold P, et al. A global perspective on the outcomes of surgical decompression in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy: results from the prospective multicenter AOSpine international study on 479 patients. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015; 40: 1322-8.
- Zileli M, Maheshwari S, Kale SS, Garg K, Menon SK, Parthiban J. Outcome Measures and Variables Affecting Prognosis of Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: WFNS Spine Committee Recommendations. Neurospine 2019; 16: 435-47.
- Chagas H, Domingues F, Aversa A, Vidal Fonseca AL, de Souza JM. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: 10 years of prospective outcome analysis of anterior decompression and fusion. Surg Neurol 2005; 64 Suppl 1: S1: 30-5; discussion S1:35-6.

- 20. Su N, Fei Q, Wang B, Li D, Li J, Meng H, et al. Long-term outcomes and prognostic analysis of modified open-door laminoplasty with lateral mass screw fusion in treatment of cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2016; 12: 1329-37.
- Suzuki A, Misawa H, Simogata M, Tsutsumimoto T, Takaoka K, Nakamura H. Recovery process following cervical laminoplasty in patients with cervical compression myelopathy: prospective cohort study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2009; 34: 2874-9.
- 22. Tetreault LA, Karpova A, Fehlings MG. Predictors of outcome in patients with degenerative cervical spondylotic myelopathy undergoing surgical treatment: results of a systematic review. Eur Spine J 2015; 24 Suppl 2: 236-51.
- Tracy JA, Bartleson JD. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Neurologist 2010; 16: 176-87.
- 24. Li XY, Lu SB, Sun XY, Kong C, Guo MC, Sun SY, et al. Clinical and magnetic resonance imaging predictors of the surgical outcomes of patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 2018; 174: 137-43.
- 25. Yamazaki T, Yanaka K, Sato H, Uemura K, Tsukada A, Nose T. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: surgical results and factors affecting outcome with special reference to age differences. Neurosurgery 2003; 52: 122-6; discussion 126.
- Rao A, Soliman H, Kaushal M, Motovylyak O, Vedantam A, Budde MD. Diffusion tensor imaging in a large longitudinal series of patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy correlated with long-term functional outcome. Neurosurgery 2018; 83: 753-60.
- 27. Fukushima T, Ikata T, Taoka Y, Takata S. Magnetic resonance imaging study on spinal cord plasticity in patients with cervical compression myelopathy. Spine 1991; 16(10 Suppl): S534-8.
- 28. Smith JS, Lafage V, Ryan DJ, Shaffrey CI, Schwab FJ, Patel AA, et al. Association of myelopathy scores with cervical sagittal balance and normalized spinal cord volume: analysis of 56 preoperative cases from the AOSpine North America Myelopathy study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2013; 38: S161-70.
- Tang JA, Scheer JK, Smith JS, Deviren V, Bess S, Hart RA, et al. The impact of standing regional cervical sagittal alignment on outcomes in posterior cervical fusion surgery. Neurosurgery 2015; 76 Suppl 1: S14-21; discussion S21.
- 30. Eck JC, Humphreys SC, Lim TH, Jeong ST, Kim JG, Hodges SD, et al. Biomechanical study on the effect of cervical spine fusion on adjacent-level intradiscal pressure and segmental motion. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2002; 27: 2431-4.
- Lu K, Gao X, Tong T, Miao D, Ding W, Shen Y. Clinical Predictors of Surgical Outcomes and Imaging Features in Single Segmental Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy with Lower Cervical Instability. Med Sci Monit 2017; 23: 3697-705.
- 32. Hirabayashi K, Satomi L. Operative procedure and results of expansive opendoor laminoplasty. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1988; 13: 870-6.

Hand-sewn versus Stapled Anastomosis for Billroth II Gastrojejunostomy After Distal Gastrectomy: Comparison of Short-term Outcomes

● Tevfik Kıvılcım Uprak, ● Doğuş Can Ekdal, ● Muhammer Ergenç, ● Wafi Attaallah Marmara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Subtotal gastrectomy is usually performed in patients with distal gastric cancer. After distal gastrectomy, which reconstruction method can be used is still controversial. This study evaluated the effect of the stapler and hand-sewn techniques on postoperative results.

Methods: Patients who underwent distal gastrectomy in a single center were evaluated retrospectively in this study. Patients who underwent the Billroth II reconstruction method were analyzed. Hand-sewn and stapled techniques were compared in terms of operative and short-term postoperative outcomes.

Results: Two hundred fourteen patients were included. Most of the patients (66.8%) were male. The median age was 61 years. Billroth-II reconstruction with hand-sewn was performed in 161 (75%) patients, and the double stapler technique was performed in 53 (25%) patients. When the hand-sewn and stapled groups were compared, no difference was found in age, sex, or American Society of Anesthesiology scores. There was no difference in choosing antecolic or retrocolic as the surgical technique (p=0.19). A shorter length of hospital stay was detected in the stapled group (p=0.01). The overall complication rate was higher in the hand-sewn group (21.7% vs. 7.5%, p=0.02). Clavien-Dindo grade 3 and above complications were significantly higher in the hand-sewn group (13.7% vs. 3.8%, p=0.02).

Conclusion: Our study showed that the stapler anastomosis technique for Billroth II gastrojejunostomy after distal gastrectomy led to fewer overall complications and shortened hospital stays.

Keywords: Surgical staple, hand-sewn anastomosis, anastomosis technique, Billroth II, gastroenterostomy, gastric cancer

Introduction

Gastric cancer is the fifth most common cancer and the fourth most common cause of cancer-related deaths (1). Today, in most cases, surgical resection is still the only curative treatment option for gastric cancer. Subtotal or distal gastrectomy is frequently applied for patients with gastric cancer in the lower 2/3 of the stomach (2). After distal gastrectomy, Billroth I, Billroth II, and Roux-en-Y reconstruction methods can be used for gastrointestinal anastomosis (3). Postoperative conditions such as delayed gastric emptying, dumping syndrome, reduced food intake, and reflux esophagitis are defined as postgastrectomy syndromes, usually affecting patients' quality of life (4). These reconstruction procedures may cause postgastrectomy syndrome, and all these techniques are still contentious (3). When we think that we have chosen the most suitable reconstruction method for our patient, we must make a second decision: Should we do the anastomosis hand-sewn or stapled? The most appropriate approach for gastrojejunostomy anastomosis is still controversial (3,5,6).

This study evaluated the effect of the stapler and hand-sewn techniques on postoperative outcomes.

Methods

Patients who underwent subtotal gastrectomy for gastric cancer were retrospectively evaluated between January 2014 and January 2020 at Marmara University Hospital. Local approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Marmara University (approval number: 09.2021.1088, date: 08.10.2021).

The demographics, reconstruction procedures, surgical approaches, comorbid diseases, and postoperative complications were analyzed retrospectively. Patients who underwent elective surgery because of gastric cancer in whom radical gastrectomy without multiorgan



Address for Correspondence: Muhammer Ergenç, Marmara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, istanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 216 606 11 41 E-mail: muhammerergenc@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9233-0570

Cite this article as: Uprak TK, Ekdal DC, Ergenç M, Attaallah W. Hand-sewn versus Stapled Anastomosis for Billroth II Gastrojejunostomy After Distal Gastrectomy: Comparison of Short-term Outcomes.. Istanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 181-5.

Received: 26.10.2022

Accepted: 24.04.2023

resection were included in the study. Patients who underwent the Roux-en-Y reconstruction method, urgent surgery, multiorgan resection, and palliative surgery were excluded from the study. Two grams of intravenous cefazolin (ciprofloxacin for allergic patients) were administered for prophylaxis. For venous thromboembolism prophylaxis, low molecular weight heparin was given to all patients perioperatively. All patients underwent an open DSG. After resection, the reconstruction technique was performed differently due to surgeon preference. Postoperative complications were graded according to the Clavien-Dindo classification (7).

Surgical procedure

The primary surgeon of the operation decided whether the gastrojejunostomy anastomosis would be performed using the Billroth-II or Roux-en-Y reconstruction technique. Similarly, the primary surgeon determined whether antecolic/retrocolic and stapler/ hand-sewn anastomosis techniques could be applied to the anastomosis. A linear stapler was used for duodenal stump closure in all patients.

We applied a linear stapler (GIA 100 mm Stapler with DST Series, Medtronic, MN, USA) on the lesser curvature side for the transection line in the hand-sewn technique. The greater curvature side was cut by cautery, and hand-sewn anastomosis was performed between the jejunum and the cautery-cut side of the remnant stomach, as follows. The jejunum was brought into the stomach pouch about 12-15 cm from the ligament of Treitz. The antimesenteric aspect of the jejunum was measured, and an area of approximately 5 cm was determined. The first posterior suture line was placed behind this suture line but parallel to it. The jejunum was attached to the gastric pouch with 2-0 black silk seromuscular Lembert sutures placed approximately 5 mm apart. After cutting off the remaining silk tails, the first and last sutures were left long and held with a hemostat. An incision was made with electrocautery along the antimesenteric scratch line in the jejunum. The jejunal mucosa was open and checked for bleeding points. The incision in the jejunum was kept a few millimeters shorter than the diameter of the opening in the gastric pouch. Then, the inner layer of anastomosis was completed with 3-0 vicryl and posterior and anterior all-layer sutures. The anterior layer was completed with a row of interrupted 2-0 black silk seromuscular Lembert sutures. A crown stitch was inserted at the medial margin of the anastomosis (8,9).

A linear cutting stapler was placed on the proximal surgical margin and fired to complete the resection with the double stapler technique. After a complete transection of the stomach, stapled anastomosis was performed between the posterior side of the stomach and jejunum by using a linear stapler (GIA 60 mm Stapler with DST Series, Medtronic, MN, USA).

Statistical Analysis

We performed statistical analyses using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows Version 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Two-tailed chi-square or Fisher's exact tests were used to compare categorical variables. Independent two-sample t-tests or Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare ordinal data. After adjusting for potential confounders, regression analyses were used to evaluate the relationship between demographic characteristics and delayed gastric emptying. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

The primary outcome of this study was to compare the short-term outcomes of two different anastomosis techniques in patients who underwent distal gastrectomy. Secondary outcomes are other potential risk factors for postoperative complications.

Results

Two hundred seventy-five patients were evaluated. Twenty-three patients who underwent Roux-en-Y reconstruction methods, 14 patients who underwent an urgent operation, and 11 patients who underwent multi-visceral resection were excluded. In addition, 13 patients were excluded from the assessment because of palliative resection. Two hundred fourteen patients were included in the study; 143 (66.8%) patients were male, and 71 (33.2%) patients were female. The median age was 61 years (32-87). The American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) scores of the patients were mostly ASA I and ASA II (Table 1).

All patients underwent gastrojejunostomy anastomosis with Billroth-II reconstruction. Billroth-II reconstruction was performed by hand-

Table 1. Demographic and perioperative characteristics	of
patients	

Parameters	n=214 (%)
Age (median-range)	61 (32-87)
Sex	
Female	71 (33.2)
Male	143 (66.8)
ASA scores	
I	68 (31.8)
II	97 (45.3)
III	43 (20.1)
IV	6 (2.3)
Comorbidity	
Diabetes mellitus	33 (15)
Hypertension	68 (32)
Coronary artery disease	33 (15)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	18 (8)
Smoking (present)	133 (46)
Neoadjuvant therapy	11 (5.1)
Anastomosis technique	
Hand-sewn	161 (75.2)
Stapled	53 (24.8)
Clavien-Dindo classification	
No complication	229 (78.6)
Grade 1	21 (7.2)
Grade 2	6 (2)
Grade 3	20 (6.8)
Grade 4	0 (0)
Grade 5	8 (2.7)
Length of stay (median-range)	5 (2-63)
ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology	

sewn in 161 (75%) patients. However, the double stapler technique was performed in 53 (25%) patients. Demographic and perioperative characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Patients were divided into hand-sewn and stapled technique groups. When the two groups were compared, no difference was found in age, sex, or ASA scores (Table 2).

When the complications were examined between hand-sewn vs. stapled groups, anastomotic leakage, stump leakage, bleeding, postoperative ileus, delayed gastric emptying, and other (pulmonary) complications occurred in hand-sewn groups 6, 8, 1, 7, 9, and 4 patients, respectively, and occurred in stapled group 0, 0, 1, 3, 0, and 0 patients, respectively. The total of these was evaluated as overall complications, and patients with and without complications were compared; there was no significant difference in sex, ASA score, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, or coronary artery disease. Overall complications were more common in older patients (65 vs. 61 years p=0.03) and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (23% vs. 5% p=0.001).

The overall complication rate was higher in the hand-sewn group (21.7% vs. 7.5%, p=0.02). Clavien-Dindo grade 3 and above complications were significantly higher in the hand-sewn group (13.7% vs. 3.8%, p=0.02). There was no difference in choosing antecolic or retrocolic as the

Table 2 Comparison of hand-sewn and stanled groups

surgical technique (p=0.19). While reoperation was more common in the hand-sewn group (7.5%), mortality was observed in 4 (2.5%) patients in this group (Table 2).

The factors affecting the occurrence of total complications were examined. Age, presence of COPD, and hand-sewn anastomosis were evaluated as independent risk factors in the univariate analysis (p=0.03, p=0.001 and p=0.02 respectively). Multivariant analysis showed COPD and hand-sewn anastomosis as significant risk factors for overall complications (p=0.001, p=0.008, respectively) (Table 3).

Discussion

There are various anastomosis techniques defined for distal gastrectomy. These have been compared in the literature, but different results have been found regarding postoperative outcomes (10). Billroth II anastomosis is frequently performed because of its simplicity and low risk of anastomotic tension, but it can cause biliary reflux gastritis, esophagitis, or dumping syndrome (11). Mechanical staplers have been used for gastrointestinal surgery for almost 50 years and are now widely used during open or laparoscopic gastrectomy for gastric cancer. Many studies did not show a significant difference in the occurrence of suture failure between hand suturing and mechanical stapling (12-14).

Table 2. comparison of nana sewir and stapica group	15		
Parameters	Hand-sewn technique Staplec (n=161) (%) (n=53)		p-value
Age (years, SD)	62 (12)	61 (11.4)	0.7
Sex			
Female	58 (36)	13 (25)	0.12
Male	103 (64)	40 (75)	0.12
ASA scores			
I	53 (33)	15 (28)	
II	70 (43)	27 (51)	
III	34 (21)	9 (17)	0.7
IV	4 (3)	2 (4)	
Comorbidity			
Diabetes mellitus	26	7	0.6
Hypertension	52	16	0.71
Coronary artery disease	28	5	0.2
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	10	8	0.05
Antecolic	86 (55.5)	24 (45.3)	0.10
Retrocolic	69 (44.5)	29 (54.7)	0.19
Duration of operation (minutes)	120	121	0.8
Overall complications			
Present	25 (21.7)	4 (7.5)	0.02
Clavien-Dindo classification			
Grade 3 and above	22 (13.7)	2 (3.8)	0.02
Reoperation	12 (7.5)	1 (1.9)	0.14
Length of hospital stay (days, mean)	6.6	5.0	0.01
Mortality	4 (2.5)	0	0.22
ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology, SD: Standard deviation			

Table 3. Univariate and multivariate regre	Table 3. Univariate and multivariate regression analyses for risk factors for overall complications						
Variables	Univariate			Multivariate			
	HR	95% CI	p-value	HR	95% CI	p-value	
Age	1.034	1.002-1.067	0.03	1.026	0.993-1.060	0.12	
COPD	0.181	0.066-0.492	0.001	0.125	0.03-0.407	0.001	
Anastomosis type	3.403	1.143-10.07	0.02	5.365	1.56-18.41	0.008	
Sex	0.75	0.35-1.66	0.46				
ASA score	0.68	0.11-4.22	0.37				
ASA: American Society of Anesthesiology, COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, CI: Confidence interval, HR: Hazard ratio							

Table 3. Univariate and multivariate regression analyses for risk factors for overall complications

Some studies suggest that the stapled anastomosis technique is shorter than hand-sewn anastomosis and affects surgical outcomes by shortening the operation time. Additionally, some studies do not show a time difference between the two techniques (6,15). In this study, we found that the hand-sewn or stapled technique did not affect the duration of surgery. We did not compare the two methods, particularly in terms of anastomosis time, but based on our experience, we can say that there is a minimal difference. We think that the duration of handsewn anastomosis depends on surgical experience; therefore, it did not make a difference in operation time in our study.

Postoperative anastomotic leakage is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. There are studies in the literature reporting different results in terms of anastomotic leakage compared with hand-sewn and stapled techniques (5,6,13,14). In our study, we found a more anastomotic and stump leakage in the hand-sewn group. Stapling anastomosis is thought to prevent anastomotic edema or stenosis and facilitate easier drainage of food contents (16). In line with this, we found a lower delayed gastric emptying rate in the stapled technique group. Although we could not find a difference when we examined the complication rates one by one, looking at the overall complications and classifying according to Clavien-Dindo, the hand-sewn group had significantly higher rates. Simultaneously, this high complication rates.

Contrary to many studies, we found a shorter length of hospital stays in the stapled group (12,13,17). We think this is due to the prolonged length of hospital stay due to complications in the hand-sewn group.

Study Limitations

Our study had several limitations. It is a single-center and low-volume study. This study is a retrospective analysis, so selection bias cannot be eliminated. We analyzed the data for one surgical method, but different surgeons performed the surgeries. The power of statistical evaluation may have been influenced by the proportion of patients between the two groups with different numbers. The gastrojejunostomy time was not recorded for all patients. This study reported only short-term results; further analysis is needed to determine long-term outcomes.

Conclusion

There are various anastomosis techniques defined for distal gastrectomy. Our study showed that the stapler anastomosis technique for Billroth II gastrojejunostomy after distal gastrectomy led to fewer overall complications and shortened hospital stays. However, prospective randomized studies with many patients are needed to determine which complications are particularly affected by the anastomosis technique.

Ethics Committee Approval: Local approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Marmara University (approval number: 09.2021.1088, date: 08.10.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Concept: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Design: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Data Collection or Processing: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Analysis or Interpretation: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Literature Search: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.; Writing: T.K.U., D.C.E., M.E., W.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71: 209-49.
- Pang T, Yin XY, Cui HT, Lu ZM, Nie MM, Yin K, et al. Analysis of risk factors and prevention strategies for functional delayed gastric emptying in 1243 patients with distal gastric cancer. World J Surg Oncol 2020; 18: 302.
- 3. Cai Z, Zhou Y, Wang C, Yin Y, Yin Y, Shen C, et al. Optimal reconstruction methods after distal gastrectomy for gastric cancer: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e10823.
- Karanicolas PJ, Graham D, Gönen M, Strong VE, Brennan MF, Coit DG. Quality of life after gastrectomy for adenocarcinoma: a prospective cohort study. Ann Surg 2013; 257: 1039-46.
- 5. Liu BW, Liu JR, Feng ZX. Comparison of hand-sewn and stapled anastomoses in surgeries of gastrointestinal tumors based on clinical practice of China. World J Surg Oncol 2014; 12: 292.
- 6. Chandramohan SM, Gajbhiye RN, Agwarwal A, Creedon E, Schwiers ML, Waggoner JR, et al. A randomized study comparing outcomes of stapled and hand-sutured anastomoses in patients undergoing open gastrointestinal surgery. Indian J Surg 2013; 75: 311-6.
- Clavien PA, Barkun J, de Oliveira ML, Vauthey JN, Dindo D, Schulick RD, et al. The Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. Ann Surg 2009; 250: 187-96.
- Scott-Conner CEH, Chassin JL. Partial Gastrectomy Without Lymphadenectomy. In: Scott-Conner CEH, editor. Chassin's Operative Strategy in General Surgery: An Expositive Atlas. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2014. p.305-30.

- 9. Farquharson M, Hollingshead J, Moran B. Farquharson's Textbook of Operative General Surgery 9Ed: CRC Press; 2005.
- 10. Jiang H, Li Y, Wang T. Comparison of Billroth I, Billroth II, and Roux-en-Y reconstructions following distal gastrectomy: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Cir Esp (Engl Ed) 2021; 99: 412-20.
- Pedrazzani C, Marrelli D, Rampone B, De Stefano A, Corso G, Fotia G, et al. Postoperative complications and functional results after subtotal gastrectomy with Billroth II reconstruction for primary gastric cancer. Dig Dis Sci 2007; 52: 1757-63.
- Seo SH, Kim KH, Kim MC, Choi HJ, Jung GJ. Comparative Study of Hand-Sutured versus Circular Stapled Anastomosis for Gastrojejunostomy in Laparoscopy Assisted Distal Gastrectomy. J Gastric Cancer 2012; 12: 120-5.
- 13. Catena F, La Donna M, Gagliardi S, Avanzolini A, Taffurelli M. Stapled versus hand-sewn anastomoses in emergency intestinal surgery: results of a prospective randomized study. Surg Today 2004; 34: 123-6.

- 14. Korolija D. The current evidence on stapled versus hand-sewn anastomoses in the digestive tract. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol 2008; 17: 151-4.
- Bangaru H, Veitla RM, Pigilam M, Kunwargiri GK. Comparative Study between Staplers and Conventional(Hand-Sewn) Anastomosis in Gastrointestinal Surgery. Indian J Surg 2012; 74: 462-7.
- Lee SH, Lee YH, Hur YH, Kim HJ, Choi BG. A comparative study of postoperative outcomes after stapled versus handsewn gastrojejunal anastomosis for pylorus-resecting pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2021; 25: 84-9.
- 17. Kim T, Yu W, Chung H. Handsewn versus stapled gastroduodenostomy in patients with gastric cancer: long-term follow-up of a randomized clinical trial. World J Surg 2011; 35: 1026-9.

Infantile Esotropia: Clinical Features and Results of Bilateral Medial Rectus Recession

Abuzer Gündüz¹, Emrah Öztürk¹, Ercan Özsoy², Pelin Nazlı Güntürkün³

¹Malatya Turgut Özal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Malatya, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Ophthalmology, İstanbul, Turkey ³İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Malatya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: To define the characteristics of infantile esotropia and evaluate the results of bilateral medial rectus recession in infantile esotropia.

Methods: A retrospective review was performed on medical charts of patients diagnosed with infantile esotropia. All patients underwent an ophthalmological examination to detect the conditions that accompany infantile esotropia. Patients with two years of age or older and without fixation preference or amblyopia underwent bilateral medial rectus recession.

Results: There were a total of 117 patients with infantile esotropia patients. Infantile esotropia was accompanied by inferior oblique hyperfunction, fixation preference, cross-fixation, pseudoabduction deficit, pattern deviations, nystagmus, dissociated vertical deviation, convergence insufficiency, and abnormal head position. Approximately forty percent of the patients compatible with visual acuity measurements had amblyopia. Bilateral medial rectus recession decreased the mean esotropia from 43.1 ± 15.3 to 7.8 ± 12.8 prism diopters (PD) in 65 patients. Postoperatively, 41 patients had an ocular alignment within 10 PD of orthotropia, 22 patients showed undercorrection and 2 overcorrection.

Conclusion: The characteristics of infantile esotropia in our study are substantially consistent with those of early reports, except for convergence insufficiency. This study also showed that bilateral medial rectus recession appears to have a high percentage of undercorrection in short-term postoperative follow-up in infantile esotropia.

Keywords: Esotropia, fixation, recession, rectus

Introduction

Infantile esotropia is a stable angle convergent eye deviation that has an onset within the first six months of life in neurologically normal children with a reported incidence of approximately 1% in the general population (1-3). Alternating esotropia, cross-fixation with pseudoabduction deficit, manifest-latent nystagmus, inferior oblique overaction (IOOA), dissociated vertical deviation (DVD), mild amblyopia, slight hypermetropia, and reduced binocular vision are often associated with infantile esotropia (3-6).

Although botulinum toxin injection into the medial recti muscles is an alternative therapy, muscle surgery is the mainstay of treatment in infantile esotropia. The aim of surgical treatment is to enhance the development of binocular vision by aligned visual axes. More discussions have centered on the best age for surgery in infantile esotropia for decades. Most investigators advocate that early surgical intervention is useful for obtaining good eye alignment and stereopsis; on the other hand, some point out the low surgical success rate and the scarcity of binocular function in patients with infantile esotropia patients who underwent early surgical correction (1,7-10). Although the most effective surgical procedure has not yet been univocally defined, several surgical options have been introduced for treatment, including unilateral medial rectus recession with lateral rectus resection, bilateral medial rectus recession, bilateral medial rectus recession with resection of one lateral rectus, and bilateral medial rectus recession combined with resections of both lateral recti (7,8,11,12).

The aim of this study aimed to describe the clinical features of patients with infantile esotropia and evaluate the results of bilateral medial rectus recession surgery for the correction of infantile esotropia.

Methods

This study retrospectively reviewed the medical charts of patients who were diagnosed with infantile esotropia during the period from 2011 to 2019. Preoperatively, written informed consent for patient information and images to be published had been obtained from the parents or



Address for Correspondence: Ercan Özsoy, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Ophthalmology, İstanbul, Turkey Received: 03.04.2022 Accepted: 25.04.2023

Phone: +90 212 529 44 00 E-mail: ercanozy@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3279-9737

Cite this article as: Gündüz A, Öztürk E, Özsoy E, Güntürkün PN. Infantile Esotropia: Clinical Features and Results of Bilateral Medial Rectus Recession. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 186-90.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

legal guardians of the patients who underwent surgery. The study was ethically approved by the İnönü University Institutional Review Board (approval number: 2020/869) and conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

All selected patients demonstrated the following characteristics: esodeviation onset before six months of age, esodeviation angle equal to or greater than 30 prism diopters (PD), hypermetropia less than 3D, absence of obvious neurological disorders, or any other ocular diseases. Patients with restrictive or paralytic strabismus, accommodative esotropia, a history of previous strabismus surgery, or uncomplete data were excluded from the study.

All patients underwent complete ophthalmological and orthoptic examinations. Spectacles were prescribed for refractive errors of +2.50 or more to eliminate the accommodative effects on esotropia following cycloplegic refraction measurements in all patients. Amblyopic patients were identified based on visual acuity measurements performed using the Snellen or Lea chart. Amblyopia was always managed with occlusion therapy. In patients with a fixation preference, the preferred eye had patching to obtain alternating fixation. Anterior segment and fundus examination were performed using a slit-lamp and indirect ophthalmoscope, respectively. Horizontal angle deviations were measured at near and distance by the prism cover test or, in too young, uncooperative patients by the Krimsky test after total correction of refractive errors, if necessary. IOOA was graded in all patients, using a scale from 0 to +4, where the +4 indicated the most serious form of inferior oblique hyperfunction. Lateral recti hypofunctions, nystagmus, pattern deviations (A or V variations), cross fixation, DVD, convergence insufficiency and abnormal head posture (AHP) were recorded when present.

Surgical Interventions

Considering the surgical timing, two main parameters were examined: age and the presence of alternating fixation. Surgical intervention was performed only in patients with 2 years of age or older and a freely alternating fixation. All patients underwent bilateral medial rectus recession under general anesthesia. For the medial rectus recession procedure, a limbal conjunctival incision was performed in the nasal quadrant of each eye to expose the nasal aspect of the sclera. The medial rectus muscle was isolated and secured, and then cut from the sclera after a careful dissection. The muscle was then sutured to the sclera with a 6-0 double-needle polyglactin suture with all recession measurements marked with a curved scleral ruler from the original insertion. The amount of recessions was based on the recommendations of a standard surgical dosing table developed by Santiago and Rosenbaum (13), and adjusted based on our clinical experience. The amount of medial rectus recession ranged between 4.5 and 6.5 mm. Patients with IOOA underwent concurrent inferior oblique weakening surgery; more clearly those with +1 or +2 IOOA had inferior oblique recession surgery, and those with +3 or +4 IOOA had myectomy surgery. Postoperative alignment was evaluated at 1 month, 3 months, 6 months, 12 months, and annually after that. A satisfactory outcome was defined as a distance ocular alignment within 10 PD of orthotropia with appropriate refractive correction at the postoperative sixth month. Reoperation was performed when esodeviation greater than 20 PD persisted at 6 months postoperatively despite optical correction.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS for Windows statistical software (ver. 22.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for the analysis. The collected data were summarized using descriptive statistics. The results are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation.

Results

Overall, 117 patients were included in the study, 59 (50.4%) males, 58 (49.6%) females. The mean age at the time of diagnosis was 23.0 ± 23.4 months. The mean follow-up time was 34.6 ± 28.7 months. The mean spherical equivalent at the initial visit was $+2.15\pm1.68$ D in the right eye and $+2.22\pm1.68$ D in the left eye. Thirty-two (27.3%) patients were compatible with the visual acuity measurements at the initial visit, 13 (40.6%) of these compliant patients had amblyopia. The average best spectacle-corrected visual acuity of the right and left eyes were 0.75 ± 0.32 and 0.84 ± 0.2 decimal, respectively. The most common conditions accompanying infantile esotropia patients are presented in Table 1. Convergence assessment could be performed in 39 patients, among them 5 (12.8%) demonstrated convergence insufficiency. Only one (0.8%) patient had an AHP. Spontaneous recovery was observed in one (0.8%) patient.

Bilateral medial rectus recession was performed in 65 (55.5%) patients. The mean age at the time of surgery, mean preoperative and postoperative esotropia, success rate, and mean postoperative follow-up time in the surgical group are presented in Table 2. Twenty-four (37%) patients had an undesirable result, 22 (33.9%) showed undercorrection and 2 (3.1%)

Table 1. The most common clinical features accomp	anying
infantile esotropia patients in our study	

Clinical feature	Frequency, n (%)
Alternating fixation	63 (53.8)
Inferior oblique hyperfunction	55 (47)
Cross-fixation	43 (36.7)
Pseudoabduction deficit	22 (18.8)
Pattern strabismus	
V-pattern	12 (10.2)
A-pattern	1 (0.8)
Nystagmus	12 (10.2)
Dissociated vertical deviation	5 (4.2)

Table 2. The mean age at the surgery, mean pre- and postoperative esotropia, success rate and mean postoperative follow-up in the surgical group

Mean age at the surgery	44.6±24.6 (m)
Mean preoperative ET	43.1±15.3 PD
Mean postoperative ET	7.8±12.8 PD
Success rate	63%
Mean postoperative follow-up	26.8±23.4 (m)
m: Months, ET: Esotronia, PD: Prism dionters	

showed overcorrection. Of these patients with undercorrection, 8 (12.3%) underwent additional surgery for residual esotropia. In 39 (60.0%) patients with IOOA, the horizontal muscle surgery was performed along with the inferior oblique muscle weakening surgery.

The remaining 52 (44.5%) patients who did not undergo surgery, those with amblyopia and without alternating fixation received occlusion therapy, while those with alternating fixation less than 2 years old waited to reach the age of 2 to undergo surgery.

Discussion

This retrospective study consisted of a very close percentage of female and male gender with 49.6% female and 50.4% male. In a study by Magli et al. (3), the percentage of female and male gender in infantile esotropic patients were reported to be approximately 41% and 59%, respectively. In another study, 42.8% of infantile esotropic patients were female and 57.2% male (5). On the other hand, Shauly et al. (14) reported a close rate of female and male gender with 50.5% female and 49.5 male. Similarly, in a study by Kim and Choi (8), 51.2% of infantile esotropic patients were female and 48.8% male. It seems that the disease has no gender predilection.

In our study, only 32 (27.3%) patients could answer the visual acuity tests, and 40.6% of these cooperative patients were diagnosed with amblyopia. Magli et al. (5) reported amblyopia in 20.2% of infantile esotropic patients who underwent corrective surgery for esotropia before 4 years of age. Birch et al. (15) determined amblyopic patients by fixation preference testing and reported amblyopia in 57% of infantile esotropic patients. In another study by Shauly et al. (14), amblyopia was found in 48.5% of infantile esotropic patients. We believe that the differences in the rate of amblyopia are related to the age of patients in each study, as well as the differences in diagnosing amblyopia in each study.

In a study on the patients with infantile esotropia performed by Birch et al. (15), the mean spherical equivalents of the right and left eyes were reported to be $+2.54\pm1.83$ and $+2.55\pm1.82$ D, respectively. In another study by Lee et al. (16), the mean preoperative spherical equivalent of both eyes in infantile esotropia patients was found to be $+1.61\pm1.47$ D. Kim and Choi (8) reported a mean spherical equivalent of $+1.76\pm1.65$ D in patients underwent bilateral medial rectus recession and $+0.91\pm3.29$ D in patients underwent unilateral medial rectus recession with lateral rectus resection. In our study, the mean spherical equivalent at the first visit was $+2.15\pm1.68$ D for the right eye and $+2.22\pm1.68$ D for the left eye. Our findings on the refractive status of infantile esotropia were consistent with the previous reports (8,15,16).

Na et al. (17) observed alternating fixation in 33.9% of infantile esotropic patients at baseline examination. Magli et al. (5) found alternating fixation in 47.5% of infantile esotropia patients who underwent surgery before 4 years of age. In another study conducted by Singh et al. (18), 69.0% of patients with infantile esotropia demonstrated alternating fixation. We found alternating fixation in 53.8% of infantile esotropia patients, which falls into a priorly reported range of 33.9-69.0% (5,17,18).

Infantile esotropia patients with cross-fixation use the right eye to see the left side and the left eye to see the right side (19). We detected crossfixation in 36.7% of infantile esotropic patients, which is between a previously reported range of 34.1-74.4% (3,5). On the other hand, 18.8% of our patients had lateral recti hypofunction, resulting in a significant pseudoabduction deficit. Our results regarding the rate of lateral recti hypofunction were inconsistent with previous reports, with one study reporting lateral recti hypofunction in 63.8% of infantile esotropia patients (3), while in another, 58.84 of infantile esotropia patients had lateral recti hypofunction (5).

The reported frequency of IOOA in patients with infantile esotropia ranged from 7.5% to 43.3% (8,16,18). We diagnosed IOOA in 47% of infantile esotropia patients. The rate of IOOA found in our study is similar to the formerly reported rates.

In A or V pattern variation associated with esotropia, the angle of horizontal deviation changes with the position of gaze in the vertical meridian (20). The reported incidence of pattern deviations (A or V) in patients with infantile esotropia was between 6.4% and 77.8% (3,5,21,22). We detected A or V pattern strabismus in 11.1% of infantile esotropic patients, which falls in the previously reported range.

In our sample, 10.2% of participants were diagnosed with nystagmus, which was reported to have a variable incidence ranging from 9.7% to 19.4% in previous studies on infantile esotropia (3,5,18).

DVD is a slow upward drifting of the non-fixing eye with unknown etiology (23). DVD is more commonly seen in infantile esotropia with a variable reported incidence ranging between 3.7% and 73.7% (3,5,8,14,16-18,22). In our study, 4.2% of cases demonstrated DVD.

One study reported AHP in 45.9% of infantile esotropia patients (3). In another study, AHP was reported in 35.8% of infantile esotropia patients (5). Elsewhere, no patient was found to have an AHP in infantile esotropia (22). In our sample, one paient developed an AHP.

The Congenital Esotropia Observational Study reported that early-onset esotropia resolved in 46 (27%) patients without surgery, in 42 (24.7%) patients spontaneously, and in 4 (2.3%) with spectacle wear (24). Shon and associates reported spontaneous resolution in 3 cases with a relatively small angle infantile esotropia (25). We observed the resolution of infantile esotropia in one (0.8%) patient without any treatment.

At the initial visit, we determined convergence insufficiency in 5 (12.8%) of 39 patients who were cooperated with orthoptic examination. Previous studies have reported no data on the frequency of convergence insufficiency in patients with infantile esotropia.

Bilateral medial rectus recession is widely used for the surgical treatment of infantile esotropia patients. This procedure is technically simple, not time-consuming, less traumatic, leaving the lateral rectus muscles untouched for cases requiring a second surgical intervention, but it carries a risk for the possibility of undercorrection in large-angle esotropia (8,21,26).

Singh et al. (18) performed bilateral medial rectus recession in 78 infantile esotropia patients and reported that this procedure is most effective in eliminating of infantile esotropia with a reoperation rate of 5.3%. In the study by Shauly et el. (14), bilateral medial rectus recession was used in the majority (83.4%) of patients with infantile esotropia

as an initial surgical procedure and 35 additional surgical procedures required for correcting of residual esotropia or consecutive exotropia in the postoperative period. In the study by Kim and Choi (8), 80 patients with infantile esotropia were selected for either bilateral medial rectus recession or unilateral medial rectus recession with lateral rectus resection, and bilateral medial rectus recession was demonstrated to have a higher final success rate and a lower reoperation rate than the unilateral approach. Lee et al. (16) performed bilateral medial rectus recession in 46 patients for correcting of infantile esotropia and reported surgical success in 31 (67.3%) patients (16).

In our study, patients with fixation preference at the initial examination had occlusion treatment before surgery, and surgery was postponed until they showed alternate fixation. Also, all amblyopic patients had patching therapy before surgery. The surgery was never performed in patients with amblyopia or younger than 2 years of age. In all cases, the amount of medial rectus recession was within the usual limits ranging from 4.5 to 6.5 mm.

We performed bilateral medial rectus recession in 65 patients and obtained a surgical success in 41 (63%) patients when a successful outcome is considered a distance ocular alignment within 10 PD of orthotropia at 6 months postoperatively. The mean preoperative deviation was 43.1 ± 15.3 PD, while the mean postoperative deviation was 7.8 ± 12.8 PD. Figure 1 shows pre- and postoperative images of a patient who underwent bilateral medial rectus recession due to infantile esotropia. In the postoperative period, 22 (33.9%) patients showed undercorrection and 2 (3.1%) showed overcorrection. In patients with undercorrection, the postoperative residual deviation was between 10 and 20 PD in 14 patients, and more than 20 PD in 8 patients. An additional corrective surgery was performed in the 8 (12.3%) patients who had a residual esotropia greater than 20 PD during the follow-up



Figure 1. A patient with infantile esotropia, preoperative appearance (A), and postoperative appearance (B). Written informed consent for images to be published had been obtained from the parents

period after 6 months from the initial surgery. Both surgical success and reoperation rates in our study are comparable with those reported in previous studies that used bilateral medial rectus recession as an initial surgery for infantile esotropia (8,14,16,18).

In the presence of an IOOA associated with infantile esotropia, we never postponed the inferior oblique weakening surgery, approaching the medial rectus muscles together with the inferior obliques. Figure 2 represents pre- and postoperative images of a patient who underwent inferior oblique weakening surgery with simultaneous medial rectus muscle recession.

Study Limitations

Our study has some limitations related to the retrospective design. First, the study has no data from the sensory state, which is aimed to be restored with surgery in patients with infantile esotropia. However, most of the younger patients in our sample appeared to have a lack of compliance for sensorial status testing. Moreover, undercorrection, a well -known complication of two-muscle surgery in large-angle infantile esotropia, occurred in 22 cases after the bilateral medial rectus recession procedure. If we had performed three-muscle surgey in patients with large-angle infantile esotropia, undercorrection may not be a serious problem in our study. Finally, the average postoperative follow-up time is short (26.8±23.4 months). It has been shown that consecutive exotropia tends to develop over a long period after infantile esotropia surgery. Thus, a longer postoperative follow-up is needed to assess the outcomes of infantile esotropia surgery, it is likely that longer followup periods would be associated with increasing rates of consecutive exotropia.

Conclusion

Most of the clinical features of patients with infantile esotropia in this study were comparable with the findings from previous reports, except for convergence insufficiency. Although, the surgical success and reoperation rates in this study were non-conflicting with those reported in early studies that used bilateral medial rectus recession surgery, the



Figure 2. A patient with infantile esotropia and bilateral inferior oblique overaction, preoperative (above); overelevation of the left eye in adduction (A), esotropia in the primary position (B), overelevation of the right eye in adduction (C); postoperative (below); no elevation of the left eye in adduction (A), orthotropia in the primary position (B), no elevation of the right eye in adduction (C). Written informed consent for images to be published had been obtained from the parents

occurrence of high percentage undercorrection may indicate a need for three-muscle surgery in large-angle infantile esotropia. Studies with longer follow-up times were required to confirm our surgical results because the duration of follow-up is an important parameter for evaluating surgical success rates in all strabismus surgeries.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was ethically approved by the İnönü University Institutional Review Board (approval number: 2020/869) and conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Informed Consent: Obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices: A.G., E.Ö., P.N.G.; Concept: E.Öz., A.G.; Design: E.Ö., E.Öz.; Data Collection or Processing: P.N.G., E.Öz.; Analysis or Interpretation: E.Ö., E.Öz.; Literature Search: E.Öz.; Writing: E.Öz.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Issaho DC, Carvalho FRS, Tabuse MKU, Carrijo-Carvalho LC, de Freitas D. The Use of Botulinum Toxin to Treat Infantile Esotropia: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2017; 58: 5468-76.
- Major A, Maples WC, Toomey S, DeRosier W, Gahn D. Variables associated with the incidence of infantile esotropia. Optometry 2007; 78: 534-41.
- Magli A, Rombetto L, Matarazzo F, Carelli R. Infantile esotropia: risk factors associated with reoperation. Clin Ophthalmol 2016; 10: 2079-83.
- Hug D. Management of infantile esotropia. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 2015; 26: 371-4.
- Magli A, Carelli R, Esposito F, Bruzzese D. Essential Infantile Esotropia: Postoperative Sensory Outcomes of Strabismus Surgery. Semin Ophthalmol 2017; 32: 663-71.
- Simonsz HJ, Kolling GH. Best age for surgery for infantile esotropia. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2011; 15: 205-8.
- Yurdakul NS, Bodur S, Koç F. Surgical Results of Symmetric and Asymmetric Surgeries and Dose-Response in Patients with Infantile Esotropia. Turk J Ophthalmol 2015; 45: 197-202.
- 8. Kim E, Choi DG. Comparison of Surgical Outcomes Between Bilateral Medial Rectus Recession and Unilateral Recess-Resect for Infantile Esotropia. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2019; 26: 102-8.
- 9. Wong AM. Timing of surgery for infantile esotropia: sensory and motor outcomes. Can J Ophthalmol 2008; 43: 643-51.

- Shirabe H, Mori Y, Dogru M, Yamamoto M. Early surgery for infantile esotropia. Br J Ophthalmol 2000; 84: 536-8.
- Chatzistefanou KI, Ladas ID, Droutsas KD, Koutsandrea C, Chimonidou E. Three horizontal muscle surgery for large-angle infantile or presumed infantile esotropia: long-term motor outcomes. JAMA Ophthalmol 2013; 131: 1041-8.
- Scott WE, Reese PD, Hirsh CR, Flabetich CA. Surgery for large-angle congenital esotropia. Two vs three and four horizontal muscles. Arch Ophthalmol 1986; 104: 374-7.
- Santiago AP, Rosenbaum AL. Surgical Dose Tables. In: Rosenbaum AL, Santiago AP, editors. Clinical Strabismus Management, Principles and Surgical Techniques. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company; 1999. p.554.
- Shauly Y, Prager TC, Mazow ML. Clinical characteristics and long-term postoperative results of infantile esotropia. Am J Ophthalmol 1994; 117: 183-9. Erratum in: Am J Ophthalmol 1994; 118: 129.
- 15. Birch EE, Stager DR Sr, Wang J, O'Connor A. Longitudinal changes in refractive error of children with infantile esotropia. Eye (Lond) 2010; 24: 1814-21.
- 16. Lee HJ, Kim JA, Kim SJ, Yu YS. Relation between preoperative hyperopia and surgical outcome in infantile esotropia. Int J Ophthalmol 2018; 11: 1963-7.
- 17. Na KH, Cho YA, Kim SH. Time and Factors Affecting the Direction of Re-drift in Essential Infantile Esotropia. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2018; 55: 93-9.
- Singh A, Parihar JKS, Mishra SK, Maggon R, Badhani A. Outcome of early surgery in infantile esotropia: Our experience in tertiary care hospital. Med J Armed Forces India 2017; 73: 129-33.
- Elliott S, Shafiq A. Interventions for infantile esotropia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; 2013: CD004917. Update in: Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2023; 1: CD004917.
- Khanna RK, Pasco J, Santallier M, Pichard T, Arsene S. Surgical outcomes after unilateral horizontal rectus surgery in children with infantile esotropia for the correction of A or V pattern. J Fr Ophtalmol 2019; 42: 451-6.
- Chatzistefanou KI, Brouzas D, Droutsas KD, Koutsandrea C, Chimonidou E. Unilateral Recession-Resection Surgery for Infantile Esotropia: Survival of Motor Outcomes and Postoperative Drifts. Semin Ophthalmol 2018; 33: 498-505.
- 22. Calcutt C, Murray AD. Untreated essential infantile esotropia: factors affecting the development of amblyopia. Eye (Lond) 1998; 12: 167-72.
- Irving EL, Goltz HC, Steinbach MJ, Kraft SP. Vertical latent nystagmus component and vertical saccadic asymmetries in subjects with dissociated vertical deviation. J AAPOS 1998; 2: 344-50.
- Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group. Spontaneous resolution of earlyonset esotropia: experience of the Congenital Esotropia Observational Study. Am J Ophthalmol 2002; 133: 109-18.
- 25. Shon MA, Hahm KH, Han SH, Hwang JM. Spontaneous resolution of infantile esotropia. J AAPOS 2001; 5: 44-7.
- 26. Bayramlar H, Karadag R, Yildirim A, Oçal A, Sari U, Dag Y. Medium-term outcomes of three horizontal muscle surgery in large-angle infantile esotropia. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2014; 51: 160-4.

Prevalence of Chronic Diseases Among Elementary School Students in Şanlıurfa, Turkey

D Mahmut Kahraman¹, D Selma Kahraman²

¹Eyyübiye Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nursing, Şanlıurfa, Turkey ²Harran University Faculty of Health Sciences, Clinic of Nursing, Şanlıurfa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Chronic diseases, one of the main reasons for morbidity and mortality in all ages, are becoming a significant health problem all over the world in recent times. The population of children with chronic diseases is increasing day by day. While chronic illnesses make life difficult for school-age children, they have a detrimental impact on academic progress. Therefore, studies on this topic are required to improve their quality of life and reduce chronic disease morbidity and mortality rates. This study determines the prevalence of chronic diseases and children's health conditions in elementary school students aged 5 to 12 years.

Methods: This research was designed as a descriptive and cross-sectional study. Between September 2018 and June 2019, 158,445 students in 45 elementary schools in central Şanlıurfa was screened for chronic diseases. The sample was composed of 125 students diagnosed with chronic disease by a doctor.

Results: The prevalence of chronic diseases was determined as 78.89 for every 100,000 students [95% confidence interval (CI), 66.1-94.0]. Asthma (29.6%), epilepsy (14.4%), and hypertension (10.4%) were found as the three most prevalent diseases, and for every 100,000 students, their prevalence was determined as 23.35 (95% CI: 17.0-32.2), 11.36 (95% CI: 7.0-18.3), and 8.2 (95% CI: 5.0-14.0), respectively.

Conclusion: To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study examining the prevalence of chronic diseases and health conditions in the elementary school population. According to the results, the prevalence of chronic diseases was found to be very high among elementary school students and students' health was not at the desired and expected level. Taking into account the results of this study, the employment of school nurses seems a necessity, especially in order to increase students' life quality and school success.

Keywords: Chronic diseases, prevalence, elementary school students, school, public health

Introduction

Today, chronic diseases are a significant health problem across the world, and the pediatric population with chronic diseases is increasing day by day (1-3). Between 10% and 15% of children under the age of 18 have a chronic condition globally. However, this ratio increases over time such that an increase occurred significantly over the past two decades (2,4-6). Similarly, among approximately 25 million children in Turkey, a significant portion of children suffer from chronic diseases (3).

Chronic diseases negatively influence children's health and their school and social life. The school life of children diagnosed with a chronic illness can be interrupted due to frequent hospitalizations, check-ups, treatment, and side effects of medications, resulting in problems in children's adaptation to school (1,5,7-10). Children who cannon attend school due to a chronic condition may lag their peers in the classroom and their academic achievement may decrease as their learning process is hindered. According to The International Council of Nurses, supporting individuals with chronic diseases to better manage their health problems takes part in the roles of nurses for the control of chronic diseases. In this outlook, public health nurses providing professional health assistance can have responsibilities for children with chronic diseases. Considering that children spend 40% of their lives at school, school nurses, a branch of public health nursing, can take part and perform important activities and unique roles for children in coping with chronic diseases, meeting their complicated healthcare needs, facilitating their school adaptation, increasing school success, and preventing social withdrawal and introversion (7-9).

The American Nurses Association has stated that increasing studies show a positive relationship between school attendance and academic achievement in schools with school nurses (5-11). Hill and Hollis reported that elementary school students' learning time increased with the school nurse; otherwise, teachers spent an extra hour teaching (12). Even a study reported that for each US dollar invested in a school nursing



Address for Correspondence: Selma Kahraman, Harran University Faculty of Health Sciences, Clinic of Nursing,
Şanlıurfa, Turkey
Phone: +90 414 318 11 89 E-mail: skahraman1308@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4486-6629
Cite this article as: Kahraman M, Kahraman S. Prevalence of Chronic Diseases Among Elementary School

Received: 02.11.2022 Accepted: 03.05.2023

Students in Şanlıurfa, Turkey. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 191-5.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

program, society would gain benefits worth 2.20 US dollars (5). As a result, the employment of well-trained school health nurses in schools will contribute to the improvement of individual and community health (7-17).

Except for certain private and boarding schools, school nurses are not employed at schools in Turkey. In addition, Community Health Centers provide health services primarily individual follow-ups for children having chronic diseases and being accordingly in the need of follow-up (11,13,15). Therefore, current health services do not meet the need and are inadequate for the management of chronic diseases.

Objective

The population of children in Şanlurfa is higher than those in other cities in Turkey such that every year approximately sixty thousand children start attending elementary school each year (3). Children generally start elementary school at the age of 5. Primary education lasts 4 years. However, to our knowledge, the prevalence of children with chronic diseases among elementary school children aged 5-12 years has not been reported to date. Based on this, the objective of this study was to determine the prevalence of chronic diseases and health conditions of students (aged: 5-12) enrolled at elementary schools in central Şanlurfa. Thus, it was aimed to take a step forward in the management of chronic diseases.

Methods

Population and Sample

This research was designed as a descriptive and cross-sectional study. Şanlurfa city center consists of three districts, namely Eyyübiye, Haliliye, and Karaköprü. There are 61 elementary schools and 214,558 students in these three districts. To determine the number of students with chronic diseases in each school which has usually 2,000-3,000 students, 158,445 students aged 5-12 years in a total of 45 elementary schools in central Şanlıurfa were screened for chronic diseases between September 2018 and June 2019. The percentage of students reached is 73.8% of the total population. No students with chronic diseases were identified in 22 schools. The sample comprised 125 students diagnosed with a chronic disease by a doctor in 23 elementary schools. Before the study, verbal consent was obtained from children with chronic diseases and written consent from their families. At the preliminary stage of the study, ethical approval was obtained from the Clinical Studies Ethics Board of Harran University (appoval number: 02-01, date: 09.02.2017).

Data Collection Tools

Data were collected from both children and families via separate forms. The student form had three parts composed of a total of 27 questions. The first part was the Sociodemographic Information Form, which contained questions about students' age, sex, and socioeconomic status (13 questions). The second part was the Disease Process Evaluation Form, which included questions on the students' chronic disease, treatment, and course of treatment (10 questions). The third part covered questions on the evaluation of the school lives of the students (4 questions). Students filled out the children's form in the courselors room of the school by themselves. Only unclear points were clarified

by the researcher. The average time to answer the questions was 15-20 min. Other data were collected using the family form, composed of questions on the medications and health reports of the students from their families through face-to-face interviews at schools or telephone calls.

Statistical Analysis

The analysis of the collected data, descriptive statistics (frequency, percentage, mean, standard deviation) were used with the SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) 23.0 software. Prevalence rates of chronic diseases were calculated on the basis of 100,000 students.

Results

In this study, a total of 158,445 students in 45 elementary schools located in the center of Şanlurfa were screened for chronic diseases to determine the prevalence of children with chronic diseases among elementary school children aged 5-12 years and the number of students with chronic diseases was determined as 125 students diagnosed with a chronic disease by a doctor in 23 elementary schools. No students with chronic diseases were identified in 22 schools. Based on these data, the prevalence of chronic diseases was calculated as 78.89 per 100,000 [95% confidence interval (CI): 66.1-94.0].

According to Table 1, asthma was found to be the most prevalent chronic disease among the participants (n=37) with a ratio of 29.6%. Asthma was followed by epilepsy (n=18, 14.4%), hypertension (n=13, 10.4%), chronic renal failure (n=12, 9.6%), musculoskeletal diseases (n=10, 8%), and dermatological diseases and gastrointestinal diseases (n=9, 7.2%) (Table 1). Psychological diseases and endocrine diseases except diabetes are given in the section titled "other chronic diseases" (n=7, 6.4%) (Table 1). The prevalence of asthma was calculated as 23.35 per 100,000 children (95% CI 17.0-32.2), the prevalence of epilepsy was 11.36 per 100,000 (95% CI 7.0-18.3), and the prevalence of hypertension was 8.2 per 100,000 (95% CI: 5.0-14.0).

The mean age of the students with chronic diseases was 8.14 ± 1.285 years and 60.8% of them were 5-8 years old. While 40% of the students with chronic diseases were diagnosed between the ages of 1-4, 32% of the students were diagnosed younger than one year. 68.9% of the students pointed out that they had no knowledge about their diseases. 48% of the students stated that they were regularly taking medication for their chronic diseases. In addition, 75% of these students implied that the dose of medication was adjusted by their mother during school hours. As shown in Table 1, 76.8% of the participants did not follow their diet as a part of their treatment. Moreover, 63.2% of the students claimed that they did not take the necessary precautions for the illness at school, such as diet, activity, medication, etc.

Of the children with chronic illness, 52.3% indicated that their academic achievement was average (medium, Table 1). 24% of the students stated that they did not attend school and 64.5% of them stated that their diseases caused them to be absent from school (Table 1).

Examining the demographic data of the participants revealed that 56.8% of them were male, 48.8% had four or more siblings, and 72.0%

were raised in nuclear homes. Furthermore, it was found that 46.4% of the student parents were consanguineous marriages. 19.2% of the participants had a family member with a chronic disease (n=24) such that 75% of the participants had a mother, father, or sibling with a chronic disease. Hypertension and asthma account for 29.2% of the stated chronic diseases.

Table 2 shows the types of chronic diseases based on the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants. As seen in Table 2, 88.9% of the participants with dermatological diseases were female, and the majority of those with asthma (67.6%) and epilepsy (77.8) were male. As a result, the type of chronic disease varies depending on gender as shown in Table 2.

Discussion

One of the significant global health problems is chronic diseases that have negative effects on aged 5-12 years children's health and social and school life. Therefore, the determination of prevalence ratios and children's health conditions is of paramount importance for the management of chronic diseases to improve children's quality of life and increase academic performance. In this context, the study, which is the first in this field to the best of our knowledge, examined the prevalence of chronic diseases and health conditions in the elementary school population.

According to the results, the prevalence of chronic diseases was found 78.89 in per 100,000 children among elementary school students. Moreover, more than half of the participants stated that school is an obstacle to controlling illness and that they can not attend school because of their diseases. Considering these results, this study revealed that school nurses should be employed in schools for the protection and improvement of students' health, early diagnosis, follow-up, and monitoring of chronic diseases in schools. Engelke et al. (10) reported that a school nursing program for chronic diseases in the school environment was effective in both improving children's health and increasing their school success as well.

Among chronic diseases, asthma was found as the most prevalent chronic illness among the participants (n=37) with a ratio of 29.6%, and after that epilepsy, hypertension, chronic renal failure, musculoskeletal diseases, dermatological and gastrointestinal diseases were determined as common chronic illnesses (Table 1). Similarly, Miller et al. (5) found asthma as the most prevalent chronic disease among 5,102 students aged between 8-18 years. According to one researcher in Şanlurfa, the prevalence of asthma and atopic diseases was significantly higher in children who have a family history of atopy, attend a central school, live in an apartment, have more rooms in their homes, and enjoy better economic conditions (18). Moreover, they reported that epilepsy, diabetes, food allergies, and hypertension follow asthma (5). According to the study by Yetiş (11), asthma was the second most common chronic disease among 234 primary school students in Turkey, while diabetes ranked first.

Male students showed a higher prevalence than female students (Table 1). As well as being male (19-23), exposure of male children to environmental factors more frequently, lack of knowledge of family members about chronic disease, use of coal as a means of heating in

winter months, and smoking by family members can lead to asthma.

Most of the participants with asthma, epilepsy, and dermatological diseases were members of nuclear families (Table 2). Children with chronic diseases from extended families have significantly more behavioral disorders than those from nuclear families (13,21). Recently, turning extended families into nuclear ones can cause this result in our study.

According to the findings, epilepsy was the second most prevalent chronic disease (14.4%, Table 1) and male students had a higher prevalence (Table 2). In a recent study, the prevalence of epilepsy in children and adolescents was determined to be approximately 0.7% (24). In another study, the prevalence of epilepsy in children was calculated as 0.69% (5). In research conducted on children aged between 0 and 16 years in Turkey, the prevalence of epilepsy was found to be 0.8% (25). Since epilepsy seizures are more frequent in children aged below 15 years in developed countries (5,24,26), school nurses can play a role in designing healthcare services and follow-ups for school-age children with epilepsy and offer healthcare services for preventing their psychosocial problems and raising the quality of their lives.

Table 1.	Disease-related	characteristics	of	the	participants

Variables	n	%
Chronic diseases		
Asthma	37	29.6
Epilepsy	18	14.4
Hypertension	13	10.4
Chronic renal failure	12	9.6
Musculoskeletal diseases	10	8.0
Dermatological diseases	9	7.2
Gastrointestinal diseases	9	7.2
Anemia	6	4.8
Diabetes	4	3.2
Other diseases	7	6.4
Age of diagnosis		
Younger than 1 year	40	32.0
1-4 years	50	40.0
After 4 years	35	28.0
Regular use of medications		
Yes	60	48.0
No	65	52.0
Following a specific diet		
Yes	29	23.2
No	96	76.8
School achievement level		
High	28	25.7
Medium	57	52.3
Low	24	22.0
Absenteeism at school		
Yes	27	24.8
No	82	75.2

	Types	of chror	nic dise	ases														
	Anemi	a	Нуре	rtension	De dis	rmatological eases	Gasti disea	rointestinal ases	Diab	etes	Mu dis	usculoskeletal seases	Asth	ima	Epile	psy	Other	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Sex																		
Female	4	66.7	5	38.5	8	88.9	6	66.7	2	50.0	3	30.0	12	32.4	4	22.2	10	52.6
Male	2	33.3	8	61.5	1	11.1	3	33.3	2	50.0	7	70.0	25	67.6	14	77.8	9	47.4
Age																		
5-8 years	5	83.3	7	53.8	4	44.4	7	77.8	2	50.0	8	80.0	23	62.2	9	50.0	11	57.9
9-12 years	1	16.7	6	46.2	5	55.6	2	22.2	2	50.0	2	20.0	14	37.8	9	50.0	8	42.1
The numbe	r of sibli	ings																
0-3	3	50.0	5	38.5	3	33.3	5	55.6	1	25.0	6	60.0	20	54.1	10	55.6	10	52.6
4 or above	3	50.0	8	61.5	6	66.7	4	44.4	3	75.0	4	40.0	17	45.9	8	44.4	9	47.4
Family type																		
Nuclear	5	83.3	7	53.8	8	88.9	7	77.8	3	75.0	6	60.0	25	67.6	16	88.9	13	68.4
Extended	1	16.7	6	46.2	1	11.1	2	22.2	1	25.0	4	40.0	12	32.4	2	11.1	6	31.6
School achi	evemen	t level																
High	1	16.7	2	16.7	1	16.7	2	28.6	0	.0	0	.0	13	40.6	3	18.8	6	33.3
Medium	3	50.0	8	66.6	3	50.0	3	42.8	3	100.0	6	66.7	16	50.0	7	43.8	8	44.4
Low	2	33.3	2	16.7	2	33.3	2	28.6	0	.0	3	33.3	3	9.4	6	37.5	4	22.2
Absenteeisn	n at sch	ool																
Yes	3	50.0	2	16.7	1	16.7	2	71.4	0	.0	2	22.2	9	71.9	3	18.8	5	27.8
No	3	50.0	10	83.3	5	83.3	5	28.6	3	100.0	7	78.8	23	21.1	13	81.2	13	72.2

Table 2. Types of chronic diseases based on the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants

n: Number, %: Percent

In this study, hypertension was identified as the third most prevalent chronic disease among the participants (10.4 %, Table 1). A previous study demonstrated the prevalence of hypertension in children aged between 6-11 years as 0.04% (27). Today, the prevalence of hypertensive diseases in children and adolescents ranges between 3% and 5%. Also, half of the adults with hypertension has this disease in their childhood (27,28). It is noteworthy mentioning that blood pressure tests performed by school nurses can enable the diagnosis of hypertension, take urgent measures, and stop its progression at an early stage.

One of the important findings of this study is that 46.4% of the participants with chronic diseases were born because of consanguineous marriage since consanguineous marriage in Şanlurfa is quite common. Consanguineous marriages have a significant effect on the epidemiology of genetic diseases. Similarly, in a study conducted on 66 women whose parents were consanguineous, 13 women had chronic diseases (29).

Anemia and diabetes are among the chronic diseases that their prevalence constantly drops in children (30,31). Our study is compatible with the literature such that anemia and diabetes were at the bottom of prevalence rankings. However, recent studies showed that even though the prevalence of both anemia and diabetes (type 1) drops during childhood across the world, both diseases are still considered critical health issues in less developed and developing countries that have low levels of socio-economic welfare (29,30,31). Problems in school life such as inadequate health care, unhealthy nutrition, and restrictions arising from school rules may be a reason for this situation. School nurses can

make great contributions to overcome such disadvantages. In the study by Ayaz (31) (2014), 92.7% of the teachers stated that nurses should be employed in schools and 91.9% stated that the employment of nurses in schools would contribute to the health of students (31).

Study Limitations

In this study, 16 of 61 primary schools were not screened because the school principals did not accept them. One of the limitations of this study is to go to a school once and not include children who have been diagnosed later. The fact that counselors do not know children with chronic diseases is another limitation. An appointment was made from the school outside class hours for all student interviews. Therefore, the data collection process lasted longer than expected time. The results of this study can only be generalized to children with similar characteristics.

Conclusion

In summary, the prevalence of chronic diseases in 158,445 elementary school students was found to be 78.89 per 100,000 students in the study. Asthma, epilepsy, and hypertension were found to be the three most prevalent diseases. Additionally, students' health was determined below the desired and expected levels. Taking into account the results of this study, the employment of school nurses seems a necessity, especially in order to increase students' quality of life and school success. The employment of well-trained school health nurses in schools will contribute to the improvement of individual and community health. However, future studies are needed to determine the effects of school

nursing programs on the management of chronic diseases including in Turkey.

Ethics Committee Approval: At the preliminary stage of the study, ethical approval was obtained from the Clinical Studies Ethics Board of Harran University (appoval number: 02-01, date: 09.02.2017).

Informed Consent: Before the study, verbal consent was obtained from children with chronic diseases and written consent from their families.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.K., S.K., Concept: M.K., S.K., Design: M.K., S.K., Data Collection or Processing: M.K., Analysis or Interpretation: M.K., S.K., Literature Search: M.K., S.K., Writing: M.K., S.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Özdemir S, Taşçı S. Psychosocial problems and care of chronic diseases. Erciyes University Health Sciences Faculty Journal 2013; 1: 57-72 (Turkish).
- 2. T.C. Health Ministry. Physical Activity Guide for Children and Adolescents in Chronic Diseases; 2018.
- WHO Turkey Office. Turkey household health survey: risk factors prevalence of noncommunicable diseases in 2017 (Steps). In: Üner S, Balcılar M, Ergüder T (ed). Ankara; 2018.
- Bloom B, Cohen RA, Freeman G. Summary health statistics for U.S. children: National Health Interview Survey, 2009. Vital Health Stat 10 2010; 258: 1-82.
- Miller GF, Coffield E, Leroy Z, Wallin D. Prevalence and Costs of Five Chronic Conditions in Children. J Sch Nurs 2016; 32: 357-64.
- Perrin JM, Bloom SR, Gortmaker SL. The increase of childhood chronic conditions in the United States. JAMA 2007; 297: 2755-9.
- Zylke JW, DeAngelis C. Pediatric chronic illness-Stealing childhood. Journal of the American Medical Association 2007; 297: 2765-6.
- 8. Forrest CB, Bevans KB, Riley AW, Crespo R, Louis TA. School outcomes of children with special health care needs. Pediatrics 2011; 128: 303-12.
- Wang LY, Vernon-Smiley M, Gapinski MA, Desisto M, Maughan E, Sheetz A. Cost-benefit study of school nursing services. JAMA Pediatr 2014; 168: 642-8.
- Engelke MK, Guttu M, Warren MB, Swanson M. School nurse case management for children with chronic illness: health, academic, and quality of life outcomes. J Sch Nurs 2008; 24: 205-14.
- Yetiş G. The effect of perceived social support of children with a chronic disease on their school success. İnönü University Health Sciences. Master Thesis, Malatya; 2014.
- Yıldız Akkuş S, Bütün Ayhan A. Investigation of the behavioral problems and life quality of the children with chronic diseases. Turkish J Pediatr Dis 2020; 14: 129-35 (Turkish).
- American Academy of Pediatrics. The role of the school nurse in providing school health services. Pediatrics 2008; 121: 1052-6.

- 14. Bahar Z. School health nursing. Dokuz Eylül University Nursing High School 2010; 3:195-200 (Turkish).
- Koçoğlu D, Emiroğlu ON. Evaluation of the role of school nurse in school health screening program. Journal of Research and Development in Nursing 2011; 3: 5-19 (Turkish).
- Ulutaşdemir N, Balsak H, Öztürk Çopur E, Demiroğlu N. A branch of public health nursery: school health nursing, Turkiye Klinikleri J Public Health Nurs-Special Topics 2016; 2: 121-4 (Turkish).
- 17. Hill NJ, Hollis M. Teacher time spent on student health issues and school nurse presence. J Sch Nurs 2012; 28: 181-6.
- Zeyrek CD, Zeyrek F, Sevinc E, Demir E. Prevalence of asthma and allergic diseases in Sanliurfa, Turkey, and the relation to environmental and socioeconomic factors: is the hygiene hypothesis enough?. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2006; 16: 290-5.
- Akcay A, Tamay Z, Dağdeviren E, Zencir M, Ones U, Guler N. The prevalences of allergic diseases symptoms among 6-7 yr–old school children in Denizli. Ege Journal of Medicine 2007; 46: 145-50 (Turkish).
- 20. Bayram I, Kendirli GS, Yilmaz M, Altıntaş DU, Alparaslan N, Karakoç GB. The prevalence of asthma and allergic diseases in children of school age in Adana in southern Turkey. Turk J Pediatr 2004; 46: 221-5.
- Bulduk S, Esin N. Prevalence of asthma and allergic symptoms and related factors among children of elementary school. Maltepe University Nursing Science and Art Magazine 2009; 2: 13-22.
- Kaçkin Ö. The effect of discharge education on the course of asthma given to parents with asthmatic children. Harran University Health Sciences. Master Thesis, Şanlıurfa; 2016
- Karagöl C, İlbilge H, Karagöl E, Keleş S, Artaç H, Reisli İ. Clinical features and risk factors in children with acute asthma attack. Asthma Allergy Immunol 2012; 10: 70-7.
- 24. Russ SA, Larson K, Halfon N. A national profile of childhood epilepsy and seizure disorder. Pediatrics 2012; 129: 256-64.
- Üçer H, Sucaklı M. Çelik M, Keten H. Primary school teachers' knowledge, attitudes and behaviors about childhood epilepsy. Cukurova Med 2016; 41: 491-5 (Turkish).
- 26. Görgülü Ü, Fesci H. Life with epilepsy: Epilepsy's psychosocial effects. Göztepe Medicine Journal 2013; 26: 27-32.
- Güven B, Eliaçık K, Kanık A. Hypertension in Children and Adolescents: Diagnosis and Treatment in the Light of Recent Developments? Journal of Clinical Medical Sciences 2017; 5: 5-9 (Turkish).
- Arslan K, Özmerdivenli R, Yektaş Ç, Eröz R. Investigation of consanguineous marital status and frequency of chronic and genetics disease that related this condition in Eskipazar district region of western black sea. Düzce Medical Journal 2016; 18(2): 54-9.
- 29. Karagün BŞ, Korkmaz Ö, Gürsu AH, Cevit Ö, Solmaz S. Bayram B, et al. The prevalence of anemia among children aged 1-15 admitted to hospital in Sivas. The Journal of Current Pediatrics 2014; 2: 67-72.
- Moussa MA, Alsaeid M, Abdella N, Refai TM, Al-Sheikh N, Gomez JE. Prevalence of type 1 diabetes among 6- to 18-year-old Kuwaiti Children. Med Princ Pract 2005; 14: 87-91.
- 31. Ayaz S. Opinions of elementary school teachers regarding school health nursing. Hacettepe University Nursing Faculty Journal 2014; 42-52 (Turkish).

Comparison of the Effects of Pharyngeal Packing and Gastric Aspiration with an Orogastric Tube on Postoperative Nausea, Vomiting and Sore Throat in Septorhinoplasty

🕲 Yaşar Gökhan Gül¹, 🕲 Ali Haspolat², 🕲 Halil Can Canatan³, 🕲 Ali Şefik Köprülü⁴, 🕲 Emine Uzunoğlu¹

¹istanbul Medipol University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

²Kolan International Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Istanbul, Turkey

³Private Güngören Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

⁴istanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: We compared the effects of pharyngeal packing and gastric decompression with orogastric tube application on the incidence of nausea/vomiting, sore throat, and dysphagia. As a secondary objective, we assessed the effect of the selected method on the postoperative pain score and patient satisfaction.

Methods: In this randomized, prospective study were 60 patients aged 18-50 years who underwent elective septorhinoplasty. Nasopharyngeal packing was performed in group 1 and gastric decompression with an orogastric tube in group 2, and both procedures were terminated by the practitioner before extubation. Between-group demographic data, duration of operation/ anesthesia, hemodynamic parameters, nausea, vomiting, additional antiemetic requirement, pain/dysphagia during swallowing, visual analogue scale (VAS), and patient satisfaction were measured at 24 h, and the group findings were compared.

Results: The demographic findings and durations of anesthesia/operation were not statistically different between the groups, and there was no difference in postoperative nausea and vomiting, VAS, and satisfaction scores. In contrast, sore throat was twice as common in the nasopharyngeal pack group but decreased over time.

Conclusion: The routine packing approach should be abandoned by anesthesiologists. Because pharyngeal packing is not a completely risk-free procedure, we do not recommend intraoperative packing during nasal surgery. If indicated for surgical reasons, however, protocols, checklists, and observation forms pre-prepared with the participation of the surgical and anesthesia teams should be used. All materials should be included in the surgical (scrub) count, and it should be ensured that all materials are removed before extubation with a matching count. Regardless of the method used, it should not be forgotten that the anesthesiologist is responsible for the examination of the oral cavity and throat via direct laryngoscopy and, if necessary, aspiration before extubation.

Keywords: Postoperative nausea and vomiting, sore throat, pharyngeal packing, aspiration with an orogastric tube

Introduction

Postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) is a significant complication that affects patient comfort, with an average rate of 30% in surgical patients and up to 80% in the high-risk groups (1). This condition can be extremely stressful and is directly associated with patient satisfaction. It may further lead to additional problems such as significantly longer postanesthesia care unit stays, unexpected hospitalization of outpatients, impaired surgical success, and increased healthcare costs (1).

PONV is associated with the surgical method and risk factors such as gender, age, the method of anesthesia and smoking. During pharyngeal, orthognathic and nasal operations in particular, swallowing blood may

lead to nausea and vomiting (2), and "pharyngeal packs" are used to reduce the amount of blood swallowed and to prevent the ingestion of foreign materials such as teeth, bone fragments and small items of surgical equipment (3,4). Pharyngeal packing has also been associated with complications such as ruptures of mucous membranes, hematoma, edema of the soft palate and uvula, and even the tongue, sore throat, and stomatitis. If not removed before extubation, serious complications such as airway obstruction and hypoxia may develop, which can lead to death (2,3,5,6). Another approach used in daily clinical practice is gastric decompression via an orogastric tube and aspiration of swallowed blood (7).



Address for Correspondence: Yaşar Gökhan Gül MD, İstanbul Medipol University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 506 623 51 51 E-mail: doctorgul@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9531-4317

Received: 20.02.2023 Accepted: 05.05.2023

Cite this article as: Gül YG, Haspolat A, Canatan HC, Köprülü AŞ, Uzunoğlu E. Comparison of the Effects of Pharyngeal Packing and Gastric Aspiration with an Orogastric Tube on Postoperative Nausea, Vomiting and Sore Throat in Septorhinoplasty. Istanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 196-203.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

The present study compares the effects of pharyngeal packing and gastric emptying with an orogastric tube on incidences of PONV, sore throat, and pain while swallowing (dysphagia) among patients undergoing septorhinoplasty. As a secondary objective, we assessed the effect of the selected method on postoperative pain visual analog scale (VAS) and patient satisfaction.

Methods

This randomized, prospective study of ASA I patients aged 18-50 years who were scheduled for elective septorhinoplasty in a university hospital's ear, nose and throat (ENT) clinic was launched after the granting of İstanbul Medipol University Ethics Committee approval (approval number: 611, date: 03.06.2021). Patients with chronic diseases other than ASA I (diabetes mellitus, heart failure, liver/kidney disease), individual or familial malignant hyperthermia, a history of muscular/neurological disease, dependence on opioids, alcohol or other drugs, menstruating and lactating women, patients with drug allergies, those using anticoagulants, non-smokers, those with a history of motion sickness in their daily life, and those with a history of nausea and vomiting in their medical history were excluded from the study. Informed consent was obtained from the patients.

The patients were scheduled as the first case in the morning (following 6-8 hours of fasting) and were randomly divided into two groups using the sealed envelope method before being taken to the operating room. In group 1 patients, a pharyngeal pack moistened with isotonic solution was placed after intubation and removed by the same physician before extubation. In group 2, an orogastric tube was inserted for drainage, as visualized by laryngoscopy after intubation. After the operation, a final aspiration was made, the orogastric tube was removed, and the patient was extubated. The same experienced anesthesiology and ENT teams participated in the operations of all patients. After being taken to the operating room, the patients' electrocardiographic, peripheral SpO₂, and non-invasive blood pressure was monitored. Vascular access was established and premedication with 0.05 mg.kg⁻¹ intravenous midazolam were administered. The induction of anesthesia was achieved with 2 mg.kg⁻¹ IV propofol, 1 mcg.kg⁻¹ IV fentanyl, and 0.6 mg.kg⁻¹ IV rocuroniums. Anesthesia was maintained with 1-2% sevoflurane and 50 mcg/h remifentanil in a 50% oxygen-air mixture. All patients underwent orotracheal intubation, and the mechanical ventilator was set to a tidal volume of 6-7 mL.kg⁻¹, and a PEEP of 2-3 cmH₂O in volume-control mode at an end tidal pCO₂ of 30-35 mmHg. When the heart rate or mean blood pressure increased by 20% from the pre-operative values, 25 mcg bolus fentanyl was administered.

In group 1, after intubation, a throat pack consisting of four gauze pads soaked in 0.9% isotonic solution, standardized, and attached with a wide cotton tie in a knotless roll was placed under direct vision by an experienced anesthesiologist, avoiding oropharyngeal trauma. In group 2, an orogastric probe was inserted under direct laryngoscopy by an anesthesiologist to prevent oropharyngeal trauma after intubation, and drainage was performed. The probe was gently aspirated one last time before extubation and then removed. All patients were administered 1 g IV paracetamol and 0.5 mg.kg⁻¹ IV aldolan 30 min at the end of the surgical procedure for postoperative analgesia. To prevent concurrent nausea and vomiting, 4 mg IV ondansetron was administered. After the operation, a nasal silicone splint was placed in all patients by the ENT specialist. Spontaneous ventilation was performed, and 2-4 mg/kg bridion was used for decurarization. Once spontaneous ventilation was sufficient, the patient was extubated and taken to the recovery room (PACU). Perioperative pre-induction (T1) and post-extubation 10-minute (T2) hemodynamic measurements (MAP, HR) were made, and the demographic information and durations of anesthesia/operation of the patients were recorded. Kortilla's scale was used to determine postoperative PONV (8), which assesses PONV as follows:

No PONV: The absence of any emetic episode or nausea.

Mild PONV: Mild nausea or one emetic episode, or short-lasting (~10 min) nausea of any severity triggered by exogenous stimulus (e.g. drinking, eating or postoperative movement) followed by diminished nausea and the patient's feeling well throughout the entire observation period with no antiemetic drug requirement,

Moderate PONV: One or two emetic episodes or moderate or severe nausea without the exogenous stimulus or a single requirement for antiemetic therapy.

Severe PONV: More than two emetic or moderate to severe nauseous episodes requiring at least one antiemetic administration.

In the event of moderate or severe PONV, 4 mg ondansetron IV was administered for treatment. Pain was assessed using the VAS. Hemodynamic parameters, nausea, vomiting, additional antiemetic requirement, pain while swallowing/dysphagia, and VAS were examined in the postoperative post-anesthesia follow-up unit at postoperative 0 h (T2), 6 h (T3) and 24 h (T4). At 24 h, patient satisfaction was assessed using a four-option rating scale (1: Not at all satisfied, 2: Moderately dissatisfied, 3: Satisfied, 4: Completely satisfied).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis of the study findings was carried out using IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) based on descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, ratio, minimum, maximum and Q₁-Q₂ quartiles). Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Shapiro-Wilk, and Skewness-Kurtosis tests and graphical assessments were used to test the normality of the distribution of quantitative data. An Independent samples t-test was used to compare the normally distributed quantitative data of two groups, while a Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the non-normally distributed data of two groups. A Repeated Measures test (Analysis of Variance in repeated measurements) was used to evaluate the follow-up of normally distributed variables. A Friedman test was preferred for the follow-up evaluation of the variables without a normal distribution, and a Bonferroni Dunn test was used for the evaluation of pairwise comparisons. Qualitative variables were compared using Pearson's chi-square test, Fisher's exact test, and Fisher-Freeman-Halton exact test. The level of significance was considered p<0.05.

Results

The study was conducted between 01.07.2021 and 30.11.2021, and involved a total of 60 cases, of which 90.0% (n=54) were female and 10.0% (n=6) were male. The patients were aged 18-47 years, with a mean age of 27.35 \pm 6.96 years; the mean body mass index of the cases was 22.82 \pm 3.09 kg/m² (17.6-31.3 kg/m²); the duration of anesthesia was in the range of 115-260 min, with a mean of 165.33 \pm 35.77 min; and the mean operation duration was 150.43 \pm 37.30 min (103-249 min.). The mean age, gender distribution, height, weight, and BMI measurements, and the durations of anesthesia and operation did not differ statistically between the two groups (p>0.05). All these data are summarized in Table 1.

The mean values were not within the pathological limits in any of the patients' hemodynamic measurements (MAP, HR) at the (T1, T2, T3, T4) time points. Between- and intragroup comparisons revealed no

Table 1. Evaluation of descriptive characteristics by groups

statistically significant difference between GI and GII (p>0.05). The data are presented in Table 2.

There was no statistically significant difference in the incidence rates of nausea and vomiting at postoperative 0 6, and 24 h between the GI and GII groups (p>0.05). In both groups, the rate of PONV underwent a statistically significant decrease over time (Graphic 1). There was also no difference in antiemetics use between the groups. In GI, the use of antiemetics increased after 6 h compared to 0 h, but had decreased significantly by 24 h compared to 6 h. In GII, in turn, the use of antiemetics did not significantly differ between the hours. Sore throat complaints were statistically and significantly more common in GI in GII. In GI, there was no difference between hours 0 and 6, while pain decreased significantly at 24 h. In GII, in turn, no difference was found between measurement times (Graphic 2). There was also no significant difference in dysphagia between and within the groups. All the data on complications are presented in Table 3.

		Total (n=60)	Group 1 (n=30)	Group 2, (n=30)	Test value
Ago (voars)	Median (minmax.)	17-47 (26)	17-47 (25.5)	20-45 (27)	t: -0.571
Age (years)	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	27.35±6.96	26.83±7.80	27.87±6.11	^a p: 0.570
C and d and d $(0/)$	Female	54 (90.0)	27 (90.0)	27 (90.0)	-
	Male	6 (10.0)	3 (10.0)	3 (10.0)	
Height (cm)	Median (minmax.)	147-192 (165)	147-180 (164.5)	155-192 (165)	t: -1.038
	$Mean\pmSD$	165.55±7.59	164.53±6.98	166.57±8.16	^a p: 0.304
M(-1-1+(1,-))	Median (minmax.)	42-86 (62.5)	42-85 (62.5)	45-86 (61.5)	t: 0.236
weight (kg)	$Mean \pm SD$	62.43±9.77	62.73±10.08	62.13±9.61	^a p: 0.814
$PMI \left(k \alpha / m^2 \right)$	Median (minmax.)	17.6-31.3 (22.8)	17.9-31.3 (22.8)	17.6-29.3 (22.7)	t: 0.849
Divit (kg/111.)	$Mean \pm SD$	22.82±3.09	23.16±3.30	22.48±2.88	^a p: 0.399
The duration of anesthesia	Median (minmax.)	115-260 (155)	115-260 (159)	125-255 (155)	t: -0.043
(min)	$Mean\pmSD$	165.33±35.77	165.13±36.99	165.53±35.14	^a p: 0.966
The duration of operation	Median (minmax.)	103-249 (140)	103-249 (145)	105-235 (138.5)	t: -0.062
(min)	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	150.43±37.30	150.13±37.48	150.73±37.76	^a p: 0.951

¹Independent Samples t-test, min.-max.: Minimum-maximum, SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index

Table 2. Evaluation of mean	nemodynamic measurements	at follow-up by groups

Mean ± SD		Group 1, (n=30)	Group 2, (n=30)	Test values t	d n
		Mean ± SD		Test value: t	P
	Pre-operative	85.09±8.86	84.45±8.54	0.284	0.778
	Postoperative hour 0	83.38±7.65	84.20±7.78	0.410	0.683
MAD	Postoperative hour 6	84.59±7.95	85.80±5.06	0.704	0.484
MAP	Postoperative hour 24	84.43±6.76	86.63±7.30	1.210	0.231
	Test value: F	0.025	0.461		
	^ь р	0.875	0.712		
	Pre-operative	85.60±9.38	83.17±7.77	1.094	0.278
	Postoperative hour 0	83.53±8.44	84.3±10.21	-0.316	0.753
ЦВ	Postoperative hour 6	85.13±7.91	85.53±5.12	-0.233	0.817
пк	Postoperative hour 24	84.67±7.29	85.83±5.85	-0.684	0.497
	Test value: F	0.289	0.706		
	^ь р	0.833	0.557		
		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			

^aIndependent Samples t-test, ^bRepeated Measures test, SD: Standard deviation

In the evaluation of VAS, neither group exceeded the limit considered as the mean significant pain (VAS \geq 4) at any measurement time because of the routine clinical analgesic protocol. There was no difference in VAS between GI and GII, while within-group comparisons made in both groups revealed higher VAS values at 6 h than at 0 h, and at 24 h than at 0 h, and a significant decrease at 24 h when compared to



Graphic 1. Distribution of nausea-vomiting incidence rates at follow-up



Graphic 2. Distribution of sore throat incidence rates at follow-up



Graphic 3. Distribution of patient satisfaction scores at follow-up SD: Standard deviation

6 h. Furthermore, no difference was noted in the patient satisfaction scores of the groups (Graphic 3). The data on VAS and satisfaction are summarized in Table 4.

Discussion

PONV is considered to be one of the most distressing factors among patients undergoing surgery under general anesthesia. Besides the adverse psychological adverse, PONV can also cause airway obstruction, aspiration pneumonia, subcutaneous emphysema, bleeding from surgical incisions, opening and healing delays, increased intracranial pressure, dehydration, electrolyte imbalance, and malnutrition. Prolonged hospital stays and increased costs may be experienced due to insufficient oral intake, and patients thus have negative impression about anesthesia and surgery (7).

Nasal and orthognathic surgery is growing in popularity worldwide for the correction of various growth disorders and congenital anomalies of the nasal, oral, and maxillofacial regions. Operations in these regions with high vascularization may cause severe bleeding, increasing the incidence of PONV due to blood swallowing in some patients (2,9,10). Therefore, the use of pharyngeal packs, which act as a physical barrier preventing the passage of blood, is standard practice in some countries (11). The study by Knepil and Blackburn (12) found a prevalence of use in the United Kingdom of 39%, while 52% were intermittent users and only 9% were never users. Although the available evidence is insufficient to justify the use of pharyngeal packs, many surgeons and anesthesiologists continue to use such packs during oral, nasal, and maxillofacial surgical procedures because of past experience, and have recommended different materials and packing types (2,4,11).

Although there has been no study to date reporting the rate of use of nasopharyngeal packing in our country, it is routinely used in many clinics in daily practice (11-13). Temel et al. (14), in their 2019 study, stated that pharyngeal packing reduced the increase in gastric volume associated with perioperative blood swallowing in elective nasal surgeries and that the method could be considered useful and safe for the reduction of the risk of perioperative pulmonary aspiration in such surgeries. However, there are opposing views stating that pharyngeal packing has no effect on PONV, contrary to the intended effect, and that there is potential for damage to the pharyngeal mucosa and postoperative sore throat, and even life-threatening complications (2,3,5,6,15-18). The study by Basha et al. (15) of 100 patients showed that pharyngeal packing had no effect on the incidence of PONV but increased the incidence of sore throat significantly, while opting not to carry out pharyngeal packing did not increase postoperative aspiration or vomiting. Many other studies, such as those by Korkut et al. (10), Meco et al. (13), Razavi et al. (17), Piltcher et al. (18) and Green et al. (19), have reached similar findings at different times. Piltcher et al. (18) reported no difference in the incidence of PONV between their pharyngeal packing group and their control group, in which no additional precautions were taken. Contrary to classical empirical thinking, this study argues that blood swallowing during surgery may not be a determinant of PONV. Furthermore, there have also been studies reporting that the removal of blood from the stomach using different methods, such as perioperative orogastric aspiration, also has no effect on PONV (20-22). It is also quite likely that besides

Table 3. Evaluation of postoperative complications by groups

Protocontine complications			Group 1, (n=30)	Group 2, (n=30)	Test values 2	
Postoperative complications			n (%)	n (%)	lest value; χ^2	р
	Postoperative hour 0	No	17 (56.7)	15 (50.0)	1.776	٥.586°
		Mild	13 (43.3)	13 (43.3)		
		Moderate	0 (0)	2 (6.7)		
Nausea-vomiting (PONV)	Postoperative hour 6	No	22 (73.3)	20 (66.7)	2.139	٥.410°
		Mild	3 (10.0)	7 (23.3)		
		Moderate	5 (16.7)	3 (10)		
	Postop.hour24	No	27 (90.0)	28 (93.3)	0.218	^d 1.000
		Mild	3 (10.0)	2 (6.7)		
	Test value; χ^2		8.098	14.233		
	^f p		0.017	0.001**		
	Postoperative hours 0-6	ō	0.478	0.478		
Intragroup pairs, ^g p	Postoperative hours 0-2	24	0.045*	0.020*		
	Postoperative hours 6-2	24	0.197	0.061		
	Postoperative hour 0		0 (0)	2 (6.7)	2.069	^d 0.492
Antiemetic use (AE)	Postoperative hour 6		5 (16.7)	3 (10.0)	0.577	^d 0.706
	Postoperative hour 24		0 (0)	0 (0)	-	-
	Test value; χ^2		10.000	2.800		
	^f p		0.007**	0.247		
	Postoperative hours 0-6	ō	0.019*	1.000		
Intragroup pairs, ^g p	Postoperative hours 0-2	24	1.000	0.820		
	Postoperative hours 6-2	24	0.019*	0.301		
	Postoperative hour 0		13 (43.3)	5 (16.7)	5.079	°0.024
	Postoperative hour 6		10 (33.3)	5 (16.7)	2.222	°0.136
Sore throat (ST)	Postoperative hour 24		5 (16.7)	1 (3.3)	2.963	^d 0.195
	Test value; χ^2		12.250	5.333		
	^f p		0.002**	0.069		
	Postoperative hours 0-6	ō	0.582	1.000		
Intragroup pairs, ^g p	Postoperative hours 0-2	24	0.002**	0.137		
	Postoperative hours 6-2	24	0.091	0.137		
	Postoperative hour 0		2 (6.7)	3 (10.0)	0.218	^d 0.640
	Postoperative hour 6		2 (6.7)	1 (3.3)	0.351	^d 0.554
Dysphagia (DSFG)	Postoperative hour 24		0 (0)	1 (3.3)	1.017	^d 1.000
	Test value; χ^2		2.667	4.000		
	^f p		0.264	0.135		
	Postoperative hours 0-6	õ	1.000	0.250		
Intragroup pairs, ^g p	Postoperative hours 0-2	24	0.472	0.250		
	Postoperative hours 6-2	24	0.472	1.000		

^cFisher Freeman Halton Exact test, ^dFisher's exact test, ^ePearson's chi-square test, ^fFriedman test, ^gBonferroni-Dunn test, ^{*}p<0.05, ^{**}p<0.01, PONV: Postoperative nausea and vomiting

the above factors, modern surgical/anesthetic techniques and drugs has reduced the amount of bleeding compared to 20 years ago (5).

Study Limitations

Our study, like all those that came before it, could not demonstrate the superiority of pharyngeal packing over orogastric suctioning in the prevention of PONV and in the use of antiemetics. In the present study, limitations such as "comparison of different types of surgical application data, differences in operative times, the lack of information on the type of postoperative dressing, and differences in the packing localization/ type" expressed by authors such as Appadurai and Tomkinson (23) against those who support the opposing view on nasopharyngeal packing were minimized through the choice of a single type of surgery - "septorhinoplasty", and using the same anesthesiology and surgical
Table 4. Evaluation of VAS and Satisfaction inclusives by Stoups								
				Group 1 (n=30)	Group 2 (n=30)	Test value;		
	Postoporativo hour 0	Median (Q ¹ -Q ³)		2 (0-2.25)	1 (0.75-3)	Z: -0.152		
	Postoperative nour o	$Mean\pmSD$		1.53±1.20	1.63±1.35	^h p: 0.879	^h p: 0.879	
1/46	Postoporativo hour 6	Median (Q ¹ -Q ³)		3 (2-6)	2 (2-6)	Z: -0.486		
VAS	Postoperative nour 6	$Mean \pm SD$		3.73±1.74	3.53±2.15	^h p: 0.627		
	Destancestive hour 24	Median (Q ₁ -Q ₃)		2 (2-2.25)	2 (2-2)	Z: -1.143		
	Postoperative nour 24	Mean \pm SD		2.27±0.74	2.13±0.90	^h p: 0.253		
			Total, (n=60)	Group 1, (n=30)	Group 2, (n=30)	Test values 7	hn	
			n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	Test value: Z	"h	
Satisfaction score		Median (Q ₁ -Q ₃)	3 (3-4)	3 (3-4)	3 (3-4)	-0.480	0.631	
		$Mean\pmSD$	3.05±0.85	3.03±0.76	3.07±0.94			
		Score 1 4 (6.7)		1 (3.3)	3 (10.0)			
		Score 2	8 (13.3)	5 (16.7)	3 (10.0)			
		Score 3	29 (48.3)	16 (53.3)	13 (43.3)			
		Score 4	19 (31.7)	8 (26.7)	11 (36.7)			

Table 4. Evaluation of VAS and satisfaction measures by groups

^hMann-Whitney U test, ^fFriedman test, ^gBonferroni-Dunn test, ^{*}p<0.05, ^{**}p<0.01. VAS: Visual analogue scale

teams. The generally accepted risk factors for the development of PONV in adults include a history of motion sickness or PONV, smoking status, use of inhalation anesthetics and/or nitrous oxide, intraoperative or postoperative opioid use, female gender, age, prolonged surgery, and certain types of surgical procedures (10,20). Our study established no difference in these risk factors between the groups. Furthermore, unlike researchers such as Korkut et al. (10), it was our aim to test what occurs under real conditions in the clinic through the use of the routine antiemetic/analgesic protocol in these operations. Although the PONV rate in both groups in the present study was consistent with the classical data, the absence of a control group in which no additional precautions were taken, the failure to determine the type/amount of gastric fluid aspirated by orogastric tube, and the numerical quantity of the groups can be considered limitations of our study. In our opinion, the higher incidence of PONV in ENT surgeries can be attributed to the "nasoemetic" reflex. The sensory nerves of the nose come from the ophthalmic and maxillary branches of the trigeminal nerve, and for various reasons, reflex stimuli during surgeries of the head, neck, and nose lead to vomiting because of stimulation of the vagal nucleus in the brainstem. The high incidence of PONV after nasal surgery may be a reflection of the trigeminal-vagal "naso-emetic" reflex. It is still unclear whether the vestibular input contributes directly to PONV in this reflex or whether the anesthetics used increase the sensitivity of the vestibular organ (10,11). In brief, in light of these facts, we believe PONV to be multifactorial, as previously underlined by many researchers, and cannot be prevented by nasopharyngeal packing or gastric decompression (1,18,21).

Another common complication after operations under general anesthesia is sore throat, with patients experiencing a sore throat at a rate of 10% during ventilation with a face mask, 5.8-34% with a laryngeal mask, 14.4-50% after intubation, and 61% with pharyngeal packing (24,25). The study by Elyassi et al. (25) reported that there was no significant difference in sore throat between those given conscious sedation and general anesthesia among elective rhinoplasty patients, and named the dry oxygen used during the operation and the mandatory

intermittent oropharyngeal suction as the reason. Basha et al. (15) and Marais (26), on the other hand, reported that the use of pharyngeal packing caused sore throat twice as frequently, causing moderate pain that decreases over time and that can be partially controlled with analgesics. The findings of this study are consistent with those reported in the above studies. The rates of sore throat were 43.3% vs. 16.7% at postoperative 0 h in groups 1 and 2, respectively, and decreased to 33.3% and 16.7% at 6 h. and to 16.7% and 3.3% at 24 h. respectively. That said, other studies have reported different results to ours related to the prevalence of sore throat. According to Green et al. (19), patients who do not undergo pharyngeal packing experience more pain at 24 h following surgery than those with throat packing. Researchers such as Meco et al. (13) and Piltcher et al. (18), on the other hand, identified no difference in sore throat between their two groups. Following a different approach, Elhakim et al. (27) argued that sore throat could be reduced by ¼ through impregnation of the pharyngeal packing with tenoxicam rather than saline. Similarly, Vural et al. (2) recommended the use of pharyngeal packs impregnated with chlorhexidine gluconate 0.2% and benzydamine hydrochloride 0.15% for the same purpose, claiming that this method improves patient comfort and reduces sore throat.

It is known that pharyngeal packing can lead to localized trauma and inflammation of the mucosa (11), which in our opinion is the primary cause of increased postoperative sore throat. Again, the same process may lead to other major complications, such as pharyngeal plexus injury and swelling of the tongue, while local trauma may cause PONV by stimulating the vagal nucleus in the brain. In addition, an increased analgesic requirement contributes to PONV if opioids are preferred. It has been found that edemas and their potential outcome, pain start to decrease 2 h after the operation (11). In our study, sore throat also decreased in both groups over time. Although most studies have tried to define, the common limitation of both the present study and earlier studies is that a standard scale has not been developed for the measurement of sore throat (11), which severely limits the comparison of data reported in different studies, making its reliability questionable.

Conclusion

Contrary to the findings of researchers such as Erkalp et al. (6) (Aphthous stomatitis), Meco et al. (13), Smarius et al. (28), Seraj et al. (29) (airway soiling) and Fine et al. (30) (voice hoarseness), we did not observe any serious complications with nasopharyngeal packing, except for PONV and sore throat in the early or late postoperative period. We also did not encounter any life-threatening dramatic events such as pack migration or forgotten packs. In previous studies of this issue, the most common reasons for forgotten packs are forgetting the nasopharyngeal pack placement, inadvertent statements of removal by the surgeon, change of anesthesiologist during a long operation, inexperienced anesthesiologist in head/neck surgery, removal of fewer packs than placed, and earlier awakening of the patient from anesthesia than planned (12). We believe that we have not experienced such complications due to the experience of our ENT/anesthesiology teams and the availability of routine control/ follow-up charts in our clinic, in line with the recommendations of Knepil and Blackburn (12). We should also state that the relatively low number of patients is also a limiting factor in our encountering of very rare complications.

The secondary aim of our study was to assess how the choice of method affected the postoperative pain score (VAS) and patient satisfaction. No VAS score of \geq 4, which can be defined as pain, was reported by any of our patients, and there was no difference in the level of satisfaction of the two patient groups. We believe our routine analgesic and antiemetic protocol to be sufficient for the control of both PONV and pain, contributing to this finding. Furthermore, septorhinoplasty, which was the surgical approach selected for the study, is not a very painful surgical procedure, and we believe that the patients undergoing surgery at their own request and not out of necessity contributed to these findings.

In conclusion, routine packing practice should be abandoned by anesthesiologists. Given that pharyngeal packing itself is not a completely risk-free procedure, we do not recommend intraoperative packing during nasal surgery. If anesthesiologists are to routinely continue pharyngeal packing in operations in this region, they should do knowing that there is no objective evidence to support the practice. That said, nasopharyngeal packing as a surgical requirement may be needed for some orthognathic operations. For its limited use in such cases, each clinic should develop written protocols, checklists, and observation forms relating which operations require which principles are to be followed, with the participation of the surgical and anesthesia teams considering their surgical needs. If its use is decided, all materials should be included in the surgical (scrub) count, and it should be ensured that all materials are removed before extubation with a matching count. Anesthesia should be at a depth that will allow all these examinations and interventions to be completed, even if the operation is completed (30). Regardless of the method used, it should not be forgotten that the anesthesiologist is responsible for the examination of the oral cavity and throat with direct laryngoscopy and, if necessary, aspiration before extubation.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank Associate Prof. Dr. Hasan Demirhan of our university hospital's ENT Clinic in which the study was

conducted and his entire team for the unconditional support they have provided for this study.

Ethics Committee Approval: This randomized, prospective study of ASA I patients aged 18-50 years who were scheduled for elective septorhinoplasty in a university hospital's ENT clinic was launched after the granting of Istanbul Medipol University Ethics Committee approval (approval number: 611, date: 03.06.2021).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patients.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - Y.G.G., H.C.C.; Concept - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K.; Design - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K.; Data Collection or Processing - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K.; Analysis or Interpretation - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K.; Literature Search - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K., E.U.; Writing - Y.G.G., A.H., H.C.C., A.Ş.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, Chung F, Diemunsch P, Habib AS, et al Fourth Consensus Guidelines for the Management of Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting. Anesth Analg 2020; 131: 411-48.
- Vural Ç, Yurttutan ME, Sancak KT, Tüzüner AM. Effect of chlorhexidine/ benzydamine soaked pharyngeal packing on throat pain and postoperative nausea & vomiting in orthognathic surgery. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2019; 47: 1861-7.
- 3. Cole WH, O'Brien B. Pharyngeal packing: a survey of this procedure and the complications arising from it. Med J Aust 1966; 1: 178-9.
- 4. Bajwa SJ. Prevention of aspiration of blood with a unique pharyngeal packing method. Anesth Essays Res 2012;6: 251-2.
- 5. Athanassoglou V, Patel A, McGuire B, Higgs A, Dover MS, Brennan PA, et al. Systematic review of benefits or harms of routine anaesthetist-inserted throat packs in adults: practice recommendations for inserting and counting throat packs: An evidence-based consensus statement by the Difficult Airway Society (DAS), the British Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery (BAOMS) and the British Association of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery (ENT-UK). Anaesthesia 2018; 73: 612-8.
- 6. Erkalp K, Korkut YA, Meric A, Kahya V, Gedikli O, Su OK, et al. Pharyngeal packing is a predisposing factor for postoperative aphthous stomatitis in nasal surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2010; 142: 672-6.
- Erkalp K, Kalekoglu Erkalp N, Sevdi MS, Korkut AY, Yeter H, et al. Gastric Decompression Decreases Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in ENT Surgery. Int J Otolaryngol 2014; 2014: 275860.
- 8. Korttila K. The study of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Br J Anaesth 1992; 69: 20.
- 9. Olsen JJ, Skov J, Ingerslev J, Thorn JJ, Pinholt EM. Prevention of bleeding in orthognathic surgeryea systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2016; 74: 139-50.
- 10. Korkut AY, Erkalp K, Erden V, Teker AM, Demirel A, Gedikli O, Saidoglu L. Effect of pharyngeal packing during nasal surgery on postoperative nausea and vomiting. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2010; 143: 831-6.
- 11. Jin HJ, Kim S, Hwang SH. Can Pharyngeal Packing Prevent Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting in Nasal Surgery? Laryngoscope 2019; 129: 291-8.

- 12. Knepil GJ, Blackburn CW. Retained throat packs: results of a national survey and the application of an organisational accident model. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2008; 46: 473-6.
- Meco BC, Ozcelik M, Yildirim Guclu C, Beton S, Islamoglu Y, Turgay A, et al. Does Type of Pharyngeal Packing during Sinonasal Surgery Have an Effect on PONV and Throat Pain? Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 154: 742-7.
- Temel ME, Totoz T, Erkalp K, Temel GS, Selcan A. A randomized, double-blind study of the ultrasound assessment of the effect of pharyngeal packing on perioperative gastric volume in nasal surgery. BMC Anesthesiol 2019; 19: 121.
- Basha SI, McCoy E, Ullah R, Kinsella JB. The efficacy of pharyngeal packing during routine nasal surgery--a prospective randomised controlled study. Anaesthesia 2006; 61: 1161-5.
- Karbasforushan A, Hemmatpoor B, Makhsosi BR, Mahvar T, Golfam P, Khiabani B. The Effect of Pharyngeal Packing during Nasal Surgery on the Incidence of Post Operative Nausea, Vomiting, and Sore Throat. Iran J Otorhinolaryngol 2014; 26: 219-23.
- Razavi M, Taghavi Gilani M, Bameshki AR, Behdani R, Khadivi E, Bakhshaee M. Pharyngeal Packing during Rhinoplasty: Advantages and Disadvantages. Iran J Otorhinolaryngol 2015; 27: 423-8.
- Piltcher O, Lavinsky M, Lavinsky J, de Oliveira Basso PR. Effectiveness of hypopharyngeal packing during nasal and sinus surgery in the prevention of PONV. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2007; 137: 552-4.
- Green R, Konuthula N, Sobrero M, Saini A, Parasher A, Pool C, et al. Use of pharyngeal packs in functional endoscopic sinus surgery: A randomized controlled trial: Use of Pharyngeal Packs in FESS. Laryngoscope 2017; 127: 2460-5
- Muhammad R, Wadood F, Haroon T, Khan Z, Shah I. Efficacy of gastric aspiration in reducing post-tonsillectomy vomiting in children. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 2012; 24: 28-30.

- Ghosh S, Rai KK, Shivakumar HR, Upasi AP, Naik VG, Bharat A. Incidence and risk factors for postoperative nausea and vomiting in orthognathic surgery: a 10-year retrospective study. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020; 46: 116-24.
- 22. Jones JE, Tabaee A, Glasgold R, Gomillion MC. Efficacy of gastric aspiration in reducing posttonsillectomy vomiting. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2001; 127: 980-4.
- 23. Appadurai IR, Tomkinson A. Pharyngeal packing during ENT surgery. Anaesthesia 2007; 62: 633-4.
- 24. Jaiswal V, Bedford GC. Review of the use of throat packs in nasal surgery. J Laryngol Otol 2009; 123: 701-4.
- Elyassi H, Mousavinasab M, Rambod M, Hashemian MR, Dabbagh A. The effects of anesthesia method on throat pain after elective rhinoplasty. Int J Prev Med 2011; 2: 275-9.
- Marais J, Prescott RJ. Throat pain and pharyngeal packing: a controlled randomized double-blind comparison between gauze and tampons. Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci 1993; 18: 426-9.
- 27. Elhakim M, Siam A, Rashed I, Hamdy MH. Topical tenoxicam from pharyngeal pack reduces postoperative sore throat. Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica 2000; 44: 733-6.
- Smarius BJA, Guillaume CHAL, Jonker G, van der Molen ABM, Breugem CC. The use of throat packs in pediatric cleft lip/palate surgery: a retrospective study. Clin Oral Investig 2018; 22: 3053-9.
- 29. Seraj M, Ankutse M, Khan F, Siddiqui N, Ziko AO. Tracheal Soiling with Blood During Intranasal Surgery. Middle East J Anesthesiol 1991; 11: 79-89.
- 30. Fine J, Kaltman S, Bianco M. Prevention of sore throat after nasotracheal intubation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1988; 46: 946-7.

Evaluation of Thromboembolism Risk in Patients with Cancer; Single Center Real-life Data

Simge Erdem¹, Riza Umar Gürsu², Mecdi Hikmet Ergüney³, Muhlis Cem Ar⁴

¹Istanbul University, Istanbul Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Istanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Medical Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey ⁴Istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Venous thromboembolism (VTE) is an important cause of mortality and morbidity in cancer patients. Both cancer itself and its treatment have been reported to result in an increased risk of VTE. Several scoring systems have been developed to predict cancer-associated VTE risk. The aim of this study was to prospectively test the validity of the Khorana thrombosis score in predicting the risk of VTE development in cancer outpatients at a single centre.

Methods: One hundred and fifty-two consecutive patients diagnosed with cancer and scheduled to receive outpatient chemotherapy at University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital between August 2012 and August 2013 were included in the study. Khorana risk scores were calculated for each patient at study entry. Patients were then followed up for at least 24 months after diagnosis or until VTE developed.

Results: Thrombosis was detected in 13 of the 152 patients following cancer diagnosis. The median time from diagnosis to thrombosis was 4 months (1-48 months). Thrombosis was of venous and arterial origin in 7 and 6 patients, respectively. The Khorana score failed to differentiate high-risk patients. Scores in patients with and without venous thrombosis were not statistically different (p=0.38).

Conclusion: It is important to identify cancer patients at high risk for VTE to decrease the thrombosis-associated dismal outcome. However, in an outpatient setting, the Khorana score failed to differentiate the target population. This could be partly explained by the heterogeneity and the relatively small number of patients included.

Keywords: Cancer, risk scores, venous thromboembolism

Introduction

Cancer continues to be an important health problem with increasing frequency throughout the world. It is a common cause of death in Turkey comparable to that in developed countries. Both cancer itself and its treatment (i.e., chemotherapy, radiotherapy, surgical interventions, etc.) have been associated with venous thromboembolism (VTE). Several parameters including the primary site and histological features of the tumour, treatment modalities, and metastatic state were indicated to correlate with increased risk of VTE (1,2).

Development of a clinically significant thrombotic event per se and/ or complications of the anticoagulant therapy, in particular, bleeding, may interfere with and impede the management of cancer. VTE not only impairs the quality of life of the patient by adversely affecting the general condition but also increases medical expenses (3). Additionally, mortality rates of cancer patients complicated with VTE have been reported to be more than twice those of uncomplicated patients, independent of the stage of the disease (4,5). Thus, VTE is a significant contributor to cancer patients' death and morbidity. To estimate the cancer patients' vulnerability to VTE and differentiate high-risk individuals that would gain advantage from primary thromboprophylaxis, a few scoring methods have been devised.

Primary VTE prophylaxis may decrease fatal vascular complications of deep venous thrombosis (DVT) or pulmonary embolism (PE) and decrease the risk of mortality and morbidity in cancer patients (6). Thus, it would ameliorate the quality of life of the patients and decrease the medical costs. It is therefore of utmost importance to identify patients who would benefit from anticoagulation. In the cancer outpatient setting, symptomatic VTE risk has been estimated to range from 5% to 7%. This rate is similar to the high-risk patients without cancer and have benefited from thromboprophylaxis (7).

Khorana et al. (8) developed a scoring system in their prospective observational cohort study in 2008, which was based on the laboratory



Cite this article as: Erdem S, Gürsu RU, Ergüney MH, AR MC. Evaluation of Thromboembolism Risk in Patients with Cancer; Single Center Real-life Data. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 204-9.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

as well as clinical characteristics of cancer patients at diagnosis and predicted the cancer-associated VTE risk. Primary thromboprophylaxis has been recommended for high-risk patients.

The current study aimed to prospectively assess the reliability of the Khorana thrombosis score in determining the possibility of VTE development in a population of cancer patients in an outpatient setting at a single center where there are no institutional directives for thromboprohylaxis.

Methods

The Study Group

One hundred and fifty-two patients who had been consecutively diagnosed with cancer between August 2012 and August 2013 at University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital were prospectively included in the study. Patients aged 18 or more with a histopathologically verified cancer diagnosis who were scheduled for an outpatient chemotherapy program could enter the study if they provided written informed consent and did not meet any of the following exclusion criteria:

- The history of prior cytotoxic, biological or immunological cancer therapy

- The history of prior radiotherapy

- The diagnosis of acute leukaemia, myelodysplastic syndrome, local non-melanoma skin cancer

- Pregnancy or lactation
- The history of bone marrow transplantation
- The presence of active chronic infection
- The history of previous VTE
- Bedridden or poorly mobilized patients
- The history of recent or current use of anticoagulants or antiaggregants

In Turkey, awareness of cancer-associated thromboembolic events among physicians is scarce and in house directives regulating the prophylactic usage of anticoagulant medications in those with cancer do not exist in most hospitals, including the hospital in which this study was conducted. Consequently, physicians neglect or avoid using anticoagulant therapy, especially if the patient is thrombocytopenic. Thus, this study was designed as a prospective observational study on thromboembolic events in a setting where routine anticoagulant prophylaxis was not practiced on a regular basis.

Method

Each patient's Khorana risk score was calculated at study entrance (8). Following diagnosis, patients were monitored for at least 24 months or until VTE manifested itself. At each visit during chemotherapy and every 3 months after that, patients were surveyed and examined for the presence of VTE (DVT, PE, abdominal venous thrombosis, etc). Confirmatory coagulation and imaging tests were performed in cases of clinical suspicion.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical evaluation was done using SPSS version 15.0. Results were given as mean \pm standard deviation in the presence of a normal distribution. Nonparametric parameters were reported as medians. To compare the two groups, chi-square and Mann-Whitney U tests were utilized. P<0.05 was accepted to be statistically significant.

Results

Patient characteristics are listed in Table 1. Breast cancer was the most frequent type of cancer in the study group (42.9%), followed by colon cancer (23.8%) and lung cancer (11.4%). A complete list of malignancies diagnosed in the recruited patients is given in Table 2. Of the 152 patients in total, 98 (64.5%) and 54 (35.5%) had Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance scores of 0/1 and 2/3, respectively. Khorana risk scores were found 0 in 52 patients (34.2%), 1-2 in 84 patients (55.2%), and 3-4 in 16 patients (10.5%) (Figure 1). Following the cancer

Table 1. Patient Characteristics

The number of patients (n)	152
Age [year, mean (range)]	57 (23-84)
Gender (n, M/F)	53/99
Stage (n, early /metastatic)	87/65
ECOG [median (range)]	1 (0-3)
Radiotherapy (n, %)	63 (1.4)
Hormonal therapy (n, %)	30 (19.7)
Surgery (n, %)	112 (73.7)
The complete clinical response (n, %)	94 (61.8)
Relapsed cases (n, %)	15 (9.9)
Patients with catheter (n, %)	34 (22.4)
Patients with thromboembolic events (n, %)	13 (8.6)
Thrombosis (n, venous/arterial)	7/6
Time from diagnosis to thrombosis [months, median (range)]	4 (1-48)
Thrombosis score [median, (range)]	1 (0-4)
Coexisting disease (n, +/-)	61/91
Haemoglobin* (g/dL)	12.17±1.50
White blood cell count* (/mm ³ , mean \pm SD)	8160.92±2739.06
Platelet count* (/mm ³ , mean \pm SD)	355368.4±162309.6
LDH* (U/L, mean \pm SD)	127.66±42.50
HDL* (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	50.93±14.38
Total cholesterol* (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	207.49±46.39
Triglyceride* (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	143.0±65.70
CRP* (mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	1.87±3.33
D-dimer*(mg/dL, mean \pm SD)	2.03±2.88
BMI* (mean \pm SD)	27.47±5.10
Progression-free survival (months, mean \pm SD)	18.87±15.94
Overall survival (months, mean \pm SD)	20.58±17.89
The status at the last follow-up [n, dead/alive/ unknown (%)]	18/112/22 (11.8%/73.7%/14.5%)

*At the time of diagnosis, M/F: Male/Female, ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance score, SD: Standard deviation, BMI: Body mass index, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase, HDL: High-density lipoprotein, CRP: C-reactive protein



Table 2. Sites of tumour origin

Origin of the tumour	The nu (n, %)	mber of patients,
Bladder	2	(1.3)
Breast	56	(36.8)
Colon	36	(23.7)
Gall bladder - intrahepatic bile ducts	2	(1.3)
Kidney	1	(0.7)
Larynx	1	(0.7)
Lung	16	(10.5)
Lymphoma	3	(2.0)
Multiple myeloma	1	(0.7)
Oesophagus	1	(0.7)
Ovary	8	(5.3)
Pancreas	2	(1.3)
Prostate	3	(2.0)
Rectum	4	(2.6)
Stomach	13	(8.6)
Testis	1	(0.7)
Thyroid	1	(0.7)
Uterus	1	(0.7)

diagnosis, clinically significant thrombosis was observed in 13 of 152 individuals. Median time from diagnosis to thrombosis was 4 months (1-48 months). Thrombotic attacks were of arterial and venous origin in 6 and 7 patients, respectively. Patients with and without VTE did not have substantially different median Khorana scores (p=0.38). In cases with VTE, Khorana scores were 1 in 46% and 2 in 23% of the patients. Among the group without VTE, the percentage of patients with 0, 1 and 2 Khorana scores was found to be 91%. Venous thrombosis was detected in one of the 52 patients with score 0, in 3 of the 49 patients with score 1, in 2 of the 35 patients with score 2, in none of the 10 patients with score 3, and in only 1 out of 6 patients with score 4.

Patients with arterial thrombosis consisted of 5 females and 1 male patient, with a median age of 65. The median thrombosis score was 1.5 (1-3). Platelet counts, Khorana, and ECOG performance scores at

diagnosis were found to be statistically significant between patients with and without arterial thrombosis (p values: 0.047, 0.044, and <0.001, respectively). There was a higher possibility of arterial thrombosis with advanced age, male gender, and a history of surgical intervention (p values: <0.001, 0.02, and 0.005, respectively).

Patients with venous thrombosis consisted of 5 females and 2 males with a median age of 55 years and a median thrombosis score of 2 (1-3). Khorana thrombosis scores did not differ in patients with and without venous thrombosis (p=0.38). However, overall and progression-free survival durations were significantly lower in patients with venous thrombosis (p values: 0.021 and 0.022, respectively). Neither age, gender, BMI, presence of metastatic disease, nor the thrombotic risk score predicted venous thrombosis (p>0.05).

Surgical intervention within 4 weeks before diagnosis was found to have a significant impact on thrombosis development (p=0.02). Neither radiotherapy nor the type of chemotherapy was linked to increased risk of thrombosis (p=0.16 and 0.26, respectively). However, we observed a marked association between the presence of active and/or recurrent disease, ECOG performance score, and thrombosis occurrence. The use of a central venous catheter and/or concomitant comorbidities was not linked to the occurrence of VTE (p>0.05). Likewise, no significant difference could be identified in haemoglobin, leukocyte, platelet, low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein, total cholesterol, triglyceride, D-dimer, and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels at the time of diagnosis between patients with and without venous thrombosis. However, D-dimer and CRP levels were noticeably higher in patients with thrombosis when arterial and venous thromboses were taken together (p values: 0.047 and 0.03, respectively).

Discussion

Both morbidity and death in cancer patients are significantly influenced by VTE. The management of thrombosis may lead to delays for treating cancer and may result in life threatening complications such as bleeding. This, in turn, not only impairs the general condition of the patient but also increases the medical costs (5). Additionally, mortality rates have been found to be twice as high in patients complicated with VTE than in those without venous thrombosis (9). Prophylactic treatment with anticoagulants would decrease the rates of mortality and morbidity and improve survival of patients with cancer (10). Most of the previous studies dealing with thromboprophylaxis mainly included patients with metastatic breast and lung cancer and those with central venous catheterization (11-15).

Vascular complications with high rates of mortality such as DVT and PE can be avoided with primary VTE prophylaxis, which usually results in decreased rates of mortality and morbidity in high-risk individuals such as those who have cancer (6). Thus, by giving primary anticoagulant prophylaxis, one can ameliorate cancer treatment, improve the quality of life, and decrease medical costs. It is important to define a high-risk population to prevent the negative outcome of VTE. In cancer outpatients, symptomatic VTE is reported to be between 5% to 7%, which is similar to the rate of patients without cancer that have been shown to have benefited from thromboprophylaxis (e.g., hospitalized patients

receiving medical therapy) (7). In our study, venous thrombosis occurred at a rate of 4-6% and 8.5% of patients had both arterial and venous thrombosis.

Khorana et al. (8) developed a scoring tool to predict VTE risk for pofents with cancer by us clinical and laboratory data of prospectively followed 2071 outpatients with cancer. They recommended thromboprophylaxis for cancer patients with a high risk for developing VTE. In our study, we used Khorana risk scoring to assess the possibility for developing VTE in 152 outpatients with cancer when it was initially diagnosed. The patients were followed for an average of 17 months. Thrombotic attacks of arterial (6 cases) and venous (7 cases) origin were observed in 13 patients during follow-up. The site of cancer has been linked to VTE occurrence in previous studies. Cancers originating from the brain, pancreas, stomach, kidney, over, and lungs and hematological malignancies, especially lymphomas, have been reported as the leading causes of VTE (2,16). In a case control study, VTE was observed at the highest rate in patients with hematological malignancies, followed by the lungs and gastrointestinal system (1). In our study, the most frequent sites of involvement was the gastrointestinal system, lungs and blood. The highest risk of VTE development is in the first few months after the diagnosis (1). Between the cancer diagnosis and the thrombotic episode in our cohort, there was a 4-month median interval.

In large cohort studies, the stage of cancer is an important risk factor underlying VTE (9). However, other studies including outpatients with ovary cancer could not demonstrate any significant relationship between stage and VTE occurrence (17). Similarly, in our study, we could not reveal any correlation between stage and the risk of thrombosis. This can be explained by the relatively good performance status of our cohort with a median ECOG score of 1.

Performance status is a surrogate marker for immobility, another well-defined risk factor for VTE (10). In a prospective study, which consisted of lung cancer patients receiving chemotherapy, the VTE rate was found to be 31% in patients having poor performance status and 15% in the group having good status (18). Although there was no statistically significant difference, another investigation on outpatients with cancer discovered that the incidence of VTE was higher in patients with relatively poor performance status. Over 90% of the patients who were included in the analysis had extremely good performance status, which helped to explain this (2). Poor performance status is accepted to be associated with recurrent VTE occurrence in cancer patients (19). A statistically significant correlation between high ECOG performance scores and the potential for thrombosis was identified in our research. Subgroup analysis revealed that high ECOG scores predicted a significant risk of arterial thrombosis (p≤0.001) at our hands but not for venous thrombosis (p=0.06).

Recent findings indicate that VTE risk persists at high rates for a long time postoperatively (20). Khorana et al. (8), however, could not identify surgical intervention as a risk factor in their cohort, which was then explained by the fact that almost all patients were on postoperative thromboprophylaxis. In contrast, individuals with a history of surgical procedure had a higher prevalence of arterial but not venous thrombosis, according to our cohort analysis. VTE is a major issue for hospitalized and old cancer patients (>65 years old) (21). However, age per se has been shown not to be a significant risk factor for VTE development in cancer outpatients if the performance status is good (2). In our cohort, age and gender were not related to thrombosis. However, when only the group of patients with arterial thrombosis was evaluated, male gender and age were noted as risk variables.

In a prospective observational trial on those who are undergoing chemotherapy for cancer, high platelet counts before treatment were found to be connected to an increase in VTE occurrence (2). Another retrospective trial, which included hospitalized cancer patients, found platelet counts over 350000/mm³ to be predictive for VTE development (22). Recent studies have shown an association between white blood cell (WBC) counts and vascular events (23). In patients with myeloproliferative diseases, WBC counts were clearly shown to be a risk factor for venous thrombotic events (24). In our cohort, we could not identify any significant relationship between VTE occurrence and WBC and platelet counts at diagnosis. On the other hand, it was discovered that a significant predictor of arterial thrombosis was high platelet counts. However, this finding should be cautiously approached as the number of patients with arterial thrombosis is small and confounding factors such as comorbidities might have interfered with the outcome.

D-dimer levels are typically observed to be higher in cancer patients (20), which has been demonstrated to be a substantial predictor for recurrent VTE (19). Ay et al. (25) pointed out that adding plasma levels of D-dimer and soluble P-selectine to the scoring may improve the potential of the Khorana risk scoring system in predicting the risk of VTE. Our results also indicate a statistically significant association between D-dimer concentrations at the time of diagnosis and the risk of thrombosis. Similar to D-dimer, elevated CRP concentrations (>400 mg/dL), a predictor of inflammation, were observed to be associated with VTE in cancer patients (3). Our cohort study also found that high CRP levels were significantly related to thrombosis.

We observed clinically significant VTE events in our study without performing a routine screening for thrombosis. Although there is a non-negligible probability of recurrent thrombosis when VTE is unintentionally found, a recently published meta-analysis of cancerrelated thrombosis demonstrated a low recurrence rate with incidental VTE (26). However, evidence is still conflicting and inadequate to suggest routine radiological and laboratory screening for thrombosis in cancer patients.

Khorana risk score is one of the recommended tools in the guidelines for preventing VTE in cancer patients who are outpatients (27,28). For reallife data emerge, risk scores should be applicable in general medical practice. However, a recent study showed that no high-risk cancer outpatient received thromboprophylaxis (29). On the other hand, the method of assessing the risk of bleeding in patients with an elevated likelihood of thrombosis, the duration of prophylactic anticoagulation, and the types as well as the doses of prophylactic anticoagulants remain unclear. Because thrombocytopenic patients and individuals having creatinine clearance below 30 mL/min were removed from the studies, the use of these thrombosis assessment tools in hematology practice seems limited. More prospective, randomized studies are needed on these issues.

Study Limitations

The main limitations of this study are the heterogeneity of the cancer types and the relatively small number of patients included.

Conclusion

Thrombosis is an important issue contributing to the dismal outcome of cancer. Therefore, patients who are at a high risk of developing thrombosis should be identified. The available data point to the usage of thromboprophylactic medications for cancer patients who have a higher risk of thrombosis. The risk of VTE in cancer patients has been predicted using various risk assessment systems. We used Khorana risk scoring to assess its predictive potential and tested other risk factors that could indicate increased risk for arterial as well as venous thrombosis in a prospective real-life setting in patients with cancer who were not on thromboprophylaxis. Our results, in general, are in line with the current literature. Khorana scores, however, could not fully identify patients at risk in our cohort. Although statistically not significant, thrombosis frequency was higher in patients with higher scores (Khorana 3 and 4). This may be described by the tiny sample of patients in the cohort.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was reviewed and approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 173, date: 07.09.2012).

Informed Consent: Informed consent forms were obtained from all the patients.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - S.E., R.U.G., M.H.E., M.C.A.; Concept - S.E., M.H.E., M.C.A.; Design - S.E., M.H.E.; Data Collection or Processing - S.E., R.U.G.; Analysis or Interpretation - S.E., M.H.E.; Literature Search - S.E., M.H.E.; Writing - S.E., M.H.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Blom JW, Doggen CJ, Osanto S, Rosendaal FR. Malignancies, prothrombotic mutations, and the risk of venous thrombosis. JAMA 2005; 293: 715-22.
- Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, Lyman GH. Risk factors for chemotherapyassociated venous thromboembolism in a prospective observational study. Cancer 2005; 104: 2822-9.
- Kröger K, Weiland D, Ose C, Neumann N, Weiss S, Hirsch C, et al. Risk factors for venous thromboembolic events in cancer patients. Ann Oncol 2006; 17: 297-303.
- Prandoni P, Lensing AW, Piccioli A, Bernardi E, Simioni P, Girolami B, et al. Recurrent venous thromboembolism and bleeding complications during anticoagulant treatment in patients with cancer and venous thrombosis. Blood 2002; 100: 3484-8.

- Elting LS, Escalante CP, Cooksley C, Avritscher EB, Kurtin D, Hamblin L, et al. Outcomes and cost of deep venous thrombosis among patients with cancer. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164: 1653-61.
- Collins R, Scrimgeour A, Yusuf S, Peto R. Reduction in fatal pulmonary embolism and venous thrombosis by perioperative administration of subcutaneous heparin. Overview of results of randomized trials in general, orthopedic, and urologic surgery. N Engl J Med 1988; 318: 1162-73.
- Samama MM, Cohen AT, Darmon JY, Desjardins L, Eldor A, Janbon C, et al. A comparison of enoxaparin with placebo for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in acutely ill medical patients. Prophylaxis in Medical Patients with Enoxaparin Study Group. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 793-800.
- Khorana AA, Kuderer NM, Culakova E, Lyman GH, Francis CW. Development and validation of a predictive model for chemotherapy-associated thrombosis. Blood 2008; 111: 4902-7.
- 9. Chew HK, Wun T, Harvey D, Zhou H, White RH. Incidence of venous thromboembolism and its effect on survival among patients with common cancers. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166: 458-64.
- 10. Khorana AA, Connolly GC. Assessing risk of venous thromboembolism in the patient with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 4839-47.
- 11. Couban S, Goodyear M, Burnell M, Dolan S, Wasi P, Barnes D, et al. Randomized placebo-controlled study of low-dose warfarin for the prevention of central venous catheter-associated thrombosis in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 4063-9.
- 12. Levine M, Hirsh J, Gent M, Arnold A, Warr D, Falanga A, et al. Doubleblind randomised trial of a very-low-dose warfarin for prevention of thromboembolism in stage IV breast cancer. Lancet 1994; 343: 886-9.
- 13. Verso M, Agnelli G, Bertoglio S, Di Somma FC, Paoletti F, Ageno W, et al. Enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism associated with central vein catheter: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 4057-62.
- 14. Barni S, Labianca R, Agnelli G, Bonizzoni E, Verso M, Mandala M, et al. Chemotherapy-associated thromboembolic risk in cancer outpatients and effect of nadroparin thromboprophylaxis: results of a retrospective analysis of the PROTECHT study. J Transl Med 2011; 9: 179.
- Haas SK, Freund M, Heigener D, Heilmann L, Kemkes-Matthes B, von Tempelhoff GF, et al. Low-molecular-weight heparin versus placebo for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in metastatic breast cancer or stage III/IV lung cancer. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2012; 18: 159-65.
- Khorana AA, Francis CW, Blumberg N, Culakova E, Refaai MA, Lyman GH. Blood transfusions, thrombosis, and mortality in hospitalized patients with cancer. Arch Intern Med 2008; 168: 2377-81.
- Satoh T, Oki A, Uno K, Sakurai M, Ochi H, Okada S, et al. High incidence of silent venous thromboembolism before treatment in ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer 2007; 97: 1053-7.
- Numico G, Garrone O, Dongiovanni V, Silvestris N, Colantonio I, Di Costanzo G, et al. Prospective evaluation of major vascular events in patients with nonsmall cell lung carcinoma treated with cisplatin and gemcitabine. Cancer 2005; 103: 994-9.
- Sallah S, Husain A, Sigounas V, Wan J, Turturro F, Sigounas G, et al. Plasma coagulation markers in patients with solid tumors and venous thromboembolic disease receiving oral anticoagulation therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2004; 10: 7238-43.
- Rasmussen MS. Prolonged thromboprophylaxis with low molecular weight heparin after major abdominal surgery. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2007; 13: 389-92.

- 21. Khorana AA, Francis CW, Culakova E, Kuderer NM, Lyman GH. Frequency, risk factors, and trends for venous thromboembolism among hospitalized cancer patients. Cancer 2007; 110: 2339-46.
- 22. Zakai NA, Wright J, Cushman M. Risk factors for venous thrombosis in medical inpatients: validation of a thrombosis risk score. J Thromb Haemost 2004; 2: 2156-61.
- Grau AJ, Boddy AW, Dukovic DA, Buggle F, Lichy C, Brandt T, et al. Leukocyte count as an independent predictor of recurrent ischemic events. Stroke 2004; 35: 1147-52.
- 24. Tefferi A, Gangat N, Wolanskyj A. The interaction between leukocytosis and other risk factors for thrombosis in essential thrombocythemia. Blood 2007; 109: 4105.
- 25. Ay C, Dunkler D, Marosi C, Chiriac AL, Vormittag R, Simanek R, et al. Prediction of venous thromboembolism in cancer patients. Blood 2010; 116: 5377-82.

- Caiano L, Carrier M, Marshall A, Young AM, Ageno W, Delluc A, et al. Outcomes among patients with cancer and incidental or symptomatic venous thromboembolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thromb Haemost 2021; 19: 2468-79.
- 27. Wang TF, Zwicker JI, Ay C, Pabinger I, Falanga A, Antic D, et al. The use of direct oral anticoagulants for primary thromboprophylaxis in ambulatory cancer patients: Guidance from the SSC of the ISTH. J Thromb Haemost 2019; 17: 1772-8.
- Key NS, Khorana AA, Kuderer NM, Bohlke K, Lee AYY, Arcelus JI, et al. Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis and Treatment in Patients With Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 496-520.
- 29. Martin KA, Molsberry R, Khan SS, Linder JA, Cameron KA, Benson A, 3rd. Preventing venous thromboembolism in oncology practice: Use of risk assessment and anticoagulation prophylaxis. Res Pract Thromb Haemost 2020; 4: 1211-5.

Partial Atrophy of The Pancreas in Endoscopic Ultrasonography may be a Sign of Pancreatic Cancer

Oğuz Kağan Bakkaloğlu¹, Tuğçe Eşkazan¹, Ilikay Gültürk², Süleyman Yıldırım³, Kadri Atay⁴, Nuray Kepil⁵,
Yusuf Erzin¹, Ahmet Merih Dobrucalı¹

¹istanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴Mardin State Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, Mardin, Turkey

⁵İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Solid and/or cystic lesions of the pancreas can range from benign to malignant, and the differential diagnosis of pancreatic carcinoma (PC) is of uttermost importance. Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) is frequently used and is helpful in detecting small (<2 cm) lesions and provides information about the extralesional pancreas. EUS also facilitates tissue diagnosis and allows the cyst fluid examination. Our aim was to evaluate the role of EUS findings and cyst characteristics of pancreatic lesions in predicting PC.

Methods: Records of patients with pancreatic lesions were retrospectively assessed. EUS findings, serum C19-9 levels, CEA levels, and cyst biochemistry of the patients were noted. The relationship between PC, mucinous pathologies, EUS findings, cyst characteristics, and serum biochemistry was evaluated.

Results: Two-hundred-four patients had EUS-guided biopsy for a pancreatic lesion (48% solid). Eighty-nine patients had PC. The serum CA19-9 cut-off value for PC was 37 U/mL (AUC: 0.81). In multivariate analysis, solid lesions, age, CA19-9>37 U/mL, and partial atrophy in the pancreas were independently associated with PC. For solid lesions, age and size >24 mm; and for cystic lesions, male gender and mucinous pathology were independently associated with PC. Thirty-six of the cystic lesions had mucinous pathology. Cyst and serum CEA, string sign, wesung connection, and tail location was associated with mucinous pathology. Cyst CEA cut-off for mucinous pathology was 80 ng/mL (AUC: 0.89). CEA >80 ng/mL was found to be associated with mucinous pathology in multivariate analysis.

Conclusion: High CA19-9, solid lesion, and lesion-related partial atrophy of the pancreas are associated with PC, and these should be alarming for clinicians in practice. The mucinous character, which is a significant risk of PC for cystic lesions, can be optimally defined with the CEA cut-off value of 80 ng/mL.

Keywords: Endoscopic ultrasonography, fine needle aspiration biopsy, pancreatic carcinoma, mucinous pathology, CEA

Introduction

Solid and/or cystic lesions can be detected in the pancreas, either symptomatic or incidentally and are generally more common with advancing age. These include benign inflammatory/post-inflammatory lesions, benign neoplastic lesions, and pre- or low/high-grade malignant lesions (1). Although the probability of solid lesions being neoplastic is higher than cystic ones, there is a premalign-malignant neoplastic potential also for cystic lesions, especially for those with mucinosis features (2). Among these lesions of the pancreas, the most feared in the differential diagnosis is pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PC), which is mostly diagnosed at an advanced stage when surgical treatment is no longer an option. Advanced PC is associated with very low survival rates and is still an important cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide (3). Recognizing PC and distinguishing them from other pathologies should be the aim of evaluation due to the potential aggressive clinical course.

Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) is frequently used in the examination of pancreatic lesions because it is superior to cross-sectional imaging methods in detecting small (<2 cm) and solid lesions of the pancreas (4). EUS also provides information about extralesional pancreas and adjacent tissues. Another advantage is that EUS facilitates tissue diagnosis by allowing fine-needle aspiration (FNA) biopsy in solid lesions during the examination and may also help the classification of cystic lesions by providing an opportunity for cyst fluid aspiration and biochemical examination.



Address for Correspondence: Oğuz Kağan Bakkaloğlu MD, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received: 01.03.2023 Accepted: 07.05.2023

Phone: +90 535 514 79 39 E-mail: o.k.bakkaloglu@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8661-5791

Cite this article as: Bakkaloğlu OK, Eşkazan T, Gültürk İ, Yıldırım S, Atay K, Kepil N, Erzin Y, Dobrucalı AM. Partial Atrophy of The Pancreas in Endoscopic Ultrasonography may be a Sign of Pancreatic Cancer. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 210-5.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Sampling the cyst content allows biochemical analyses such as amylase, CEA, and glucose levels in the cyst fluid, as well as advanced genetic and molecular examination (5).

The aim of our study was to evaluate the role of EUS findings and cyst fluid characteristics in predicting PC and/or mucinous pathologies in solid and cystic lesions of the pancreas.

Methods

The records of patients who underwent EUS examination of the pancreas between January 2017 and 2022 were retrospectively assessed. The location, size, and characteristics (cystic or solid) of the lesions were evaluated and FNA and/or biopsy if performed was noted. Other parameters accompanying the lesion detected in EUS and evaluated were as follows: ductal dilatation (common bile duct and/or Wirsung), lymphadenopathy, presence of ascites, solid lesion in the liver suggesting metastasis, appearance compatible with vascular invasion (portal vein, splenic vein, splenic artery, superior mesenteric vein, artery, hepatic artery and celiac trunk), presence of chronic pancreatitis, and partial/local pancreatic atrophy that does not meet the criteria for chronic pancreatitis. Chronic pancreatitis was defined as having 5 or more of the 9 EUS criteria put forward by the International Working Group (6).

In cystic lesions, the presence of septation or mural nodule (solid component), the relationship of the cyst with Wirsung, the presence of a string sign if aspiration was performed, and the cyst CEA levels were also examined. If available, serum CA19-9 and CEA levels of the patients, which were measured within 2 weeks before the EUS procedure, were also included in the analysis.

All EUS examinations were performed by the same physician, and lesion biopsies were performed using a 22 G needle. Among the reported FNA biopsy results, categories 5 and 6 defined by the Pancreatic Cytopathology Study group were considered malignant (7,8). Lesions that were category 4b and showed mucinous components cytologically or lesions that underwent pancreatic resection and whose surgical pathology was reported as mucinous were considered as mucinous pathology. Clinical, radiological, and treatment (oncological) data of the patients were obtained from electronic medical records. Patients with malignant FNA results and/or patients who received oncological treatment for PC and/or patients with radiological evidence of metastatic disease with a primary origin of the pancreas (taking into account radiological workup, FDG - positron emission tomography) were regarded as having PC. The relationship between PC, mucinous pathologies, and EUS findings, cyst characteristics, and serum biochemistry was evaluated.

This study was approved by the local ethics committee. The procedures used in this study comply with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical Analysis

Mean and standard deviation were used for normally distributed data, median and IQR for non-normal distribution, and frequency for categorical data. Cut-off values and sensitivity specificity for CEA and CA19-9 were calculated using ROC analysis. Significant parameters related to pancreatic carcinoma (PC) and/or mucinous pathology were evaluated further by logistic regression analysis. IBM-SPSS v.29 Was used for statistical calculations.

Results

A total of 319 EUS procedures for the pancreas was evaluated. Of these, 204 (64%) patients had EUS-guided biopsy for a pancreatic lesion, and 78 of those who underwent biopsy also had cystic fluid aspiration available for biochemical analysis. Fifty-five percent (n=113) of the patients who underwent the procedure were women. The mean age was 58 years (\pm 13.7). Forty-eight percent (n=98) of the cases were solid and the rest were cystic lesions. While 81% of cystic lesions were pure cystic, the rest had a solid component/mural nodule accompanying the cystic lesion (n=20). The lesion and demographic characteristics of the study group is summarized at Table 1.

The size of solid and cystic lesions was similar, and the median size for both was 30 mm (solid: minimum-maximum: 5-120; IQR: 19; cystic: 8-115; 21; p=0.85). Among cystic ones, lesions including the solid component were larger in size numerically than isolated cystic lesions [34 mm (8-115;19) vs 30 mm (19-80;23), respectively] but the difference between them was not significant (p=0.119).

The distribution of the lesions in the pancreas was evaluated; the most common site for the lesions was the head of the pancreas, while the least common site was the uncinate. Table 2 summarizes the distribution and solid-cystic features of the lesions. Cystic lesions were significantly more common in the tail than in other parts of the pancreas (p=0.007). There

Table 1. Lesion and demographic characteristics of the study
group

Patient demographics	
Sex (F)	55% (113)
Age	58±13.7
Lesion characteristics	
Solid	48% (98)
Cystic	52% (106)
Pure cystic	81% (86)
Cystic with solid component	19% (20)
Cases with biopsy	100% (204)
Cases with aspiration	38% (78)

Table 2. Distribution of lesions by anatomical parts of the pancreas, and cystic-solid features

	Anatomic parts of the pancreas							
	Uncinate	Head	Neck	Body	Tail			
Total, % (n)	9.3% (19)	39.7% (81)	15.2% (31)	23.5% (48)	12% (25)			
Solid, % (n)	52% (10)	53% (43)	51% (16)	50% (24)	24% (6)			
Cystic, % (n)	48% (9)	47% (38)	49% (15)	50% (24)	76% (19)			

was no relationship between the localization of cystic lesions in the pancreas and the presence of solid component/mural nodules (p=0.702). No correlation was found between the location and size of cystic or solid lesions and between location and patient age (p=0.803 and p=0.744 for cystic lesions and p=0.554 for solid lesions, respectively).

In patients undergoing biopsy and/or aspiration, findings reported in EUS that may be related to the lesion and cyst features are summarized in Table 3.

Thirty-six of the cystic lesions had mucinous pathology. When the lesion characteristics were evaluated, in terms of predicting mucinous pathology, aspiration CEA value (p<0.001), string sign positivity (p=0.009), cyst connected to wesung (p=0.033), cyst located at body or tail of pancreas (<0.028), and serum levels of CEA >3.1 (p=0.020) were found to be associated with mucinous pathology. The cut-off value for cyst CEA level in predicting mucinous pathology by ROC analysis was calculated as 80 ng/mL (AUC: 0.89; Figure 1). For this value, the sensitivity was 82% and the specificity was 90%. When the cut-off value for CEA was taken as 192 ng/mL, which is reported in the literature,

the sensitivity decreased to 76%, while the specificity increased to 97%. In the multivariate regression analysis of mucinous pathology-related factors, aspiration CEA >80 ng/mL was found to be associated with mucinous pathology [p=0.002; 81 (5.1-1290)].

In 133 patients, the final diagnosis was clinically and/or histopathologically confirmed, and 89 of these patients were followed up and/or treated with a diagnosis of PC. While the final diagnosis was benign in 31 patients, neuro-endocrine tumor was detected in 13 patients. In the ROC analysis, the cut-off value for serum CA19-9 in distinguishing PC was 37 U/mL, and the AUC value was calculated as 0.81 (Figure 1). For this value, the sensitivity of CA19-9 in terms of PC was 79% and the specificity was 78%. Also, ROC analysis was performed (AUC: 0.76; Figure 1) for serum CEA, and pointed a cut-off level of 3.1 ng/ mL could predict PK with 70% sensitivity and 65% specificity. Univariate and multivariate analysis associated with PC are summarized in Table 4. In multivariate analyzes, the solid character of the lesion, increasing age, a CA19-9 value >37 U/mL, and presence of local atrophy in pancreas (without chronic pancreatitis) were found to be independently associated with PC.

Table 3. Some findings reported in EUS related to the lesion, and cyst features							
Vascular invasion	13.2% (n=27)	Common bile duct and/or Wirsung dilatation	35% (n=71)				
Ascites	6% (n=12)	Double duct sign	10.8% (n=22)				
Lymphadenopathy	15.1% (n=31)	Chronic pancreatitis	7.8% (n=16)				
Suspected Liver Metastasis	2.8% (n=6)	Partial atrophy (no chronic pancreatitis)	18.4% (n=38)				
Septation (cystic lesions)	58% (n=62)	String sign positivity	15% (n=14/92)				
Cyst-Wirsung connection	45% (n=48)						

Table 4. Univariate and multivariate analyzes associated with PC

	Univariate analyses	Multivariate analyses	
	р	р	OR
Male sex	0.142	-	
Age	<0.001	0.012	1.08 (1.02-1.16)
Solid lesion	< 0.001	0.025	6.6 (1.2-34.5)
Size	0.110	-	
Non-tail localization of lesion	<0.001	0.948	
Vascular invasion	< 0.001	0.324	
Suspected liver metastasis	0.153	-	
Ascites	0.030	0.991	
Lymphadenopathy	< 0.001	0.384	
Double duct sign	0.008	0.931	
Chronic pancreatitis	0.361	-	
Partial atrophy (without chronic pancreatitis)	0.005	0.041	3 (1.1-61)
Serum Ca19.9 >37	<0.001	0.017	13.3 (1.6-111)
Serum CEA >3.1	0.005	0.833	
Solid component/mural nodule $^{\phi}$	0.243	NA	
Septation ^{ϕ}	0.730	NA	
String sign $^{\phi}$	0.212	NA	
Connection to Wirsung $^{\phi}$	0.281	NA	
Queles internet in the internet of the other states of the providence of the states of			

^ΨCalculated for cystic lesions, OR: Odds ratio, PC: Pancreatic carcinoma



Investigations performed in the whole group regarding PC were also repeated for the cystic or solid lesion subgroups. In multivariate analysis, for solid lesions, age [p=0.036; 1.1 (1.01-1.2)] and size more than 24 mm [p=0.014; 15.5 (1.7-137)]; and for cystic lesions, male gender [p=0.022, 8 (1.6-88)] and mucinous pathology [p=0.041, 6 (1.1-64)] were found to be associated with PC. The size cut-off value for solid lesions was calculated by ROC analysis (AUC 0.68).

Discussion

Our study revealed PC-related factors of EUS-FNA findings. While the solid nature of the lesion and serum CA19-9 increase were found to be associated with PC, the relationship between the presence of local/ partial atrophy in EUS and PC should be emphasized. In cystic lesions, the mucinous character was associated with malignancy, and another important finding of our study is that the cut-off level we found for the cyst CEA value was 80 ng/mL, lower than the previously proposed value (9).

Pancreatic cancer (PC) is a malignancy in which early diagnosis is crucial due to its poor prognosis (10). Although surgery is the only curative treatment method, 5-year survival is better in patients with small tumors without lymph node involvement (11). However, in 80% of the patients, surgery is not possible due to locally advanced or metastatic disease (12). Recent studies on the pathophysiology of PC suggest that the precancerous stage can be quite long (13,14). Although there is no general recommendation for population-based PC screening, this long interval period provides the chance for early diagnosis when the disease is still surgically curable, especially for people suitable for screening with a defined genetic mutation or a familial PC history (15). EUS has its place in such PC screening because of its many advantages. EUS's success in revealing small pancreatic lesions and its contribution to early diagnosis is quite high (16). In addition, it can provide many accompanying findings related to the nature of the lesion. In addition, it can contribute to the pathological diagnosis in an accurate and safe way because it offers the possibility of FNA (17). In the differential diagnosis of malignant solid and cystic lesions of the pancreas; for solid lesions, lymphoma, metastasis, neuroendocrine tumor, chronic pancreatitis, autoimmune pancreatitis, solid pseudo papillary tumor; for cystic lesions, pseudocyst, serous cyst adenoma, and mucinous cystic neoplasia are pathologies that should be considered (1). While the role of surgery for treating most of these pathologies is quite limited, the recognition of early-stage PC is crucial for surgical curability (10).

EUS examination provides information about the location and size of the pancreatic lesion, its cystic or solid nature, its relation to the surrounding structures or pancreatic canal, and the characteristics of the extra-lesional pancreatic tissue, and may reveal extra-pancreatic findings such as accompanying lymphadenopathy, liver metastasis, or ascites in some patients (18). In our study, nearly half of the cases had solid lesions, and nearly half of them were located in the pancreatic head. Although no evaluation was made in the study design regarding the EUS indications of the patients, the accumulation of solid lesions in this region may be related to the higher potential of a lesion in the pancreatic head to be symptomatic due to its close relationship to the ampulla Vater and biliary system. On the other hand, no correlation was shown between the size and location of the lesion. The distribution of cystic lesions was found in favor of the pancreatic tail, which may be related to the more frequent localization of some cystic pathologies such as serous cyst adenoma and mucinous cystic neoplasia to this region (1).

Other rare findings that can be revealed by EUS examination may guide the clinician. Among these findings, vascular invasion (13%), suspicion of liver metastasis (approximately 3%), and accompanying lymphadenopathy (15%), which we found in our study, can be listed. Since histological sampling for lymphadenopathy was not performed and there were no liver lesion biopsies, it is not possible to comment on the contribution of these findings to histological diagnosis in our study, but the clinical guidance of these findings is clear.

In our study, the presence of partial atrophy in the pancreas related to the lesion was also associated with PC in regression analysis. The impact

of this finding, independent of the other two related factors age and the solid characteristic of the lesion is, to our knowledge, new to the literature and should be alarming for the clinician performing EUS in terms of PC. On the other hand, the double duct sign that is reported to be associated with PC in the literature could not be shown to be independently related to PC in our study.

Another parameter that we found to be related to PC is the high serum CA19-9 level (19). The cut-off value of CA19-9 that we found in distinguishing PC in our patient group was 37 U/mL, in line with the literature, and the sensitivity and specificity for this value were parallel to those reported in similar studies (79-81%, 82-90%, respectively) (20).

When solid and cystic lesions were evaluated separately, we showed that size was associated with the risk of PC for solid lesions, and a lesion larger than 2.4 cm was associated with PC regardless of other accompanying findings. In a study examining the diagnostic accuracy of EUS FNA, increased size was associated with higher diagnostic accuracy (21). In lesions smaller than 2.4 cm, the diagnostic contribution of EUS-FNA may be lower, which may have caused us to overestimate the cut-off value of size for predicting PC. On the other hand, in the same study, parallel to our findings, while the highest rates of PC were found for lesions more than 20 mm (20-30 mm 81.6%; 30-40 mm 86.4%; >40 mm, 80.8%), PC was reported as 13.9% in lesions <10 mm, and 64% in lesions of 10-20 mm.

Regarding cystic lesions, male gender and mucinous pathology were determined as independent risk factors related to PC. This effect of gender can be explained by the fact that some benign/relatively benign cystic neoplasms are more common in women (22). The cut-off value we found for the cyst fluid CEA level was lower than the value of 192 ng/mL emphasized in the literature, and for our cut-off value of 80 ng/ mL, the sensitivity was 82% and the specificity was 90% (9). Increasing the cut-off value increased the specificity in exchange for a decrease in the sensitivity. In this study, we showed the relationship of mucinous pathology with PC in cystic lesions; we believe that the high sensitivity is more important for the recognition of mucinous lesions, and therefore, we think the cut-off value we calculated will have a place in clinical use. If a higher value is to be considered, other parameters such as string sign positivity and cyst-Wirsung connection may also be guiding. The serum CEA cut-off value (3.1 ng/mL) we found for predicting mucinous pathologies had low sensitivity and specificity in terms of predicting PC, so may be of value in predicting prognosis and in follow-up of patients, rather than as a diagnostic tool (23).

Study Limitations

The most important limiting factor of our study was its retrospective design. Therefore, parameters such as glucose level of cyst fluid, which may guide the diagnosis of mucinous pathology, or genetic and molecular profile of tissue acquired by FNA to support the diagnosis of PC could not be evaluated (24,25).

Conclusion

In conclusion, age, high CA19-9 values, and solid nature of the lesion as well as lesion-related partial atrophy of the pancreas are associated with PC, and these should be alarming for clinicians in practice. The mucinous character, which is a significant risk of PC for cystic lesions, can be optimally defined when the CEA cut-off value of 80 is used if cyst fluid analyses are available.

Acknowledgements: Endoscopic ultrasonography was performed using Pentax - Hitachi, which was bought with the funding of BAP-İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa as a scientific research project.

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 83045809/604.01/02-279716).

Informed Consent: The study and according to local ethic committee guidelines, the study exempted from written informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - O.K.B., N.K., Y.E., A.M.D.; Concept - O.K.B., İ.G., N.K.; Design - O.K.B., Y.E.; Data Collection or Processing - O.K.B., T.E., N.K., Y.E.; Analysis or Interpretation - O.K.B., T.E., N.K., Y.E.; Literature Search - O.K.B., İ.G.; Writing - O.K.B., Y.E., A.M.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Degen L, Wiesner W, Beglinger C. Cystic and solid lesions of the pancreas. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2008; 22: 91-103.
- Soreide K, Marchegiani G. Clinical Management of Pancreatic Premalignant Lesions. Gastroenterology 2022; 162: 379-84.
- 3. Rawla P, Sunkara T, Gaduputi V. Epidemiology of Pancreatic Cancer: Global Trends, Etiology and Risk Factors. World J Oncol 2019; 10: 10-27.
- Mertz HR, Sechopoulos P, Delbeke D, Leach SD. EUS, PET, and CT scanning for evaluation of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Gastrointest Endosc 2000; 52: 367-71.
- 5. Carmicheal J, Patel A, Dalal V, Atri P, Dhaliwal AS, Wittel UA, et al. Elevating pancreatic cystic lesion stratification: Current and future pancreatic cancer biomarker(s). Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 2020; 1873: 188318.
- Wallace MB, Hawes RH, Durkalski V, Chak A, Mallery S, Catalano MF, et al. The reliability of EUS for the diagnosis of chronic pancreatitis: interobserver agreement among experienced endosonographers. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 53: 294-9.
- Bakkaloglu OK, Kepil N, Yildirim S, Atay K, Tuncer M, Dobrucali AM, et al. Clinical Contribution of Standardized Terminology for Pancreatic Lesions' Cytopathology. Acta Cytol 2022; 66: 486-95.
- Pitman MB, Centeno BA, Ali SZ, Genevay M, Stelow E, Mino-Kenudson M, et al. Standardized terminology and nomenclature for pancreatobiliary cytology: The Papanicolaou Society of Cytopathology Guidelines. Cytojournal 2014; 11(Suppl 1): 3.
- Linder JD, Geenen JE, Catalano MF. Cyst fluid analysis obtained by EUSguided FNA in the evaluation of discrete cystic neoplasms of the pancreas: a prospective single-center experience. Gastrointest Endosc 2006; 64: 697-702.
- McGuigan A, Kelly P, Turkington RC, Jones C, Coleman HG, McCain RS. Pancreatic cancer: A review of clinical diagnosis, epidemiology, treatment and outcomes. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 4846-61.

- 11. Benassai G, Mastrorilli M, Quarto G, Cappiello A, Giani U, Mosella G. Survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. Chir Ital 2000; 52: 263-70.
- 12. Clancy TE. Surgery for Pancreatic Cancer. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2015; 29: 701-16.
- 13. Wood LD, Canto MI, Jaffee EM, Simeone DM. Pancreatic Cancer: Pathogenesis, Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment. Gastroenterology 2022; 163: 386-402 e1.
- Grant TJ, Hua K, Singh A. Molecular Pathogenesis of Pancreatic Cancer. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 2016; 144: 241-75.
- Overbeek KA, Goggins MG, Dbouk M, Levink IJM, Koopmann BDM, Chuidian M, et al. Timeline of Development of Pancreatic Cancer and Implications for Successful Early Detection in High-Risk Individuals. Gastroenterology 2022; 162: 772-85 e4.
- Rosch T, Lorenz R, Braig C, Feuerbach S, Siewert JR, Schusdziarra V, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound in pancreatic tumor diagnosis. Gastrointest Endosc 1991; 37: 347-52.
- Hasan MK, Hawes RH. EUS-guided FNA of solid pancreas tumors. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 2012; 22: 155-67, vii.
- Lee ES, Lee JM. Imaging diagnosis of pancreatic cancer: a state-of-the-art review. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 7864-77.

- 19. Chang JC, Kundranda M. Novel Diagnostic and Predictive Biomarkers in Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18.
- Ballehaninna UK, Chamberlain RS. Serum CA 19-9 as a Biomarker for Pancreatic Cancer-A Comprehensive Review. Indian J Surg Oncol 2011; 2: 88-100.
- 21. Sugiura R, Kuwatani M, Hirata K, Sano I, Kato S, Kawakubo K, et al. Effect of Pancreatic Mass Size on Clinical Outcomes of Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration. Dig Dis Sci 2019; 64: 2006-13.
- 22. Osman H, Jeyarajah DR. Pancreas Cystic Lesions. Surg Clin North Am 2020; 100: 581-8.
- 23. Lee KJ, Yi SW, Chung MJ, Park SW, Song SY, Chung JB, et al. Serum CA 19-9 and CEA levels as a prognostic factor in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Yonsei Med J 2013; 54: 643-9.
- 24. McCarty TR, Garg R, Rustagi T. Pancreatic cyst fluid glucose in differentiating mucinous from nonmucinous pancreatic cysts: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 94: 698-712 e6.
- Ogura T, Yamao K, Sawaki A, Mizuno N, Hara K, Hijioka S, et al. Clinical impact of K-ras mutation analysis in EUS-guided FNA specimens from pancreatic masses. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 769-74.

The Experience of Ibrutinib in Chronic Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Patients Undergoing Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Single Center Experience

D Ahmet Sarıcı¹, O Mehmet Ali Erkurt², O İrfan Kuku², O Emin Kaya², D İlhami Berber², O Soykan Biçim², 🗈 Emine Hidayet², 👁 Ahmet Kaya², 👁 Ömer Faruk Bahçecioğlu³, 👁 Lokman Hekim Tanrıverdi⁴, 👁 Sıdıka Gülkan Özkan⁵

¹Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine Division of Hematology, Malatya, Turkey

²İnönü University, Turgut Özal Medical Center, Department of Adult Hematology, Malatya, Turkey

³Kırşehir State Hospital, Clinic of Clinical Pharmacy, Kırşehir, Turkey

⁴Inönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Pharmacology, Malatya, Turkey

⁵Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine Division of Hematology, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Chronic graft-versus host disease (GVHD) is a serious complication that develops in 35-50% of patients in the late period after allogeneic hematopoetic stem cell transplantation. About half of the patients are resistant to corticosteroids, which is the first-line treatment of chronic GVHD, and therefore new treatment options that can be effective in chronic GVHD are needed. In the present study, we aimed to share our experience with the use of ibrutinib therapy in patients with steroid-resistant chronic GVHD who have previously received multiple lines of systemic therapy.

Methods: The characteristics and clinical outcomes of steroid-resistant chronic patients with GVHD receiving ibrutinib were retrospectively reviewed.

Results: A total of 10 steroid resi-stant chronic patients with GVHD who received ibrutinib was included. While 50% of the patients had more than one organ involvement, 50% had a single organ involvement. The most commonly affected organs were the skin and liver. The patients received a median of three lines of systemic therapy before ibrutinib. After a median of 210 days of ibrutinib usage, the complete response rate of patients was 40% and the partial response rate was 40%. Corticosteroids were completely discontinued in 30% of patients after ibrutinib were initiated. Before ibrutinib, patients were given a median of 0.3 mg/kg methylprednisolone. The median methylprednisolone dose after ibrutinib was 0.03 mg/kg.

Conclusion: Ibrutinib therapy causes a quite high overall response in steroid resistant chronic patients with GVHD and appears to be a good option in these patients.

Keywords: Steroid-resistant graft-versus host disease, ibrutinib, corticosteroids, allo-HSCT, chronic GVHD

Introduction

Allogeneic hematopoetic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is a curative treatment option for many hematological diseases such as acute myeloid leukemia (AML), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), myelodysplastic syndrome, aplastic anemia and paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. However, early (<3 months) and late (>3 months) complications that cause transplant-related morbidity and mortality are observed in many patients after allo-HSCT.

Early complications of allo-HSCT include graft-versus host disease (GVHD), bacterial, viral and fungal infections, engraftment syndrome,

hemorrhagic cystitis, capillary leak syndrome, graft failure, hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome, pulmonary complications and transplant-related thrombotic microangiopathy (1,2). The mortality rate due to early complications varies between 5% and 40%, depending on factors such as transplantation from donor, pre-transplant regimen, age, and comorbidities of the patient (3).

Late complications following allo-HSCT include chronic GVHD, idiopathic pneumonia, bronchiolitis obliterans, pulmonary and nonpulmonary infections, hypogonadism, osteopenia, hypertension, hypothyroidism, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, cardiomyopathy,



Address for Correspondence: Mehmet Ali Erkurt, İnönü University, Turgut Özal Medical Center, Department of Adult Hematology, Malatya, Turkey

Received: 23.12.2022 Accepted: 07.05.2023

Phone: +90 532 386 21 26 E-mail: erkurtali@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-3285-417X

Cite this article as: Sarıcı A, Erkurt MA, Kuku İ, Kaya E, Berber İ, Biçim S, Hidayet E, Kaya A, Bahçecioğlu ÖF, Tanrıverdi LH, Özkan SG. The Experience of Ibrutinib in Chronic Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Patients Undergoing Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Single Center Experience. İstanbul Med J 2023; 24(2): 216-20.

© Copyright 2023 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

heart failure, and secondary malignancies (4). Although allo-HSCT is a curative option for treating many hematological diseases, life expectancy after allo-HSCT is still lower (5,6). The most common causes of mortality in the late period following allo-HSCT are recurrence of primary malignancy, chronic GVHD, infections, secondary malignancies, pulmonary complications, and cardiac toxicity, respectively (6).

Chronic GVHD is a severe difficulty that improves in 35-50% of patients in the late period after allo-HSCT and is the second most common cause of mortality in patients with allo-HSCT (6,7). In patients with chronic GVHD, the most commonly involved organ is the skin, but other organs such as the mouth, eyes, liver, gastrointestinal system, lungs, joints, fascia, genital organs, and hematopoietic system can also be involved (8,9). In recent years, with the increasing number of patients with allo-HSCT, the number of patients with chronic GVHD has also increased. Approximately half of the patients are resistant to corticosteroids, which are the first choice for treating chronic GVHD; thus, new treatment options that can be effective in chronic GVHD are needed.

The guidelines recommend that patients should participate in welldesigned clinical trials because there is no standard second-line treatment for chronic GVHD (10,11). In the absence of a clinical trial option, guidelines recommend the administration of one of the following agents: ibrutinib, ruxolitinib, abatacept, imatinib, calcineurin inhibitors, alemtuzumab, extracorporeal photopheresis, hydroxychloroquine, low-dose methotrexate, mTOR inhibitors, bortezomib, mycophenolate mofetil, pentostatin, rituximab. Ibrutinib has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of chronic GVHD patients who are resistant to one or more lines of systemic therapy.

Due to the uncertainty of optimal therapy in corticosteroids resistant chronic GVHD patients, we aimed to present our experience in chronic GVHD patients who have previously received multiple lines of systemic therapy

Methods

Patients who developed chronic GVHD between February 2011-2021 and who were started on ibrutinib after at least two lines of treatment

were included in the study. After the study was approved by the İnönü University Ethics Committee (decision no: 2022/2946), demographic, clinical, and laboratory data of the patients were retrospectively analyzed using the hospital electronic information system. Written informed consent was obtained from the patients included in the study.

Within the framework of the criteria recommended by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), chronic GVHD was defined as a complication occurring at any time after allo-HSCT and differentiated from acute GVHD with its clinical features (12). Chronic GVHD severity was defined as mild, moderate, and severe within the framework of the criteria recommended by the NIH (13). While systemic treatment was initiated with corticosteroids in patients with moderate to severe chronic GVHD, it was not preferred in patients with mild chronic GVHD.

Ibrutinib was initiated at a dose of 420 mg per day and continued at this dose until grade 3 or 4 toxicity occurred. We reduced the ibrutinib dose to 140 mg in patients who were given posaconazole as antifungal prophylaxis.

Ibrutinib-related adverse events were classified according to the Common Toxicity Criteria for Adverse Events version 5.0 (12).

As recommended by the NIH, patients with a resolution of all symptoms in all involved organs were considered to have a complete response to treatment. Patients with improvement in at least one involved organ without progression in other organs were considered to have a partial response to treatment. The overall response rate was considered as the sum of the complete response rate and the partial response rate (12).

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS 25.0 was used as the statistics program. Normality analysis of the data was performed using the Shapiro-Wilk test, and the data were given as median, range, and percentage.

Results

A total of 10 patients with steroid-resistant chronic GVHD who received ibrutinib were included in this study. Steroid resistant chronic GVHD

Table 1. Characteristic features of ibrutinib treated chronic GHVD patients

Patient no.	Age	Gender	Disease	Donor	Involved organ(s)	Severity
1	38	Male	AML	MRD	The skin, eye, mouth	Moderate
2	22	Male	AML	MRD	Liver	Moderate
3	22	Male	AML	UMD	Liver	Moderate
4	29	Female	AML	MRD	The liver, skin	Moderate
5	19	Male	AML	MRD	The liver, skin	Moderate
6	21	Male	BTM	MRD	Intestine	Severe
7	60	Male	AML	MRD	Skin	Severe
8	41	Male	AML	MRD	The skin, intestinal, liver	Moderate
9	19	Male	ALL	MRD	Skin, intestine	Moderate
10	19	Male	ALL	MRD	Liver	Moderate

GVHD: Graft-versus-host disease, AML: Acute Myeloid Leukemia, BTM: Beta thalassemia major, MRD: Matched-related donor, UMD: Unrelated-matched donor

developed in seven patients with AML, two with ALL, and one with beta thalassemia major. While 50% of the patients had more than one organ involvement, 50% had a single organ involvement. The most frequently involved ones are skin (60%) and liver (60%) (Table 1). All patients with skin involvement (n=6) had non-sclerotic features. There were no patients with sclerotic involvement.

All patients included in the study received myeloablative regimen before allo-HSCT. In our patients, chronic GVHD was diagnosed a median of 165 (50-500) days after allo-HSCT. Ibrutinib was initiated in a median of 150 (102-660) days after the diagnosis of chronic GVHD. Before ibrutinib, patients had received a median of 3 (2-4) lines of systemic therapy, including corticosteroids, cyclosporine, mycophenolate mofetil, and extracorporeal photopheresis.

Although the median follow-up time for 10 patients was 394 (100-750) days, it was 210 (30- days) under receiving ibrutinib. After a median of 210 days of treatment with ibrutinib, the complete response rate of patients was 40% and the partial response rate was 40% (Table 2).

Median time to onset of a response to ibrutinib in 8 patients was 52 (25-125), and median response duration of patients to ibrutinib was 143 (70-415) days. Organ involvement features of patients are given in Table 3.

Table 2 Clinical outcomes of ibrutinib treastreatednic nations with GVHD

After a median follow-up of 394 days, median failure-free survival could not be achieved in both the entire population and those who responded to ibrutinib (Figure 1, 2). No association was found between the severity of GVHD and the ibrutinib response (p=0.378). When those who received ≤ 3 lines of treatment before ibrutinib and those who did not receive more than 3 lines of treatment were compared, no difference was found between the GVHD response and OS of the two groups (p=1 and p=0.537, respectively).

We observed ibrutinib-related adverse events in two (20%) of 10 patients. In one patient (patient 2) with liver GVHD, ibrutinib was discontinued because of elevated liver enzymes (grade 3 alanine aminotransferase elevation) 30 days after initiation. This adverse event resolved 20 days after ibrutinib was discontinued. In another patient (patient 3), we observed grade 4 thrombocytopenia 50 days after initiation. Ibrutinib was discontinued for 27 days, the adverse event disappeared, and we continued ibrutinib at the same dose.

Corticosteroids were completely discontinued in 30% of patients after ibrutinib were initiated. Before ibrutinib treatment, patients were given a median of 0.3 mg/kg methylprednisolone. The median methylprednisolone dose after ibrutinib was 0.03 mg/kg. The median

				ne patronto n					
Patient no.	7-day survival	28-day survival	90-day survival	180-day survival	The partial response (%)	The complete response (%)	No response (%)	GVHD mortality	Non-GVHD mortality
1	+	+	+	+	Yes			No	No
2	+	+	+	+			Yes	No	Yes (relapse)
3	+	+	+	+	Yes			No	No
4	+	+	+	+		Yes		No	No
5	+	+	+	+	Yes			No	No
6	+	+	+	-			Yes	Yes	No
7	+	+	+	+		Yes		No	No
8	+	+	+	+		Yes		No	No
9	+	+	+	+		Yes		No	No
10	+	+	+	+	Yes			No	No
Overall	100%	100%	100%	90%	40%	40%	20%	10%	10%

Table 3. Organ response of ibrutinib-treated chronic GHVD patients

Patient no.	Involved organ(s)	Response by organ(s)
1	The skin, eye, mouth	Skin
2	Liver	No response
3	Liver	Liver
4	The liver, skin	The liver, skin
5	The liver, skin	Liver
6	Intestine	No response
7	Skin	Skin
8	The skin, intestinal, liver	The skin, intestinal, liver
9	Skin, intestine	Skin, intestine
10	Liver	Liver
GVHD: Graft-versus-host disease		



Figure 1. Failure free-survival of all population



time to reduce the steroid dose was 43 (15-295) days. In 3 patients, steroid was completely discontinued after a median of 96 (50-115) days.

Discussion

Chronic GVHD is the most important cause of non-relapse mortality and affects quality of life in the late period following allo-HSCT (6,14). The treatment approach is not standard in steroid resistant chronic patients with GVHD because well-designed comparative studies of in these patients are lacking.

In retrospective studies that evaluated the efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil, sirolimus, rituximab, pentostatin, and ruxolitinib in steroid resistant chronic GVHD patients, overall response rates ranged from 55-81% (15-19). In phase 2 studies evaluating the efficacy of imatinib, sirolimus (in combination with tacrolimus), rituximab, and pentostatin in steroid resistant chronic GVHD patients, overall response rates ranged from 27-63% (20-22). Because of the uncertainty of the optimal agent to be chosen in second-line therapy, treatment should be determined according to affected organs (eg. sirolimus for joint, ruxolitinib for skin), patient renal and liver functions, side effects of the agents, patient preferences and clinician's experience (7).

Ibrutinib has been shown to inhibit Bruton's tyrosine kinase and interleukin-2-inducible T-cell kinase, which play an important role in the pathogenesis of chronic GVHD, thereby reducing the activation of T- and B-cells in the murine chronic GVHD model (23). Based on this data, researchers designed a phase 1b/2 study to determine the safety and efficacy of ibrutinib in chronic GVHD patients who received at least 1 line of systemic corticosteroids therapy. Eighty-six percent of patients had mouth, 81% had skin, 36% had gastrointestinal system, 7% had liver, and 5% had a lung involvement. In this study, after the initiation of ibrutinib, a complete response was obtained in 21.4% (9/42) of patients and a partial response was obtained in 45.2% (19/42) of them in addition, 47.6% of patients (20/42) had a sustained response to ibrutinib for 20 weeks or longer (24). In the present study, two-thirds of the patients responded to ibrutinib, whereas the response rate was found to be slightly higher (%80) in our study evaluating fewer chronic GVHD patients.

In a retrospective single-center study in a total of 22 pediatric patients with chronic GVHD, a partial response was achieved in 54.5% of patients with ibrutinib at a dose of 250 mg/m². Ibrutinib was reduced by 50% in 16 patients who received voriconazole or posaconazole concomitantly. Of the 12 patients who responded to ibrutinib, the corticosteroids dose was reduced in 9 of them, and corticosteroids were discontinued in 2 of them (25). In our study, corticosteroids were completely discontinued in 3 of 8 patients who responded to ibrutinib, and the corticosteroids were reduced in 3 of them.

In a retrospective study of adult GVHD patients, a total of 17 patients with pulmonary chronic GVHD who received an average of 4 lines of treatment before ibrutinib and had an average of 5 organ involvement were included. Of the 14 patients who continued ibrutinib for 180 days, 2 (14.3%) had a partial response, 9 (64.3%) had a stable disease, and 3 (21.4%) had a disease progression (26). In this study, response rates to ibrutinib may have been found to be low because of the evaluation of the responses of patients with severe pulmonary chronic GVHD with multiple organ involvements and resistant to four lines of therapy. Patients in our study had less organ involvement and none the patients had the pulmonary involvement. Therefore, the response rate to ibrutinib in our study was found to be much higher than that in this study.

Study Limitations

The main limitations of the study are its retrospective design and the small number of patients.

Conclusion

Ibrutinib causes a quite high overall response in steroid resi-resistantnic patients with GVHD and appears to be a good option in these patients. However, prospective trials comparing the effectiveness of ibrutinib with other drugs used in chronic GVHD are needed, especially in lung involvement and/or multiorgan involvement.

Ethics Committee Approval: İnönü University Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee (date: 11.01.2022/decision no: 2022/2946).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the patients included in the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.S., İ.K., E.K., A.K., L.H.T.; Design: A.S., M.A.E., E.K., E.H., A.K., Ö.F.B., S.G.Ö.; Data Collection or Processing: A.S., M.A.E., İ.K., E.K., İ.B., E.H., A.K., Ö.F.B., L.H.T.; Analysis or Interpretation: A.S., M.A.E., İ.B., S.B., E.H., A.K.; Literature Search: A.S., İ.K., İ.B., S.B., E.H., A.K.; Writing: A.S., S.B., L.H.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Trajkovska I, Georgievski B, Cevreska L, Gacovski A, Hasan T, Nedeska-Minova N. Early and Late Complications in Patients with Allogeneic Transplantation of Hematopoietic Stem Cell–Case Report. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2017; 5: 340.
- Atilla PA, Atilla E, Toprak SK, Demirer T. Non-infectious early complications of allogeneic stem cell transplantations. UHOD 2016; 29: 239-50.
- Satwani P, Jin Z, Duffy D, Morris E, Bhatia M, Garvin JH, et al. Transplantationrelated mortality, graft failure, and survival after reduced-toxicity conditioning and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in 100 consecutive pediatric recipients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013; 19: 552-61.
- Atilla E, Atilla PA, Toprak SK, Demirer T. A review of late complications of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantations. Clinical transplantation 2017; 31: e13062.
- Wingard JR, Majhail NS, Brazauskas R, Wang Z, Sobocinski KA, Jacobsohn D, et al. Long-term survival and late deaths after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 2230.
- Bhatia S, Francisco L, Carter A, Sun CL, Baker KS, Gurney JG, et al. Late mortality after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation and functional status of long-term survivors: report from the Bone Marrow Transplant Survivor Study. Blood 2007; 110: 3784-92.
- Sarantopoulos S, Cardones AR, Sullivan KM. How I treat refractory chronic graft-versus-host disease. Blood 2019; 133: 1191-200.
- Jacobsohn DA, Kurland BF, Pidala J, Inamoto Y, Chai X, Palmer JM, et al. Correlation between NIH composite skin score, patient-reported skin score, and outcome: results from the Chronic GVHD Consortium. Blood 2012; 120: 2545-52.
- Csanadi M, Agh T, Tordai A, Webb T, Jeyakumaran D, Sengupta N, et al. A systematic literature review of incidence, mortality, and relapse of patients diagnosed with chronic graft versus host disease. Expert Rev Hematol 2019; 12: 311-23.
- Penack O, Marchetti M, Ruutu T, Aljurf M, Bacigalupo A, Bonifazi F, et al. Prophylaxis and management of graft versus host disease after stem-cell transplantation for haematological malignancies: updated consensus recommendations of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Lancet Haematol 2020; 7: e157-e67.

- Saad A, de Lima M, Anand S, Bhatt VR, Bookout R, Chen G, et al. Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation, Version 2.2020, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2020; 18: 599-634.
- 12. Filipovich AH, Weisdorf D, Pavletic S, Socie G, Wingard JR, Lee SJ, et al. National Institutes of Health consensus development project on criteria for clinical trials in chronic graft-versus-host disease: I. Diagnosis and staging working group report. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2005; 11: 945-56.
- Lee SJ, Wolff D, Kitko C, Koreth J, Inamoto Y, Jagasia M, et al. Measuring therapeutic response in chronic graft-versus-host disease. National Institutes of Health consensus development project on criteria for clinical trials in chronic graft-versus-host disease: IV. The 2014 Response Criteria Working Group report. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant2015; 21: 984-99.
- Lee SJ, Kim HT, Ho VT, Cutler C, Alyea EP, Soiffer RJ, et al. Quality of life associated with acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 2006; 38: 305-10.
- Clavert A, Chevallier P, Guillaume T, Delaunay J, Le Gouill S, Mahe B, et al. Safety and efficacy of rituximab in steroid-refractory chronic GVHD. Bone Marrow Transplant 2013; 48: 734-6.
- Pidala J, Kim J, Roman-Diaz J, Shapiro J, Nishihori T, Bookout R, et al. Pentostatin as rescue therapy for glucocorticoid-refractory acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease. Ann Transplant 2010; 15: 21-9.
- 17. Lopez F, Parker P, Nademanee A, Rodriguez R, Al-Kadhimi Z, Bhatia R, et al. Efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil in the treatment of chronic graft-versushost disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2005; 11: 307-13.
- Escamilla Gómez V, García-Gutiérrez V, López Corral L, García Cadenas I, Pérez Martínez A, Márquez Malaver FJ, et al. Ruxolitinib in refractory acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease: a multicenter survey study. Bone Marrow Transplant 2020; 55: 641-8.
- 19. Jurado M, Vallejo C, Pérez-Simón JA, Brunet S, Ferra C, Balsalobre P, et al. Sirolimus as part of immunosuppressive therapy for refractory chronic graftversus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2007; 13: 701-6.
- 20. Arai S, Pidala J, Pusic I, Chai X, Jaglowski S, Khera N,et al. A randomized phase II crossover study of imatinib or rituximab for cutaneous sclerosis after hematopoietic cell transplantation. Clin Cancer Res 2016; 22: 319-27.
- 21. Couriel DR, Saliba R, Escalón MP, Hsu Y, Ghosh S, Ippoliti C,et al. Sirolimus in combination with tacrolimus and corticosteroids for the treatment of resistant chronic graft-versus-host disease. Br J Hematol 2005; 130: 409-17.
- 22. Jacobsohn DA, Chen AR, Zahurak M, Piantadosi S, Anders V, Bolaños-Meade J, et al. Phase II study of pentostatin in patients with corticosteroid-refractory chronic graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25: 4255-61.
- 23. Dubovsky JA, Flynn R, Du J, Harrington BK, Zhong Y, Kaffenberger B, et al. Ibrutinib treatment ameliorates murine chronic graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest 2014; 124: 4867-76.
- Miklos D, Cutler CS, Arora M, Waller EK, Jagasia M, Pusic I, et al. Ibrutinib for chronic graft-versus-host disease after failure of prior therapy. Blood 2017; 130: 2243-50.
- 25. Teusink-Cross A, Davies SM, Grimley MS, Chandra S, Flannery A, Dandoy CE, et al. Ibrutinib for the treatment of chronic graft-vs-host disease in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients: A single-center experience. Pediatr Transplant 2020; 24: e13692.
- 26. Singhal S, Brondstetter T, Miklos DB, Tierney DK, Hsu J, Chhatwani L. Ibrutinib for Chronic Pulmonary Graft-Versus-Host-Disease after Progression on Prior Therapy. Blood (2019; 134(Suppl1): 4532.